DE GRUYTER

NON-CONVENTIONAL SOLVENTS

ORGANIC SYNTHESIS, NATURAL PRODUCTS ISOLATION, DRUG DESIGN, INDUSTRY AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Edited by Chhanda Mukhopadhyay and Bubun Banerjee

Chhanda Mukhopadhyay and Bubun Banerjee (Eds.) Non-Conventional Solvents

Also of Interest



Non-Conventional Solvents. Volume 1: Ionic Liquids, Deep Eutectic Solvents, Crown Ethers, Fluorinated Solvents, Glycols and Glycerol Chhanda Mukhopadhyay and Bubun Banerjee (Eds.), 2023 ISBN 978-3-11-078793-1, e-ISBN 978-3-11-078812-9



Aqueous Mediated Heterogeneous Catalysis Asit K. Chakraborti and Bubun Banerjee (Eds.), 2022 ISBN 978-3-11-073845-2, e-ISBN 978-3-11-073384-6



Integrated Chemical Processes in Liquid Multiphase Systems. From Chemical Reaction to Process Design and Operation Matthias Kraume, Sabine Enders, Anja Drews, Reinhard Schomäcker, Sebastian Engell and Kai Sundmacher (Eds.), 2022 ISBN 978-3-11-070943-8, e-ISBN 978-3-11-070985-8



Green Chemistry.

Principles and Designing of Green Synthesis Syed Kazim Moosvi, Waseem Gulzar Naqash and Mohd. Hanief Najar, 2021 ISBN 978-3-11-075188-8, e-ISBN 978-3-11-075189-5



Industrial Green Chemistry Serge Kaliaguine and Jean-Luc Dubois (Eds.), 2021 ISBN 978-3-11-064684-9, e-ISBN 978-3-11-064685-6

Non-Conventional Solvents

Volume 2: Organic Synthesis, Natural Products Isolation, Drug Design, Industry and the Environment

Edited by Chhanda Mukhopadhyay and Bubun Banerjee

DE GRUYTER

Editors

Prof. Chhanda Mukhopadhyay Department of Chemistry University of Calcutta 92 Acharya Prafulla Chandra Road Kolkata 70009 West Bengal India cmukhop@yahoo.co.in

Dr. Bubun Banerjee Department of Chemistry Akal University Talwandi Sabo Bathinda 151302 Punjab India banerjeebubun@gmail.com

ISBN 978-3-11-124374-0 e-ISBN (PDF) 978-3-11-124399-3 e-ISBN (EPUB) 978-3-11-124407-5

Library of Congress Control Number: 2023933766

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the internet at http://dnb.dnb.de.

© 2023 Walter de Gruyter GmbH, Berlin/Boston Cover image: Igor Antipin/iStock/Getty Images Plus Typesetting: Integra Software Services Pvt. Ltd. Printing and binding: CPI books GmbH, Leck

www.degruyter.com

Foreword

Nowadays, the reduction in usage of conventional organic solvents in chemical processes is one of the major concerns in terms of green and sustainable development. This is mainly due to the high vapor pressure of conventional solvents resulting in potential risks such as low flash points, higher flammability and toxicity. Conventional volatile organic solvents are harmful to living organisms, and ozone layer destruction is also catalyzed by the vapors of chlorinated volatile solvents. Hence, nonconventional solvents with high recyclability and less volatility, toxicity and flammability are considered as a promising alternative to conventional organic solvents. These solvents have gained more attention in recent decades as a new generation of solvents with applications in various organic transformations, natural products isolation and drug design. Recently, the use of nonconventional solvents has increased significantly in pharmaceutical, chemical, cosmetics, paints and many other industries. However, certain scientific research revealed the risks related to nonconventional solvents which disprove the opinion that nonconventional solvents are fully harmless for the environment. Therefore, further study is highly required to redesign or modify the existing nonconventional solvents to make them more efficient and sustainable. Under this purview, I personally believe that this book, edited by Prof. Chhanda Mukhopadhyay and Dr. Bubun Banerjee, is going to be a valuable resource for the researchers working in the fascinating field of nonconventional solvents.

This book has nine unique chapters that are focused on this crucial contemporary subject. Dr. Reddy and his research group described various triethylaminemediated synthesis of bioactive heterocycles in Chapter 1. In Chapter 2, Banerjee et al. summarized various organic transformations using nitromethane as solvent. In Chapter 3, Prof. Asish Ranjan Das and his group explored recent advances on tertbutyl hydroperoxide-mediated cross-coupling reactions. In Chapter 4, Prof. Kantharaju Kamanna and Yamanappagouda Amaregouda summarized applications of cyrene and ethyl lactate as bio-based solvents for various organic transformations. In Chapter 5, Animesh Mondal and Prof. Chhanda Mukhopadhyay established solid-phase platform as a nonconventional synthetic route for the synthesis of diversified heterocyclic and carbocyclic frameworks. Dr. Sasadhar Majhi and his group explored the role of nonconventional solvents in the isolation of natural products in Chapter 6. In Chapter 7, Nahid Ahmadi and Prof. Ali Ramazani discussed the utility of nonconventional solvents in drug design. Prof. Suresh C. Ameta and his group demonstrated industrial applications of various nonconventional solvents in Chapter 8. In Chapter 9, Prof. Kamla Pathak and her group reported the effects of nonconventional solvents on the environment.

> Prof. Bimal Krishna Banik C.Chem., F.R.S.C., F.I.C.S., F.I.S.R.O.S.E.T, F. I. C. Professor and Senior Researcher, Deanship of Research Development, Department of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Prince Mohammad Bin Fahd University, Al Khobar, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia E-mail: bimalbanik10@gmail.com

About Professor Bimal Krishna Banik



Bimal Krishna Banik received his undergraduate, graduate and doctoral studies at Itachuna Bejoy Narayan Mahavidyalaya, Burdwan University and Indian Association for the Cultivation of Science (Jadavpur University). Thereafter, he pursued his postdoctoral research at Case Western Reserve University (Ohio, USA) and Stevens Institute of Technology (New Jersey, USA). Prof. Banik was Assistant Professor in Experimental Molecular Pathology at the University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston. He became a tenured Full Professor in Chemistry and First President's Endowed Professor in Science and Engineering

at the University of Texas – Pan American (UTPA). Prof. Banik was also affiliated to the University of Texas at San Antonio and the University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio as Adjunct Full Professor. Prof. Banik served as the Vice President of Research and Education Development of the Community Health Systems of South Texas. At present, he is a Full Professor and Senior Researcher of the Deanship of Research Development, College of Natural Sciences and Human Studies at the Prince Mohammad Bin Fahd University, Saudi Arabia.

Prof. Banik has taught organic and medicinal chemistry as well as special topics in chemistry and chemistry for engineering for B.S., M.S. and Ph.D. students in the US and Saudi Arabia universities for several years. He has introduced various new courses to render teaching in a most effective and innovative manner. His exceptional teaching skills were reflected from several thousand students', peers' and administrators' outstanding evaluations as well as from independent comments posted at the Rate My Professor Website by the US students. Numerous distinguished leaders and top administrators in the US universities and research institutes rated him as "Truly Exceptional" and "Excellent Teacher" on a scale of excellent, good, average and weak. He has mentored approximately 300 students, 20 postdoctoral fellows, 7 Ph.D. research scientists and 28 university faculties in research activities. Prof. Banik remained as an advisor of two students' organizations and societies in the USA that had 1,400 students of diverse subjects.

Prof. Banik's students have completed higher degrees and education from premier institutes of the USA such as Harvard University, MIT, Northwestern University, Yale University, Stanford University, Rutgers University, University of Texas at San Antonio, Stevens Institute of Technology, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Baylor College of Medicine, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, University of Texas at Austin, New Jersey Medical University, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, University of Texas-Galveston Medical School, University of Philadelphia, State University of New York at Buffalo, University of Reynosa, UTPA and Vanderbilt University. Many of his alumni students are successful as university professors and CEOs/ directors/principal scientists/research scientists of chemical and drug companies. Some of them are working at Merck Pharmaceutical Company, Johnson & Johnson, Procter & Gamble, Bristol Myers Pharmaceutical Company, Dow Chemical Company, International University, Polish Academy of Sciences, the University of Mexico, Colgate-Palmolive, the University of Texas at San Antonio, Chemsyn, Syngene Pharmaceutical Company, G. V. Biochemicals and the US University.

Prof. Banik has carried out his research on synthetic chemistry and chemical biology in the ovary, colon, breast, blood, prostate, brain, pancreas and skin cancers; antibiotics; hormones; catalysis; green chemistry; natural products; metal- and salt-mediated processes; and microwave-induced reactions. As the principal investigator (PI), he has been awarded \$7.25 million grants from the US National Institute of Health, US National Cancer Institute and Texas Private Foundations.

Importantly, Prof. Banik has already published above 600 peer-reviewed publications along with more than 500 presentation abstracts. He has also penned 75 technical reports. He is the author/editor of 17 books published by Springer Nature, Springer, Nova, Elsevier, CRC (Taylor & Francis), De Gruyter and Prince Mohammad Bin Fahd University. In addition, four "Banik's reactions" were invented by him and named as Banik's cycloaddition, Banik's glycosylation, Banik's nitration and Banik's oxidation. The number of citations

for his publications has crossed 8,450. Highly prestigious organizations have also published news based on Prof. Banik's outstanding achievements. For example, American Association for the Advancement of Science (*EurekAlert*), Indian Chemical Society, *Times of India, Down to Earth, American Chemical Society Chemical & Engineering News*, Thomson-Reuters, Bentham Publisher and Royal Society of Chemistry had commented on his research excellence in diverse areas that have been consistent and persistent for the past three decades or more.

Prof. Banik served as PI of a joint green chemistry symposium between the USA and India. He chaired 20 symposiums at the American Chemical Society (ACS) national meetings and over 100 conferences at the state, national and international levels, including one at the Nobel Prize celebration in Germany. He has introduced more than 300 speakers, in the capacity of chair. He is a reviewer of 93 journals, editor rial board member of 26 journals, editor in chief of 12 journals, founder of 8 journals, associate editor of 4 journals and guest editor of 10 journals. As the editor in chief, he recruited approximately 200 associate editors, regional editors and editorial board members from different countries. He is an examiner of NSF, NCI, NRC, DOE, ACS and international grant applications; reviewer of promotion and tenure of faculty of national and international universities; examiner of doctoral theses; and panel member of NSF and NCI/ NIH grant sections. Over the years, he served as the chair/member of more than 100 scientific committees. Prof. Banik served as the chair of the University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center's drug discovery symposiums and directed the US NCI-funded analytical chemistry of Core Research Laboratory.

Prof. Banik was promoted to tenured full professor in 2007, which was within a year of his last promotion to associate professor at the University of Texas System. Prof. Banik has been ranked within top 2% of researchers in the world. He has received the Indian Chemical Society's (ICS) Lifetime Achievement Award, the US National Society of Collegiate Scholar's Best Advisor Award, Mahatma Gandhi Honor Medal from the UK Parliament, ICS's Professor P. K. Bose Endowment Medal, Dr. M. N. Ghosh Gold Medal, the University of Texas Board of Regents' Outstanding Teaching Award, five top-cited paper awards by Elsevier, Fifty Certificates of Excellence in his profession, Indian Association Community Service Award, ACS Member Service Award, NCI Webpage Recognition, Bentham Ambassador Recognition, Best Researcher/Mentor Award by the UTPA, Burdwan University Eminent Alumnus Recognition, First President's Endowed Professorship at the UTPA (a single position that was available in 87 years), New Jersey Board of Education Best Mentor Award and UTPA's Award for Excellence in international studies. Prof. Banik was nominated for the US Presidential Award on Teaching/Mentoring twice by the US University. He was the finalist for the University of Texas Chancellor Award successively for 6 years. He has been regarded as a "distinguished scientist" and "distinguished researcher" by scientific societies. Some of his international research presentations were considered as keynote, plenary and inaugural lectures. Prof. Banik received more than 200 invitations to deliver lectures in 35 countries. He received frequent invitations to contribute textbooks by major publishers, including Wiley, Elsevier, Springer, Springer Nature, Taylor & Francis, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge Scholars Publishing, De Gruyter, Bentham, Thompson, Linus, Nova, Pearson, Cengage, Houghton Mifflin, ICS and PMU Press. Notably, Prof. Banik was invited by the Royal Society of Chemistry to participate in scientific discussions with distinguished professionals at Indianapolis (2013), New Orleans (2013), Philadelphia (2012), Boston (2010), Washington, D.C. (2009), Salt Lake City (2009), Philadelphia (2008), New Orleans (2008), Boston (2007), Chicago (2007), San Francisco (2006), Atlanta (2006) and Washington, D.C. (2005). As an educationalist, Prof. Banik hosted a few dignified professionals, including Nobel Prize winners, ACS presidents, the US White House secretary, editors of most reputed journals and US senator/congressmen.

Contents

Foreword — V

About Professor Bimal Krishna Banik — VII

List of contributors — XI

Sabbasani Rajasekhara Reddy, Sathi Bhulakshmi, Treesa Mary Chacko, Sanjivani Pal, Snehasish Samal, Abhudaya Desai, K. Shiva Kumar and Katta Venkateswarlu

Chapter 1 Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of bioactive heterocycles — 1

Bubun Banerjee, Manmeet Kaur, Arvind Singh, Aditi Sharma and Anu Priya Chapter 2 Organic transformations in nitromethane as solvent — 27

Rahul Dev Mandal, Moumita Saha, Dwaipayan Das and Asish R. Das Chapter 3 Tert-butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP)-mediated cross-coupling reactions — 55

Kantharaju Kamanna and Yamanappagouda Amaregouda

Chapter 4 Applications of Cyrene and ethyl lactate bio-based solvents for organic transformations — 87

Animesh Mondal and Chhanda Mukhopadhyay Chapter 5 Solid-phase platform: a nonconventional synthetic route for the current organic synthesis of diversified heterocyclic and carbocyclic framework — 135

Sudipta Saha, Asish Kumar Dey, Shyamal K. Jash and Sasadhar Majhi Chapter 6 Nonconventional solvents for the isolation of natural products — 183

Nahid Ahmadi and Ali Ramazani Chapter 7 Role of nonconventional solvents in drug design —— 233 X — Contents

Monika Jangid, Avinash K. Rai, Khushbu Sharma, Shubang Vyas, Rakshit Ameta and Suresh C. Ameta

Chapter 8 Industrial applications of nonconventional solvents — 249

Tarun Virmani, Vaishnavi Chhabra, Girish Kumar, Ashwani Sharma and Kamla Pathak

Chapter 9 Impact of nonconventional solvents on environment — 265

Index — 285

List of contributors

Sabbasani Rajasekhara Reddy

School of Advanced Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: sekharareddy@vit.ac.in

Sathi Bhulakshmi

School of Advanced Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

Treesa Mary Chacko

School of Advanced Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

Sanjivani Pal

School of Advanced Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

Snehasish Samal

School of advanced sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

Abhudaya Desai

School of advanced sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT) Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

K. Shiva Kumar

Department of Chemistry, Central University of Kerala, Periye P.O., Kasaragod 671316, Kerala India and Department of Chemistry, Yoqi Vemana

University, Kadapa 516005, Andhra Pradesh India

Katta Venkateswarlu

Department of Chemistry, Central University of Kerala, Periye P.O., Kasaragod 671316, Kerala India and Department of Chemistry, Yogi Vemana University, Kadapa 516005, Andhra Pradesh India

Bubun Banerjee

Department of Chemistry, Akal University Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab India e-mail: banerjeebubun@gmail.com

Manmeet Kaur

Department of Chemistry, Akal University Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab India

Arvind Singh

Department of Chemistry, Akal University, Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab, India

Aditi Sharma

Department of Chemistry, Akal University Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab India

Anu Priya

Department of Chemistry, Akal University Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab, India

Rahul Dev Mandal

Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India

Moumita Saha

Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India

Dwaipayan Das

Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India

Asish R. Das

Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India e-mail: ardchem@caluniv.ac.in

Kantharaju Kamanna

Department of Chemistry, Rani Channamma University, Vidyasangama, Belagavi 591156 Karnataka, India e-mail: kk@rcub.ac.in

Yamanappagouda Amaregouda

Department of Chemistry, Rani Channamma University, Vidyasangama, Belagavi 591156 Karnataka, India

Animesh Mondal

Department of Chemistry, Government General Degree College at Salboni, Vidyasagar University Koyma, Bhimpur, Paschim Medinipur 721516 West Bengal, India

Chhanda Mukhopadhyay

Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta, 92 APC Road, Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India Email: cmukhop@yahoo.co.in

Sudipta Saha

Department of Chemistry (UG & PG), Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University, Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India

Asish Kumar Dey

Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University, Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India

Shyamal K. Jash

Department of Chemistry, Krishna Chandra College, Hetampur, Birbhum 731124, West Bengal, India

Sasadhar Majhi

Department of Chemistry (UG and PG), Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India e-mail: sasadharmajhi@gmail.com

Nahid Ahmadi

School of Mahdieh Shahed, Education of Zanjan Zanjan 45186-17981, Iran

Ali Ramazani

Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science University of Zanjan, Zanjan 45371-38791, Iran e-mail: aliramazani@znu.ac.ir

Monika Jangid

Department of Chemistry, PAHER University Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

Avinash K. Rai

Department of Chemistry, PAHER University Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

Khushbu Sharma

Department of Chemistry, Bhupal Nobles' University, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

Shubang Vyas

Department of Chemistry, PAHER University Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

Rakshit Ameta

Department of Chemistry, J. R. N. Rajasthan Vidhyapeeth (Deemed to be University), Udaipur Rajasthan, India

Suresh C. Ameta

Department of Chemistry, PAHER University Udaipur, Rajasthan, India e-mail: ameta_sc@yahoo.com

Tarun Virmani

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, MVN University, Aurangabad 121102, Haryana, India

Vaishnavi Chhabra

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, MVN University, Aurangabad 121102, Haryana, India

Girish Kumar

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, MVN University, Aurangabad 121102, Haryana, India

Ashwani Sharma

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, MVN University, Aurangabad 121102, Haryana, India

Kamla Pathak

Uttar Pradesh University of Medical Sciences Etawah 206001, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: kamlapathak5@gmail.com Sabbasani Rajasekhara Reddy^{*}, Sathi Bhulakshmi, Treesa Mary Chacko, Sanjivani Pal, Snehasish Samal, Abhudaya Desai, K. Shiva Kumar and Katta Venkateswarlu

Chapter 1 Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of bioactive heterocycles

1.1 Introduction

Organic bases typically contain proton acceptors, but this is not always the case, and the use of base-promoted organic reactions has recently gained prominence [1]. They generally have nitrogen atoms that are easy to protonate. In amines and other heterocyclic compounds containing nitrogen, the nitrogen atom has a single pair of electrons that can act as proton acceptors. Triethylamine (TEA), also known as *N*,*N*-diethylethanamine (Et₃N), is a colorless, water-soluble liquid that has a wide range of applications as an organocatalyst in chemical transformations [2]. Thus, the lone pair on nitrogen can act as a base. It functions in a variety of chemical syntheses as a solvent and a basic catalyst. In synthetic organic chemistry, TEA is recognized as a flexible and effective organocatalyst that is also inexpensive, easy to handle, nontoxic and reasonably safe. TEA is a mildly hydrogen-bond basic, dipolar/polarizable, weakly cohesive, non-hydrogen-bond acidic solvent. Compared to the other solvents, TEA has more occurrences of the creation of catalytic transformation products.

TEA should be defined for its first usage as a versatile reagent with applications ranging from photochemistry, electrochemistry and organic reactions. This chapter mainly focuses on applications of TEA photochemically and electrochemically and in organic reactions. It is useful for deprotonation and scavenging protons, for the formation of new compounds, and as a sensitizer photochemically [3]. In electrochemical

Sathi Bhulakshmi, Treesa Mary Chacko, Sanjivani Pal, Snehasish Samal, Abhudaya Desai, Department of Chemistry, School of Advanced Sciences, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT), Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore, Tamil Nadu, India, for providing "VIT SEED GRANT-SG20210" to carry out this investigation successfully.

^{*}Corresponding author: Sabbasani Rajasekhara Reddy, School of Advanced Sciences, Department of Chemistry, Vellore Institute of Technology (VIT), Vellore 632014, Tamil Nadu, India, e-mail: sekharareddy@vit.ac.in

Katta Venkateswarlu, Department of Chemistry, Yogi Vemana University, Kadapa 516005, Andhra Pradesh, India

K. Shiva Kumar, Department of Chemistry, Central University of Kerala, Periye (P.O.), Kasarakod 671316, Kerala, India

experiments, TEA can be added as a supporting electrolyte to increase the conductivity of the solution and to stabilize the potential of the electrode [4]. It can also function as a solvent and a complexing agent. A typical organic base called TEA is frequently employed in organic chemistry reactions as a catalyst or reagent [5]. Additionally, TEA can also be used to complex metal ions and promote typical organic reactions (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Triethylamine properties and main fields of applications.

1.2 Triethylamine-promoted photocatalytic reactions

1.2.1 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 1,4-substituted 1,2,3-triazoles

Click chemistry has one of the most effective alternatives to synthesize 1,2,3-triazole. This study by Kumar et al. [6] uses a bipyrimidine-bridging ligand to coordinate the photocatalyst's ruthenium photosensitizer unit with the manganese carbonyl complex. It offers quick electron transfer for a contact-free in situ reduction of Cu(II) to Cu(I) with TEA acting as a sacrificial donor. This led to a faster reaction rate than when the photosensitizer and Mn complex were physically mixed together in the reaction mixture, but the yield was still constrained by alkyne–alkyne homocoupling. Ru(bpy)₂Cl₂ and Mn(bpm) (CO)₃Br were combined to create a bimetallic complex, [Ru(bpy)₂(bpm)Mn(CO)₃Br](PF₆)₂, which was then precipitated with ammonium hexafluorophosphate to produce an in situ Cu reduction of 1,4-disubstituted 1,2,3-triazole. The [3 + 2] cycloaddition of the azide and alkynes is facilitated by Cu(I) metal coordination. By regenerating the catalyst, the intermediate is then subjected to protonation, producing 1,4-disubstituted-1,2,3-triazoles (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 1,4-substituted 1,2,3-triazoles.

The effective electron mobility occurs through Ru-Mn to Cu(II) via the pyrimidinebridging ligand which is stabilized by $[C_2H_5]_3N-[C_2H_5]_3N^{+*}$. The mechanistic steps involved are explained in Figure 1.3.

Figure 1.3: Mechanistic details of role of TEA.

1.2.2 Reductive alkylation of difluoroalkyl halides using triethylamine as reductant

Miller et al. [7] described the creation of an improved photocatalytic method for reducing difluoroalkylation for different olefins. Under mild reaction conditions, these alkenes allow access to synthetically relevant noncanonical amino acid scaffolds. The starting materials, commercial difluoroalkyl halides, of experiments allowed the addition of various olefins, such as dehydroalanine residues toward considerable monomers. The currently described procedure uses TEA as the terminal reductant and an iridium photocatalyst to access the orthogonally protected residues in one step. Similar work was previously established using Hantzsch ester [8]. However, due to the problem of reactivity and undesired pathways, an efficient pathway using TEA as reductants is established.



Figure 1.4: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated reductive alkylation of difluoroalkyl halides.

When Et_3N is oxidized, a radical cation is created, followed by the loss of a proton, producing the amino radical. Then, this species may engage in simple bromine atom abstraction from the precursor to produce the necessary difluoroalkyl radical and the iminium ion derived from Et_3N . This radical in the presence of highly reducing irid-ium(II) species undergoes subsequent reactions to give product **2**. Plausible mechanistic aspects are shown in Figure 1.4.

1.2.3 Triethylamine-mediated aerobic oxidation of sulfides

Due to the wide range of applications, selective oxidation of sulfides to sulfoxides has gained a great deal of interest. The most common semiconductor photocatalyst (TiO₂) was found to show high performances. While carbazolic conjugated microporous polymers



Figure 1.5: Triethylamine-mediated aerobic oxidation of sulfides'.

rose to benefit selective oxidation, pure polyimides [9] or PDA (polydopamine)-modified TiO_2 failed to meet the requirements [10]. Polyimides bearing high lowest unoccupied molecular orbital had no recognizable photocatalytic activity and PDA-modified TiO_2 could not achieve high selectivity. TEMPO (2,2,6,6-tetramethyl-1-piperidine *N*-oxyl) serves no purpose as a redox mediator in this process and is hence incapable. In order to increase the efficacy of the polyimide– TiO_2 photocatalyst, a novel redox mediator was discovered. Lang et al. [11] found that TEA could increase the activity of polyimide– TiO_2 catalysis by threefold. While an irradiation with 460 nm of blue light stimulates the reaction, TEA mediates the electron transfer between polyimide– TiO_2 and sulfides, enabling oxidation of sulfides **3** to product **4** with high stereoselectivity. Detailed mechanistic aspects are demonstrated in Figure 1.5.

1.2.4 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 6-β-disubstituted phenanthridines

Rastogi et al. [12] synthesized 6-functionalized phenanthridines by generating enolate vinyl radical intermediates that were then trapped with *o*-aryl vinyl azides. Intramolecular cyclization was then applied to the resulting iminyl radicals. By reducing keto-diazophosphonates and keto-diazocarboxylates, the excited Rh-radical anion, which is created when blue light activates Rh-6G (Rhodamine 6G dye) in the presence of electron donors, created enolate vinyl radicals. It was found that substituting TEA for the electron donor *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) significantly increased the yield to 84%. A 1:2 ratio of substrates **5** and **6** was found to be the best combination, along with 1.0 equivalents of TBAB (Tetrabutylammonium bromide), 2 mol% of Rh-6G and 1.5 equivalents of Et₃N in DCM (Dichloromethane).

The Rh-radical anion is produced by removing one electron from excited Rh-6G by Et_3N . Et_3N transforms into a radical cation. The oxidation of intermediates 7 and **8** is also aided by this. Based on observations made during reaction optimization, the mechanism is described (Figure 1.6).

1.2.5 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of C₃-alkylated imidazopyridines

Pyridine is regarded as a "drug bias" heterocyclic skeleton due to the wide range of pharmacological properties, such as anti-inflammatory, antiulcer, antiviral and anticancer activities, of heterocyclic molecules containing imidazo[1,2-a]pyridine. In this study, a quick, one-pot condensation and alkylation of 2-aminopyridines with a variety of bro-mocarbonyl molecules were used to demonstrate the synthesis of C₃-alkylated imidazo-pyridines under visible light photoredox catalysis. This novel method, short synthetic pathway, readily accessible substrates, eases of operation and favorable reaction conditions are just a few of its outstanding qualities. This technique, which can also be used to create other C_3 -functionalized imidazo[1,2-a]pyridine derivatives [14], allowed for the



Figure 1.6: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 6-β-disubstituted phenanthridines.

quick synthesis of zolpidem [13]. It was observed that the reaction occurred in DCM at room temperature when fac-ir(ppy)₃ (2 mol%) was employed as a photocatalyst and Et_3N (2 equiv.) was used as a base. This resulted in the production of C_3 -alkylated imidazopyridine **9** in 80% of the reactions. While in the absence of a TEA, photocatalyst or visible light irradiation, no desired product was observed. The scheme and the plausible reaction mechanism are discussed in Figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of C₃-alkylated imidazopyridines.

1.2.6 Visible-light-driven triethylamine-mediated photocatalytic duet reaction

Shimakoshi et al. [15] succeeded in synthesizing ester and amide from trichlorinated reactant 10 with UV light irradiation. Even though it was able to proceed in room temperature, irradiation of UV light corresponding to the band gap excitation of TiO₂ was challenging. Hence, visible-light-mediated pathway was in quest and successful visible-light-responsive hybrid catalyst was synthesized [16].

Surface modification of TiO₂ was required for efficient visible-light-driven reaction. Among various surface modifications with glucose and inorganic compounds, metal ion modification was found to be the most efficient. This was explained by the stability of the catalyst. The B₁₂ hybrid catalyst was synthesized using the rhodiummodified TiO₂ (Rh^{3+} -TiO₂). Rhodium(III) ions were attached onto the surface of TiO₂ making it task specific, and vitamin B₁₂ complex is covalently immobilized onto TiO₂ through trimethoxysilyl groups which is a visible-light-photoresponsive catalyst. When visible light was irradiated onto the surface-modified TiO₂ catalyst, TEA acts as a sacrificial reagent and underwent oxidation to form diethylamine. Alongside, the electrons were transferred to cobalt catalyst, that is, vitamin B_{12} complex reducing Co(III) to Co(I). Amide **11** was synthesized from diethylamine and benzoyl chloride formed by oxidation with CO(I) (Figure 1.8).

1.2.7 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of phenols

Iodoarene 12 can be extracted from phenol using a gentle, easy and efficient method [17]. This process uses visible light from white light-emitting diodes (LEDs) as a clean energy source and KI as an inexpensive, widely available catalyst to produce iodine radical reactive species in the presence of atmospheric oxygen. TEA was used as the base and solvent in the reaction, which resulted in a variety of phenols with yields ranging from fair to good and high compatibility with a wide range of functional groups. A catalyst screening was done, and it was found that using I2 as a photocatalyst produced a good yield of the desired product. According to mechanistic research, breaking of C–I bond takes place, which results in free aryl radicals, advantageously facilitated by the interaction of KI with catalysis. The importance of Et₃N was studied by the use of other bases like CH₃ONa or KOH, DABCO (1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane) and DIPEA. Moreover, the reaction was completely inhibited in the absence of TEA, which confirms the role of TEA in the reaction mechanism (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.8: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated reaction.

1.2.8 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of indoline

General indoline synthesis involves the formation of either Csp^3 –N or Csp^3 – Csp^3 bond first, which is followed by cyclization to form a five-membered ring. When the visible light photoredox catalyst (Ru(bpy)₃(PF₆)₂) was added, conditions similar to those described by Molander (acetone and 2,6-lutidine) resulted in a significant increase in the amount of indoline product compared to the reaction without the photoredox catalyst [18]. The use of aryl iodides instead of bromides, as well as blue LEDs to decrease reaction time, provided the optimal circumstances for good indoline product yields with high selectivity over the Heck reaction products. Utilizing *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands, IPr identified the tiny amount of indoline product with remarkable selectivity (>19:1) when compared to other products. This suggests that the alkene migratory insertion had been highly selective for arene insertion at the internal position in addition to suppressing -H elimination. Glorius and coworkers recently reported indole synthesis from 2-haloaniline **13** and alkene **14**, using an internal diazine carboxylate oxidant and Rh(III)-catalyzed directed C–H functionalization to couple arenes with primarily electron-



Figure 1.9: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated phenol synthesis.

poor alkenes, which tend to result in 2-substituted aminoindolines from which the 1amino group can be removed to produce NH-indoline [19].

The required oxidation to Ni(III) prior to product formation that is most plausible with stoichiometric oxidants enhances the quantity of C–N bond formation. Et₃N mediates the oxidation of Ni from +2 to +3 oxidation state enabling complex (number) to take up path 1 rather than undergoing beta-hydride elimination through path 2. Path 1 allows the synthesis of indoline product **15** via cyclization reaction which is facilitated by Et₃N acts as a base (Figure 1.10).

1.2.9 Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated oxidation of alcohols

Due to its importance in organic synthesis, the oxidation of alcohols continues to be one of the most used and researched organic reactions [20]. As an alternative to TiO_2 's small size, potassium niobium oxide (KNbO₃) is used in this study as a photocatalyst. Niobium oxide perovskites have the advantage of being easier to separate because of their higher particle size and porosity [21]. This study examines the effects of base, H₂O₂ and catalyst on the photooxidation of sec-phenethyl alcohol (SPA) **16**, which was used as



Figure 1.10: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated synthesis of indolines.

a probe molecule to investigate the use of AuNP/KNbO₃ as a visible-light-activated material in the absence of solvent [22]. Only initially was there a limited conversion of the SPA substrate to the desired acetophenone product **17** (8%) in combination with H_2O_2 , AuNP/ KNbO₃ and LED cubic array as the visible light source. But when TEA is added and the exposure time is increased by an hour, the percentage of conversion to acetophenone jumps to 38%. This increase in the carbonyl product conversion rate demonstrates the significance of the base in the reaction mixture. TEA was chosen to continue the research after the photooxidation of SPA was conducted in the presence of three bases: a strong base (NaOH), a weak base (Na₂CO₃) and an amine base (TEA). They discovered that NaOH was acting efficiently and that reactions involving the bicarbonate base frequently produce an undetectable by-product, decreasing selectivity. The minimum concentration of TEA was kept constant to preserve the overall effectiveness of SPA photooxidation. Green LED photoreactor lamps provide a superior source of visible light in terms of percent conversion and efficiency compared to high-powered LED apparatus because the amount of carbonyl generated rises with increasing light source power (Figure 1.11).



Figure 1.11: Photocatalytic triethylamine-mediated oxidation of alcohols.

1.3 Triethylamine-promoted electrochemical reactions

1.3.1 Triethylamine-mediated electrochemical alcohol oxidation

Activities for converting energy and chemicals are largely focused on the electrochemical oxidation of alcohols, with applications in fuel cells, the use of biomass and fine chemical synthesis. Small-molecule electrocatalysts for these kinds of processes are an intriguing area for further study, as evidenced by recent advancements in nickel catalysts for electrochemical hydrogen production and oxidation. It has been shown that complexes with tethered amines that resemble the active site of hydrogenases can catalyze hydrogen production (from protons and electrons) at rates far exceeding those of such enzymes while also mediating reversible electrocatalytic hydrogen production and oxidation with efficiency similar to that of the enzymes. The most extensively investigated electrocatalysts for alcohol oxidation are organic nitroxyls, such as TEMPO along with nickel complexes are frequently used to promote the reaction for various alcohols. However, the requirement for high electrode potentials sets a major drawback. (2,2'-Bipyridine) Cu/nitroxyl cocatalyst systems for electrochemical alcohol oxidation have been established by Stahl et al. [23] to overcome the drawback.

It undergoes the proton-coupled TEMPO/TEMPOH redox process as opposed to the high-potential TEMPO/TEMPO⁺ process mechanically. The use of TEA makes this possible. In addition to recycling the catalyst and serving as a base, Et_3N also mediates the oxidation of alcohol **18** (Figure 1.12). These results suggest a novel strategy for the design of non-precious metal electrocatalysts by showing that efficient two-electron electrochemical processes can be achieved by combining mediators of electron–proton transfer, such as TEMPO, with first-row transition metals, such as copper.

1.3.2 Triethylamine-mediated electrochemical reductive decarboxylative coupling

Zeng and coworkers [24] reported the first instance of reductive decarboxylationative coupling of *N*-hydroxyphthalimide (NHP) ester **20** with quinoxalinone **19** that is electrochemically enabled and catalyzed by NiCl₂.

It was proposed to decarboxylately couple quinoxalinone to an NHP ester and was based on experimental research and relevant literature publications. At the cathode, Ni(I) is initially created by reducing Ni(II). The resulting Ni(I) species undergoes a singleelectron transfer with NHP ester to produce Ni(II) species and a cyclohexyl radical (path a). However, the possibility that an NHP ester could be directly reduced at the cathode to create a cyclohexyl radical cannot be completely disregarded (path b). The radical cation is created by combining the complex and the cyclohexyl radical after which the radical



Figure 1.12: Triethylamine-mediated electrochemical alcohol oxidation.

loses one molecule of H^+ to create the radical. Before losing one Ni(II) molecule, the radical undergoes one more round of oxidation to produce the desired product. Meanwhile, Et_3N is oxidized at the anode to create a TEA radical cation (Figure 1.13).

Biochemically significant 3-alkylated quinoxalinones **21** were produced in good to outstanding yields by combining nickel catalysis and electrochemistry. The current approach has a wide range of substrates, gentle conditions, inexpensive catalysts and great functional group tolerance.

1.3.3 Triethylamine-mediated electrocatalyzed mild C–H alkylations

Direct alkylations of carboxylic acid derivatives can be challenging, and nickel catalysis frequently necessitates hot reactions and powerful bases, which limits the range of substrates. In a study by Samanta et al. [25], unactivated 8-aminoquinoline amide **22** was subjected to nickel-catalyzed C–H alkylations at room temperature, using a mild base and a simple electrochemical setup. This C–H alkylation is electrocatalyzed,



Figure 1.13: Triethylamine-mediated electrochemically reductive decarboxylative coupling.

exhibits excellent functional group tolerance and can be used for both primary and secondary alkylation. A thorough mechanistic analysis has led to the suggestion of a nickel(II/III/I) catalytic manifold.

Therefore, a remarkable mild reaction for this type of reaction is produced by a nickel-catalyzed electrochemical process for directly C–H alkylating quinoline amides with the mild base (Et₃N) at room temperature. It was seen that without the use of TEA, moderate yield of only 55% was observed. This method allows for the conversion of a variety of primary and secondary alkyl iodides, while tolerating a number of delicate functional groups. Comprehensive mechanistic analyses provided strong evidence in favor of a Ni(II/III/I) catalytic cycle through SET mechanisms (Figure 1.14).



Figure 1.14: Triethylamine-mediated electrocatalyzed mild C–H alkylations.

1.4 Triethylamine-promoted organic reactions

1.4.1 Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 2-oxazolidinones

One of the most important five-membered heterocycles in medicinal chemistry is 2-oxazolidinones. In drugs such as rivaroxaban, anticoagulants are synthesized from 2-oxazolidinone core. This demands a novel and simple synthetic protocol for their synthesis. Use of triethylamine hydroiodide as a bifunctional organocatalyst led to an efficient synthesis of 2-oxazolidinone **25** free of solvent and metal usage [26]. General reaction of epoxide **23** with phenyl isocyanate **24** for about 100 °C led to their formation of about 83%. The substrate scope of epoxides was expanded from different functional groups attached to epoxides to 2,2-disubstituted epoxide. However, when styrene oxide was used as a reactant, regioisomeric products were obtained. Triethylamine hydroiodide is regarded as a bifunctional organocatalyst as control experiments proved the effect of anion and acidic hydrogen of the catalyst were equally important to drive the reaction. Acidic hydrogen helps to activate the epoxide and iodine involves in a nucleophilic reaction with the activated epoxide. TEA promotes the reaction to obtain the optically pure product with retention of chirality (Figure 1.15).



Figure 1.15: Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of 2-oxazolidinones.

1.4.2 Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of dialkyl 2-thiofumarates

One of the main tasks in organic synthesis is the development of straightforward synthetic routes for sulfur-containing compounds using readily available reagents because organosulfur compounds are widely present in many synthetic drugs and bioactive natural products and play a significant role in the biochemistry of almost all living things. Based on the addition reaction between dialkyl acetylene dicarboxylate **27** and aryl(benzyl) thiol **26** in the presence of TEA as a mild base, a mild, effective and stereoselective synthesis of dialkyl 2-thiofumarates **28** is described [27]. Different derivatives of aromatic thiols were added to dialkyl acetylene dicarboxylates with high stereoselectivity toward the synthesis of *Z*-configuration as the major isomer in the presence of TEA as a basic promoter in CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature. Good yields of the corresponding fumarates were obtained. TEA is added to increase the catalytic activity (Figure 1.16).



Figure 1.16: Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of dialkyl 2-thiofumarates.

1.4.3 Selective synthesis of multifunctionalized cyclopent-3-ene-1-carboxamides and 2-oxabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane derivatives

2-Oxabicyclo[2.2.1]heptane is one of the intriguing bridged cyclic scaffolds found in numerous biologically active compounds of heptane. By base-promoted reactions of phenacylmalononitriles with *o*-hydroxychalcones and their *o*-enolates, Zheng et al. [28] reported the selective synthesis of cyclopent-1-ene-1,2-dicarboxylates and 2-oxabicyclo-[2.2.1]heptane in good yields and with high diastereoselectivity. The multifunctionalized cyclopent-3-ene-1-carboxamides are produced in good yields and with a high degree of diastereoselectivity by the TEA-promoted cycloaddition reaction. Utilizing TEA (0.5 equiv.) resulted in an 85% increase in the yield of product **29**. A yield of 75% was



Figure 1.17: Triethylamine-mediated selective synthesis.

obtained with just 0.3 equivalents of TEA. However, in the presence of excess use of TEA, the yield slightly decreased to 70% (2.0 equiv.) (Figure 1.17).

1.4.4 Triethylamine-mediated Knoevenagel condensation

Cinnamic acid is used in a wide range of industrial products, including those for the production of pharmaceutical intermediates, flavors, perfumery goods and cosmetics. Cinnamic acid has antitumor and anti-inflammatory properties. Cinnamic acid and its derivatives are typically made by Knoevenagel condensation with an organic or inorganic base present. Typically, bases included ammonia: primary, secondary and their salts. The most popular Knoevenagel condensation uses piperidine as an organocatalyst with pyridine serving as both a solvent and a base. TEA in toluene was used as the base for this condensation reaction, which resulted in the formation of product **32**, according to Pawar et al. [29]. Pyridine is typically used for this condensation reaction. Of the three different tertiary amines (TEA, tertiary octyl acrylamide and tertiary butyl alcohol), TEA was found to yield well when catalytic amounts of piperidine were present. TEA was discovered to play the dual role of a base and a solubilizing agent for facilitating the reaction in both toluene and TEA itself. TEA and solvent were eliminated following the reaction using vacuum distillation (Figure 1.18).



Figure 1.18: Triethylamine-mediated Knoevenagel condensation.

1.4.5 Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of phosphonate diols

Several phosphonate diols (bis- α -hydroxyphosphonates) can be effectively made from aromatic and heteroaromatic dialdehydes in a green, mild environment, according to a method that has been reported [30]. Because they were discovered to be biologically active and valuable synthetic precursors for the synthesis of related organophosphonates, such as α -aminophosphonates, alkoxy- and acyloxy-phosphonates, ketophosphonates and halophosphonates, hydroxyphosphonates have received a great deal of attention. Under solvent-free conditions or in a small amount of tetrahydrofuran at room temperature, a series of aromatic/heteroaromatic dialdehydes react with dialkyl phosphites to yield the corresponding bis-hydroxyphosphonate **33** with a moderate-to -excellent yield (52–95%) (Figure 1.19).



Figure 1.19: Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of bis-α-hydroxyphosphonates.

1.4.6 Triethylamine-mediated regioselective synthesis of the indolopyrazines

Through a sequential Rh-catalyzed formal [3 + 3] cycloaddition and aromatization reaction of a variety of diazoindolinimines with azirines, Lee et al. [31] demonstrated a regioselective method for the synthesis of indolopyrazines. TEA (1.5 equiv.) is added to generate indolodihydropyrazine in situ, increasing the yield by up to 79%. Additionally, TEA addition causes a TsH elimination reaction, which yields the desired indolopyrazine **34** in 96% of the cases (Figure 1.20).

1.5 Conclusions

Due to its versatility, reactivity and ability to improve reaction efficiency, TEA is a widely used chemical in a variety of applications, including photocatalytic, electrochemical and organic syntheses. TEA is specifically used in the activation of C–X, C–H and C=O bonds, as well as the oxidation of alcohols to produce the corresponding carbonyl compounds. Additionally, it is used in the cascade synthesis of cyclic organic compounds. However, it should be handled with caution because it is toxic, and its high concentrations can cause irritation in the skin, eye and respiratory system. Its ability to act as a base in nucleophilic substitution reactions and to form stable complexes with electrophiles makes it a versatile tool in the synthesis of a wide range of organic compounds.


Figure 1.20: Triethylamine-mediated synthesis of indolopyrazines.

References

- [1] Kumar Shiva K, Gugulothu K, Rajasekhara RS, Venkateswarlu K. Current opinion on base influenced organic transformations. Curr Org Chem 2022, 26, 1235.
- [2] Brahmachari G, Nayek N, Nurjamal K, Karmakar I, Begam S. Triethylamine-A versatile organocatalyst in organic transformations: A decade update. Synth 2018, 50, 4145–4164.
- [3] Katsuki T, Sharpless KB. Photochemical reactions in the presence of triethylamine. J Am Chem Soc 1980, 102, 481–486.
- [4] Bitter JH, Lu DG. Triethylamine in electroanalytical chemistry. Anal Chem 1984, 6, 1591–1596.
- [5] Stephanidou-Stephanatou J, Neochoritis C, Zarganes-Tzitzikas. Triethylamine: A versatile reagent in organic synthesis. Chem Educ 2013, 90, 634–638.
- [6] Kumar P, Joshi C, Srivastava AK, Gupta P, Boukherroub R, Jain SL. Visible light assisted photocatalytic
 [3+ 2] azide–alkyne "click" reaction for the synthesis of 1, 4-substituted 1, 2,
 3-triazoles using a novel bimetallic Ru–Mn complex. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 69–75.
- [7] Ellefsen JD, Miller SJ. Photocatalytic reductive olefin hydrodifluoroalkylation enabled by tertiary amine reductants compatible with complex systems. J Org Chem 2022, 87, 10250–10255.
- [8] Guo T, Wang H, Wang C, Tang S, Liu J, Wang X. Nonenzymatic Asparagine motif synthesis by photoredox-catalyzed carbamoylation of dehydroalanine. J Org Chem 2022, 87, 6852–6859.
- [9] Ma C, Zhou J, Zhu H, Yang W, Liu J, Wang Y, Zou Z. Constructing a high-efficiency MoO3/polyimide hybrid photocatalyst based on strong interfacial interaction. ACS App Mater Interfaces 2015, 7, 14628–14637.
- [10] Hao H, Li X, Lang X. Anthraquinones as photoredox active ligands of TiO₂ for selective aerobic oxidation of organic sulfides. Appl Catal 2019, 259, 118038.
- [11] Sheng W, Shi JL, Hao H, Li X, Lang X. Selective aerobic oxidation of sulfides by cooperative polyimide-titanium dioxide photocatalysis and triethylamine catalysis. J Colloid Interface Sci 2020, 565, 614–622.
- [12] Devi L, Pokhriyal A, Shekhar S, Kant R, Mukherjee S, Rastogi N. Organo-photocatalytic synthesis of 6β-disubstituted phenanthridines from α-diazo-β-keto compounds and vinyl azides. Asian J Org Chem 2021, 10, 3328–3333.
- [13] Chang Q, Liu Z, Liu P, Yu L, Sun P. Visible-light-induced regioselective cyanomethylation of imidazopyridines and its application in drug synthesis. J Org Chem 2017, 82, 5391–5397.
- [14] Tong J, Zhan Y, Li J, Liu P, Sun P. One-pot synthesis of C₃-alkylated imidazopyridines from α-bromocarbonyls under photoredox conditions. Eur J Org Chem 2021, 32, 4541–4545.
- [15] Shimakoshi H, Hisaeda Y. Oxygen-controlled catalysis by vitamin B₁₂-TiO₂: Formation of esters and amides from trichlorinated organic compounds by photoirradiation. Angew Chem 2015, 127, 15659–15663.
- [16] Shichijo K, Fujitsuka M, Hisaeda Y, Shimakoshi H. Visible light-driven photocatalytic duet reaction catalyzed by the B12-rhodium-titanium oxide hybrid catalyst. J Organomet Chem 2020, 907, 121058.
- [17] Huiqin W, Wu M. Photocatalytic synthesis of phenols mediated by visible light using KI as catalyst. Tetrahedron Lett 2021, 87, 153549.
- [18] Tellis JC, Primer DN, Molander GA. Single-electron transmetalation in organoboron cross-coupling by photoredox/nickel dual catalysis. Science 2014, 345, 433–436.
- [19] Zhao D, Vásquez-Céspedes S, Glorius F. Rhodium (III)-catalyzed cyclative capture approach to diverse 1-aminoindoline derivatives at room temperature. Angew Chem Int Ed 2015, 54, 1657–1661.
- [20] Sheldon R. Metal-catalyzed Oxidations of Organic Compounds: Mechanistic Principles and Synthetic Methodology Including Biochemical Processes. Newyork: Academic Press, Elsevier, 2012.
- [21] Zarei-Chaleshtori M, Hosseini M, Edalatpour R, Masud SS, Chianelli RR. Photocatalytic decontamination of wastewater with porous material HNb₃O₈. Microchem J 2013, 110, 361–368.

- [22] Chassé M, Hallett-Tapley GL. Gold nanoparticle-functionalized niobium oxide perovskites as photocatalysts for visible light-induced aromatic alcohol oxidations. Can J Chem 2018, 96, 664–671.
- [23] Badalyan A, Stahl SS. Cooperative electrocatalytic alcohol oxidation with electron-proton-transfer mediators. Nature 2016, 535, 406–410.
- [24] Lian F, Xu K, Meng W, Zhang H, Tan Z, Zeng C. Nickel-catalyzed electrochemical reductive decarboxylative coupling of N-hydroxyphthalimide esters with quinoxalinones. Chem Commun 2019, 55, 14685–14688.
- [25] Samanta RC, Struwe J, Ackermann L. Nickel-electrocatalyzed mild C–H alkylations at room temperature. Angew Chem Int Ed 2020, 59, 14154–14159.
- [26] Nishiyori R, Okuno K, Shirakawa S. Triethylamine hydroiodide as a bifunctional catalyst for the solvent-free synthesis of 2-oxazolidinones. Eur J Org Chem 2020, 31, 4937–4941.
- [27] Hashemi SA, Mohammadizadeh MR. Triethylamine-promoted stereoselective synthesis of dialkyl 2-Thiofumarates by the reaction of thiols and dialkyl acetylene dicarboxylates. Chem Select 2021, 6, 733–737.
- [28] Zheng H, Han Y, Xu FS, Sun J, Yan CG. Selective synthesis of multifunctionalized cyclopent-3-ene-1carboxamides and 2-oxabicyclo [2.2. 1] heptane derivatives. New J Chem 2022, 46, 17161–17166.
- [29] Pawar HS, Wagh AS, Lali AM. Triethylamine: A potential N-base surrogate for pyridine in Knoevenagel condensation of aromatic aldehydes and malonic acid. New J Chem 2016, 40, 4962–4968.
- [30] Mou Z, Wang Y, Man X. An efficient and green method to prepare bis-α-hydroxy phosphonates using triethylamine as catalyst. Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat Elem 2020, 196, 195–199.
- [31] Baek Y, Maeng C, Kim H, Lee PH. Regioselective synthesis of indolopyrazines through a sequential rhodium-catalyzed formal [3+ 3] cycloaddition and aromatization reaction of diazoindolinimines with azirines. J Org Chem 2018, 83, 2349–2360.

Bubun Banerjee^{*}, Manmeet Kaur, Arvind Singh, Aditi Sharma and Anu Priya

Chapter 2 Organic transformations in nitromethane as solvent

2.1 Introduction

Nitromethane is the simplest nitro-compound. At normal conditions, it is liquid in nature. It is used as a reagent, solvent, stabilizer and fuel in sports car and rockets [1]. It is a highly polar solvent (ε = 37.5) almost comparable to acetonitrile (ε = 36.6) [2]. It has a higher dipole moment (μ = 3.46 D) [2]. These properties make it as an extremely versatile reaction media for various organic transformations, especially for stereoselective carbon-carbon bond formation [3]. It has been extensively used in chemical industries and can also be used for cleaning processes. In many reactions, nitromethane showed a dual character [4] by solving the purposes of both as a solvent and as a source for carbon and nitrogen [5]. Along with solvent, it can also be used simultaneously as a surrogate source of methylamine or nitrile [6]. In many cases, even under mild conditions, it behaves like stabilized carbanions due to the strong electron-withdrawing nature of the nitro group (pK_a MeNO₂ < 10) [7]. It is also used as a suitable nucleophilic donor in the Michael addition reaction. Moreover, the nitro group of nitromethane can be converted to ketone by following the pathways of Nef reaction [8]. It is used for the synthesis of nitroalkanols through the Henry reaction [9]. Very recently, in 2020, Liu et al. [10] explored the reactivity of nitromethane as a nitrogen donor in the Schmidt-type synthesis of amides and nitriles. In this chapter, we have summarized various organic transformations which were carried out in nitromethane as a solvent.

Acknowledgments: Authors are thankful to Prof. Gurmail Singh, Vice-Chancellor, Akal University, for his wholehearted encouragement and support. BB is grateful to Akal University and Kalgidhar Trust, Baru Sahib, India, for the financial assistance.

^{*}Corresponding author: Bubun Banerjee, Department of Chemistry, Akal University, Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab, India, e-mail: banerjeebubun@gmail.com

Manmeet Kaur, Arvind Singh, Aditi Sharma and Anu Priya, Department of Chemistry, Akal University, Talwandi Sabo, Bathinda 151302, Punjab, India

2.2 C–C bond formation in nitromethane

2.2.1 Alkylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds

In 2009, Kothandaraman et al. [11] demonstrated a facile and efficient protocol for allylic alkylation of various 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (1) with allylic alcohols (2) which afforded the corresponding adducts (3) in good to excellent yields (55–96%) in the presence of a catalytic mixture of $AuCl_3$ and $AgSbF_5$ in nitromethane at room temperature (Figure 2.1). All the reactions were completed within 45 min. During optimization, a number of other solvents such as dichloromethane (DCM), acetonitrile, 1,4-dioxane, benzene and toluene were also screened but afforded lesser products even after few hours.



Figure 2.1: Nitromethane-mediated allylic alkylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds with allylic alcohols.

2.2.2 Benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds

Wang et al. [12] reported a facile protocol for the direct substitution of the hydroxy group of various benzylic and allylic alcohols (2a) with diverse 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (1) in the presence of a catalytic amount of 12-phosphotungstic acid and MgSO₄ as catalysts in nitromethane at ambient temperature (Figure 2.2). This efficient carbon–carbon bond-forming reaction provides a series of monoalkylated dicarbonyl compounds (3a) in high yields.





Noji et al. [13] reported various rare earth metal triflate-catalyzed secondary benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (**1**) in nitromethane as solvent at room temperature (Figure 2.3). A series of benzylated 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (**3a**) were synthesized in excellent yields. It was proposed that the reaction undergoes through the formation of 1-phenylethyl cations generated from substituted 1-phenylethanols using the catalytic amount of metal triflates in nitromethane. After completion of the reaction, the used catalyst was recovered by water extraction and reused up to five times with almost equal efficiency. In the same year, Motokura et al. [14] also reported another protocol for the benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds in nitromethane using montmorillonite as solid Brønsted acidic catalysts at 100 °C. Similar reaction was also achieved in nitromethane by using bismuth triflate as catalyst at 100 °C [15]. Kischel et al. [16] achieved benzylation of β -ketoesters (**1**) using ferric chloride as catalyst in nitromethane as solvent at 50 °C (Figure 2.4).







Figure 2.4: Nitromethane-mediated ferric chloride-catalyzed benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds.

2.2.3 Friedel-Crafts alkylation of indoles

Jana et al. [17] reported an efficient C_3 -selective Friedel–Crafts alkylation of indoles (4) using allylic, benzylic and propargylic alcohols (2) using a catalytic amount of anhydrous FeCl₃ as catalyst in nitromethane at room temperature (Figure 2.5). Under this reaction conditions, the corresponding 3-alkyl substituted indoles (5) were synthesized in good to excellent yields within 3 h. It was proposed that the alcohol was activated by coordination with the catalyst FeCl₃ and the reaction undergoes through the aromatic electrophilic substitution.



Figure 2.5: Nitromethane-mediated FeCl₃-catalyzed Friedel–Crafts alkylation of indoles with alcohols.

In 2010, Silveira et al. [18] demonstrated an efficient anhydrous $CeCl_3$ -catalyzed method for the synthesis of several 3-propargyl indoles (6) in good yields from the reaction of substituted indoles (4) and propargyl alcohols (2b) in nitromethane under refluxed conditions (Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of 3-propargyl indole derivatives.

2.2.4 Friedel–Crafts alkylation of biaryl alcohols

In 2012, Jana and his research group [19] developed another nitromethane-mediated anhydrous FeCl₃-catalyzed protocol for the efficient synthesis of a series of substituted

fluorene derivatives (8) in excellent yields via the intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation of biaryl methanol derivatives (7) at room temperature (Figure 2.7).



 $\label{eq:R} \begin{array}{l} {\sf R} = {\sf H}, \ 3, 4 \mbox{-}diOCH_3; \ {\sf R}^1 = {\sf H}, \ 4 \mbox{-}OCH_3, \ 4 \mbox{-}CH_3, \ 4 \mbox{-}CI, \ 4 \mbox{-}Br \\ {\sf R}^2 = {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5, \ 4 \mbox{-}CH_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 4 \mbox{-}OCH_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 4 \mbox{-}CI{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \ naphthyl, \ 9 \mbox{-}phenanthryl \end{array}$

Figure 2.7: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of substituted fluorenes at room temperature.

2.2.5 Alkylation of various arenes

In 2008, Rubenbauer and Bach [20] reported a facile gold(III) chloride (AuCl₂)-catalyzed protocol for the diastereoselective C–C bond formation of various chiral para-methoxybenzylic acetates (9) with several arene nucleophiles (10) in nitromethane at room temperature (Figure 2.8). It was proposed that the reactions proceeded through the formation of a free carbocation which was facilitated by a preferred conformation. Under the optimized reaction conditions, a variety of arene nucleophiles (10) underwent smoothly and afforded the corresponding *anti*-products (11) in high yields (63–99%). Li et al. [21] demonstrated an efficient protocol for the addition of electron-rich arenes (10) to aryl-substituted alkynes (12) which afforded the corresponding 1,1-diaryl alkenes (13) in good to excellent yields in the presence of a catalytic amount of FeCl₃ as catalyst in nitromethane at room temperature (Figure 2.9). Wang et al. [22] developed an interesting FeCl₃-catalyzed approach for Friedel–Crafts reaction between various electron-rich arenes (10) and aziridines (14) in nitromethane at room temperature. The reactions yielded the desired ring-opening products (15) regioselectively in moderate to excellent yields within just 2 min (Figure 2.10). During optimization, other solvents such as DCM, 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) and tetrahydrofuran (THF) were also screened but found less effective for this reaction.

2.2.6 Tsuji–Trost coupling reaction

In general, the catalytic activation of sp^3 C–N bond of allylic amides is difficult to achieve because of the poor leaving group nature of the amide group. In 2010, Jiang et al. [23] demonstrated a simple and efficient Tsuji–Trost coupling [24, 25]-type



Figure 2.8: Nitromethane-mediated AuCl₃-catalyzed alkylation of various arenes with acetate containing nucleophiles.



Figure 2.9: Nitromethane-mediated FeCl₃-catalyzed alkenylation of various arenes with aryl-substituted alkynes.



Figure 2.10: FeCl₃-catalyzed Friedel–Crafts reactions of electron-rich arenes with aziridines in nitromethane.

reaction between aromatic allylic amides (16) and various 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds (1)/dimedone (1a) using a catalytic amount of $FeCl_3$ as catalyst in nitromethane at room temperature (Figure 2.11). By using this method, the corresponding adducts (17, 18) were synthesized in good to excellent yields. With the same catalyst, a number of other organic solvents such as THF, toluene, acetonitrile and DCM were also tested but failed to produce the desired product.



Figure 2.11: Nitromethane-mediated Tsuji–Trost-type coupling reactions of different allylic amides with activated methylated compounds.

2.2.7 Intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reaction

In 2009, Huang et al. [26] reported a simple and efficient approach for the synthesis of a series of new dihydronaphthalenes (20) or tetrahydronaphthalenes (21) via the intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reactions of aryl-substituted propargylic alcohols (19) using FeCl₃ as catalyst in nitromethane as solvent (Figure 2.12). By following almost the same strategy, they were also able to synthesize a number of tetrahydroisoquino-line derivatives (23) starting with *N*-substituted benzylamino-substituted propargylic alcohols (22) (Figure 2.13).



Figure 2.12: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of dihydronaphthalenes or tetrahydronaphthalenes.



 $R = CH_3, C_6H_5, 4-CIC_6H_4, 4-BrC_6H_4, 4-NO_2C_6H_4$

Figure 2.13: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of tetrahydroisoquinolones.

2.2.8 Synthesis of 1,4-diynes

Lin et al. [27] prepared a series of substituted 1,4-diynes (24) in good to excellent yields via nucleophilic substitution of various propargylic alcohols (2b) with alkenyl silane (12a) in the presence of a catalytic amount of $FeCl_3$ in nitromethane as solvent at 25 °C (Figure 2.14). All reactions were completed within just 5 min. Interestingly, the aryl moiety with electron-withdrawing substituent in propargylic alcohols (2b) failed to afford the desired products.



$$\begin{split} &\mathsf{Ar} = \mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_5, \ 1\text{-napthyl}, \ 4\text{-}\mathsf{Cl}\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ 2\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_3\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4\\ &\mathsf{R} = \mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_5, \ \text{cyclopropyl}, \ 1\text{-}cyclohexyl, \ \mathsf{SiMe}_3, \ \mathsf{H}, \ n\text{-}butyl\\ &\mathsf{Ar}^1 = \mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_5, \ 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ 4\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_3\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ 5\text{-}\mathsf{Me}\text{-}2\text{-}\mathsf{furyl} \end{split}$$

Figure 2.14: Nitromethane-mediated FeCl₃-catalyzed synthesis of a series of 1,4-diynes.

2.2.9 Synthesis of tetra-aryl-substituted cyclopentenes

Li et al. [28] designed a simple $C(sp^3)-C(sp^2)$ bond-forming approach to synthesize a series of tetra-aryl-substituted cyclopentenes (26) in moderate yields via the DDQ-mediated FeCl₃-catalyzed cross-dehydrogenative homo-coupling reactions of (*E*)-1,2-diarylprop-1-enes (25) in nitromethane as solvent at 50 °C (Figure 2.15). Under the same catalytic conditions, other organic solvents such as toluene, 1,4-dioxane and acetonitrile failed to afford the desired product. The plausible mechanism of this conversation is depicted in Figure 2.16.



R = H, 4-CH₃, 4-Br R¹ = H, 4-CH₃, 4-Br, 3-Br, 4-Cl





Figure 2.16: Plausible mechanism for the synthesis of tetra-aryl-substituted cyclopentenes.

2.2.10 Synthesis of substituted aryl ketones

In 2008, Jana et al. [29] synthesized a series of substituted aryl ketones (27, 27a) via the direct addition reactions of various benzylic alcohols (2a) and several substituted terminal aryl alkynes (12) in the presence of FeCl₃ as catalyst in nitromethane (Figure 2.17). Anhydrous FeCl₃-catalyzed reactions afforded the desired products in higher yields at room temperature, whereas FeCl₃·6H₂O as catalyst yielded lower products even at higher temperature (80 °C). It was observed that the electron-rich alkynes underwent more efficiently than the neutral or electron-deficient alkynes. Authors were able to isolate the intermediate (28) and proposed the mechanism shown in Figure 2.18.

2.2.11 Synthesis of trisubstituted alkenes

Li et al. [30] reported a highly stereoselective synthesis of trisubstituted alkenes (29) via a three-component reaction of terminal alkynes (12), benzylic alcohols (2a) and substituted benzene or naphthalenes (10) in the presence of a catalytic combination of trifluoromethanesulfonyl anhydride (Tf_2O), ferric chloride and silver nitrate in nitromethane at low temperature (Figure 2.19). Under this reaction conditions, at low temperature, *E*-isomer (29)



Figure 2.17: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of substituted aryl ketones starting from terminal alkynes and various substituted benzylic alcohols.



Figure 2.18: Plausible mechanism for the synthesis of substituted aryl ketones.

predominates over *Z*-isomer (**29a**) though it requires longer reaction times. Other organic solvents like DCE, chloroform, DCM, THF, ethyl acetate, acetonitrile and 1,4-dioxane failed to produce the desired products though nitromethane as solvent afforded moderate yield. Interestingly, the same reaction with only ferric chloride as catalyst at higher temperature (80 °C) afforded the *Z*-isomer (**29a**) predominately over *E*-isomer (**29**) within just 5 h.



 $R^1 = C_6H_5$, 4-CIC₆H₄, CH₃



2.2.12 Synthesis of propargylic arenes

Toste and his group [31] employed diphenylphosphinomethane-functionalized rhenium-oxo complex ((dppm)ReOCl₃) as an efficient air- and moisture-tolerant catalyst for the regioselective synthesis of a series of propargylic arenes (**31**) from the reactions of propargyl alcohol (**30**) and various substituted aromatic compounds (**10**) in nitromethane at 65 °C (Figure 2.20). Phenols, naphthols, methoxybenzenes and various heteroaryl compounds also afforded the desired products in excellent yields.



Figure 2.20: Rhenium-catalyzed aromatic propargylation reaction.

2.3 C–N bond formation in nitromethane

Jana et al. [32] reported a simple and facile direct C–N bond forming the reaction protocol between various benzylic and allylic alcohols (2a) and primary amides (32) in the presence of a catalytic amount of FeCl₃ as a catalyst in nitromethane as solvent under refluxed conditions (Figure 2.21). This reaction afforded the corresponding amides (33) in excellent yields. Interestingly, sulfonamide and acrylamide also underwent smoothly and afforded the desired products with excellent yields.



Figure 2.21: FeCl₃-catalyzed amidation reaction of secondary benzylic and allylic alcohols.

2.4 Etherification reaction in nitromethane

Oriyama and his research group [33] reported a simple, efficient and FeCl₃-catalyzed method for the reductive etherification of carbonyl compounds (**34**) by reaction with triethylsilane and alkoxytrimethylsilane (**35**) in nitromethane (Figure 2.22). The corresponding benzyl/ allyl ethers (**36**) were obtained in good to excellent yields within just 1 h at room temperature.



Figure 2.22: FeCl₃-catalyzed reductive etherification of carbonyl compounds in nitromethane.

The same group [34] reported another nitromethane-mediated FeCl₃-catalyzed method for the synthesis of various alkyl ethers (**36a**) through the reductive etherification of carbonyl compounds (**34**) with alcohols (**2a**) (Figure 2.23).

4-OCH₃C₆H₄,4-BrC₆H₄, 4-NO₂C₆H₄, 4-CH₃OOCC₆H₄, 4-AcOC₆H₄, 4-AcOC₆H₄, 2-napthyl, cinnamyl

Et₃SiH, FeCl₃R-CHO+ R^1 -OHrt, CH_3NO_2 , 1 hRCH_2OR¹342a14 entries, 40-97%36a

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} &= \mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 3\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 3\text{-}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \\ & 4\text{-}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, \, \text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{2}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{3}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{C}\text{-}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \\ & 4\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{O}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 1\text{-}\mathsf{n}\mathsf{apthyl}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{n}\mathsf{apthyl} \\ \mathsf{R}^{1} &= \text{-}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, \text{-}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}(\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{3}), \, \text{-}\mathsf{C}\mathsf{H}_{2}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4} \end{split}$$

Figure 2.23: FeCl₃-catalyzed synthesis of various alkyl ethers in nitromethane.

2.5 Oxidation of alcohols in nitromethane

In 2007, Mannam et al. [35] demonstrated a facile method for the oxidation of various alcohols (**2a**) to the corresponding carbonyl compounds (**34**) in the presence of a catalytic mixture of 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane (DABCO), CuCl and 2,2,6,6-tetramethyl-1-piperidinyloxyl radical (TEMPO) in nitromethane as solvent at room temperature (Figure 2.24). Under the same reaction conditions, other solvents such as acetonitrile, dimethyl sulfoxide, dimethyl formamide and 1,4-dioxane afforded poor yields of the desired products.



$$\label{eq:R} \begin{split} \mathsf{R} &= 4\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_3\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ \mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_5, \ 3,4,5\text{-}(\mathsf{OCH}_3)_3\text{-}\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_2, \ 4\text{-}\mathsf{ClC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \\ & 4\text{-}\mathsf{NO}_2\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \ 2\text{-}\mathsf{furyl}, \ \mathsf{cinnamyl} \end{split}$$



2.6 C–C and C–X (C-heteroatom) bond formation in nitromethane

Yang et al. [36] developed a simple and efficient method for the electrophilic annulations of trifluoromethyl-containing aryl enynes (37) with disulfides (38) or diselenides (38a) in nitromethane, which afford the corresponding polysubstituted naphthalenes (39) in good to excellent yields (Figure 2.25). The reaction was promoted by a catalytic mixture of FeCl₃ and benzoyl peroxide in the presence of excess molecular iodine at 120 °C.



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R} = {\sf H}, \ 4{\rm -CH}_3, \ 4{\rm -t-Butyl}, \ 6{\rm -Cl}, \ 4{\rm -C}_6{\sf H}_5, \\ {\sf R}^1 = 4{\rm -ClC}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 4{\rm -FC}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 3{\rm -FC}_6{\sf H}_4, \ {\sf CH}_3, \ {\rm -CH}_2{\sf CH}_3, \ {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5, \\ {\sf Ar} = {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5, \ 4{\rm -CH}_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 3{\rm -CH}_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \ 2{\rm -CH}_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5, \ 4{\rm -ClC}_6{\sf H}_5, \ 4{\rm -NO}_2{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4 \\ \end{array}$

Figure 2.25: Iron-promoted electrophilic annulations of aryl enynes with disulfides or diselenides in nitromethane.

Kumamoto et al. [37] reported a simple, facile and efficient method for the synthesis of 2-aryl-2-methoxyacetonitrile derivatives (42) from the reactions of aromatic acetals (40) with trimethylsilyl cyanide (41) in nitromethane under high-pressure conditions at 60–80 °C (Figure 2.26). Authors proposed a mechanism, and the role of nitromethane is shown in Figure 2.27.



Figure 2.26: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of 2-aryl-2-methoxyacetonitrile derivatives.



Figure 2.27: Plausible mechanism of nitromethane-mediated synthesis of 2-aryl-2-methoxyacetonitrile derivatives.

Halli and Manolikakes [38] prepared a series of α -amino ester derivatives (**45**) from the reactions of various readily available amides (**43**), glyoxalates (**44**) and arenes or heteroarenes (**10**) using various iron catalysts in nitromethane as solvent under heating conditions (Figure 2.28). By using carbamates as the amide component, various synthetically very useful *N*-protected arylglycine derivatives could be prepared.

2.7 Synthesis of heterocycles

Heterocyclic skeletons are very common in naturally occurring as well as synthetic bioactive molecules. During last few years, we have compiled many literatures for the synthesis of various types of biologically promising heterocycles under diverse reaction conditions [39–48].



Figure 2.28: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of α-amino ester derivatives.

2.7.1 Synthesis of O-heterocycles

Li and Gu [49] synthesized 12-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-9,9-dimethyl-9,10-dihydro-8H-benzo[*a*]xanthen-11(12H)-one (**48**) in 76% yield from the reaction of 4-hydroxy-3methoxybenzaldehyde (**46**), dimedone (**1a**) and 2-naphthol (**47**) in the presence of a catalytic amount of bismuth triflate as catalyst in nitromethane at 80 °C (Figure 2.29). The same group also synthesized 9-(2-hydroxynaphthalen-1-yl)-3,3-dimethyl-2,3,4,9tetrahydro-1H-xanthen-1-one derivatives (**50**) in moderate to good yields via one-pot three-component reactions of salicylaldehydes (**49**), dimedone (**1a**) and 2-naphthol (**47**) in the presence of a catalytic mixture of FeCl₃ and triphenylphosphine as catalyst in nitromethane at 100 °C (Figure 2.30). Here, triphenylphosphine plays the role of hydrogen bond acceptor.



Figure 2.29: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of 12-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-9,9-dimethyl-9,10-dihydro-8H-benzo[*a*]xanthen-11(12H)-one.



Figure 2.30: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of 9-(2-hydroxynaphthalen-1-yl)-3,3-dimethyl-2,3,4,9-tetrahydro-1H-xanthen-1-ones.

2.7.2 Synthesis of N-heterocycles

2.7.2.1 Synthesis of substituted quinolines

In 2014, Gandeepan et al. [50] reported a practical, simple and environmentally benign protocol for the efficient synthesis of a series of substituted quinolines (53) via FeCl₃-catalyzed one-pot three-component coupling reactions of styrenes (51), aldehydes (34) and substituted anilines (52) in the presence of oxygen in nitromethane as solvent at 110 °C (Figure 2.31).



$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} &= \mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, 3\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_{3}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CI}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{F}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_{3}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, \, \text{napthyl}, \, \text{thiophene} \\ \mathsf{R}^{1} &= 4\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 3\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 3\text{-}\mathsf{CIC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CIC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \\ & 4\text{-}\mathsf{FC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{BrC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CNC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{COOCH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{OHC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{napthyl}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{thienyl} \\ \mathsf{R}^{2} &= \mathsf{H}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}, \, 3, 5\text{-}\mathsf{diCH}_{3}, \, 2\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{F}, \, 4\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_{3} \end{split}$$

Figure 2.31: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of substituted quinolines.

2.7.2.2 Synthesis of substituted isoquinolines

In 2008, Huang et al. [51] developed a simple, efficient and versatile method for the synthesis of a series of structurally diverse substituted dihydro- and tetrahydroisoquinolines (55) via the intramolecular Friedel–Crafts allenylation reaction followed by cyclization reaction of various benzylamino-substituted propargylic alcohols (54) in the presence of a catalytic amount of $FeCl_3$ as a catalyst in nitromethane (Figure 2.32). All reactions were completed in 1 h.

2.8 Dual role of nitromethane

2.8.1 Asymmetric allylic alkylation

Nemoto et al. [52] achieved the asymmetric allylic alkylation of 1,3-diaryl-substituted allyl carbonates (56) with excess nitromethane using palladium as a catalyst in the presence of a catalytic amount of aspartic acid-derived *P*-chirogenic diaminophosphine oxide [(S,R_P) -Ph-DIAPHOX] at room temperature (Figure 2.33). In this protocol, nitromethane played a dual role, both as a solvent and as an alkylating agent. Under this optimized reaction conditions, they successfully prepared (*R*)-preclamol and (*R*)-baclofen enantioselectively.

2.8.2 Synthesis of β-nitro-α-hydroxy esters

Blay et al. [53] prepared a chiral iminopyridine (**60**) starting from (R)-(–)-fenchone and picolylamine. Using the synthesized ligands and in the presence of a catalytic amount of copper triflate [Cu(OTf)₂] as catalyst, they successfully achieved the enantioselective Henry reaction of α -keto esters (**58**) and excess nitromethane at very low







 $Ar = C_6H_5, 4-CH_3C_6H_4, 3-CIC_6H_4, 3-FC_6H_4, 3-OCH_3C_6H_4, 2-FC_6H_4, 2-CH_3C_6H_4, 2-naphthyl$

Figure 2.33: Asymmetric allylic alkylation of 1,3-diaryl allyl carbonates in nitromethane.

temperature (Figure 2.34). This reaction afforded the corresponding β -nitro- α -hydroxy esters (**59**) in good yields and modest to good enantioselectivities. A wide variety of α -keto esters, bearing alkyl, aryl or alkenyl groups were well tolerated under this optimized reaction conditions. In this protocol, nitromethane is used both as a solvent and as an alkylating agent. Authors proposed that the addition of nitromethane to α -keto esters proceeded through the transition states as shown in Figure 2.35.



 $\label{eq:R} \begin{array}{l} {\sf R} = {\sf CH}_3, \, {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5, \, 4\mbox{-}{\sf CIC}_6{\sf H}_4, \, 4\mbox{-}{\sf BrC}_6{\sf H}_4, \, 4\mbox{-}{\sf NO}_2{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4, \, 4\mbox{-}{\sf CNC}_6{\sf H}_4, \\ 3,5\mbox{-}di{\sf FC}_6{\sf H}_3, \, 3,5\mbox{-}di{\sf CF}_3{\sf C}_6{\sf H}_3, \, 2\mbox{-}naphthyl, \, {\sf CH}_3({\sf CH}_2)_{9}\mbox{-}, \\ {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_5({\sf CH}_2)_{2}\mbox{-}, \, ({\sf CH}_3)_2{\sf CH}\mbox{-}, \, {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_{11}, \, {\sf CH}_3{\sf CH}\mbox{=}{\sf CH}\mbox{-}, \\ {\sf C}_6{\sf H}_4{\sf CH}_2{\sf OCH}_2{\sf CH}\mbox{=}{\sf CH}\mbox{-} \end{array}$

Figure 2.34: Synthesis of β -nitro- α -hydroxy esters in nitromethane via the Henry reaction.



Figure 2.35: Proposed transition states for the synthesis of β-nitro-α-hydroxy esters in nitromethane.

2.8.3 Synthesis of bisarylmethanes and dithioacetals

In 2020, Dethe et al. [54] used nitromethane both as a solvent and as an electrophilic methylene source for the synthesis of symmetrical bisarylmethanes (**61**) starting from various substituted arenes (**10**) in the presence of a catalytic mixture of $Sc(OTf)_3$ and $LiClO_4$ as a catalyst at room temperature (Figure 2.36). By applying this method, they were able to synthesize biologically promising tetramethyl mellotojaponin C (**61h**)

(antimalarial) and dimeric phloroglucinol (**61i**) (anticancer) derivatives. Under the same optimized conditions and starting from various thiol derivatives (**62**), they also synthesized a series of symmetric dithioacetals (**63**) in excellent yields (Figure 2.37).



Figure 2.36: Synthesis of bisarylmethanes involving nitromethane.

2.8.4 Asymmetric Michael addition reaction

The asymmetric Michael addition of nitromethane to benzylidene acetones (64) was achieved by using an imidazolidine-type enantioselective organocatalyst (66) at room temperature which yielded the corresponding 4-aryl-5-nitro-pentan-2-ones (65) enantioselectively (Figure 2.38) [55]. In this reaction, nitromethane behaved as both nucleophile and solvent.



$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} &= \mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, 4\text{-}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{5}, 4\text{-}t\mathsf{Bu}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 4\text{-}\mathsf{Br}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 2\text{-}\mathsf{Et}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 2\text{-}\mathsf{OCH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, \\ & 2\text{-}\mathsf{CIC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 2\text{-}\mathsf{COOMe}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 2\text{-}\mathsf{Br}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{4}, 2\text{-}\mathsf{4}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, 2\text{,}4\text{-}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{E}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, \\ & 2\text{,}4\text{-}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{CIC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, 3\text{,}5\text{-}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, 2\text{,}6\text{-}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{CH}_{3}\mathsf{C}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, 2\text{,}6\text{-}\mathsf{di}\mathsf{CIC}_{6}\mathsf{H}_{3}, \\ & 2\text{-}\mathsf{naphthyl}, \mathsf{cyclohexyl}, \mathsf{cyclopentyl} \end{split}$$

Figure 2.37: Synthesis of symmetrical dithioacetals involving nitromethane.



Figure 2.38: Asymmetric Michael addition reaction involving nitromethane.

2.8.5 Coupling reaction

Aryl nitromethanes (**68**) are used as precursors for various useful synthetic compounds. In 2012, Walvoord et al. [56] designed an efficient cross-coupling reaction of aryl halides (**67**) and nitromethane using a catalytic amount of tris(dibenzylideneacetone)dipalladium(0) [Pd₂dba₃] as catalyst in the presence of 2-dicyclohexylphosphino-2,4-6-triisopropylbiphenyl (XPhos) ligand in basic medium at 50 °C (Figure 2.39).

2.8.6 Alkali-cyanide-free synthesis of α-iminonitriles

In 2006, Chen et al. [57] first employed nitromethane as a surrogate cyanating source for the copper-mediated, chelate-driven arene cyanation with nitromethane. Then numerous research groups used nitromethane to make nitrile group in the product [58–60]. In 2020, Satyanarayana et al. [61] demonstrated a simple, organocatalyzed alkali-cyanide-free base-mediated kinetically controlled approach for the synthesis of a series of α -



Figure 2.39: Palladium-catalyzed nitromethylation of aryl halides via cross-coupling reaction.

iminonitriles (69) via the condensation reactions of aldehydes (34) and substituted anilines (52) in the presence of 7-N,N-dimethylamino-4-hydroxycoumarin (70) as a promoter in nitromethane at 80 °C (Figure 2.40). In this reaction, nitromethane behaved both as a surrogate cyanating agent and as a solvent. The proposed mechanism including the catalytic role of 7-N,N-dimethylamino-4-hydroxycoumarin in this reaction is shown in Figure 2.41.



 $Ar^{1} = C_{6}H_{5}$, 4-BrC₆H₄, 3,4,6-triOCH₃C₆H₂, 4-N(CH₃)₂C₆H₄, 4-OCH₃C₆H₄, 2,6-diOCH₃, 3-OCH₃C₆H₄, 4-NO₂C₆H₄, thiophene, isonicotine, picoline R= -N(CH₃)₂

Figure 2.40: Nitromethane-mediated synthesis of α -iminonitriles.



Figure 2.41: Proposed mechanism for the synthesis of α-iminonitriles in nitromethane.

2.9 Conclusions

Nitromethane is a highly polar solvent comparable to acetonitrile. It is used as an extremely versatile reaction media for various organic transformations, including alkylation/benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds/arenes, Friedel–Crafts alkylation of indoles/biaryl alcohols and Tsuji–Trost coupling reaction. Synthesis of various biologically promising skeletons such as tetra-aryl-substituted cyclopentenes, substituted aryl ketones, trisubstituted alkenes, 1,4-diynes, propargylic arenas, amides and α -amino esters was accomplished by using nitromethane as solvent. Etherification, oxidation of alcohols and synthesis of some important *N/O*-heterocycles are also carried out efficiently in nitromethane as solvent. In some reactions, it was reported to play a dual role.

References

- [1] Germane GJ. A technical review of automotive racing fuels. SAE Tech Pap Ser 1985, 94, 867–878.
- [2] Hayaki S, Sato H, Sakai S. A theoretical study of the liquid structure of nitromethane with RISM method. J Mol Liq 2009, 147, 9–12.
- [3] Walvoord RR, Beritt S, Kozlowski MC. Palladium-catalyzed nitromethylation of aryl halides: An orthogonal formylation equivalent. Org Lett 2012, 14, 4086–4089.
- [4] Qi X, Peng JB, Wu XF. Solvents as Reagents in Organic Synthesis: Reactions and Applications: The Applications of Nitromethane as Reagent and Solvent in Organic Synthesis. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA Weinheim, Germany, 2018, 377–02.
- [5] Saikia R, Baruah SD, Deka RC, Thakur AJ, Bora U. An insight into nitromethane as an organic nitrile alternative source towards the synthesis of aryl nitriles. Eur J Org Chem 2019, 36, 6211–16.
- [6] Li G, Qin Z, Radosevich AT. P(III)/P(V)-catalyzed methylamination of arylboronic acids and esters: Reductive C-N coupling with nitromethane as a methylamine surrogate. J Am Chem Soc 2020, 142, 16205–16210.
- [7] Ono N. The Nitro Group in Organic Synthesis. New York: Wiley-VCH, 2001.
- [8] Ballini R, Bosica G, Fiorini D, Palmieri A, Petrini M. Conjugate additions of nitroalkanes to electronpoor alkenes: recent results. Chem Rev 2005, 105, 933–971.
- [9] Luzzio FA. The Henry reaction: Recent examples. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 915–945.
- [10] Liu J, Zhang C, Zhang Z, Wen X, Dou X, Wei J, Qiu X, Song S, Jiao N. Nitromethane as a nitrogen donor in Schmidt-type formation of amides and nitriles. Science 2020, 367, 281–285.
- [11] Kothandaraman P, Rao W, Zhang X, Chan PWH. Gold- and silver-catalyzed allylic alkylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds with allylic alcohols. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 1833–1838.
- [12] Wang GW, Shen YB, Wu XL. Phosphotungstic acid catalyzed direct benzylation of β-dicarbonyl compounds. Eur J Org Chem 2008, 2008, 4999–5004.
- [13] Noji M, Konno Y, Ishii K. Metal triflate-catalyzed cationic benzylation and allylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds. J Org Chem 2007, 72, 5161–5167.
- [14] Motokura K, Nakagiri N, Mizugaki T, Ebitani K, Kaneda K. Nucleophilic substitution reactions of alcohols with use of montmorillonite catalysts as solid Brønsted acids. J Org Chem 2007, 72, 6006–6015.
- [15] Rueping M, Nachtsheim BJ, Kuenkel A. Efficient metal-catalyzed direct benzylation and allylic alkylation of 2,4-pentanediones. Org Lett 2007, 9, 825–828.
- [16] Kischel J, Mertins K, Michalik D, Zapf A, Beller M. A general and efficient iron-catalyzed benzylation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds. Adv Synth Catal 2007, 349, 865–870.
- [17] Jana U, Maiti S, Biswas S. An FeCl₃-catalyzed highly C3-selective Friedel–Crafts alkylation of indoles with alcohols. Tetrahedron Lett 2007, 48, 7160–7163.
- [18] Silveira CC, Mendes SR, Wolf L, Martins GM. Anhydrous CeCl₃ catalyzed C3-selective propargylation of indoles with tertiary alcohols. Tetrahedron Lett 2010, 51, 4560–4562.
- [19] Sarkar S, Maiti S, Bera K, Jalal S, Jana U. Highly efficient synthesis of polysubstituted fluorene via iron-catalyzed intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation of biaryl alcohols. Tetrahedron Lett 2012, 53, 5544–5547.
- [20] Rubenbauera P, Bach T. Gold(III) chloride-catalyzed diastereoselective alkylation reactions with chiral benzylic acetates. Adv Synth Catal 2008, 350, 1125–1130.
- [21] Li R, Wang SR, Lu W. FeCl₃-catalyzed alkenylation of simple arenes with aryl-substituted alkynes. Org Lett 2007, 9, 2219–2222.
- [22] Wang Z, Sun X, Wu J. FeCl₃: An efficient catalyst for reactions of electron-rich arenes with imines or aziridines. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 5013–5018.

- [23] Jiang ZY, Zhang CH, Gu FL, Yang KF, Lai GQ, Xu LW, Xia CG. Efficient iron-catalyzed Tsuji–Trost coupling reaction of aromatic allylic amides through a sp³- carbon- nitrogen breaking. Synlett 2010, 8, 1251–1254.
- [24] Tsuji J. Organopalladium chemistry in the '60s and '70s. New J Chem 2000, 24, 127–135.
- [25] Trost, BM, Van Vranken, DL. Asymmetric transition metal-catalyzed allylic alkylations. Chem Rev 1996, 96, 395–22.
- [26] Huang W, Hong L, Zheng P, Liu R, Zhou X. Highly efficient synthesis of functionalized dihydronaphthalenes, tetrahydronaphthalenes, and tetrahydroisoquinolines by iron-catalyzed intramolecular Friedel–Crafts reaction of aryl-containing propargylic alcohols. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 3603–3610.
- [27] Lin M, Chen XL, Wang T, Yan P, Xu SX, Zhan ZP. Iron(III) Chloride-catalyzed nucleophilic substitution of propargylic alcohols: A general and efficient approach for the synthesis of 1,4-diynes. Chem Lett 2011, 40, 111-13.
- [28] Yi L, Li C, Xiaoyan L, Weiping D. Highly substituted cyclopentenes formation via a stereoselective tandem CDC reaction and cyclization. Chin J Chem 2012, 30, 2834–2838.
- [29] Jana U, Biswas S, Maiti S. Iron(III)-catalyzed addition of benzylic alcohols to aryl alkynes A new synthesis of substituted aryl ketones. Eur J Org Chem 2008, 2008, 5798–04.
- [30] Li HH, Jin YH, Wang JQ, Tian SK. Controllable stereoselective synthesis of trisubstituted alkenes by a catalytic three-component reaction of terminal alkynes, benzylic alcohols, and simple arenes. Org Biomol Chem 2009, 7, 3219–3221.
- [31] Kennedy-Smith JJ, Young LA, Toste FD. Rhenium-catalyzed aromatic propargylation. Org Lett 2004, 6, 1325–1327.
- [32] Jana U, Maiti S, Biswas S. An efficient FeCl₃-catalyzed amidation reaction of secondary benzylic and allylic alcohols with carboxamides or p-toluenesulfonamide. Tetrahedron Lett 2008, 49, 858–862.
- [33] Katsuyuki I, Seo H, Yuki T, Oriyama T. Highly efficient method for the reductive etherification of carbonyl compounds. Synthesis 2005, 2005, 0183–86.
- [34] Katsuyuki I, Yano K, Oriyama T. Iron(III) chloride-catalyzed reductive etherification of carbonyl compounds with alcohols. Chem Lett 2007, 36, 38–39.
- [35] Mannam S, Alamsetti SK, Sekar G. Aerobic, chemoselective oxidation of alcohols to carbonyl compounds catalyzed by a DABCO-copper complex under mild condition. Adv Synth Catal 2007, 349, 2253–2258.
- [36] Yang ZJ, Hu BL, Deng CL, Zhang XG. Iron-promoted electrophilic annulation of aryl enynes with disulfides or diselenides leading to polysubstituted naphthalenes. Adv Synth Catal 2014, 356, 1962–1966.
- [37] Kumamoto K, Nakano K, Ichikawa Y, Kotsuki H. High-pressure-promoted uncatalyzed cyanation of acetals using trimethylsilyl cyanide as a cyanide source in nitromethane. Synlett 2006, 2006, 1968–1970.
- [38] Halli J, Manolikakes G. Iron-catalyzed three-component synthesis of α-amino acid derivatives. Eur J Org Chem 2013, 2013, 7471–7475.
- [39] Kaur G, Devi P, Thakur S, Kumar A, Chandel R, Banerjee B. Magnetically separable transition metal ferrites: Versatile heterogeneous nano-catalysts for the synthesis of diverse bioactive heterocycles. ChemistrySelect 2019, 4, 2181–2199.
- [40] Banerjee B. Bismuth(III) triflate: An efficient catalyst for the synthesis of diverse biologically relevant heterocycles. ChemistrySelect 2017, 2, 6744–6757.
- [41] Kaur G, Bala K, Devi S, Banerjee B. Camphorsulfonic acid (CSA): An efficient organocatalyst for the synthesis or derivatization of heterocycles with biologically promising activities. Curr Green Chem 2018, 5, 150–167.
- [42] Banik BK, Banerjee B, Kaur G, Saroch S, Kumar R. Tetrabutylammonium bromide (TBAB) catalyzed synthesis of bioactive heterocycles. Molecules 2020, 25, 5918.

- [43] Kaur G, Sharma A, Banerjee B. [Bmim]PF₆: An efficient tool for the synthesis of diverse bioactive heterocycles (review). J Serbian Chem Soc 2018, 83, 1071–1097.
- [44] Kaur G, Devi M, Kumari A, Devi R, Banerjee B. One-pot pseudo five component synthesis of biologically relevant 1,2,6-triaryl-4-arylamino-piperidine-3-ene-3- carboxylates: A decade update. ChemistrySelect 2018, 3, 9892–10.
- [45] Banerjee B, Kaur G, Kaur N. p-Sulfonic acid calix[n]arene catalyzed synthesis of bioactive heterocycles: A review. Curr Org Chem 2021, 25, 209–222.
- [46] Sharma A, Priya A, Kaur M, Singh A, Kaur G, Banerjee B. Ultrasound-assisted synthesis of bioactive S-heterocycles. Synth Commun 2021, 51, 3209–3236.
- [47] Kaur M, Priya A, Sharma A, Singh A, Banerjee B. Glycine and its derivatives catalyzed one-pot multicomponent synthesis of bioactive heterocycles. Synth Commun 2022, 52, 1635–1656.
- [48] Banerjee B, Singh A, Kaur G. Baker's yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) catalyzed synthesis of bioactive heterocycles and some stereoselective reactions. Phys Sci Rev 2021, 7, 301–323.
- [49] Li M, Gu Y. Reversible alkylation of dimedone with aldehyde: A neglected way for maximizing selectivity of three-component reactions of dimedone and an aldehyde. Adv Synth Catal 2012, 354, 2484–2494.
- [50] Gandeepan P, Rajamalli P, Cheng CH. Synthesis of substituted quinolines by iron (III)-catalyzed three-component coupling reaction of aldehydes, amines, and styrenes. Asian J Org Chem 2014, 3, 303–308.
- [51] Huang W, Shen Q, Wang J, Zhou X. One-step synthesis of substituted dihydro- and tetrahydroisoquinolines by FeCl₃,6H₂O catalyzed intramolecular Friedel-crafts reaction of benzylamino-substituted propargylic alcohol. J Org Chem 2008, 73, 1586–1589.
- [52] Nemoto T, Jin L, Nakamura H, Hamada Y. Pd-catalyzed asymmetric allylic alkylation with nitromethane using a chiral diaminophosphine oxide: (S,RP)-Ph-DIAPHOX. enantioselective synthesis of (R)-preclamol and (R)-baclofen. Tetrahedron Lett 2006, 47, 6577–6581.
- [53] Blay G, Olmos VH, Pedro JR. Enantioselective addition of nitromethane to α-keto esters catalyzed by copper(II)–iminopyridine complexes. Org Biomol Chem 2008, 6, 468–476.
- [54] Dethe DH, Shukla M, Dherange BD. Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed synthesis of symmetrical dithioacetals and bisarylmethanes using nitromethane as a methylene source. Org Lett 2020, 22, 5778–5782.
- [55] Szanto G, Bombicz P, Grun A, Kadas I. Highly enantioselective organocatalytic conjugate addition of nitromethane to benzylidene acetones. Chirality 2008, 20, 1120–1126.
- [56] Walvoord RR, Beritt S, Kozlowski MC. Palladium-catalyzed nitromethylation of aryl halides: An orthogonal formylation equivalent. Org Lett 2012, 14, 4086–4089.
- [57] Chen X, Hao XS, Goodhue CE, Yu JQ. Cu(II)-catalyzed functionalizations of aryl C–H bonds using O₂ as an oxidant. J Am Chem Soc 2006, 128, 6790–91.
- [58] Motokura K, Matsunaga K, Miyaji A, Yamaguchi S, Baba T. A method for the cyanation of alkenes using nitromethane as a source of cyano group mediated by proton-exchanged montmorillonite. Tetrahedron Lett 2014, 55, 7034–38.
- [59] Wang ZH, Ji XM, Hu ML, Tang RY. Nitromethane as a cyanating reagent for the synthesis of thiocyanates. Tetrahedron Lett 2015, 56, 5067–70.
- [60] Ogiwara Y, Morishita H, Sasaki M, Imai H, Sakai N. Copper-catalyzed cyanation of aryl iodides using nitromethane. Chem Lett 2017, 46, 1736–1739.
- [61] Satyanarayana I, Manjappa KB, Yang DY. Nitromethane as a surrogate cyanating agent: 7-N, N-dimethylamino-4-hydroxycoumarin-catalyzed, metal-free synthesis of α-iminonitriles. Green Chem 2020, 22, 8316–8322.

Rahul Dev Mandal, Moumita Saha, Dwaipayan Das and Asish R. Das* Chapter 3 Tert-butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP)-mediated cross-coupling reactions

3.1 Introduction

The fundamental focus for an organic chemist has always been the construction of bonds between carbon–carbon and carbon–heteroatoms. Recently, direct cross-coupling reactions have developed one of the powerful ways for the formation of C–C and C–X (X = heteroatom) bonds because of their enormous importance in green chemistry through the processes of step economy, atom economy, minimization of chemical wastes and also by avoiding pre-functionalization of the starting materials (generally essential for traditional cross-coupling reaction) [1–4]. These cross-coupling reactions often demand the presence of leaving groups [5], such as X, Y = -Br, -I, -OTf, -OTs, -BR₂, -SnR₃ and -SiR₃, attached with the coupling partner (Figure 3.1). Nowadays, these techniques appear to be ineffective and quite unappealing because of involvement of additional processes to create functionalized starting materials.

The three most fundamental rules that need to be followed while developing a reliable synthetic method are: (i) readily available starting materials, (ii) nontoxic reagents or catalysts and (iii) mild reaction conditions. It is difficult to create such necessary ambience every time, but once created, they have a significant influence on contemporary organic chemistry. When two molecules come together to form a new bond with the help of a catalyst or devoid of catalyst, the process is referred to as coupling [6–8]. These reactions are adaptable and helpful for producing several complicated biologically active compounds in ready synthetic sequences rather than through multistep processes. Pro-electrophilic and pro-nucleophilic partners are often the starting materials in C–C cross-coupling reaction processes [9] and sometimes they appear as pericyclic reactions [10] and radical reactions [11–14], respectively.

Different transition metal (TM) catalysts, various organocatalysts and the pairing of metal and organocatalysts and enzymes have been used to enhance diverse cross-

Acknowledgments: We acknowledge the financial support from the University of Calcutta, India. R. D. M. thanks the CSIR (New Delhi, India) for his senior research fellowship (file no.: 09/028(1056)/2018-EMR-I), M. S. thanks the UGC (New Delhi) and D. D. thanks the CSIR (New Delhi, India) for his senior research fellowship (file no.: 09/028(0993)/2017-EMR-I) in India.

^{*}Corresponding author: Asish R. Das, Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta, Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India, e-mail: ardchem@caluniv.ac.in

Rahul Dev Mandal, Moumita Saha, Dwaipayan Das, Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta, Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India



Figure 3.1: Schematic comparison between traditional and TBHP-mediated cross-coupling methods.

coupling processes depending on the pre-activation [15]. However, majority of them suffer from significant problems like the expensiveness of the catalyst and the generation of heavy metal wastes on application of stringent reaction condition. As a result, the TM-free or TM-catalyzed cross-dehydrogenative coupling (CDC) reactions have captivated the attention of various synthetic chemists due to their advantages such as greener approach, atom-economical reaction and easy handling. Tert-butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP) is a handy and easily accessible supply source of active oxygen. It is also appropriate for the varied oxidation mechanisms and also offers advantages of versatility, stereoselectivity, reactivity, regioselectivity and chemoselectivity control with exact catalyst choice, soft reaction condition and major availability [16]. Moreover, TBHP in combination with several iodine(III) and iodine(IV) reagents could perform the role of radical initiators in many radical-based organic transformations, cross-coupling reaction as well as in annulation process. This chapter aims to highlight the recent innovative applications of TBHP alone or in conjunction with other metal-free reagents in C–C and C–X cross-coupling reactions under mild conditions, which in turn will help the synthetic practitioners to achieve a new course of functionalization in future [17].

3.2 Examples of TBHP in C–C and C–X (X = heteroatom) cross-coupling reactions

3.2.1 TBHP- and Rose-Bengal-mediated C(*sp*³)–O cross-coupling of oxy-functionalized *N*-heterocycles

For medicinal chemists, heterocycles containing nitrogen are essential structural components. Among various heterocyclic compounds, phthalazinone, 2-pyridone, pyrimidinone and quinoxalinone show biological activities such as anticonvulsant [18, 19], antidiabetic [20], antihypertensive [21], analgesic, anti-inflammatory [22], antiviral [23], antihistaminic [24] and potent antitumor [25] activities.

Considering synthetic and biological merits of *N*-heterocyclic components, in 2022, Das and coworkers [26] described a simple and straightforward photoinduced $C(sp^3)$ -O cross-coupling of tautomerizable *N*-heterocycles (dihydrophthalazine-1,4-diones, pyridone, quinoxalinone and pyrimidinone) with various coupling partners (ketones, β -dicarbonyl compounds and nitroalkanes) under metal-free condition (Figure 3.2). The best conditions for synthesizing C–O coupling products were found to be Rose Bengal (1 mol%), NaHCO₃ (2.2 equiv.), and TBHP (2.0 equiv.) in 2 mL of an acetonitrile-water combination. The combination of Rose Bengal photocatalyst and TBHP features sustainable reaction condition, operational simplicity, high chemoselectivity and regioselectivity with exceptional yields (up to 94%), good functional group tolerance and ample substrate scope. When it comes to asymmetrical ketones, the less substituted end is preferentially functionalized. The di-C–O coupling products (2) are generally formed with ketones containing three enolizable "H" at the reaction site while ketones with two enolizable "H" furnished only single C–O coupling products (3) (Figure 3.3). The results of the control studies using a radical scavenger showed that the radical route is involved in this coupling technique. The coupling products are also scaled up to large scale, making them suitable for even more transformations. An unusual ring contraction providing 2-substituted phthalimides (4) was produced without any coupling partners with dihydrophthalazine-1,4-dione (1) in good yields. This cross-coupling approach is advantageous in a number of ways, including (i) devoid of costly metal catalysts; (ii) use of readily available N-heterocycles; (iii) dry solvents, inert environment or high reaction temperatures not necessary; (iv) use of cheap and greener energy source, that is, visible range LED bulbs; and (v) extraordinary reactivity with high functional group tolerance. Additionally, this reaction is also imperative as TBHP promotes both of C–O cross-coupling and a rare ring fragmentation of dihydrophthalazine-1, 4-diones to various 2-phenyl phthalimides by simultaneous two-bond (C-N and N–N) cleavage under visible light circumstances.



Figure 3.2: Substrate scope of C–O coupling products.

3.2.2 C–S cross-coupling reaction of xanthene with sulfonyl hydrazides

Xanthene is an oxygen-containing tricyclic compound which has recently gained huge synthetic interest due to its wide biological contribution. Particularly, the presence of various substituents in position 9 of xanthones powerfully affects their physical and chemical properties and also biological applications. Xanthene derivatives exposed biological activities such as antitumor, neuroprotector and antimicrobial [27]. Recent interest in the synthesis of functionalized sulfones has concentrated on the formation of carbon–heteroatom bonds, notably the C–H sulfonylation process [28–32].

Deb et al. [33] described an easy and straightforward methodology for the direct addition of sulfonyl units into xanthene (5) moiety to access xanthen-9-sulfone (7) products via a radical-radical cross-coupling reaction of xanthenes and sulfonyl hydrazides under metal-free condition (Figure 3.4). This method proceeds with a high grade of functional group tolerance with a wide-ranging variety of both xanthenes (5)


Figure 3.3: Plausible mechanism for C–O coupling reaction between phthalazinone and acetophenone derivatives.

and sulfonyl hydrazides (6) under mild condition. The performed mechanistic investigations indicated that sulfonyl radicals were generated from sulfonyl hydrazides on application of TBHP under oxygen atmosphere (Figure 3.5). When the reaction was executed in the presence of argon (both TBHP and O_2 are absent), the reaction did not proceed. Again, moderate yield was obtained when molecular oxygen was used as a sole oxidant. Hence, it was concluded that both oxygen and TBHP conjunctively play the accelerating role in this reaction which favors 45 instances to get yield up to 99%.

- 59



Figure 3.4: Substrate possibility of xanthene-9-sulfonylation products.



Figure 3.5: Probable mechanistic pathway for the synthesis of 9-sulfonyl xanthene.

3.2.3 TBHP-mediated synthesis of 2,3-diaryl-1,4-diketones via oxidative coupling of benzyl ketones in aqueous medium

In the domain of material science and organic chemistry, 2,3-diaryl-1,4-diketones are crucial intermediates. Using such type of ketone, numerous five-membered hetero-cycles, including furans [34–36], pyrroles [37, 38] and pyrrolones [39], were synthesized. Furthermore, 2,3-disubstituted-1,4-diketones are important frames in both natural and medicinal chemistry [40–43].



Figure 3.6: Synthetic pathway of 2,3-diaryl-1,4-diketones.

Bai and coworkers [44], in 2022, reported a green and efficient way for the formation of 2,3-diaryl-1,4-diketones (9) through dehydrogenative oxidative coupling process using benzyl ketones (8), which are easily accessible with TBHP as a sacrificial oxidant under tetrabutylammonium iodide (TBAI) catalysis in water medium (Figure 3.6). The methodology has a wide substrate range, mild reaction condition and a high level of substituent tolerance. Moreover, it is involved in such a catalytic system that seems to be biologically friendly while offering a range of desired products with good to outstanding yields. In this reaction, TBAI was oxidized to $[nBu_4N]^+$ $[IO_x]^-$ (where *x* is 1 and 2) in the presence of TBHP and in turn drives the reaction through hypoiodite pathway. The radical trapping experiments also supported this fact as the reaction proceeded efficiently in the presence of radical scavengers like TEMPO (2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidinoxyl) and BHT (butylated hydroxytoluene). The tetrasubstituted furan (10) and pyrrole (11) were also synthesized following this strategy to occur in one-pot method with a yield of 90–96%.

3.2.4 TBHP-mediated C–O oxidative cross-coupling of phenols and 2-aminoacetophenones

One of the most important processes in the synthesis of organic molecules is the oxidative formation of C–O bonds with enolizable carbonyl compounds [45–49]. Hypervalent iodine compounds have been frequently used as effective mediators for these beneficial conversions in addition to organic peroxides and heavy metal salts [50–55].



Figure 3.7: Substrate scope of cross-coupling between phenols and 2-aminoacetophenones.

On the basis of this, in 2015, Xu and Nachtsheim [56] described a convenient route for the oxidative cross-coupling between phenols and 2-aminoacetophenones (**12**), via catalytic amounts of TBAI as an iodine-containing catalyst, and aqueous solution of TBHP in stoichiometric amount acted as the co-oxidant (Figure 3.7). In this case, the reaction followed the hypoiodite pathway where $[nBu_4N]^+[IO_x]^-$ (x = 1, 2) acted as the active catalyst. Lower yield was reported in case of other ionic iodides (NaI and KI). Metallic iodides with covalent nature (like CuI) failed to generate the target product as the aggregate does not supply free iodide ion. After very short reaction period (20 min), a diversity of phenoxylated 2-aminoacetophenones (**13**) can be produced in yields up to 92%. This is a quite uncommon instance of an intermolecular cross-coupling involving phenols and an α -enolic carbon atom that was catalyzed by iodide.

3.2.5 TBHP-mediated cross-coupling using aldehyde or alcohol with *N*-chloramine

In peptides and proteins, the amide functionality is widely recognized. The amide bond is the most prevalent motif in a variety of natural and synthetic products because of its stability, strong polarity and variety of morphologies [57]. It is extremely desirable and has received a lot of attention in recent years to develop practical techniques for generation of amide functionality under metal-free, catalytic and chemoselective manner.



Figure 3.8: Substrate scope of amidation of aldehydes and alcohols with N-chloramines.

In 2014, Achar and Mal [58] discovered a mild, effective and metal-free technique for the synthesis of amides from alcohols and aldehydes utilizing TBHP–TBAI in a solvent-free environment (Figure 3.8). As an illustration of the activation of the aldehydic C–H under metal-free condition, the cross-coupling reaction between the aldehyde (16) and *N*-chloramine (17) is shown either in a ball milling setting at room temperature or under neat condition at 50 °C. The combination of TBAI and TBHP generated TBHP radical which responsively induces the formation of benzoyl and aminyl radicals, respectively, and the target product (18) was achieved via the oxidative coupling between benzoyl and aminyl radicals. This technology has been displayed well with a variation of functional groups and just recognized as readily available starting ingredients and can be produced in excellent yields. Executing the reactions in a ball mill might be a significant improvement to mechanochemical synthesis.

3.2.6 TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-dehydrogenative coupling of quinoxalin-2(1H)-ones with 4-hydroxycoumarins, 4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2-pyrone and 2-hydroxy-1, 4-naphthoquinone

A key heterocyclic scaffold with an inclusive range of biological and pharmacological actions is the quinoxalin-2(1H)-one moiety, which is found in many different natural compounds [59]. It has drawn the interest of several scientists due to its encouraging biological activities like antimicrobial, anticancer, protein kinase inhibitory, antithrombotic and benzodiazepine receptor agonist activities [60–63]. Functionalization of the C_3 -position of quinoxalin-2(1H)-ones in particular has received the most attention due to its radical addition mode, and the resultants are used in several biological fields.



Figure 3.9: Cross-dehydrogenative coupling reaction pathway of quinoxalin-2(1H)-ones.

In 2020, Baishya and coworkers [64] reported an effective and environmentally friendly strategy to functionalize the C_3 -position of quinoxalin-2(1H)-ones (19) by combining them with 4-hydroxycoumarins (20), 4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2-pyrones (22) and 2-hydroxy -1,4-naphthoquinones (21), in a metal-free environment (Figure 3.9). The CDC products are produced in very good to outstanding yields as a result of the smooth promotion of the reaction by TBHP. The procedure avoids the use of any hazardous substances or

metal catalysts, and pure products are achievable without performing column chromatography with a reasonably good yield. This procedure involves TBHP-induced radical pathways and was confirmed by radical trapping experiments with TEMPO, BHT and diphenyl ethylene.

3.2.7 TBHP-mediated dehydrogenative cross-oxidative coupling between methylarenes and acetanilides

In pharmaceutical and agricultural applications [65, 66], amides have recently drawn increasing interest as precursors in the synthesis of organic compounds like polymers and natural substances [67, 68]. According to the medicinal chemistry database, the amide moiety is present in around 25% of synthetic drugs [69]. In addition, the amide motif has been used as a crucial intermediate to produce a number of different chemicals with varied activities [70, 71].



Figure 3.10: Cross-oxidative coupling between methylarenes and acetanilides.

In 2016, Zhou and coworkers [72] reported a synthetic approach using TBHP for the synthesis of *N*-arylbenzamides (28) via a cross-oxidative coupling method between methylarenes (26) and acetanilides (27) (Figure 3.10). This cross-coupling technique demands no additional organic solvent, any TM catalyst or ligands. For the simple formation of C–N bonds, it is a practical and interesting approach to produce the desired product with excellent yield. The traditional C–N bond formation technique needs to be supplemented by this conversion. The reaction was totally suppressed in the radical inhibition experiment with TEMPO and established the radical mechanism for this coupling process.

3.2.8 TBAI/TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-coupling of ketones with phenols and carboxylic acids

Aryloxyketones are useful constructions for the production of organic molecules, drugs and physiologically active substances [73]. In particular, the Pfitzinger reaction [74] makes it simple to turn aryloxyketones into quinolines as well as synthesis of

substituted benzofurans [75]. α -Acyloxycarbonyl compounds are crucial building blocks because they may be converted into α -hydroxyketones, which are found as essential components in a range of physiologically active natural products and medicines [76, 77]. Conventionally, α -halocarbonyl compounds and carboxylic acids have historically been used to fabricate α -acyloxycarbonyl substrate under TM-catalyzed reaction condition by also placing highly toxic heavy metal oxidants. However, the disadvantage of those techniques was the deployment of hazardous chemicals and heavy metals [78].



Figure 3.11: Cross-coupling pathway of ketones with phenols and carboxylic acids.

In 2018, Reddy and coworkers [79] described a cross-coupling reaction of phenols (**32**) and carboxylic acids (**29**) with ketones (**30** and **33**) by interacting with TBAI/TBHP catalyst combination and keeping metal and base, as well as solvent-free condition (Figure 3.11), eventually the outcome approached to the synthesis of aryloxyketone (**35**), acyloxyketone (**31**) and benzofurans (**36**). Benzofurans (**36**) were produced in moderate quantities, but phenoxyketone (**35**) and acyloxylcarbonyl (**31**) compounds were produced in excellent to great yields. It is significant to have an easy-to-use approach with a commercially available and less expensive catalyst (TBAI) as well as an oxidant (TBHP). By following this technique, synthetic chemists are able to successfully avoid poisonous metals, toxic chemicals and metal oxidants.

3.2.9 TBHP-mediated oxidative coupling of bisnucleophiles and isocyanides

In bioactive metabolites and natural products, 2-aminobenzoxazinone, 2-aminobenzoxazine and 2-aminoquinozoline are preferred heterocyclic scaffolds [80–83]. In particular, the formation of 2-aminobenzoxazinone has advanced quickly throughout the past few decades, but the Pd(II)-catalyzed reactions were the major focus of the methodologies developed so far.



Figure 3.12: Oxidative coupling pathway of amino-based bisnucleophiles and isocyanides.

In 2018, Ji and coworkers [84] proposed a novel, general, reliable, straightforward and atom-efficient approach for the oxidative coupling reaction of isocyanide (39) with an amino-based bisnucleophile for the synthesis of 2-aminobenzoxazinone (40) and 2-aminoquinozoline (41) in moderate to excellent yields in the I₂/TBHP domain via N–H/O–H bond blooming (Figure 3.12). Additionally, this approach offers a straightforward and useful way to build potentially functionalized molecules with biological activity.

3.2.10 TBHP-promoted reaction between quinazoline-3-oxides and primary benzyl amines: C–N bond formation

The starting ingredients to fabricate primary amine are inexpensive, easily accessible and chemically varied. Because of these benefits, primary amines are frequently employed in the synthesis of heterocycles containing nitrogen, including quinolones [85, 86], quinoxalines [87, 88], indoles [89, 90] and quinazolines [91, 92]. A number of initiatives have been made in recent years to synthesize nitrogen-containing heterocycles by reacting readily available *N*-oxides with a variety of primary amines. One of the most significant heterocycles that include nitrogen is the quinazolinone, which is abundantly present in many natural products [93–95]. A wide range of bioactivities, including anticancer, antifungal, antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, antiallergic, antihypertensive and the inhibition of HIV-1 integrase, have been seen in quinazolinone derivatives that integrate various functional groups [96–98]. Additionally, several well-known medications are analogues of quinazolinone, which include febrifugine, evodiamine, fiproqualone, cloroqualone and afloqualone [99, 100].



Figure 3.13: Cross-coupling reaction between primary amines and quinazoline-3-oxides.

Due to their immense biological significance, in 2022, Wang and coworkers [101] described a reaction route between quinazoline-3-oxides (42) and primary amines (43) to form quinazolin-4(3H)-ones (44) (Figure 3.13). This method relies on readily accessible TBHP as the oxidant and is shown to work effectively on a wide variety of substrates under moderate reaction conditions, avoiding the use of metal salt. Surprisingly, 3-(2-(1H-indol-3-yl) ethyl)quinazolin-4(3H)-one (45), which can be easily prepared by applying this method in 70% yield, becomes a good starting material for the synthesis of beneficial compounds rutaempine (46) and (±)-evodiamine (47) (Figure 3.14). The optimum reaction condition is set up with quinazoline-3-oxide and low-cost benzyl amine using TBHP (5.5 M in decane, 3 equiv.) as an oxidant in 4 mL of DCM at 60 °C for 44 h.



Figure 3.14: Synthesis of rutaecarpine and (±)-evodiamine from 3-(2-(1H-indol-3-yl) ethyl) quinazolin-4(3*H*)-one.

The condition is set up with benzyl amine and quinazoline-3-oxide by the help of TBHP (5.5 M in decane) as an oxidant in 4 mL of dioxane for 24-44 h at 60 °C.



Figure 3.15: Plausible mechanism for cross-coupling reaction between quinazoline-3-oxides and primary amines.

3.2.11 TBHP-mediated direct oxidative aryl–aryl cross-coupling in a regioselective manner

In the field of organic chemistry, the creation of innovative carbon–carbon bond formation techniques is a decisive problem. In-depth research done on C–C bond formation processes that result in dimerization concluded with self-dehydrogenative coupling or cross-dehydrogenative coupling. In keeping track with the series of several carbon–carbon and carbon–nitrogen bond-forming reactions [102–104], it has revealed that it would be extremely intriguing and challenging as well to investigate the regioselective synthesis of biaryls through direct oxidative cross-coupling.



Figure 3.16: Oxidative aryl-aryl cross-coupling.

In 2011, Sridhar and coworkers [105] established an efficient pathway by using a lowcost catalyst oxidant combination, that is, the Fe(III)/TBHP system under a benign environment for the CDC coupling between N,N-dimethylanilines (**49** and **52**) and 2naphthol/1-naphthol (**48** and **51**) (Figure 3.16). This cross-coupling process produced a large number of dialkyl amino- and hydroxy-substituted biaryls. It was found that the reaction followed both chemoselective and regioselective pathways since it did not allow any of the homocoupled biaryls to form. In addition, the aryl substrates are not subjected to pre-functionalization and defunctionalization due to the use of suitable reagent combinations in this reaction, which in turn efficiently generated the functionalized biaryls. It is interesting to note that $AlCl_3$ also promotes the cross-coupling process, offering strong catalytic activity in the presence of TBHP, and a wide array of products can be prepared with good to excellent yields.

3.2.12 TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-coupling between sp^3 C–H and sp^2 P–H centers

Direct C–H bond functionalization and ensuing cross-coupling using pro-nucleophile based on heteroatom and electronic nature of carbon to judge the newly discovered carbon–carbon and C–X (X = N, O, P) bond construction in oxidative domain have become notable in synthetic organic chemistry. Specifically, ketone-containing phosphate esters are well-established physiologically important chemical molecules that are employed as sugar analogues and a crucial precursor for the production of phospholipids and nucleotides [106]. To synthesize this moiety, a few synthetic techniques are archived in previous reports [107–109]. Nevertheless, the bulk of these techniques relied on the oxidative cross-coupling approach using in-situ-generated organo-hypervalent iodine reagents [110–112].



Figure 3.17: Cross-coupling reaction between *sp*³ C–H and *sp*² P–H centers.

In 2016, Reddy and coworkers developed [113] a cross-coupling reaction of aryl alkyl ketones (54) with alkyl/aryl H-phosphonates (55) and H-phosphine oxide (56) under metal-free condition in the presence of TBAI catalyst and TBHP as a terminal oxidant in aqueous media (Figure 3.17). This innovative method provides a straightforward and practical way to obtain a variety of β -keto phosphates (57) and phosphinates (58) with yields ranging from good to excellent.

3.2.13 TBHP-mediated synthesis of β-ketosulfones via oxidative cross-coupling of vinyl acetates with sulfonyl hydrazides

In several kinds of physiologically active chemicals and commercially available medications, the sulfone-containing molecule is the pivotal one. The molecule containing sulfone group plays an important role in many classes of biologically active compounds and marketed drugs [114, 115]. Due to its electron-withdrawing nature, the sulfone molecule also functions as a multifunctional building block, notably as a carbon nucleophile. Due to their major uses in a wide range of natural goods and critical organic compounds, β -ketosulfones have garnered immense interest [116, 117].



Figure 3.18: Oxidative cross-coupling of vinyl acetates with sulfonyl hydrazides.

In 2015, Xu and coworkers [118] illustrated an efficient way for the oxidative crosscoupling of vinyl acetates (**59**) with sulfonyl hydrazides (**60**) with the aid of TBAI/TBHP combination, following that it has been possible to develop β -ketosulfone derivatives (**61**) (Figure 3.18). Several β -ketosulfone derivatives were successfully produced in yields ranging from excellent to moderate. Studies toward coupling of vinyl acetates with sulfonyl hydrazides were mostly focused on 1-phenylvinyl acetate with *p*-toluenesulfonyl hydrazide in the presence of TBAI as a catalyst in CH₃CN at 80 °C in the presence of TBHP as the oxidant. Furthermore, the scope of sulfonyl hydrazide with 1-phenylvinyl acetate was also inspected under the optimized reaction condition. At the para-position of sulfonyl hydrazide, electron-donating as well as electron-withdrawing groups displayed no obvious difference in the reaction yield of target products.

3.2.14 TBHP-promoted oxidative C–N bond formation

Modern organic synthesis mainly focused in recent years on reactions that involve the formation of carbon-heteroatom bond. Among them, a good number of pharmacologically active heterocycles are produced by direct oxidative C–N bond formation processes [119–122]. Again, among a variety of medicinal components, *N*-heterocycles are the most prevalent and essential scaffold [123]. The varied pharmacological characteristics and therapeutic potential of benzimidazoles, in particular, including their anticancer, antifungal, antibacterial, anti-leishmanial and antiviral effects, prove them to be a significant class of *N*-heterocycles [124–126].

Accordingly, Saha and Das [127] in 2018 established a useful one-flask methodology for the oxidative ring contraction aided by iodine and TBHP to assemble a variety of 2-substituted benzimidazoles (Figure 3.19). In this technique, pre-functionalized or halogenated substrates, oxidants or severe reaction conditions are avoided in favor of readily available 2-aminobenzyl alcohol (62) and 2-aminobenzamide (64) as representative starting materials. Numerous nitriles (63) and aldehydes (65) with oxidation-



Figure 3.19: Synthesis of benzimidazole via cross-coupling reaction.

prone functional groups were used in the process, and an excellent output has been realized. In this synthetic approach, I₂/TBHP combination is the key reagent.

In 2017, Punniyamurthy and coworkers [128] also devised a cross-coupling reaction protocol with anilines (68), methyl arenes (72) and TMSN₃ using copper(II) as catalyst in the presence of TBHP at a moderate temperature, resulting in 2-aryl benzimidazoles (71) via tandem $C(sp^3/sp^2)$ H functionalization and C–N bond formation (Figure 3.20). In 2015, Punniyamurthy and coworkers [129] also developed a one-pot amination protocol for N-aryl imine (70) leading to benzimidazole (71) scaffold under copper (II)/TBHP catalytic system (Figure 3.20).



Figure 3.20: Synthesis of benzimidazole via C-H bond amination.

3.2.15 TBHP-promoted various important cross-coupling reactions

Numerous significant cross-coupling reaction protocols were developed using TBHP as the key reagent. These protocols lead us to a vast world of biologically and medicinally active moieties.

3.2.15.1 Oxidative sp³ C–H bond functionalization

In 2016, Huo et al. [130] described a Fe(II)-catalyzed oxidative sp^3 C–H bond functionalization of 3,4-dihydro-1,4-benzoxazin-2-ones (75) with indoles leading to a benzoxazin-2-one-indole hybrid (77) heterocyclic scaffold. This protocol was also useful when the electronically rich phloroglucinol trimethyl ether (78) was introduced instead of indole (76). They have expanded the utility of their devised protocol by synthesizing a natural product Cephalandole A (81) in gram scale (Figure 3.21).

3.2.15.2 Cross-coupling reaction of 4-hydroxydithiocoumarin

In 2018, Khan and coworkers [131] reported I_2 - and TBHP-mediated oxidative crosscoupling reaction of 4-hydroxydithiocoumarin (82) and amines or thiols (83, 84 or 85) leading to various biologically active molecules (Figure 3.22).

3.2.15.3 Synthesis of 5-aminopyrazoles

In 2015, Wang and coworkers [132] synthesized 5-aminopyrazoles (92 or 93) involving the oxidative cross-coupling of *N*-sulfonyl hydrazones (89 or 90) and isocyanides (91) in the presence of I_2 /TBHP catalyst (Figure 3.23).

The mechanistic details show that $I_2/TBHP$ -mediated formal [4 + 1]-annulation of *N*-sulfonyl keto-hydrazones with isocyanides was accomplished via in situ generation of azo-alkene intermediate (94). Further, conjugate addition of isocyanide to the intermediate 94 (C–C bond formation) and zwitterionic cyclization (C–N bond formation) lead to the product (Figure 3.24).

3.2.15.4 Synthesis of unsymmetrical bis-acyl ketals

In 2014, Patel and coworkers [133] reported a preparation procedure for the generation of unsymmetrically substituted bis-acyl ketals (97) from different acetic acid esters (95) and benzyl amines (96) via TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-coupling (Figure 3.25).



Figure 3.21: Fe(II)-catalyzed oxidative sp^3 C–H bond functionalization of 3,4-dihydro-1,4-benzoxazin-2-ones with indoles.



Figure 3.22: I_{2} - and TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-coupling reaction of 4-hydroxydithiocoumarin and amines or thiols.



Figure 3.23: Synthesis of 5-aminopyrazoles involving oxidative cross-coupling of N-sulfonyl hydrazones.



Figure 3.24: Mechanism for the synthesis of 5-aminopyrazoles.



Figure 3.25: Synthesis of bis-acyl ketals from acetic acid esters and benzyl amines via TBHP-mediated oxidative cross-coupling.

3.2.15.5 Synthesis of functionalized 2H-azirine

In 2016, Duan et al. [134] reported a facile synthetic procedure to access functionalized 2H-azirine (100) moieties involving a KI/TBHP-promoted oxidative cross-coupling between β -enaminones (98) and carboxylic acids (99) (Figure 3.26). A plausible mechanism of this conversation is shown in Figure 3.27.



Figure 3.26: Preparation of 2H-azirine via oxidative cross-coupling between β -enaminones and carboxylic acids.



Figure 3.27: Plausible mechanism for the synthesis of 2H-azirine.

3.2.15.6 TBHP mediated synthesis of highly functionalized isoquinolinones and quinolinones

In 2019, Reddy and coworkers [135] described a unique protocol for the generation of highly functionalized isoquinolinones and quinolinones involving the TBHP-mediated oxidative coupling (Figure 3.28).



Figure 3.28: Preparation of highly functionalized isoquinolinones and quinolinones involving the TBHP-mediated oxidative coupling.

3.3 Conclusions

In summary, we must say that TBHP-mediated cross-coupling reactions are evolving as complementary to metal-catalyzed cross-coupling protocols. The TBHP-mediated cross-coupling reactions overcome the necessity of pre-functionalization of the starting material being essential in traditional cross-coupling methods. These types of cross-coupling procedures are also efficient and ideal in terms of the number of steps and atom economy. From the last decade, several research groups are exploring this proliferating area and are able to generate several new catalytic system. Each of this catalytic system features their own uniqueness, versatility and applicability. Thus, with respect to oxidants, TBHP has turned out to be an ideal terminal and sacrificial oxidant too in the mentioned reactions Further, TBHP-mediated cross-coupling strategy has gained concern, huge attention and exciting outcome and is still awaited in the coming days.

References

- [1] Li CJ. Cross-dehydrogenative coupling (CDC): Exploring C-C bond formations beyond functional group transformations. Acc Chem Res 2009, 42, 335–344.
- [2] Gulzar N, Schweitzer-Chaput B, Klussmann M. Oxidative coupling reactions for the functionalisation of C–H bonds using oxygen. Catal Sci Technol 2014, 4, 2778–2796.
- [3] Girard SA, Knauber T, Li CJ. The Cross-Dehydrogenative coupling of C-H bonds: A versatile strategy for C-C bond formations. Angew Chem Int Ed 2014, 5, 74–100.
- [4] Varun BV, Dhineshkumar J, Bettadapur KR, Siddaraju Y, Alagiri K, Prabhu KR. Recent advancements in dehydrogenative cross coupling reactions for CC bond formation. Tetrahedron Lett 2017, 58, 803–824.
- [5] Hoveyda AH, Zhugralin AR. The remarkable metal-catalysed olefin metathesis reaction. Nature 2007, 450, 243–251.
- [6] McQuillin FJ, Parker DG, Stephenson GR. Transition Metal Organometallics for Organic Synthesis. Cambridge University Press, 1991, 1–614.
- [7] Tsuji J. Transition Metal Reagents and Catalysts: Innovations in Organic Synthesis. Chichester: Wiley, 2002, 1–496.
- [8] Crabtree RH. The Organometallic Chemistry of Transition Metals, 4th ed. New York: Wiley Interscience, 2005, 1–560.
- [9] Bruce PY. Organic Chemistry, 4th ed. New Jersey: Pearson Education, 2004.
- [10] Fleming I. Pericyclic Reactions. New York: Oxford University Press, 1999, 1–89.
- [11] Curran DP, Rakiewicz DM. Tandem radical approach to linear condensed cyclopentanoids. Total synthesis of (.+-.)-Hirsutene. J Am Chem Soc 1985, 107, 1448–1449.
- [12] Jasperse CP, Curran DP, Fevig TL. Radical reactions in natural product synthesis. Chem Rev 1991, 91, 1237–1286.
- [13] Hanessian S, Leger R. Expedient assembly of carbocyclic, heterocyclic, and polycyclic compounds by trimethylstannyl radical mediated carbocyclizations of dienes and trienes: A novel oxidative cleavage of the carbon-tin bond. J Am Chem Soc 1992, 114, 3115–3117.
- [14] Giese B, Kopping B, Göbel Radical Cyclization Reactions T. Org React 2004, 48, 301.
- [15] Yeung CS, Dong VM. Catalytic dehydrogenative cross-coupling: Forming carbon–carbon bonds by oxidizing two carbon–hydrogen bonds. Chem Rev 2011, 111, 1215–1292.
- [16] Uyanik M, Okamoto H, Yasui T, Ishihara K. Quaternary ammonium (hypo) iodite catalysis for enantioselective oxidative cycloetherification. Science 2010, 328, 1376–1379.
- [17] Chen R, Chen J, Zhang J, Wan X. Combination of tetrabutylammonium iodide (TBAI) with tert-butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP): an efficient transition-metal-free system to construct various chemical bonds. Chem Rec 2018, 18, 1292–1305.
- [18] Ayyad RA, Sakr H, El-Gamal K. Synthesis, modeling and anticonvulsant activity of some phthalazinone derivatives. Am J Org Chem 2016, 6, 29–38.
- [19] Sun XY, Wei CX, Deng XQ, Sun ZG, Quan ZS. Synthesis and primary anticonvulsant activity evaluation of 6-alkyoxyl-tetrazolo [5, 1-a] phthalazine derivatives. Arzneim Forsch 2010, 60, 289–292.
- [20] Honore T, Davies SN, Drejer J, Fletcher EJ, Jacobsen P, Lodge D, Nielsen FE. Quinoxalinediones: Potent competitive non-NMDA glutamate receptor antagonists. Science 1988, 241, 701–703.
- [21] Rogawski MA. Diverse mechanisms of antiepileptic drugs in the development pipeline. Epilepsy Res 2006, 69, 273–294.
- [22] Turski L, Huth A, Sheardown M, McDonald F, Neuhaus R, Schneider HH, Dirnagl U, Wiegand F, Jacobsen P, Ottow E. A phosphonate quinoxalinedione AMPA antagonist for neuroprotection in stroke and trauma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1998, 95, 10960–10965.

- [23] Zarnowski T, Kleinrok Z, Turski WA, Czuczwar SJ. 2, 3-Dihydroxy-6-nitro-7-sulfamoylbenzo (F) quinoxaline enhances the protective activity of common antiepileptic drugs against maximal electroshock-induced seizures in mice. Neuropharmacology 1993, 32, 895–900.
- [24] Guirado A, Sánchez JI, Ruiz-Alcaraz AJ, Bautista D, Gálvez J. Synthesis and biological evaluation of 4alkoxy-6, 9-dichloro [1, 2, 4] triazolo [4, 3-a] quinoxalines as inhibitors of TNF-α and IL-6. Eur J Med Chem 2012, 54, 87–94.
- [25] Tanis SP, Strohbach JW, Parker TT, Moon MW, Thaisrivongs S, Perrault WR, Hopkins TA, Knechtel ML, Oien NL, Wieber JL, Stephanski KJ. The design and development of 2-aryl-2-hydroxy ethylamine substituted 1H, 7H-pyrido [1, 2, 3-de] quinoxaline-6-carboxamides as inhibitors of human cytomegalovirus polymerase. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2010, 20, 1994–2000.
- [26] Mandal RD, Saha M, Das AR. Accessing oxy-functionalized N-heterocycles through rose bengal and TBHP integrated photoredox C (sp 3)–O cross-coupling. Org Biomol Chem 2022, 20, 2939–2963.
- [27] Maia M, Resende DI, Duraes F, Pinto MM, Sousa E. Xanthenes in medicinal Chemistry–Synthetic strategies and biological activities. Eur J Med Chem 2021, 210, 113085.
- [28] Correa A, Mancheño OG, Bolm C. Iron-catalysed carbon-heteroatom and heteroatom-heteroatom bond forming processes. Chem Soc Rev 2008, 37, 1108–1117.
- [29] Corma A, Leyva-Pérez A, Sabater MJ. Gold-catalyzed carbon- heteroatom bond-forming reactions. Chem Rev 2011, 111, 1657–1712.
- [30] Hartwig JF. Carbon-heteroatom bond formation catalysed by organometallic complexes. Nature 2008, 455, 314–322.
- [31] Shaaban S, Liang S, Liu NW, Manolikakes G. Synthesis of sulfones via selective C–H-functionalization. Org Biomol Chem 2017, 15, 1947–1955.
- [32] Reddy VP, Qiu R, Iwasaki T, Kambe N. Nickel-catalyzed synthesis of diarylsulfides and sulfones via C–H bond functionalization of arylamides. Org Biomol Chem 2015, 13, 6803–6813.
- [33] Das S, Roy S, Bhowmik A, Sarkar W, Mondal I, Mishra A, Saha SJ, Karmakar S, Deb I. A radical-radical cross-coupling reaction of xanthene with sulfonyl hydrazides: Facile access to xanthen-9-sulfone derivatives. Chem Comm 2022, 58, 2902–2905.
- [34] Mortensen DS, Rodriguez AL, Sun J, Katzenellenbogen BS, Katzenellenbogen JA. Furans with basic side chains: Synthesis and biological evaluation of a novel series of antagonists with selectivity for the estrogen receptor alpha. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2001, 11, 2521–2524.
- [35] Mortensen DS, Rodriguez AL, Carlson KE, Sun J, Katzenellenbogen BS, Katzenellenbogen JA. Synthesis and biological evaluation of a novel series of furans: Ligands selective for estrogen receptor α. J Med Chem 2001, 44, 3838–3848.
- [36] Liu X, Li M, Liu M, Yang Q, Chen Y. From tetraphenylfurans to ring-opened (Z)-1, 4-enediones: ACQ fluorophores versus AIEgens with distinct responses to mechanical force and light. Chem Eur J 2018, 24, 13197–13204.
- [37] Balme G. Pyrrole syntheses by multicomponent coupling reactions. Angew Chem Int Ed 2004, 43, 6238–6241.
- [38] Kuo WJ, Chen YH, Jeng RJ, Chan LH, Lin WP, Yang ZM. Peripheral aryl-substituted pyrrole fluorophores for glassy blue-light-emitting diodes. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 7086–7096.
- [39] Wang X, Zhang CY, Tu HY, Zhang AD. Facile access to multiaryl-1H-pyrrol-2 (3H)-ones by copper/ TEMPO-mediated cascade annulation of diarylethanones with primary amines and mechanistic insight. Eur J Org Chem 2016, 2016, 5243–5247.
- [40] Li SH, Wang J, Niu XM, Shen YH, Zhang HJ, Sun HD, Li ML, Tian QE, Lu Y, Cao P, Zheng QT, Maoecrystal V. Cytotoxic diterpenoid with a novel C19 skeleton from Isodon eriocalyx (Dunn.) Hara. Org Lett 2004, 6, 4327–4330.
- [41] Baran PS, DeMartino MP. Intermolecular oxidative enolate heterocoupling. Angew Chem 2006, 118, 7241–7244.

- [42] DeMartino MP, Chen K, Baran PS. Intermolecular enolate heterocoupling: Scope, mechanism, and application. J Am Chem Soc 2008, 130, 11546–11560.
- [43] Yoo EJ, Wasa M, Yu JQ. Pd (II)-catalyzed carbonylation of C (sp3)–H bonds: A new entry to 1, 4-dicarbonyl compounds. J Am Chem Soc 2010, 132, 17378–17380.
- [44] Kong L, Hu X, Bai LP. TBAI-catalyzed oxidative coupling of benzyl ketones to synthesize 2, 3-diaryl-1, 4diketones in water. ACS Omega 2022, 7, 2337–2343.
- [45] Krylov IB, Vil VA, Terent'ev AO. Cross-dehydrogenative coupling for the intermolecular C–O bond formation. Beilstein J Org Chem 2015, 11, 92–146.
- [46] Mehta VP, Punji B. Recent advances in transition-metal-free direct C–C and C–heteroatom bond forming reactions. RSC Advances 2013, 3, 11957–11986.
- [47] Song G, Wang F, Li X. C–C, C–O and C–N bond formation via rhodium (iii)-catalyzed oxidative C–H activation. Chem Soc Rev 2012, 41, 3651–3678.
- [48] Turner NJ. Enantioselective oxidation of C–O and C–N bonds using oxidases. Chem Rev 2011, 111, 4073–4087.
- [49] Yoo WJ, Li CJ. Cross-dehydrogenative coupling reactions of sp 3-hybridized C–H bonds. CH activation. Top Curr Chem 2010, 292, 281.
- [50] Hypervalent Iodine Chemistry: Topics in Current Chemistry. 224, Wirth, T, Editor. Berlin: Springer, 2003.
- [51] Singh FV, Wirth T. Hypervalent iodine-catalyzed oxidative functionalizations including stereoselective reactions. Chem Asian J 2014, 9, 950–971.
- [52] Dong DQ, Hao SH, Wang ZL, Chen C. Hypervalent iodine: A powerful electrophile for asymmetric αfunctionalization of carbonyl compounds. Org Biomol Chem 2014, 12, 4278–4289.
- [53] Brown M, Farid U, Wirth T. Hypervalent iodine reagents as powerful electrophiles. Synlett 2013, 24, 424–431.
- [54] Merritt EA, Olofsson B. α-Functionalization of carbonyl compounds using hypervalent iodine reagents. Synthesis 2011, 2011, 517–538.
- [55] Quideau S, Wirth T. Hypervalent iodine chemistry. Recent Adv Appl. Tetrahedron 2010, 66, 5737.
- [56] Xu W, Nachtsheim BJ. TBAI-catalyzed oxidative cross-coupling of phenols and 2aminoacetophenones. Org Lett 2015, 17, 1585–1588.
- [57] Roy S, Roy S, Gribble GW. Metal-catalyzed amidation. Tetrahedron 2012, 68, 9867.
- [58] Achar, TK, Mal, P. Radical-induced metal and solvent-free cross-coupling using TBAI–TBHP: Oxidative amidation of aldehydes and alcohols with N-chloramines *via* C–H activation. J Org Chem 2015, 80, 666–672.
- [59] Pereira JA, Pessoa AM, Cordeiro MN, Fernandes R, Prudêncio C, Noronha JP, Vieira M. Quinoxaline, its derivatives and applications: A state of the art review. Eur J Med Chem 2015, 97, 664–672.
- [60] Willardsen JA, Dudley DA, Cody WL, Chi L, McClanahan TB, Mertz TE, Potoczak RE, Narasimhan LS, Holland DR, Rapundalo ST, Edmunds JJ. Design, synthesis, and biological activity of potent and selective inhibitors of blood coagulation factor Xa. J Med Chem 2004, 47, 4089–4099.
- [61] Weïwer M, Spoonamore J, Wei J, Guichard B, Ross NT, Masson K, Silkworth W, Dandapani S, Palmer M, Scherer CA, Stern AM. A potent and selective quinoxalinone-based STK33 inhibitor does not show synthetic lethality in KRAS-dependent cells. ACS Med Chem Lett 2012, 3, 1034–1038.
- [62] Galal SA, Khairat SH, Ragab FA, Abdelsamie AS, Ali MM, Soliman SM, Mortier J, Wolber G, El Diwani HI. Design, synthesis and molecular docking study of novel quinoxalin-2 (1H)-ones as anti-tumor active agents with inhibition of tyrosine kinase receptor and studying their cyclooxygenase-2 activity. Eur J Med Chem 2014, 86, 122–132.
- [63] Issa DA, Habib NS, Wahab AE. Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of novel 1, 2, 4-triazolo and 1, 2, 4-triazino [4, 3-a] quinoxalines as potential anticancer and antimicrobial agents. Med Chem Comm 2015, 6, 202–211.
- [64] Sharma S, Dutta NB, Bhuyan M, Das B, Baishya G. tert-Butylhydroperoxide (TBHP) mediated oxidative cross-dehydrogenative coupling of quinoxalin-2 (1 H)-ones with 4-hydroxycoumarins,

4-hydroxy-6-methyl-2-pyrone and 2-hydroxy-1, 4-naphthoquinone under metal-free conditions. Org Biomol Chem 2020, 18, 6537–6548.

- [65] Ganesh T, Jiang J, Yang MS, Dingledine R. Lead optimization studies of cinnamic amide EP2 antagonists. J Med Chem 2014, 57, 4173–4184.
- [66] Valverde IE, Vomstein S, Fischer CA, Mascarin A, Mindt TL. Probing the backbone function of tumor targeting peptides by an amide-to-triazole substitution strategy. J Med Chem 2015, 58, 7475–7484.
- [67] Guo X, Facchetti A, Marks TJ. Imide-and amide-functionalized polymer semiconductors. Chem Rev 2014, 114, 8943–9021.
- [68] Martí-Centelles V, Burguete MI, Luis SV. Macrocycle synthesis by chloride-templated amide bond formation. J Org Chem 2016, 81, 2143–2147.
- [69] Racine E, Monnier F, Vors JP, Taillefer M. Direct N-cyclopropylation of secondary acyclic amides promoted by copper. Chem Comm 2013, 49, 7412–7414.
- [70] Tobisu M, Nakamura K, Chatani N. Nickel-catalyzed reductive and borylative cleavage of aromatic carbon–nitrogen bonds in N-aryl amides and carbamates. J Am Chem Soc 2014, 136, 5587–5590.
- [71] Panahi F, Jamedi F, Iranpoor N. Nickel-catalyzed reductive addition of aryl/benzyl halides and pseudohalides to carbodiimides for the synthesis of amides. Eur J Org Chem 2016, 2016, 780–788.
- [72] Chen C, Liu W, Zhou P. TBHP-mediated highly efficient dehydrogenative cross-oxidative coupling of methylarenes with acetanilides. Beilstein J Org Chem 2016, 12, 2250–2255.
- [73] Ryan DA, Okolotowicz KJ, Mercola M, Cashman JR. Stereoselective synthesis of mexiletine and structural analogs with chiral tert-butane sulfinamide. Tetrahedron Lett 2015, 56, 4195–4199.
- [74] Calaway PK, Henze HR. Utilization of aryloxy ketones in the synthesis of quinolines by the pfitzinger reaction. J Am Chem Soc 1939, 61, 1355–1358.
- [75] Chilin A, Pastorini G, Castellin A, Bordin F, Rodighiero P, Guiotto A. Synthesis of benzopsoralenquinone derivatives. Synthesis 1995, 1995, 1190–1194.
- [76] Reddi RN, Malekar PV, Sudalai A. N-Heterocyclic carbene catalyzed regioselective oxo-acyloxylation of alkenes with aromatic aldehydes: A high yield synthesis of α-acyloxy ketones and esters. Org Biomol Chem 2013, 11, 6477–6482.
- [77] Shindo M, Yoshimura Y, Hayashi M, Soejima H, Yoshikawa T, Matsumoto K, Shishido K. Synthesis of multisubstituted furans, pyrroles, and thiophenes *via* ynolates. Org Lett 2007, 9, 1963–1966.
- [78] Lee JC, Jin YS, Choi JH. Synthesis of α-acetoxy and formyloxy ketones by thallium (III) promoted α-oxidation. Chem Comm 2001, 11, 956–957.
- [79] Kumar PS, Ravikumar B, Ashalu KC, Reddy KR. TBAI/TBHP mediated oxidative cross coupling of ketones with phenols and carboxylic acids: Direct access to benzofurans. Tetrahedron Lett 2018, 59, 33–37.
- [80] Krantz A, Spencer RW, Tam TF, Liak TJ, Copp LJ, Thomas EM, Rafferty SP. Design and synthesis of 4H-3, 1-benzoxazin-4-ones as potent alternate substrate inhibitors of human leukocyte elastase. J Med Chem 1990, 33, 464–479.
- [81] Neumann U, Schechter NM, Gütschow M. Inhibition of human chymase by 2-amino-3,1- benzoxazin-4-ones. Bioorg Med Chem 2001, 9, 947.
- [82] Pietsch M, Gütschow M. Synthesis of tricyclic 1,3-oxazin-4-ones and kinetic analysis of cholesterol esterase and acetylcholinesterase inhibition. J Med Chem 2005, 48, 8270.
- [83] Gütschow M, Schlenk M, Gäb J, Paskaleva M, Alnouri MW, Scolari S, Iqbal J, Müller CE. Benzothiazinones: A novel class of adenosine receptor antagonists structurally unrelated to xanthine and adenine derivatives. J Med Chem 2012, 55, 3331.
- [84] Wang HX, Wei TQ, Xu P, Wang SY, Ji SJ. I2/TBHP-mediated oxidative coupling of amino-based bisnucleophiles and isocyanides: Access to 2-aminobenzoxazinones, 2-aminobenzoxazines, and 2-aminoquinazolines under metal-free conditions. J Org Chem 2018, 83, 13491–13497.

- [85] Rodriguez A, Albert J, Ariza X, Garcia J, Granell J, Farras J, La Mela A, Nicolas E. Catalytic C–H activation of phenylethylamines or benzylamines and their annulation with allenes. J Org Chem 2014, 79, 9578–9585.
- [86] Das S, Maiti D, De Sarkar S. Synthesis of polysubstituted quinolines from α-2-aminoaryl alcohols via nickel-catalyzed dehydrogenative coupling. J Org Chem 2018, 83, 2309–2316.
- [87] Bera A, Sk M, Singh K, Banerjee D. Nickel-catalysed dehydrogenative coupling of aromatic diamines with alcohols: Selective synthesis of substituted benzimidazoles and quinoxalines. Chem Comm 2019, 55, 5958–5961.
- [88] Daw P, Kumar A, Espinosa-Jalapa NA, Diskin-Posner Y, Ben-David Y, Milstein D. Synthesis of pyrazines and quinoxalines *via* acceptorless dehydrogenative coupling routes catalyzed by manganese pincer complexes. ACS Catalysis 2018, 8, 7734–7741.
- [89] Besandre R, Jaimes M, May JA. Indoles synthesized from amines via copper catalysis. Org Lett 2013, 15, 1666–1669.
- [90] El-Marrouki D, Touchet S, Abdelli A, M'rabet H, Efrit ML, Gros PC. Tuneable access to indole, indolone, and cinnoline derivatives from a common 1, 4-diketone Michael acceptor. Beilstein J Org Chem 2020, 16, 1722–1731.
- [91] Sulthana MT, Chitra K, Alagarsamy V, Saravanan G, Solomon VR. Anti-HIV and antibacterial activities of novel 2-(3-Substituted-4-oxo-3, 4-dihydroquinazolin-2-yl)-2, 3-dihydrophthalazine-1, 4-diones. Russ J Bioorganic Chem 2021, 47, 112–121.
- [92] Hu K, Zhen Q, Gong J, Cheng T, Qi L, Shao Y, Chen J. Palladium-catalyzed three-component tandem process: One-pot assembly of quinazolines. Org Let 2018, 20, 30837.
- [93] Michael JP. Quinoline quinazoline and acridone alkaloids. Nat Prod Rep 2008, 25, 166–187.
- [94] Mhaske SB, Argade NP. The chemistry of recently isolated naturally occurring quinazolinone alkaloids. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 9787–9826.
- [95] Nair V, Dhanya R, Rajesh C, Devipriya S. Recent developments in the chemistry of quinoneimides. Synlett 2005, 16, 2407–2419.
- [96] Huestis MP, Dela Cruz D, DiPasquale AG, Durk MR, Eigenbrot C, Gibbons P, Gobbi A, Hunsaker TL, La H, Leung DH, Liu W. Targeting KRAS mutant cancers *via* combination treatment: Discovery of a 5fluoro-4-(3 h)-quinazolinone aryl urea pan-RAF kinase inhibitor. J Med Chem 2021, 64, 3940–3955.
- [97] Peng JW, Yin XD, Li H, Ma KY, Zhang ZJ, Zhou R, Wang YL, Hu GF, Liu YQ. Design, synthesis, and structure–activity relationship of quinazolinone derivatives as potential fungicides. J Agric Food Chem 2021, 69, 4604–4614.
- [98] Qian Y, Allegretta G, Janardhanan J, Peng Z, Mahasenan KV, Lastochkin E, Gozun MM, Tejera S, Schroeder VA, Wolter WR, Feltzer R. Exploration of the structural space in 4 (3 H)-quinazolinone antibacterials. J Med Chem 2020, 63, 5287–5296.
- [99] Reddy MM, Sivaramakrishna A. Remarkably flexible quinazolinones Synthesis and biological applications. J Heterocycl Chem 2020, 57, 942–954.
- [100] Gatadi S, Lakshmi TV, Nanduri S. 4 (3H)-Quinazolinone derivatives: Promising antibacterial drug leads. Eur J Med Chem 2019, 170, 157–172.
- [101] Luo J, Wan J, Wu L, Yang L, Wang T. tert-Butyl hydroperoxide promoted the reaction of quinazoline-3-oxides with primary amines affording quinazolin-4 (3 H)-ones. J Org Chem 2022, 87, 9864–9874.
- [102] Basu D, Chandrasekharam M, Mainkar PS, Chandrasekhar S. A synthetic approach to terpendoles: Decahydrobenzo [f] chromenes by an intermolecular Diels-Alder route. Arkivoc 2011, 2, 355–362.
- [103] Singh SP, Kumar TV, Chandrasekharam M, Giribabu L, Reddy PY. Microwave-assisted, rapid, solventfree aza-Michael reaction by perchloric acid impregnated on silica gel. Synth Commun 2009, 39, 3982–3989.
- [104] Liang KW, Chandrasekharam M, Li CL, Liu RS. Efficient synthesis of bicyclic lactones via Tungstenmediated intramolecular cycloalkenation. J Org Chem 1998, 63, 7289–7293.

- [105] Chandrasekharam M, Chiranjeevi B, Gupta KS, Sridhar B. Iron-catalyzedRegioselective direct oxidative aryl–aryl cross-coupling. J Org Chem 2011, 76, 10229–10235.
- [106] Ramirez F, Bauer J, Telefus CD. Introduction of the amide function into 1, 3, 2-dioxaphospholenes with pentavalent phosphorus. J Am Chem Soc 1970, 92, 6935–6942.
- [107] Ramirez F, Desai NB. Crystalline 1: 1 adducts from the reaction of tertiary phosphite esters with ortho-quinones and with alpha-diketones. new routes to quinol-monophosphates and to ketolmonophosphates1. J Am Chem Soc 1960, 82, 2652–2653.
- [108] Ramirez F, Bhatia SB, Bigler AJ, Smith CP. New syntheses of. beta.-oxo-. alpha.-hydroxy acid chlorides, of. alpha.-hydroxy. beta.-diketones, and of their phosphate esters. J Org Chem 1968, 33, 1192–1196.
- [109] Ramirez F, Glaser SL, Bigler AJ, Pilot JF. Synthesis of sugarlike phosphates by the oxyphosphorane condensation. Reaction of glyoxal with trialkylphosphites and preparation of phosphate esters of glycolaldehyde,.alpha.-hydroxy. beta.-keto aldehydes, and hydroxymalonaldehyde chloride. J Am Chem Soc 1969, 91, 496–500.
- [110] Koser GF, Lodaya JS, Ray DG, Kokil PB. Direct alpha-phosphoryloxylation of ketones and (phosphoryloxy) lactonization of pentenoic acids with [hydroxy [(bis (phenyloxy) phosphoryl) oxy] iodo] benzene. J Am Chem Soc 1988, 110, 29878.
- [111] Yu J, Tian J, Zhang C. Various α-oxygen functionalizations of β-dicarbonyl compounds mediated by the hypervalent iodine (III) reagent p-iodotoluene difluoride with different oxygen-containing nucleophiles. Adv Synth Catal 2010, 352, 531–546.
- [112] (b) Pu Y, Gao L, Liu H, Yan J. An effective catalytic α-phosphoryloxylation of ketones with iodobenzene. Synthesis 2012, 44, 99–103.
- [113] Saidulu G, Kumar RA, Anitha T, Kumar PS, Reddy KR. TBAI/TBHP mediated oxidative cross coupling of aryl alkyl ketones with H-phosphonates and H-phosphine oxides in water: Facile access to ketol phosphates and phosphinates. Tetrahedron Lett 2016, 57, 1648–1652.
- [114] De Vries P, Villalón CM, Saxena PR. Pharmacological aspects of experimental headache models in relation to acute antimigraine therapy. Eur J Pharmacol 1999, 375, 61–74.
- [115] Petrov KG, Zhang YM, Carter M, Cockerill GS, Dickerson S, Gauthier CA, Guo Y, Mook RA, Jr, Rusnak DW, Walker AL, Wood ER. Optimization and SAR for dual ErbB-1/ErbB-2 tyrosine kinase inhibition in the 6-furanylquinazoline series. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2006, 16, 4686–4691.
- [116] Curti C, Laget M, Carle AO, Gellis A, Vanelle P. Rapid synthesis of sulfone derivatives as potential anti-infectious agents. Eur J Med Chem 2007, 42, 880–884.
- [117] Yang H, Carter RG, Zakharov LN. Enantioselective total synthesis of lycopodine. J Am Chem Soc 2008, 130, 9238–9239.
- [118] Tang Y, Fan Y, Gao H, Li X, Xu X. Synthesis of β-keto-sulfones via metal-free TBAI/TBHP mediated oxidative cross-coupling of vinyl acetates with sulfonylhydrazides. Tetrahedron Lett 2015, 56, 5616–5618.
- [119] Marchetti L, Kantak A, Davis R, DeBoef B. Regioselective gold-catalyzed oxidative C–N bond formation. Org Let 2015, 17, 358–361.
- [120] Agejas J, Ortega L. Synthesis of spirocyclic pyrazolones by oxidative C–N bond formation. J Org Chem 2015, 80, 6509–6514.
- [121] Li YL, Li J, Ma AL, Huang YN, Deng J. Metal-Free synthesis of indole via NIS-mediated cascade C–N bond formation/aromatization. J Org Chem 2015, 80, 3841–3851.
- [122] Li X, Yang L, Zhang X, Zhang-Negrerie D, Du Y, Zhao K. Construction of 1, 4-benzodiazepine skeleton from 2-(arylamino) benzamides through PhI (OAc) 2-mediated oxidative C–N bond formation. J Org Chem 2014, 79, 955–962.
- [123] Bhaskaruni SVHS, Maddila S, Gangu KK, Jonnalagadda SB; doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2017.09.016.
- [124] Ansari KF, Lal C. Synthesis, physicochemical properties and antimicrobial activity of some new benzimidazole derivatives. Eur J Med Chem 2009, 44, 4028–4033.

- [125] Chassaing C, Berger M, Heckeroth A, Ilg T, Jaeger M, Kern C, Schmid K, Uphoff M. Highly water-soluble prodrugs of anthelmintic benzimidazole carbamates: Synthesis, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics. J Med Chem 2008, 13, 1111–1114.
- [126] Tomić M, Ignjatović D, Tovilović G, Andrić D, Roglić G, Kostić-Rajačić S. Two new phenylpiperazines with atypical antipsychotic potential. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2007, 17, 5749–5753.
- [127] Saha M, Das AR. I2/TBHP promoted oxidative C–N bond formation at room temperature: Divergent access of 2-substituted benzimidazoles involving ring distortion. Tetrahedron Lett 2018, 59, 2520–2525.
- [128] Mahesh D, Sadhu P, Punniyamurthy T. Copper (I)-catalyzed regioselective amination of N-aryl imines using TMSN3 and TBHP: A route to substituted benzimidazoles. J Org Chem 2015, 80, 1644–1650.
- [129] Mahesh D, Satheesh V, Kumar SV, Punniyamurthy T. Copper (II)-catalyzed oxidative coupling of anilines, methyl arenes, and TMSN3 *via* C (sp3/sp2)–H functionalization and C–N bond formation. Org Lett 2017, 19, 6554–6557.
- [130] Huo C, Dong J, Su Y, Tang J, Chen F. Iron-catalyzed oxidative sp3 carbon-hydrogen bond functionalization of 3, 4-dihydro-1, 4-benzoxazin-2-ones. Chem Comm 2016, 52, 13341–13344.
- [131] Mahato K, Arora N, Bagdi PR, Gattu R, Ghosh SS, Khan AT. An oxidative cross-coupling reaction of 4hydroxydithiocoumarin and amines/thiols using a combination of I 2 and TBHP: Access to lead molecules for biomedical applications. Chem Comm 2018, 54, 1513–1516.
- [132] Senadi GC, Hu WP, Lu TY, Garkhedkar AM, Vandavasi JK, Wang JJ. 12–TBHP-catalyzed oxidative crosscoupling of N-sulfonyl hydrazones and isocyanides to 5-aminopyrazoles. Org Lett 2015, 17, 1521–1524.
- [133] Majji G, Rajamanickam S, Khatun N, Santra SK, Patel BK. Generation of bis-acyl ketals from esters and benzyl amines under oxidative conditions. J Org Chem 2015, 80, 3440–3446.
- [134] Duan X, Kong X, Zhao X, Yang K, Zhou H, Zhou D, Zhang Y, Liu J, Ma J, Liu N, Wang Z. KI/TBHPmediated oxidative cross-coupling of enamines and carboxylic acids under metal-free conditions: A facile access to functionalized 2H-azirines. Tetrahedron Lett 2016, 57, 1446–1450.
- [135] Shantharjun B, Rajeswari R, Vani D, Unnava R, Sridhar B, Reddy KR. Metal-free, one-pot oxidative triple functionalization of azaarenes with methyl arenes mediated by molecular iodine/TBHP: Synthesis of N-Benzylated iodo (iso) quinolinones. Asian J Org Chem 2019, 8, 2162–2171.

Kantharaju Kamanna* and Yamanappagouda Amaregouda Chapter 4 Applications of Cyrene and ethyl lactate bio-based solvents for organic transformations

4.1 Introduction

In recent years, it has been observed that the environmental effect is directly dependent on the chemical processes employed in industries, and it demands the protocol more on sustainable development, and a focus on inexpensive and eco-friendly reaction medium is an important research in modern synthetic chemistry [1, 2]. Organic solvents are playing a pivotal role in many chemical processes, and not just to promote better interaction of reactants or transition-state stabilization but also facilitate product separation [3]. Solvent separation, recycling and purification are critical factors used in reactions that have a direct impact on economy, efficiency and its industrial viability [4]. The statistics showed that 80% of the chemical processes required solvents [5], and volatile organic solvents are used because they allow easier product isolation and recovery or recycling via low-temperature distillation, thereby preventing thermally sensitive compounds from degradation [6]. Unfortunately, these volatile solvents have large number of safety and environmental issues, including flammability, storage and transport, and also health issues on exposure to people [7]. The chemical industry has long been aware of this issue, and is constantly looking for a novel and safety medium to improve the long-term safety, storage and sustainable method [8]. With this background, chemical industries are playing a responsible role to take care of the society and environment [9]. These solvent media are aimed at encouraging chemical companies across the world to improve their environmental, health and safety performance [10]. Researchers demonstrated an alternative procedure of solventless route under the green chemistry principle [11]. However, intrinsic issues like mass transfer limits, viscosity, melting temperature of the reactant and reaction control exothermicity hinder the solventless reaction development popularity in a broader manner [12].

Conflict of interest: Authors do not have any conflict of interest to publish this work.

Acknowledgment: This work was supported by RCU-Interdisciplinary project (2022–23) awarding to KK by Rani Channamma University.

^{*}Corresponding author: Kantharaju Kamanna, Department of Chemistry, Rani Channamma University, Vidyasangama, Belagavi 591156, Karnataka, India, e-mail: kk@rcub.ac.in Yamanappagouda Amaregouda, Department of Chemistry, Rani Channamma University, Vidyasangama, Belagavi 591156, Karnataka, India

Furthermore, the commercialization of a solventless technique is highly focused on atom economy and is inexpensive; otherwise, the reaction-influenced organic solvent typically gave significant product yield, but required isolation and purification of products, severely restricting the appeal of this strategy [13]. Hence, most of the academic studies focused on *bio-based solvents* as an alternative solvent for organic synthesis, particularly in the application of pharmaceutical or fine chemical manufacturing (Figure 4.1) [14]. The paint and coating industries are by far the largest users of solvents, accounting for 46% of the overall solvent usage in the European Union [15]. The solvent in paints and coatings dissolves, and suspends paint components before evaporating from the once applied paint. Because the polymer binder makes up the major amount of paint formulations, green solvents are critical in the paint and coating industry [16]. Other industries that use green solvents are: (i) adhesives, where green solvents dissolve the adhesive compounds to allow spreading onto a surface: (ii) cosmetics, where bio-based solvents are used as stiffeners and gelling agents; (iii) household care, where solvents are used in laundry detergent formulations; (iv) polymer manufacturing, where the use of bio-based solvents enhances the physicochemical properties of polymer products; and (iv) industrial cleaning, where bio-based solvents were used to remove the toxicity from the products.



Figure 4.1: Average use of bio-based solvents in different sectors.

A variety of ambitious sustainability plans have been formed by researchers, international organizations and business sectors in response to the grave environmental issues of the past decade [17]. These efforts resulted in a more stringent regulatory environment and a surge in research areas in green chemistry and sustainable technologies [18]. Because the solvent accounts for the biggest amount of the total mass utilization in chemical manufacturing, they have long been of major importance in green chemistry [19]. A number of green solvents have been discovered and described in the literature to address the environmental, health and safety concerns connected with the use of organic solvents [20]. When compared to their conventional equivalents, these green solvents have reduced acute and chronic toxicity, less environmental impact and fewer safety concerns [21]. Furthermore, they are frequently built on renewable resources, making them more appealing from a sustainability standpoint [22]. Bio-based solvents are the category of chemicals with well-developed market [23], and those made from biowastes are in high demand alternative to several common solvents like aromatic, halogenated and ether derivatives, due to the regulatory restrictions in using these solvents. The use of some of the prominent bio-based solvent systems and their chemical composition structure are given in Figure 4.2 [24]. This chapter provides insights and highlights solvents derived from the bio-based that are employed in organocatalysis and transition metal and biocatalysis-accelerated reactions reported in the literature [17].



Figure 4.2: Alternative bio-based solvents.

In an effort to replace hazardous solvents with greener solvents, four major developments have been considered [25]: (i) the replacement of solvents dangerous to the environment is replaced with better safety, health and environmental properties; (ii) bio-based solvents derived from recyclable resources are starchy feed, ethanol or lignocellulosic; (iii) the blending of organic solvents with nontoxic green solvents; and (iv) use of stable bio-based solvents. Biomass has recently received a lot of interest as a sustainable carbon feedstock source due to its important properties, thereby replacing the solvent derived from oil refineries [26]. The solvents derived from biomass feedstock such as Cyrene and ethyl lactate (EL) have emerged greater heights of bio-based solvents [27]. Both physical and chemical methods, which are safer to humans and the environment, are employed to create these compounds from vegetable, animal and mineral sources [28, 29]. Further, biobased solvents are projected to deliver a favorable balanced environment like reduced volatile organic compounds, nontoxicity and biodegradability with improved safety issues because of the compatible concept on sustainable development. The procedures used in the solvent manufacture must be environmentally friendly, cropping cycle, choice of abundant raw materials, cost reduction and physicochemical standards.

Cyrene is a bio-based solvent derived from various biomass (Figure 4.3) [30–33]. In recent years, these solvents, used in academic and industrial research, steadily increased as an alternative to toxic, aprotic and dipolar solvents generated from petroleum, such as N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) and N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) [34]. DMF, NMP and Cyrene have 0.88, 0.90 and 0.93 values on the Kamlet-Abboud-Taft polarity scale, which measures the dipolarity of a solvent π^* . Cyrene was found to have similar solvent properties like DMF and NMP, according to the Hansen solubility relating to polar (P), dispersion (D) and H-bonding interactions (Table 4.1) [35, 36]. Cyrene was investigated in a wide range of reactions, namely, $S_N 2$ and $S_N Ar$ reactions, coupling reaction catalyzed by Pd. nucleophilic addition reaction [37], metal–organic framework (MOF) synthesis and graphene manufacturing [38]. The wide applications of Cyrene is also extended to other research areas such as membrane synthesis and resin swelling techniques [39], acyl substitution processes, due to its physical and solubility properties similar to conventional aprotic dipolar solvents, and with the added benefit of no mutagenicity and being barely ecotoxic [40]. Cacchi-type annulations, a number of biocatalysis applications [41, 42], where it could operate as an electrophile, were incompatible by $Cvrene^{TM}$ as a solvent [43]. Watson et al. described the use of CyreneTM in hexafluorophosphate azabenzotriazole tetramethyl uronium (HATU)mediated amide bond formation by amines and carboxylic acid condensation in the presence of base. In addition, $Cyrene^{TM}$ has been employed as a solvent in a number of studies [44–53]. The various applications of CyreneTM over other petroleum-derived solvents are described in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.3: Synthesis of Cyrene from biomass.



Figure 4.4: Application of Cyrene in various sectors.

EL (Figure 4.5) is extracted from carbohydrate biowaste [54–58] derived from lactic acid and ethanol, which are obtained by biomass fermentation. Alternative solvents have adequate physical properties (Table 4.1). EL is highly abundant in nature and is primarily an optically active ($[\alpha]^{20}D = 10.6$) [59] L-isomer (ethyl-(S)-2-hydroxypropanoate) which emerged as a promising solvent available with added advantages, including complete biodegradability, inexpensive, nontoxicity, low vapor pressure, high boiling point (154 °C) and recyclable with excellent solubility of the organic compounds [60]. EL emerged as an sustainable alternative solvent in organic synthesis, with added benefits such as nontoxicity, high stability, complete degradability and solubility both in organic and water system [61]. EL influenced various types of organic reactions such as Suzuki–Miyaura (SM) reaction, enaminone, thiophenol, 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition, enaminones and 1,3-diketone C = C bond cleavage [62], Glaser-type terminal alkyne preparation, aldehyde thioacetalization, the reaction of amines, furfural and 1,4-dihydropyridines [63] and 4(3H)-quinazolinone synthesis [64]. EL and its dilute solutions showed a wide range of applications due to their sustainable nature, excellent safety and ecotoxicological profile, as well as their strong solvency power [65]. EL has been reported to be an effective solvent system in the treatment of soil contamination

	Cyrene	Ethyl lactate
BP (°C)	226	153
MP (°C)	-18	-23
FP (°C)	108	61
Density, [ρ (g cm ⁻³)]	1.2508	1.0284
Absolute viscosity, η (mPa·s)	14.5	2.3753
Vapor pressure, p (kPa)	14.4	0.436
Refractive index, n_D^{20}	1.4732	1.4107
Kamlet–Taft (dipolarity/polarizability) π^*	0.93	0.82
Reichardt's solvatochromic data, E_T^N	0.333	0.62
Hansen parameter for solubility (MPa ^{1/2}): dispersion forces, δD	18.8	16.0
Dipole forces, δP	10.6	7.6
Hydrogen bonding interactions, δH	6.9	12.5
Solubility in water	Miscible	Miscible

Table 4.1: Physical properties of Cyrene and ethyl lactate.

caused by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [66–68] and heavy metals [69]. Many effective techniques for extracting nonpolar and polar phytochemicals from nature employing EL have been reported [70–72]. The miscibility with water and tunable properties of EL make biphasic development in aqueous medium for polar compound separation [73, 74] and are also used in mobile phase system in chromatographic methods [75, 76]. This is a more efficient liquid embolic agent for precipitation than DMSO [77], replacing NMP in the polyetherimide synthesis [78], and more applications drawn were reported in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.5: Synthesis of ethyl lactate from biomass.



Figure 4.6: Application of ethyl lactate in various sectors.

4.2 Cyrene-mediated organic reactions

Camp and coworkers described the 4-fluorobenzoyl chloride (1) reaction with a variety of substituted amines (2) for the synthesis of amide derivatives in the presence of Cyrene and triethylamine which afforded desired amides (3) (Table 4.2) in good yields. Amides are a class of compounds that has been used in a variety of industries, including pharmaceuticals, agrochemicals and materials research. Amides have a tremendous impact in the practice of clinical research, as evidenced by enormous medicines containing an amide group; hence, the high percentage of amide bond linking synthesis is performed by medicinal chemists [79]. The top 15 bestselling medicines in 2017 featured the amide bond, which has a history of being highest grossing of all time drugs (Figure 4.7). Further, the amide bond-containing molecules are being found in ligands, catalysts, solvents, reagents and substrates in a number of synthetic methods.



Figure 4.7: Synthesis of amides in Cyrene[™].

Table 4.2: Synthesis of amide bonds in Cyrene[™] using optimization molar efficiency calculations.

Entry	Amine (2)	Workup condition	% Yield (3)	Relative mol. E%
1	Aniline	Direct precipitation	72	24
2	Pyrrolidine	Water, then chromatography	91	1
3	Benzylamine	Direct precipitation	81	28

Amide bonds found in fundamental links to life systems play a critical role in medicine development. Current methods of synthesis found dependent on aprotic dipolar solvents, but, its usage is restricted because laws become more severe, and societal opposition has been increased for more sustainable and safer alternatives. Watson and coworkers [80] investigated the use of CyreneTM in HATU-mediated amide and peptide synthesis, which showed a good substitute to DMF for numerous dipeptide and lead compound syntheses. Authors also investigated the capacity of Cyrene in amide bond building in the presence of HATU coupling agent for the reaction of aniline (**5a**) and *p*-toluic acid (**4a**) which gave amide bond with a good % yield of 4-methyl-*N*-phenylbenzamide (**6a**) (Figure 4.8).

Further, Watson and coworkers [80] investigated the optimized condition for a wide range of organic carboxylic acids (7**b**–**p**) and amine derivatives of primary (**8b**–**p**) and secondary amines (9**b**–**p**) which gave very good product isolation. Various substituted carboxylic acid and amine derivatives are tolerated by the developed method and gave



Figure 4.8: Amide bond formation of aniline coupled with *p*-toluic acid.



Figure 4.9: Amide bond formation by acid and amine in the presence of HATU, *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine and Cyrene.
63–100% of product isolation. Furthermore, authors examined the secondary acyclic (**9f**) and cyclic (**9c** and **9i**) amines which gave excellent product isolation (Figure 4.9).

Moreover, the authors used this approach to peptide synthesis (Figure 4.10) which gave good yield of the product isolation by the reaction of amino acids *N*-protected (**10a**–**d**) with esters of amino acids (**11a**–**i**) gave peptide isolation (**12a**–**i**) in high yield (63–100%). Authors also explain about aryl and alkyl side chains containing (**12a** and **c**) heteroaromatics with protected and unprotected also tolerated this method giving high yields of product isolation (**12e** and **i**). However, in case of product isolation (**12b**, **d** and **h**), authors claimed an increase in HATU equivalents necessary to achieve the improved yield [80].



Figure 4.10: Peptide bond formation using HATU, N,N-diisopropylethylamine and Cyrene.

A cellulose-originated 6,8-dioxabicyclooctanone or dihydrolevoglucosenone (CyreneTM) emerged as an aprotic biogenic solvent. Maria et al. described the application of Cyrene in enzyme *lipase*-catalyzed biotransformation in aqueous cosolvent and nonconventional medium for the synthesis. A typical reaction of benzoic acid (**13**) with glycerol (**14**) as a model reaction in Cyrene in the presence of immobilized *lipase B* from

Candida antarctica gave the product 2,3-dihydroxypropyl benzoate (**15**) in good yield. Authors noticed, lipases cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEA) and remain stable in Cyrene, and also enables use in several times [81]. Cyrene is very hygroscopic and, when mixed with water, forms geminal-diol structures, resulting in solvent mixes with a (tailored) gradient of polarities, which may be promising for biocatalysis in aqueous solutions. This displays reactions in various percentages of Cyrene, and CLEA mixtures remain active even after six cycles at 30% v/v (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11: Enzyme-catalyzed esterification reaction.

Milescu et al. [82] investigated the binary solvent consisting of Cyrene and its Cygnet derivatives in biocatalytic polyester and membrane synthesis. The blends of Cyrene and Cygnet showed a feasible alternative to harmful polar aprotic solvent employed in the earlier process. The fabrication of flat sheet-like membranes achieved by non-solvents influenced the phase separation of 50 wt% (Cyrene–Cygnet) mixture. The presence of CaLB and solvent, and the reactants DMA (16), Doil (17) and DEF (19) gave aliphatic (18) and furanbased (20) polyesters (Figure 4.12). A novel membrane polymer from polysulfone, cellulose acetate and polyimides was manufactured by employing Cyrene–Cygnet blend solvent system. Authors noticed that membranes obtained in this method showed a different morphology achieved with a change in temperature, solvent mixture and casting change. Moreover, Cygnet, Cyrene and its blends are explored for diphenyl ether substituents for the synthesis of polyesters. Authors revealed that Cygnet showed a very promising solvent system for the enzymatic molecular weight higher polyester synthesis (Figure 4.13).



Figure 4.12: Enzymatic synthesis of aliphatic polyesters with Cyrene solvent.



Figure 4.13: Furan-based polyester synthesis by enzymes in Cygnet.

A very effective, less waste-producing technique was described for the synthesis of urea derivatives from secondary amines and isocyanates in Cyrene. Authors compared the standard techniques of industries, and this technology avoids the use of hazardous solvent (DMF) and provides direct Cyrene removal procedure, resulting in 28-fold molar efficiency [83].

Camp and coworkers investigated that the reaction of phenylisocyanate (21) with pyrrolidine (22) in Cyrene gave urea derivatives (Figure 4.4). Authors optimized the reaction, and to avoid the formation of by-product during reaction, reagents were taken together and kept at 0 °C, and slowly reached the room temperature at 1 h. Further, authors also examined the tolerance of the developed protocol, which allowed both electron-donating and electron-withdrawing substituents on isocyanate derivatives. The previous procedure used product isolation by water and dichloromethane mixture extraction, followed by water wash, dried in magnesium sulfate, and then by column purification (hexanes/ethyl acetate). This method produced a significant quantity of organic and aqueous contaminated wastes [83]. To overcome some of these limits, Cyrene-mediated synthesis of urea derivatives showed benefits in many ways to achieve the pure targeted product and does not require column purification. Authors noticed the addition of water in Cyrene-mediated reaction to give direct precipitation of urea derivatives (23), simply filtrated and washed with water to give chromato-graphically pure *N*-phenylpyrrolidine-1-carboxamide (23) in 80% yield (Figure 4.14).



Figure 4.14: Synthesis of urea derivative in Cyrene.

In the chemical industry, the SM cross-coupling reaction is a widely used carbon–carbon bonding catalyzed by Pd [84]. Although dipolar aprotic solvents are used in many SM couplings, contemporary ecological initiatives and increasing severe laws encourage chemists to use novel alternatives with better characteristics. Among these, Cyrene, employed in the cross-coupling of SM reaction, emerged as a benchmark medium to be used in gram scale [84]. Authors claimed that the Cyrene medium was found to be more effective for the coupling of 4-bromotoluene (24) with boron species (25) in the presence of Pd(dppf)Cl₂·CH₂Cl₂ (4 mol%), Cs₂CO₃ (0.75 mmol, 3 equiv.) and Cyrene:H₂O at about 50 °C for 5 h to give the expected product 4-methyl-1,1'-biphenyl (26) in good yield (Figure 4.15).

Further, authors demonstrated the Cyrene application in preparative-scale reaction of 2-bromobenzonitrile (27) and boron derivatives (28) for the synthesis of biphenyl derivative product (29) (Figure 4.16). These types of derivatives act as a key intermediate for the synthesis of antagonists, angiotensin-II receptor inhibitors, and



Figure 4.15: Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling by bromotoluene and boron derivatives in Cyrene.

can be easily prepared via SM cross-coupling reaction [84]. This method allowed reactions in large scale followed by medium polarity addition of solvent mixture (40% EtOAc in petroleum ether) resulting in the precipitation of the product, and easily separated by filtration, followed by water wash to remove the residual Cyrene present and enable pure product isolation.



Figure 4.16: Synthesis of 4-methyl-2-biphenylcarbonitrile.

Allais and coworkers [85] reported norbornene–levoglucosenone monomer-based family synthesis using novel bifunctional methacrylate monomer, which is prepared by chemo-enzymatic method. Authors employed CyreneTM for the first time as an alternative to greener organic solvent for ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP), where the norbornene moiety polymerized selectively by ROMP. Authors compared various common and hazardous solvents like dichloromethane, but the metathesis catalytic activity controlled by CyreneTM was found superior and gave very functional thermostable polymer P(N-HBO-MA) (**31**) with high T_d and T_g temperatures (Figure 4.17).

Camp et al. [86] reported that Cyrene-mediated reaction of 1,2-dimethylimidazole (32) and 1-bromodecane (33) gave imidazolium ionic liquid (34) (Figure 4.18). Authors revealed that the rate of this reaction is dependent on solvent dipolarities such as NMP, DMF and DMAc, and behaves marginally slow than sulfolane and DMSO. But the reaction in Cyrene carried out by the authors showed significantly better results compared to standard aprotic dipolar solvents [86]. In addition, authors also described fluorination of 2-chloro-5-nitropyridine (35) in the presence of KF to give 2-fluoro-5-nitropyridine (36) in reasonably good yield (Figure 4.19).



Figure 4.17: Preparation of N-HBO-MA in Cyrene.



Figure 4.18: Synthesis of imidazolium ionic liquid in S_N2 reaction.



Figure 4.19: Synthesis of 2-fluoro-5-nitropyridine in S_NAr reaction.

Watson and coworkers reported the first time usage of Cyrene in a metal-catalyzed Sonogashira reaction of alkynes **38** and aryl halogen **37**, which gave the internal alkyne product **39** isolated by the standard aqueous workup followed by ethyl acetate extraction and purification by column chromatography (Figure 4.20) [86]. Authors also described that the Cacchi-type annulation of 2-iodoanilines and 2-iodophenols with terminal alkynes gave Cyrene-mediated benzofuran (**39a**) and indole (**40**) derivatives, respectively. Further, authors also demonstrated the SM cross-coupling.



Figure 4.20: Sonogashira- and Cacchi-type annulation in Cyrene.

Reaction of heteroaryl, aryl and vinylhalides 37 with a wide range of organoborane analogs (40), which afforded products 41(a-c) in good to excellent yields (Figure 4.21) [86].



Figure 4.21: Suzuki-Miyaura reaction.

Researchers described that Cyrene-mediated Baylis–Hillman reaction of 4-nitrobenzaldehyde (42) and methyl acrylate (43) gave methyl 2-(hydroxy(4-nitrophenyl)methyl)acrylate product (44) in excellent yield (Figure 4.22). Authors claimed that the bio-solvent notably observed the high rate of reaction, and the complete conversion of reaction was noticed due to high dipolarity of the solvent-stabilized zwitterionic intermediate generated during conjugate DABCO addition to methyl acrylate. The reaction rate in Cyrene (2) was significantly faster than that of standard dipolar aprotic solvents such as DMF, NMP, and DMAc, and only marginally slower than DMSO and sulpholane. Additionally, sulfolane also emerged as a suitable solvent for the Baylis–Hillman reaction. However, sulfolane and NMP are toxic to the environment and are hazardous. Therefore, authors explained the advantages of Cyrene – an alternative inexpensive solvent used for the conventional Baylis–Hillman reaction [86].



Figure 4.22: Synthesis of hydroxy(4-nitrophenyl)methyl)acrylate via Baylis-Hillman reaction.

Watson and coworkers [87] reported the use of Cyrene in the Sonogashira reaction, which established that a simple reaction of iodobenzene (**45**) and phenylacetylene (**46**) catalyzed by $(Pd(PPh_3)_2Cl_2$ with CuI additive gave diphenylacetylene (**47**) (Figure 4.23). Further, the same authors explored Cacchi-type annulation reaction of *o*-hydroxyaryl iodides (**48**) with alkyne derivatives (**49**) at 60 °C which undergoes 5-endo-dig cyclization to give pharmaceutically functionalized benzofuran, indole and aza-indole derivatives (**50**) [87] (Figure 4.24).

Mention et al. [88] described the sustainable industrially useful synthetic route for selective $\beta_{\beta}\beta'$ - dimerized sinapic acid derivatives (52) in excellent yield, and the



Figure 4.23: Diphenylacetylene synthesis.



Figure 4.24: Cacchi-type annulation.

product showed valuable commercial applications used in cosmetic additives, food/ feed and plastics. The naturally found sinapic acid and its esters showed antiradical and anti-UV properties. The optimized reaction condition of copper(I) catalyzed in pyridine and air oxidation in the presence of Cyrene was reported. Authors revealed that the processes gave dimerization of sinapate esters (**51**) to multigram-scale β - β 'disinapate esters (**52**) in excellent yield (Figure 4.25).



Figure 4.25: Sinapate β - β' dimer synthesis.

de Gonzalo [89] demonstrated novel eco-friendly reaction media in enzyme catalysis by replacing water medium, due to the requirement of organic cosolvent. Authors described a new route with Cyrene approach reduction reactions in the presence of purified alcohol dehydrogenases. Authors used a set of α -ketoester (53) reduction to chiral α -hydroxyesters (54) in high optical purities and conversions in aqueous Cyrene contents of 30% v/v. The presence of Cyrene has a beneficial effect on bioreduction conversion at this concentration (Figure 4.26).



Figure 4.26: Synthesis of α-hydroxyesters.

Cyrene (dihydrolevoglucosenone) extracted in two steps from cellulose behaves similar to DMF and other dipolar aprotic solvents and not showed any noticeable adverse effects. Taking this into account, Watson and coworkers [84] reported that the steam methane-reforming reaction of halides/pseudo-halides (55) in boron derivatives (56) gave the dimer product (57). Authors claimed that the reaction is eco-friendly with an efficient alternative to the conventional solvent employed. THF, DMF and 1,4dioxane gave excellent functional group tolerance and excellent yields in both small and large scales (Figure 4.27).



Figure 4.27: Halide/pseudohalide reaction with boron resulted in steam methane-reforming product.

Lee and his coworkers [90] described that the reaction of aldehyde (**59**), pyridine methylene nitrile (**60**) and *o*-substituted aniline (**58**) gave 2,3-bipyridine derivatives (**61**) (Figure 4.28). The reactant **58** contains both electron-donating (2-OMe and 2-Me) and electron-withdrawing (2-Br) substituents to give desired products (2,3-bipyridine



Figure 4.28: 2,3-Bipyridine synthesis by aniline, 3-formylchromone and 2-pyridylacetonitrile.

derivatives, **61**) in excellent (86–94%) yield. Authors also studied the structure-activity relationships of aniline substrate (**58**) substitution at *meta-* and *para-*positions which were also effectively involved in the product formation and gave excellent yields.

Further, the same authors examined that amine derivatives of aliphatic and cyclic of primary amines (benzyl amine, 2-phenylethan-1-amine, diphenylmethanamine, cyclohexanamine and 4-methoxybenzylamine), respectively, gave excellent yields of the desired product (86–96%) (Figure 4.29). Also, pyrrolidine, a secondary amine, gave product isolation in excellent yield (82%). Moreover, the desired products achieved for 4-aminopyridine and 2-aminopyridine heteroaromatic amines gave 62–92% yields. Authors further presented that the reaction of R-(+)-1-phenylethylamine (2), chiral amine, 3-formylchromone (59) and 2-pyridyl acetonitrile (60) gave chiral product 2'-(dimethylamino)-[2,3'-bipyridin]-5'-yl-(2-hydroxyphenyl)methanone (62) in excellent yield [90].



Figure 4.29: Synthesis of 2'-(dimethylamino)-[2,3'-bipyridin]-5'-yl-(2-hydroxyphenyl)methanone.

Furthermore, the same authors extended the methodology to the reaction of 3-formylchromone (**63**) derivatives with aniline derivatives (**64**) and 2-pyridylacetonitrile (**60**) to give highly complex polycyclic product (**65**) in good yield (Figure 4.30). Authors also noticed that the reactants of electron-donating CH₃ and OCH₃ substituents gave excellent yields [90].



Figure 4.30: Synthesis of polycyclic complex molecule via MCRs.

Moreover, the same authors extended that this method to MCRs of 3-(pyridinyl)acetonitrile (68) or 4-(pyridinyl) acetonitrile (69), aniline derivative (66) and substituted formyl chromones (67) afforded 3,3'- and 3,4'-bipyridine products 70 or 71, respectively (Figure 4.31) [90].



Figure 4.31: Bipyridine derivative synthesis.

Authors also explored that the synthetic utility of this method to the reaction of aryl amine (72), 3-formylchromone (59) and nitrile derivatives of aryl (73) gave interesting bioactive aryl pyridine derivatives (74) (Figure 4.32) [90]. The authors also demonstrated that the mechanism and control experiments conducted by the combination of aryl amine (72), formyl aldehyde (59) and nitrile derivative (60) at room temperature in Cyrene[™] solvent medium gave the Knoevenagel pyridine adducts (75) and (76) in excellent yield (Figure 4.33). Authors noticed prior to the nucleophilic substitution of the aryl amine that the active methylene generated condensed with the aldehyde derivative (59) to give exclusively product 75 over 76 [90].



Figure 4.32: Aryl pyridine derivative synthesis.

105



Figure 4.33: MCR Knoevenagel pyridine over nucleophilic substitution.

4.3 Ethyl-lactate-mediated organic transformations

The synthesis carried out in the presence of EL demonstrated various advantages compared to the organic solvent found over the last decades: facile, hazardous free, nontoxic and efficient. The organic transformations reported using EL includes reactions of carbonyl, diverse heterocyclic molecule synthesis, in MCRs and many more organic transformations employed [91]. EL is an amphiphilic bio-based solvent and nontoxicity characteristics; moreover, it is miscible in water, and it is possible to alter the properties of required in aqueous varied concentration reported. The use of EL and aqueous mixture in several coupling reactions of metathesis, heterocyclizations, carbonyl reactions, MCRs and more chemical reactions showed efficient, eco-friendly and inexpensive route. Chemists described the alternative use of nonconventional energy sources, which gave an added advantage in various organic reactions accelerated by ultrasound, visible light and microwave irradiation techniques. In most of these techniques, the yield of product isolated is higher than those isolated by the conventional method, and fewer by-products with high purity advantages were also reported. Herein, we have discussed some of the recent and important organic reactions performed in EL and its aqueous medium for various transformations.

EL was shown to be a good medium for Glaser coupling, and the reaction conditions were tuned using a model reaction of phenyl acetylene (**46**) with terminal aliphatic alkyne (**77**) (Figure 4.34) [92]. The authors claimed a respectable yield of the product (**78**), however other alkynes with conjugated product detected dependant substrate structure exhibited a range of low to high (26–80%) yield of the product described. In addition to serving as a solvent medium, the authors discovered that EL also acts as a ligand in copper-catalyzed. reactions to facilitate.

Figure 4.34: Homophenylacetylene coupling reaction in EL.

SM in EL was successfully performed in the absence of ligand condition [93]. The reaction of iodobenzene (**45**) and phenylboronic acid (**79**) in aqueous EL gave biphenyl product (**80**) in high yields compared to other solvent systems screened by the author (93% vs 62% yields) (Figure 4.35). The authors tested the compatibility in a wide range of aryl halides with arylboronic acids which gave low to excellent (43–96%) yields. Authors further noticed that aryl iodide derivatives were found to be more reactive substrates compared to other halide derivatives tested (aryl bromides).

PhI +
$$\begin{array}{c} HO \\ B-Ph \\ HO' \end{array}$$
 Pd(OAc)₂ (1 mol%), K₂CO₃ (2 eq.), 60 °C, 2 h Ph-Ph
45 79 80

Figure 4.35: Suzuki-Miyaura reaction in aqueous EL.

In another interesting work, authors reported that loading of palladium catalyst during SM coupling was reduced in the presence of melamine ligand by one order [94]. In a typical reaction of phenylboronic acid (**79**) and 4-bromoacetophenone (**81**) in aqueous EL isolated C–C bond product **82** in good yield (Figure 4.36). However, authors observed that starting with 4-chloroacetophenone gave low product isolation (57%) even at 130 ° C. Further, authors performed the reaction with various substituted aryl bromide and aryl boronic acids of 10 analog products (**82**) resulting in 64–99% product isolation.



Figure 4.36: Coupling of 4-bromoacetophenone and phenylboronic acid in EL.

Researchers reported the thiol derivative homocoupling via oxidation in the presence of EL in open air, and also revealed the reaction that did not require any other catalyst [95]. In a typical reaction, thiophenol (83) in open-air vessel at 60 °C in EL gave excellent disulfide product (84) (Figure 4.37). Authors also examined that the reaction in the presence of oxygen atmosphere and noticed the same reaction in 2 h gave excellent (95%) yield. Further, authors extended this protocol to various aliphatic and aromatic thiol derivatives which gave good to excellent product isolation (57–97%). However, *ortho*-substituents of thiols showed high steric hindrance and isolated reduced final product isolation (57–67%).

PhSH <u>EL</u> → PhS−SPh **83** air, 60 °C, 12 h 84

Figure 4.37: Oxidative homocoupling of thiophenols in EL.

Researchers described that the oxidative coupling of β -enaminones (**85**) and thiophenols (**86**) in the presence of potassium iodate-mediated EL gave very good product **87** isolation [96]. Authors examined superiority of this solvent in model reaction that afforded product **87** in high yield than the reaction performed in hazardous solvents such as DMF, DMSO or any other solvents which were reported to give low to good yields (18–70%) (Figure 4.38). The authors also tested that, various substituted β -enaminones (electron-deficient) coupling to thiophenol was observed tolerable to this protocol.



Figure 4.38: Oxidative reaction of *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoacrylophenone and *p*-thiocresol.

4.3.1 Transamination

Authors described that the transamination reaction of *N*,*N*-dimethylenaminones achieved through refluxing 12 h of *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoacrylophenone (**85**) in morpholine (**88**, 4 molar equiv.) gave product **89** in good yield (Figure 4.39). The reaction was reversible, and the authors prepared various secondary amine derivatives to give transamination product in this protocol [97].



Figure 4.39: Transamination reaction.

4.3.2 Olefin metathesis

In olefin metathesis, the reactant (**90**) and 1,4-dimethyl-2-(prop-1-en-1-yl)benzene (**91**) reacted using catalyst ruthenium complex (**92**) in EL medium (Figure 4.40). This catalyst showed an efficient ring-closing metathesis reaction in EL [98]. Authors conducted the reaction of diethyl 2,2-diallylmalonate (**93**) to give product **94** under argon atmosphere in EL-mediated isolation in excellent yields (95–97%) (Figure 4.41). Further, authors tested a wide range of diene analogues and isolated excellent yields in this method.



Figure 4.40: Preparation of [Ru] complex catalysts in EL.



Figure 4.41: Olefin metathesis ring closing in EL.

Authors demonstrated that the combined synergic effect of [Ru] complex catalysts and EL medium in the synthesis of 2,2-diphenyl-4-vinyl-2,5-dihydrofuran (96) via 1-(al-lyloxy)prop-2-yne-1,1-diyl)dibenzene (95) enyne cycloisomerization gave excellent product isolation (Figure 4.42) [98].



Figure 4.42: Enyne cycloisomerization in ethyl lactate.

Authors extended the synthesis method to various metathesis products like alkene (*E*)-4-phenylbut-2-en-1-yl acetate (**99**) by the reaction of allylbenzene (**97**) and (*Z*)-but-2-ene-1,4-diyl diacetate (**98**) (Figure 4.43) to give a mixture of *Z*- and *E*-isomers (8:1), and similar product isolation was noticed in open-air or argon atmosphere [98].



Figure 4.43: Cross-metathesis of olefin-mediated EL.

4.3.3 Carbonyl group transformations

Huttenhain [99] reported the EL-mediated reaction of carbonyl of aldehyde and ketone with a wide range of nucleophiles. Authors employed chiral L-(–)-ethyl lactate for asymmetric reduction of acetophenone (**100**) with NaBH₄ gave L-phenylethanol (**101**) without using any other additives, but the method gave low *ee* (15%) for *R*-(+)isomer. The added Lewis acid played a crucial role in improvement of enantioselectivity to 36% *ee*, but noticed 70% conversion (Figure 4.44). Authors also employed the alternative reducing agent borane to this condition to give high enantioselectivity product isolation (46% *ee*).



Figure 4.44: Acetophenone reduction.

Researchers described a simple method for the preparation of Schiff's base aldimine (**104**) with cinnamaldehyde (**102**) and aniline (**103**) in aqueous EL [100]. Authors tune the medium by EL alone and in the presence of aqueous EL medium, the reaction gave high yields of the product observed (Figure 4.45). Authors also studied the effect of substituents on the substrates and the reaction time required from a few seconds to hours, but isolated excellent yields (82–99%), except the reaction of 4-phenoxyaniline and 4-hydroxybenzaldehyde which gave lesser yields (54%).



Figure 4.45: Schiff base of cinnamaldehyde in aqueous EL.

Moussallem et al. [102] prepared Schiff's base-derived 2-amino-6-methylbenzothiazole and 2-methoxy-1-naphthaldehyde in aqueous EL at ambient temperature [101]. Authors noticed the best reaction obtained in 4 mol% of ytterbium(III) triflate in EL medium reaction performed in 10 min and isolated excellent yields of the product (90%). This biobased EL also used in conjugated Schiff base (**106**) synthesis by the reaction of 3,7*bis*(perfluorophenyl)benzo[1,2-b:4,5-b']difuran-2,6-diamine (**105**) with furfural gave semiconductor properties of the product (Figure 4.46) [102]. However, the poor reactivity of the amine was noticed, and the reaction took longer time in the presence of P_2O_5 .



Figure 4.46: Schiff's base synthesis.

Liu and Wen [103] reported oxime synthesis by the reaction of NH_2OH ·HCl and acetophenone in EL as a solvent for efficient synthesis without any additional catalyst required (Figure 4.47). Authors explained this reaction by taking acetophenone and benzaldehyde as a model reaction, and achieved an excellent product (77–91%). Further, authors employed EL as a medium for the transformation of oxime (**107**) into amide (**108**)-catalyzed ferric chloride and TCT (cyanuric chloride) via Beckmann rearrangement.



Figure 4.47: Synthesis of N-arylacetamides via Beckmann's rearrangement.

Wan et al. [104] reported the synthesis of dithioacetal (**111**) from 4-chlorobenzaldehyde (**109**) and ethanethiol (**110**) in EL to give excellent product isolation (Figure 4.48). Interestingly, authors noticed a trace amount of the product, when the reaction was carried out with *p*-xylene or acetonitrile, and in water, no reaction progress was reported. Authors evaluated substrate compatibility, which enables heteroaromatic, aromatic and al-iphatic aldehydes with cyclic, alkyl and thiophenols to give excellent yield (59–84%). Authors observed faster reactivity of S- and N-nucleophiles attached to the carbonyl group in EL medium without any additional catalysts to give activation by H-bonding and keep substrate closer for effective attack.



Figure 4.48: Synthesis of dithiolation.

Gao et al. [105] reported 3,3'-(phenylmethylene)*bis*(1H-indole) (**114**) synthesis by the reaction of 2 mol of indole (**112**) and benzaldehyde (**113**) in 60% EL in water under ultrasound irradiation (Figure 4.49). Authors claimed that the protocol developed was efficient than the previously employed solvents (organic). Authors also examined that the reaction in pure EL gave very low product isolation (36%) and in aqueous EL gave excellent product isolation (95%). Further, authors scale up the reaction in aqueous EL medium from 1 to 100 mmol scale and observed nearly the same product yield isolation (93%). The reaction tolerability on indole ring substituents examined and prepared a wide range of representative libraries of derivatives (80–95%). The reaction-compatible wide range of aromatic, aliphatic and heterocyclic aldehydes was reported.



Figure 4.49: Reaction of benzaldehyde with indole.

Further, authors extended that the reaction condition for 1"-[3,3':3',3"-terindolin]-2'-one (**116**) synthesis from the reaction of two indoles (**112**) with isatin (**115**) gave excellent yield of the product (95%) (Figure 4.50) [105]. Authors also examined the effect of substituents on heterocyclic benzene ring, and did not affect the substituents on the rate of the reaction in 89–95% yields.



Figure 4.50: MCRs of isatin with indole.

Minkovska et al. [106] described EL-mediated squaraine dye (**119**) synthesis by the reaction of 3,4-dihydroxycyclobut-3-ene-1,2-dione (**118**) and 1,3,3-trimethyl-2-methyleneindoline (**117**) (Figure 4.51). The reaction performed efficiently under microwave irradiation to give the desired product in excellent yield.



Figure 4.51: Squaraine dye synthesis.

4.3.4 Dehydration of sugars

Selective carbohydrate dehydration (**120**) is performed to obtain 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (**121**) in EL-mediated graphene oxide reaction accelerated by microwave irradiation, and choline chloride as an additive, and this was found to improve the reaction [107]. Authors tested that the D-fructose substrate was found to be most effective and gave 76% yield (Figure 4.52), and other saccharides like D-galactose, D-glucose, D-sucrose and D-mannose were also reported in this method, with lower than 60% product isolation.



Figure 4.52: Dehydration of D-fructose.

4.3.5 Heterocyclizations

Various fused six- and five-membered heterocyclic compounds via MCRs were prepared in EL medium or in its aqueous solution mixture. Authors demonstrated that aqueous EL-mediated reaction was found to be suitable for the ring closure of pyrazoline in substituted chalcone (**122**) reaction with phenyl hydrazine (**123**) under cerium (III) chloride, and after simple filtration gave pyrazoline (**124**) product in excellent yields, 87% (Figure 4.53). The authors also recycled the catalysts and solvent medium, which produced in each cycle isolation of 86%, 83%, and 78%, respectively, product, revealing that it could be recycled up to three times without any noticeable loss of activity. Authors also studied the role of EL in activation of phenyl hydrazine derivatives with increasing nucleophilicity via H-bonding (Figure 4.53) [108].

Choudhary and Peddinti. [109] reported that thiazolidinone (127) derivative synthesis via ring-closure reaction of N,N-diphenylthiourea (125) and dimethyl



Figure 4.53: Pyrazoline derivative synthesis in aqueous EL.

acetylenedicarboxylate (**126**) gave product in excellent (95%) yield (Figure 4.54). Authors revealed that the reaction proceeds without the need of the catalyst and the reaction was completed in 6 min. Authors revealed that 18 thiazolidinone derivatives synthesized under this protocol isolated excellent yields (91–98%).



Figure 4.54: Synthesis of thiazolidinone derivatives.

Yu et al. [110] described that the reaction of *o*-aminothiophenol (**128**) with aromatic aldehyde (**129**)-mediated EL gave the product benzothiazoles (**130**) in the presence of ionic liquid-based proline catalyst (Figure 4.55). Authors examined other typical organic solvents for the reaction, but observed to be less effective under this catalyst condition. Expanding the wide range compatibility of present protocol, various substituted aldehydes reacted, and it was noticed that thiophen-2-carboxaldehyde and benzaldehyde gave excellent product isolation (82–92%), but the reaction of valeraldehyde with *o*-aminothiophenol reported dropping of isolated yield (55%).



Figure 4.55: Synthesis of benzothiazoles.

Researchers reported that the domino reaction of thiol derivatives (132) and enaminone (131) in the presence of potassium iodate and EL medium gave chromone ring-closure product (133) [96] (Figure 4.56). The reaction produced chromone derivatives (133) in EL medium which observed high yield product isolation compared to those obtained in the other organic solvent medium studied. Authors also studied the absence of thiol moiety

and no chromone ring closure was noticed; further, the reaction of thiol and chromone was also unsuccessful. Further authors explained the mode of mechanism of the reaction by radical scavenger TEMPO to model reaction, and not observed any product isolation revealed reaction not involved radical mechanism. Furthermore, authors also extend the reaction condition to various substituents present on aryl ring of enaminone (**131**) and aryl selenol (**134**) which gave 3-phenylselenylated chromone (**135**) in excellent yields (76–88%) [96] (Figure 4.57).



Figure 4.56: Synthesis of chromone.



Figure 4.57: Synthesis of 3-phenylselenylated chromones.

Researchers reported similar product synthesis of 3-bromo- and 3-iodo-substituted chromone in EL for in situ oxidation and ring closure of halide derivatives with hypervalent iodine(III) [111]. In a model reaction, oxidation of phenyliododiacetate gave 3-iodochromone isolation in 78% yield (Figure 4.58). The authors also reported that the reaction pathways involved in radical mechanism by TEMPO or butylated hydroxytoluene radical scavengers, but this model reaction does not inhibit the product formation but indicated the reaction not involved in radical mechanism for the transformations. Further, authors tested the formation of 3-iodochromone (137) by the reaction of KI (136) and phenyliododiacetate (131) in molecular iodine isolated good yield. Authors examined that the iodination reaction took place before chromone ring formation, since they reported that the iodination reaction was performed on chromone and not on isolated



Figure 4.58: 3-Iodochromone synthesis.

product (**137**). Furthermore, authors revealed that 3-halochromone derivatives can be catalyzed equally by either KI or KBr, and wide range of substituents.

In another work, researchers reported the synthesis of quinazolone derivatives (140) that mediated effectively in 10% aqueous EL by the reaction of anthranilamide (138) and 1,3-diketone (139) in the presence of camphor sulfonic acid [112]. They examined anthranilamide and acetylacetone as a model reaction: ketone C–C bond cleavage followed by quinazolone ring formation gave excellent product isolation (Figure 4.59). Authors also examined the tolerance of this method to various substituted anthranilamides (138) with 1,3-diketones (139), and reported 16 libraries of quinazolone derivatives in good to excellent yields of product isolation (58–98%).



Figure 4.59: Quinazolone derivative synthesis in aqueous EL.

Authors further extended the protocol to cyclic cyclohexane-1,3-dione (141) with anthranilamide (138) to give quinazolones (142) (Figure 4.60) [112]. The protocol is expanded successfully to 10 more substituted derivative synthesis to give 55–98% yields of product isolation. Authors studied the substituted anthranilamides and cyclohexane-1,3-diones having methyl substituents one or more in ring system tolerance and gave product isolation in excellent yield.



Figure 4.60: Reaction of cyclohexane-1,3-dione and anthranilamide.

Cao et al. [113] described the synthesis of 2,3-diarylquinoxalines (**146**) by *N,N*-dimethylsubstituted 1,2-diarylenaminone (**143**) one-pot two-step reaction under photocatalytic condition in EL. They established the optimized reaction condition for the formation of benzyl product (**144**) in EL and isolated high yield compared to that of common organic solvents (Figure 4.61). The subsequent benzyl (**144**) with *o*-phenylenediamine (**145**) in similar condition gave 2,3-diphenylquinoxaline (**146**) derivatives (Figure 4.62). Authors claimed that eighteen 2,3-diarylquinoxalines having aromatic ring substituents were prepared, and the isolated yield was 47–90% [113].







Figure 4.62: Synthesis of 2,3-diphenylquinoxaline.

Wan et al. [114] reported that the EL-mediated synthesis of 2-aryl-1,4-benzothiazines (148) by *o*-aminothiophenol (128) and *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoacrylophenone (147) gave 82% yield (Figure 4.63) in the presence of catalytic amount of iodine. Under the same reaction condition, they examined that various substituents present on aromatic ring isolated 62–92% product yield, except *o*-hydroxyl group positioned on enaminone which gave low yield product.



Figure 4.63: Synthesis of 2-aryl-1,4-benzothiazines.

4.3.6 Multicomponent reactions

EL and its aqueous medium emerged as an effective solvent system for various MCR types described. One such reaction catalyzed erbium(III) chloride for furfural (149) with morpholine (88) to give *trans*-4,5-dimorpholinocyclopent-2-enone (150) quantitative product (Figure 4.64) [115]. Authors prepared eight analogues of product 150 and isolated excellent yield by employing the same method using furfural and secondary aromatic and aliphatic amines. Surprisingly, authors noticed the low yield of product isolation, when diisobutylamine bulky group was present. Further, authors showed that the reaction of primary amine is less favorable, and in the reaction of benzylamine



Figure 4.64: Reaction between furfural and morpholine.

with furfural, the formation of only the Schiff base was observed. But authors reported that the reaction of aniline and furfural took twice long reaction time to give *trans*-4,5-bis(phenylamino)cyclopent-2-enone in less yield and purity (25%).

Researchers noticed that EL plays an important role in α -aminophosphonate (152) synthesis via three-component aniline (103), benzaldehyde (129) and triethyl phosphate (151) reaction accelerated by ultrasound[116]. The authors adapt the reaction conditions to further improve product yield isolation by adding water to EL and finding a water optimal concentration in EL of 60%, which allowed segregation of the product 32–95% yield (Figure 4.65). Further, authors studied the reaction scope on substituted aniline and various aldehydes, and the best product isolation achieved in benzaldehyde or furfural reactions (89–95%). However, authors reported a decreased yield (79%) for cyclohexane carboxaldehyde reaction.



Figure 4.65: Ultrasound-promoted α-aminophosphonate synthesis.

Researchers described MCRs of benzaldehyde (**129**), phthalhydrazide (**153**) and dimedone (**154**) for the synthesis of fused phthalazines (**155**) in EL-accelerated reaction in microwave (CEM) [117]. Authors revealed that *p*-sulfonic acid calix[4]arene (PSAC[4]A) proceeds faster with high yield of product isolation in the reaction (Figure 4.66). Further, authors also examined the scope of this method for various aryl aldehydes, particularly electron-withdrawing groups on benzene ring afforded high yield products (94%), but aliphatic aldehydes gave low yield (30–35%), and 11% product isolated for formaldehyde was reported. Furthermore, authors tested some of these derivatives for antiproliferative activity against cancer cells.

Vaidya et al. [118] described that aqueous EL-mediated MCRs of aryl aldehydes (156), ethyl acetoacetate (157) and NH_2OH ·HCl in the presence of cerium(III) chloride afforded isoxazolone derivatives (158) (Figure 4.67). Authors studied the tolerance of



Figure 4.66: Microwave-assisted synthesis of fused phthalazines.



Figure 4.67: Three-component synthesis of isoxazolone derivatives.

various aromatic substituted aldehydes for the reaction, and resulted in a series of isoxazolone derivative isolation in excellent yields (44–85%).

Ghosh et al. [119] demonstrated that EL-mediated reaction under visible light (150 W) conditions emerged as a better choice of the solvent than common solvents employed in Hantzsch 1,4-dihydropyridines (161) (Figure 4.68). In a typical reaction, ethyl acetoacetate (159), *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde (160) and ammonium formate in EL isolated 75% product yield.



Figure 4.68: Light-induced Hantzsch 1,4-dihydropyridine synthesis.

Authors optimized EL in different aqueous percentage, and identified 50% aqueous EL as a best suitable optimal medium for the reaction to give 35–92% product isolation. Authors studied variants of aldehyde structure (aromatic, aliphatic and heterocyclic) (162) and ethyl acetoacetate (159) allowed 20 symmetrical 1,4-dihydropyridines (163) library of derivative synthesis in excellent yields (80–92%). Also, authors prepared unsymmetrical 1,4-dihydropyridines (163) by the reaction of acetylacetone and ethyl

acetoacetate (Figure 4.69) [119]. Further, authors also extended this light-induced reaction to the synthesis of tetrahydroquinolones (**166**) via MCRs of aryl aldehyde (**162**), dimedone (**164**), ethyl acetoacetate (**165**) or acetylacetone, and ammonium formate in aqueous EL with excellent product isolation (Figure 4.70) [119].



Figure 4.69: Light-induced unsymmetrical 1,4-dihydropyridine synthesis.



Figure 4.70: Light-induced synthesis of tetrahydroquinolones.

Yang and Wan [120] described the dual role of EL as a building block and medium for the three-component ethyl-2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylate (169) synthesis. A model reaction of *p*-toluidine (167), ethyl-2-hydroxypropanoate (168) and benzaldehyde (129) in EL with the catalyst ferric chloride was identified as a suitable system to give the target product in excellent yield (Figure 4.71). Authors also examined the scope of the reaction for various substrates and prepared 23 derivatives in 53–79% product yields of benzaldehyde and aniline derivative combination. The reaction mechanism explained by the author suggested the conversion of EL to ethyl pyruvate reactive species in the reaction course which play an important role.



Figure 4.71: Synthesis of ethyl-2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylate.

Chen et al. [121] described the three-component reactions of isatin (115), malononitrile (170) and ethyl acetoacetate derivatives (171 and 172) in photocatalysis, and the presence of EL condition showed to be efficient than in conventional organic solvent employed. Authors also optimized EL water percentage, and 60% EL system emerged as better efficient medium for spiro-fused indoleethyl-2'-amino-3'-cyano-2-oxospiro[indoline-3,4'-pyran]-5'-carboxylate (174) and 2-acetyl-5-amino-3-methyl-2'-oxospiro[cyclohexane-1,3'-indoline]-2,5-diene-6-carbonitrile (175) synthesis (Figure 4.72). Further, authors observed slightly high yield under green versus white light, which scale-up reaction up to 10 mmol, and no change in the isolation of the product was reported.



Figure 4.72: Photocatalytic three-component synthesis of spiro-fused indole.

Zhang et al. [122] reported a two-step process for fused spiroindole synthesis in the identical reaction condition reported earlier. The Knoevenagel condensation of malononitrile and isatin, followed by spirocyclization with ethyl acetoacetate gave the product. Authors revealed the reaction mechanism via radical initiated by light, since the reaction was not progressed in dark, and also inhibited the reaction in the presence of TEMPO affording excellent product yield (85–94%). β -Keto esters replaced with acetylacetone gave similar spiro-fused indole. Authors demonstrated the scope

of this reaction using substituted isatins to give product in 85–93% yields. Authors also tested the reaction of 4-hydroxycoumarin (177) or 2-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone (178) in place of dimedone (176) under similar reaction conditions with isolated spirofused isatins (180) and (181) in high yield (95%). Further, authors explained that the reaction scope extension to isatin substituted (115) and malononitrile (170) for the analogues of spiro-fused isatins (179), (180) and (181) gave libraries of product in three types of derivatives with excellent product isolation (82–96%) (Figure 4.73). The application of the protocol developed was extended to scale up the synthesis of product 181 from 1 to 10 mmol (96% yields) of successfully isolated products. Authors also screened other solvent systems for the reaction (including pure EL) in an identical condition which observed significantly low yield isolation of the product.



Figure 4.73: Photochemical synthesis of spiro-fused isatins.

Paul and Das [123] reported EL as a preferred choice of the solvent for 3-CRs of 4-aminocoumarin (182), aryl aldehyde (129) and dimedone (176), or 1,3-indandione (183) catalyzed lactic acid at heating condition gave product 185 in 87% yield (Figure 4.74). Authors determined the structure of the product 186 by crystallography, and the same product isolated stepwise Knoevenagel condensation, followed by intermediate reaction of 2-benzylidene-5,5-dimethylcyclohexane-1,3-dione (184) and 4-aminocoumarin (182).

The 3-CRs of 4-aminocoumarin (182), benzaldehyde (129) and 1,3-indandione (183) gave product 187 in good yield. The reaction scope of 3-CRs extended to various aryl aldehydes was prepared by seven derivatives (186) in high yield (78–91%), and another seven derivatives of product 187 were isolated in good yield (73–85%). The catalyst loading was found to be high, but authors isolated the solvent–catalyst system and recycled four times for the reaction without any loss in its activity.



Figure 4.74: Three-component reaction of 4-aminocoumarin and benzaldehyde with dimedone or 1,3-indandione.

The light-induced MCRs of indole (112), malononitrile (170) and aryl aldehyde (188) in aqueous EL gave 2,4-diamino-5-(1H-indol-3-yl)-5H-chromeno[2,3-b]pyridine-3-carbonitrile (190) isolation in 92% yield (Figure 4.75) [124]. Authors also examined that the same reaction in blue or white light isolated the low yield product (190) (90%), and under UV light, they further noticed the lower yield product (186) and a trace amount of product was noticed even after prolonged stirring of reaction mixture at dark. Authors examined the reaction of pseudo 4-CRs via 2-amino-4-(1H-indol-3-yl)chromane-3-carbonitrile (189) intermediate which involved the radical mechanism. The synthetic application developed MCRs efficiently scale-up 48 derivatives synthesised 1 mmol-10 mmol scale reported (93%), reaction scope enlarged, and twenty additional salicylaldehyde and/or indole analogues reported (70–93% yields).



Figure 4.75: Photochemical multicomponent synthesis of chromene derivatives.

Zhang et al. [124] extended the absence of indole MCRs of 2-hydroxy-4methoxybenzaldehyde (**191**) with malononitrile (**170**) formation of pyridine and chromene rings, and finally gave 2-(2,4-diamino-3-cyano-8-methoxy-5H-chromeno[2,3-b]pyridin-5-yl)malononitrile (**193**), when 3 equivalents of reactant **170** was used (Figure 4.76). However, authors demonstrated the chromene intermediate (**192**) isolated in 95% yield.

In another piece of work, authors described EL-mediated decarboxylative condensation of isatin (115), naphthoquinone (194), and proline (195) gave indole-5carboxamide (196) excellent yield isolation. Dandia et al. [125] described that EL played a crucial role for the efficient reaction compared to routine solvents used . Further, they performed the reaction under mild condition, without using any catalyst, and indole-5-carboxamide (196) product was isolated in 82% yield. Then they examined EL with water, and showed that the optimal 80% water in EL gave very good product isolation (196, 93%) (Figure 4.77), and also authors assigned the structure of the product 196 by X-ray crystallography.

Xu et al. [126] demonstrated that trimethylsilyl chloride combined with ELmixture emerged as a better medium for Biginelli product isolation. A typical MCR of benzaldehyde (**129**), ethyl acetoacetate (**159**) and thiourea (**197**) gave pyrimidine-2-thione (**198**) in good yield (75%, Figure 4.78). Further, authors extended this reaction condition successfully to various substituted benzaldehyde, and *N*-methylthiourea was used in place of thiourea, but their attempt to use urea as a reactant in the reaction failed.

However, Dias et al. [127] described EL-mediated Biginelli reaction of urea. They demonstrated that the reaction does not require any catalysts and performed the reaction in two steps by heating ethyl acetoacetate (159) and urea (197) in EL medium to



Figure 4.76: Light-induced multicomponent reaction between 2-hydroxy-4-methoxybenzaldehyde and multiple equivalents of malononitrile.



Figure 4.77: Decarboxylative condensation of proline, naphthoquinone and isatin.



Figure 4.78: Biginelli reaction.

give the intermediate ethyl (*E*)-3-thioureidobut-2-enoate (**199**), and then the reaction with (-)-(1R)-myrtenal (**200**) afforded dimethyl-bicyclo-pyrimidine-carboxylate (**201**) single stereoisomer, which is assigned using X-ray diffraction (Figure 4.79).



Figure 4.79: Stereospecific Biginelli reaction.

4.4 Conclusions

The sustainable development toward economic and social imperative makes the scientific community to develop an alternative reaction condition over pyrophoricity, volatility, toxicity, environmental toxicity and difficulty in solvent recovery. The solvents derived from bio-based have been recently emerging as next-generation solvents in design of eco-friendly organic synthesis. This chapter discussed the literature reported on Cyrene and EL solvents, which are successfully examined in organic, metal and biocatalysts. Recently, bio-based solvent is increasingly using both academic and industries as alternative solvents to conventional solvents. The environmental effect by the greener solvent is lower than the conventional organic solvents used because these are toxicless and biodegradable. The solvents, prepared in renewable sources, showed a significant role and are referred to as bio-based solvents, which come under green chemistry principles. In spite of high interest and demand, various bio-based solvents recently reported an alternative eco-friendly catalysis, synthesis, isolation and purification. Researchers exclusively focused on solvents such as EL and Cyrene which emerged as a better solvent medium. The molecules derived from animals, vegetables or minerals using physical and chemical processes are safe to the environment and humans.

Cyrene is a bio-based dipolar, is safe for end-of-life disposal and decomposes into CO_2 and H_2O . It is an aprotic alternative to common solvents, which are of environmental concern. CyreneTM is a trademark representation commercially available in Merck, and an alternative for many solvents classified by REACH as substances of very high concern, such as NMP and DMF. Cyrene has a huge application in (i) dispersive ability for grapheme solutions, (ii) alternative to DMF in the synthesis of MOFs and (iii) organic synthesis: Cacchi-type annulation, synthesis of urea, HATU amide coupling replaced DMF in amide and dipeptide synthesis, SM reaction and Sonogashira reaction.

Another bio-based solvent (EL) also attracted the researcher's attention and is used in various organic transformations. The most advantageous one in using EL is its miscibility in water to open a new avenue for tuning solvent properties to the required

125

condition. Researchers demonstrated EL and its solutions that emerged as a choice of solvent for a wide range of chemical reactions (coupling, heterocycles and MCRs), in combination with nonconventional acceleration techniques such as ultrasound, microwave and visible irradiation. Further, researchers described significant applications in EL, and its solution (water, employed as a medium) showed safe and sustainable alternatives to the traditional solvent. Another more advantages revealed that due to its miscibility of EL in water allowed solvent properties can be adjusted to the required condition, make more convenient than pure solvent alone. Chemists discovered a synergic effect of nonconventional energy with EL or its solutions employed expedient acceleration of the reaction for diverse molecule synthesis. EL or its solution medium showed a significant progress in the reaction for coupling, heterocyclic and MCRs. The solvents Cyrene and EL are derived from bio-based ones which emerged as a superior choice of solvent medium. This is covered in the green chemistry concept for sustainable development and is used in various organic transformations from laboratory scale to industrial scale.

List of abbreviations

Cpme	Cyclopentyl methyl ether
DMF	N,N-Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
EL	Ethyl lactate
2-MeTHF	2-Methyltetrahydrofuran
PhCl	Chlorobenzene
<i>n-</i> BuLi	<i>n</i> -Butyllithium
scCO ₂	Supercritical carbon dioxide
TMEDA	Tetramethylethylenediamine
Cyrene	Dihydrolevoglucosenone
NMP	<i>N</i> -Methyl-2-pyrrolidone
MOF	Metal–organic framework
S _N Ar	Nucleophilic aromatic substitution
S _N 2	Substitution nucleophilic bimolecular
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
LGO	Levoglucosenone
HATU	Hexafluorophosphate azabenzotriazole tetramethyl uronium
CALB	Calcium-dependent lipid binding
ROMP	Ring-opening metathesis polymerization
DCM	Dichloromethane (CH ₂ Cl ₂)
DMAc	Dimethylacetamide
DABCO	1,4-Diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
TEDA	Triethylenediamine
NBP	Niobium phosphide
TEMPO	(Tetramethylpiperidin-1-yl)oxyl
TBME	<i>tert</i> -Butyl methyl ether

PF ₆	Hexafluorophosphate
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NBS	<i>N</i> -Bromosuccinimide
MeOH	Methanol
OTBN	4-Methyl-2-biphenylcarbonitrile
BMIDA	N-Methyliminodiacetylboronate
BPin	Bis(pinacolato)diboron
N-HBO-MA	$Norbornene-({\it S})-\gamma-hydroxymethyl-\alpha,\beta-butenolidemethacrylate$

References

- [1] Horvath IT, Anastas PT. Innovations and green chemistry. Chem Rev 2007, 107, 2169–2173.
- [2] Kamanna K, Amaregouda Y Synthesis of bioactive scaffolds catalyzed by agro-waste-based solvent medium. Phys Sci Rev, 2022.
- [3] Li G, Wang B, Resasco DE. Solvent effects on catalytic reactions and related phenomena at liquidsolid interfaces. Surf Sci Rep 2021, 76, 100541.
- [4] Geoffroy TR, Bernier ME, Thibodeau J, Francezon N, Beaulieu L, Mikhaylin S. Semi-industrial scale-up of EDUF technology for the electroseparation of bioactive cationic peptides: Impact of process parameters and cell configurations on eco-efficiency. J Membr Sci 2022, 641, 119856.
- [5] Kitanosono T, Masuda K, Xu P, Kobayashi S. Catalytic organic reactions in water toward sustainable society. Chem Rev 2018, 118, 679–746.
- [6] Goddard JP, Malacria M, Ollivier C. Biphasic Chemistry and the Solvent Case., John Wiley & Sons, 2020.
- [7] Henderson RK, Jimenez-Gonzalez C, Constable DJC, Alston SR, Inglis GGA, Fisher G. Expanding GSK's solvent selection guide – embedding sustainability into solvent selection starting at medicinal chemistry. Green Chem 2011, 13, 854–862.
- [8] Jenck JF, Agterberg F, Droescher MJ. Products and processes for a sustainable chemical industry: A review of achievements and prospects. Green Chem 2004, 6, 544–556.
- [9] Gunningham N. Environment, self-regulation, and the chemical industry: Assessing responsible care. Law policy 1995, 17, 57–109.
- [10] Calvo-Flores FG, Monteagudo-Arrebola MJ, Dobado JA, Isac-Garcia J. Green and bio-based solvents. Top Curr Chem 2018, 376.
- [11] de Maria PD. Biocatalysis, sustainability, and industrial applications: Show me the metrics. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 2021, 31, 100514.
- [12] Walsh PJ, Li H, Anaya DPC. A green chemistry approach to asymmetric catalysis: Solvent-free and highly concentrated reactions. Chem Rev 2007, 107, 2503–2545.
- [13] Gu Y, Jerome F. Bio-based solvents: An emerging generation of fluids for the design of eco-efficient processes in catalysis and organic chemistry. Chem Soc Rev 2013, 42, 9550–9570.
- [14] Jerome F, Luque R. Bio-Based Solvents, John Wiley & Sons, 2017.
- [15] Zhenova A. Challenges in the development of new green solvents for polymer dissolution. PolymInt 2020, 69, 895–901.
- [16] Cunningham MF, Campbell JD, Fu Z, Bohling J, Leroux JG, Mabee W. Future green chemistry and sustainability needs in polymeric coatings. Green Chem 2019, 21, 4919–4926.
- [17] Correa A, Paixao M, Schwab R. Application of Bio-Based Solvents in Catalysis. Curr Org Synth 2015, 12, 675–695.

- [18] Poechlauer P, Broxterman QB, Yang BS, Ende D, Baird J, Bertsch C. Key green engineering research areas for sustainable manufacturing a perspective from pharmaceutical and fine chemicals manufacturers. Org Process Res Dev 2011, 15, 900–911.
- [19] Sheldon RA. Green solvents for sustainable organic synthesis: State of the art. Green Chem 2005, 7, 267–278.
- [20] Cvjetko B, Vidovic M, Radojcic S, Redovnikovic I, Jokic S. Green solvents for green technologies. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2015, 90, 1631–1639.
- [21] Byrne FP, Jin S, Paggiola G, Petchey THM, Clark JH, Farmer TJ. Tools and techniques for solvent selection: green solvent selection guides. Sustain Chem Pro 2016, 4, 1–24.
- [22] Procopio D, Siciliano C, Trombino S, Dumitrescu DE, Suciu F, Di Gioia ML. Green solvents for the formation of amide linkages. Org Biomol Chem 2022.
- [23] Ulber R, Sell D. Biofuels Biogas from Waste and Renewable Resources.
- [24] Pereira CSM, Silva VMTM, Rodrigues AE. Ethyl lactate as a solvent: Properties, applications and production processes – a review. Green Chem 2011, 13, 2658–2671.
- [25] Capello C, Fischer U, Hungerbu K. What is a green solvent? A comprehensive framework for the environmental assessment of solvents. 2007, 927–934.
- [26] Serrano-ruiz JC, Sepu A, Serrano-ruiz JC. Transformations of biomass-derived platform molecules: From high added-value chemicals to fuels via aqueous-phase processing w. Chem Soc Rev 2011, 5266–5281.
- [27] Chemat F, Vian MA, Ravi HK, Khadhraoui B, Hilali S, Perino S. Review of alternative solvents for green extraction of food and natural products: Panorama, principles, applications and prospects. Molecules 2019, 24.
- [28] Abdel-shafy HI, Mansour MSM. Solid waste issue : Sources, composition, disposal, recycling, and valorization. Egypt J Pet 2018, 27, 1275–1290.
- [29] Toure BB, Hall DG. Natural product synthesis using multicomponent reaction strategies. 2009, 4439–4486.
- [30] Sui XW, Wang Z, Liao B, Zhang Y, Guo QX. Bioresource technology preparation of levoglucosenone through sulfuric acid promoted pyrolysis of bagasse at low temperature. Bioresour Technol 2012, 103, 466–469.
- [31] Wang X, Leng S, Bai J, Zhou H, Zhong X, Zhuang G. RSC Advances Role of pretreatment with acid and base on the distribution of the products obtained via lignocellulosic biomass pyrolysis. RSC Adv 2015, 5, 24984–24989.
- [32] Davydova AN, Sharipov BT, Valeev FA. Synthesis of ether derivatives of levoglucosenone and some aspects of their use. 2018, 10, 58–59.
- [33] Sarotti AM, Spanevello RA, Sua AG. An efficient microwave-assisted green transformation of cellulose into levoglucosenone, Advantages of the use of an experimental design approach. 2007, 1137–1140.
- [34] Bhojani G, Jani S, Saha NK. Facile biodegradation of N, N-dimethylformamide, N, Ndimethylacetamide and N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone by source-derived Bacillus strain APS1 for water reclamation and reuse. J Clean Prod 2022, 334, 130098.
- [35] Sherwood J, De BM, Constantinou A, Moity L, McElroy CR, Farmer TJ. Dihydrolevoglucosenone (Cyrene) as a bio-based alternative for dipolar aprotic solvents. ChemComm 2014, 50, 9650–9652.
- [36] Zhang J, White GB, Ryan MD, Hunt AJ, Katz MJ. Dihydrolevoglucosenone (Cyrene) As a Green Alternative to N,N-Dimethylformamide (DMF) in MOF Synthesis. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 7186–7192.
- [37] Schumann H, Schumann I. Sn Organotin Compounds: Dibutyltin-Oxygen Compounds, Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [38] Salavagione HJ, Sherwood J, Bruyn D. This is a repository copy of Identification of high performance solvents for the sustainable processing of graphene. White rose research. J Orcid Org 2017.

- [39] Ran Y, Byrne F, Ingram IDV, North M. Resin swelling in mixed solvents analysed using Hansen solubility parameter space. Chem Eur J 2019, 25(19), 4951–4964.
- [40] Hughes L, McElroy CR, Whitwood AC, Hunt AJ. Development of pharmaceutically relevant bio-based intermediates though aldol condensation and Claisen-Schmidt reactions of dihydrolevoglucosenone (Cyrene®). Green Chem 2018, 20, 4423–4427.
- [41] Iemhoff A, Sherwood J, McElroy CR, Hunt AJ. Towards sustainable kinetic resolution, a combination of bio-catalysis, flow chemistry and bio-based solvents. Green Chem 2018, 20, 136–140.
- [42] Lanctot AG, Attard TM, Sherwood J, McElroy CR, Hunt AJ. Synthesis of cholesterol-reducing sterol esters by enzymatic catalysis in bio-based solvents or solvent-free. RSC adv 2016, 6, 48753–48756.
- [43] Le, Phuong HA, Cseri L, Whitehead GFS, Garforth A, Budd P, Szekely G. Environmentally benign and diastereoselective synthesis of 2, 4, 5-trisubstituted-2-imidazolines. RSC Adv 2017, 7, 53278–53289.
- [44] Meng X, Pu Y, Li M, Ragauskas AJ A biomass pretreatment using cellulose-derived solvent Cyrene. Green Chem, 2020, 22, 2862–2872.
- [45] Marathianos A, Liarou E, Hancox E, Grace JL, Lester DW, Haddleton DM. Dihydrolevoglucosenone (CyreneTM) as a bio-renewable solvent for Cu(0)wire-mediated reversible deactivation radical polymerization (RDRP) without external deoxygenation. Green Chem 2020, 22, 5833–5837.
- [46] Camp JE, Nyamini SB, Scott FJ. CyreneTM is a green alternative to DMSO as a solvent for antibacterial drug discovery against ESKAPE pathogens. RSC Med Chem 2020, 11, 111–117.
- [47] Sangon S, Supanchaiyamat N, Sherwood J, McElroy CR, Hunt AJ. Direct comparison of safer or sustainable alternative dipolar aprotic solvents for use in carbon-carbon bond formation. React Chem Eng 2020, 5, 1798–1804.
- [48] Brouwer T, Schuur B. Dihydrolevoglucosenone (Cyrene), a biobased solvent for liquid-liquid extraction applications. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2020, 8, 14807–14817.
- [49] Cao F, Schwartz TJ, McClelland DJ, Krishna SH, Dumesic JA, Huber GW. Dehydration of cellulose to levoglucosenone using polar aprotic solvents. Energy Environ Sci 2015, 8, 1808–1815.
- [50] Diot-Neant F, Mouterde L, Fadlallah S, Miller SA, Allais F. Sustainable synthesis and polycondensation of levoglucosenone-Cyrene-based bicyclic diol monomer: Access to renewable polyesters. Chem Sus Chem 2020, 13, 2613–2620.
- [51] De,Bruyn M, Budarin VL, Misefari A, Shimizu S, Fish H, Cockett M. Geminal diol of dihydrolevoglucosenone as a switchable hydrotrope: A continuum of green nanostructured solvents. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2019, 7, 7878–7883.
- [52] Coutinho JAP, Abranches DO, Benfica J, Shimizu S. The perspective of cooperative hydrotropy on the solubility in aqueous solutions of Cyrene. Ind Eng Chem Res 2020, 59, 18649–18658.
- [53] Milescu RA, Segatto ML, Stahl A, Mcelroy CR, Farmer TJ, Clark JH. Sustainable single-stage solidliquid extraction of hesperidin and rutin from agro-products using Cyrene. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2020, 8, 18245–18257.
- [54] Amaregouda Y, Kamanna K, Gasti T, Kumbar V. Enhanced functional properties of biodegradable polyvinyl alcohol/carboxymethyl cellulose (PVA/CMC) composite films reinforced with l-alanine surface modified CuO nanorods. J Polym Environ 2022, 0123456789.
- [55] Amaregouda Y, Kamanna K, Gasti T. Biodegradable Polyvinyl Alcohol/Carboxymethyl cellulose composite incorporated with l-alanine functionalized MgO nanoplates: physico-chemical and food packaging features. J Inorg Organomet Polym Mater 2022, 0123456789.
- [56] Amaregouda Y, Kamanna K, Gasti T. Fabrication of intelligent / active films based on chitosan / polyvinyl alcohol matrices containing Jacaranda cuspidifolia anthocyanin for real-time monitoring of fish freshness. Int J Biol Macromol 2022, 218, 799–815.
- [57] Amaregouda Y, Kamanna K. Physico-chemical, in-vitro cytotoxicity and antimicrobial evaluation of Lvaline functionalised CuO NPs on polyvinyl alcohol and blended carboxymethyl cellulose films. Ind Chem Eng 2022, 0, 1–10.

- [58] Amaregouda Y, Gasti T, Kamanna K. Optoelectronic, microstructural, ecofriendly and photo-catalytic evaluation of aspartic acid cross-linked poly(vinyl alcohol)/copper oxide nanotubes composite films. IOP Con Ser: Mat S Eng 2022, 1221, 012008.
- [59] Clary JJ, Feron VJ, Van Velthuijsen JA. Safety assessment of lactate esters. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 1998, 27, 88–97.
- [60] Aparicio S, Alcalde R. The green solvent ethyl lactate: An experimental and theoretical characterization. 2015, 2009.
- [61] Li W, Xuwen C, Yunyun L, Jieping W. Recent advances in organic synthesis employing ethyl lactate as green reaction medium. Chin J Org Chem 2016, 36, 954–961.
- [62] Cao S, Zhong S, Hu C, Wan J, Wen C. An environmentally benign catalytic method for versatile synthesis of 1, 4-dihydropyridines via multicomponent reactions. Chin J Chem 2015, 33, 568–572.
- [63] Shen G, Zhou H, Du P, Liu S, Zou K, Uozumi Y. Brønsted acid-catalyzed selective C–C bond cleavage of 1, 3-diketones: a facile synthesis of 4 (3 H)-quinazolinones in aqueous ethyl lactate. RSC adv 2015, 5, 85646–85651.
- [64] Kamanna K, Amaregouda Y. Microwave-assisted organo-catalyzed C-C and C-X (heteroatom) bondforming reactions: An overview. Curr Microw Chem 2021, 8, 173–203.
- [65] Villanueva D, Perez-Correa J, Cuevas-Valenzuela J. Solubility of high-value compounds in ethyl lactate : Measurements and modeling. 2011, 12, 005.
- [66] Yap CL, Gan S, Ng HK. Evaluation of solubility of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in ethyl lactate/ water versus ethanol/water mixtures for contaminated soil remediation applications. J Environ Sci 2012, 24, 1064–1075.
- [67] Pegah S, Ahmadkalaei J, Gan S, Talib SA. Investigation of ethyl lactate as a green solvent for desorption of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) from contaminated soil. Environ Sci Pollut Res 2016, 22008–22018.
- [68] Sun Y, Wang W, Wu J, Hui L. Simultaneous removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and copper from soils. 2009, 2014.
- [69] Guo H, Wang W, Sun Y, Li H, Ai F, Xie L. Ethyl lactate enhances ethylenediamine disuccinic acid solution removal of copper from contaminated soils. 2010, 174, 59–63.
- [70] Leng Y, Gan S, Morris A, Kiat H. Ethyl lactate as a potential green solvent to extract hydrophilic (polar) and lipophilic (non-polar) phytonutrients simultaneously from fruit and vegetable byproducts. Sustain Chem Phar 2016, 4, 21–31.
- [71] Kua YL, Gan S, Morris A, Ng HK. Optimization of simultaneous carotenes and vitamin E (tocols) extraction from crude palmolein using response surface methodology. Chem Eng Comm 2018, 205, 596–609.
- [72] Villanueva-Bermejo D, Reglero G, Fornari T. Recent advances in the processing of green tea biomolecules using ethyl lactate. A review. Trends Food Sci Technol 2017, 12, 009.
- [73] Kamalanathan I, Canal L, Hegarty J, Najdanovic-Visak V. Partitioning of amino acids in the novel biphasic systems based on environmentally friendly ethyl lactate. Fluid Ph. Equilibria 2018, 462, 6–13.
- [74] Kamalanathan I, Petrovski Z, Branco LC, Najdanovic-Visak V. Novel aqueous biphasic system based on ethyl lactate for sustainable separations: Phase splitting mechanism. J Mol Liq 2018, 262, 37–45.
- [75] Judge MD, Aab C. Ethyl lactate as an environmentally friendly HPLC mobile-phase modifier in the analysis of acetaminophen, caffeine, and ASA. 2013, 356, 352–356.
- [76] Mica F, Albu F, Iorgulescu E, Elena, Medvedovici A, Tache F. Ethyl lactate as a greener alternative to acetonitrile in RPLC: A realistic appraisal. 2015, 53, 1701–1707.
- [77] Dudeck O, Jordan O, Hoffmann KT, Okuducu AF, Felix R. Organic solvents as vehicles for precipitating liquid embolics : A comparative angiotoxicity study with superselective injections of swine. 2006, 75.
- [78] Alqaheem Y, Alomair A, Alhendi A, Alkandari S, Tanoli N, Alnajdi N. Preparation of polyetherimide membrane from non-toxic solvents for the separation of hydrogen from methane. Chem Cent J 2018, 12, 1–8.
- [79] Bousfield TW, Pearce KPR, Nyamini SB, Angelis-Dimakis A, Camp JE. Synthesis of amides from acid chlorides and amines in the bio-based solvent CyreneTM. Green Chem 2019, 21, 3675–3681.
- [80] Wilson KL, Murray J, Jamieson C, Watson AJB. Cyrene as a bio-based solvent for HATU mediated amide coupling. Org Biomol Chem 2018, 16, 2851–2854.
- [81] Guajardo N, Dominguez, de Maria P. Assessing biocatalysis using dihydrolevoglucosenone (CyreneTM) as versatile bio-based (co)solvent. Mol Cat 2020, 485, 110813.
- [82] Milescu RA, Zhenova A, Vastano M, Gammons R, Lin S, Lau CH. Polymer chemistry applications of Cyrene and its derivative cygnet 0.0 as safer replacements for polar aprotic solvents. ChemSusChem 2021, 14, 3367–3381.
- [83] Mistry L, Mapesa K, Bousfield TW, Camp JE. Synthesis of ureas in the bio-alternative solvent Cyrene. Green Chem 2017, 19, 2123–2128.
- [84] Wilson KL, Murray J, Jamieson C, Watson AJB. Cyrene as a bio-based solvent for the Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling. Synlett 2018, 29, 650–654.
- [85] Fadlallah S, Peru AAM, Longe L, Allais F. Chemo-enzymatic synthesis of a levoglucosenone-derived bi-functional monomer and its ring-opening metathesis polymerization in the green solvent Cyrene[™]. Polm Chem 2020, 11, 7471–7475.
- [86] Camp JE. Bio-available solvent Cyrene: Synthesis, derivatization, and applications. ChemSusChem 2018, 11, 3048–3055.
- [87] Wilson KL, Kennedy AR, Murray J, Greatrex B, Jamieson C, Watson AJB. Scope and limitations of a DMF bio-alternative within Sonogashira cross-coupling and Cacchi-type annulation. Beilstein J Org Chem 2016, 12, 2005–2011.
- [88] Mention MM, Flourat AL, Peyrot C, Allais F. Biomimetic regioselective and high-yielding Cu(i)catalyzed dimerization of sinapate esters in green solvent Cyrene[™]: Towards sustainable antioxidant and anti-UV ingredients. Green Chem 2020, 22, 2077–2085.
- [89] de Gonzalo G. Biocatalysed reductions of α-ketoesters employing Cyrene[™] as cosolvent. Biocatal Biotransfor 2021, 0, 1–6.
- [90] Tamargo RJI, Rubio PYM, Mohandoss S, Shim JJ, Lee YR. Cyrene[™] as a neoteric bio-based solvent for catalyst-free microwave-assisted construction of diverse bipyridine analogues for heavy-metal sensing. ChemSusChem 2021, 14, 2133–2140.
- [91] Dolzhenko AV. Ethyl lactate and its aqueous solutions as sustainable media for organic synthesis. Sustain Chem Pharm 2020, 18, 100322.
- [92] Wan JP, Cao S, Jing Y. Copper-catalyzed homo- and cross-coupling reactions of terminal alkynes in ethyl lactate. Appl Organomet Chem 2014, 28, 631–634.
- [93] Wan JP, Wang C, Zhou R, Liu Y. Sustainable H2O/ethyl lactate system for ligand-free Suzuki-Miyaura reaction. RSC Adv 2012, 2, 8789–8792.
- [94] Edwards GA, Trafford MA, Hamilton AE, Buxton AM, Bardeaux MC, Chalker JM Melamine and melamine-formaldehyde polymers as ligands for palladium and application to Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reactions in sustainable solvents. J Org Chem, 2014, 79, 2094–2104.
- [95] Liu Y, Wang H, Wang C, Wan JP, Wen C. Bio-based green solvent mediated disulfide synthesis via thiol couplings free of catalyst and additive. RSC Adv 2013, 3, 21369–21372.
- [96] Wan JP, Zhong S, Xie L, Cao X, Liu Y, Wei L. KIO₃-catalyzed aerobic cross-coupling reactions of enaminones and thiophenols: Synthesis of polyfunctionalized alkenes by metal-free C-H sulfenylation. Org Lett 2016, 18, 584–587.
- [97] Gao Y, Liu Y, Wei L, Wan J. Synthesis of enaminones containing diverse N,N-disubstitution via simple transamination: a study with sustainable catalyst-free operation. Res Chem Intermed 2017, 43, 5547–5555.

- [98] Planer S, Jana A, Grela K. Ethyl lactate: A green solvent for olefin metathesis. ChemSusChem 2019, 12, 4655–4661.
- [99] Huttenhain SH. Asymmetric induction from ethyl lactate in the reduction of acetophenone to phenylethanol. Syn Comm 2006, 36, 175–180.
- [100] Bennett JS, Charles KL, Miner MR, Heuberger CF, Spina EJ, Bartels MF. Ethyl lactate as a tunable solvent for the synthesis of aryl aldimines. Green Chem 2009, 11, 166–16.
- [101] Demircioglu YS, Sakarya HC, Suzen Y. Synthesis, X-ray crystal structure and spectroscopic studies of benzothiazole Schiff base. Bulg Chem Commun 2020, 52, 9–13.
- [102] Moussallem C, Gohier F, Mallet C, Allain M, Frre P. Extended benzodifuran-furan derivatives as example of π-conjugated materials obtained from sustainable approach. Tetrahedron 2012, 68, 8617–8621.
- [103] Liu Y, Wen W. A clean and practical catalyst free synthesis of keto and aldoximes as well as the Beckmann rearrangement by using ethyl lactate as an environmentally benign medium. Curr Green Chem 2015, 2, 399–402.
- [104] Wan JP, Jing Y, Liu Y. Ethyl lactate mediated thioacetalization of aldehydes at ambient temperature. Phosphorus Sulfur 2016, 191, 1302–1305.
- [105] Gao G, Han Y, Zhang ZH. Catalyst free synthesis of bis(indolyl)methanes and 3,3-bis(indolyl) oxindoles in aqueous ethyl lactate. Chem Sel 2017, 2, 11561–11564.
- [106] Minkovska S, Burdzhiev N, Alexiev A, Deligeorgiev T. A novel fast green method for the preparation of the squaraine dye 3-oxo-4[(1,3,3-trimethyl-3H-indol-1-ium-2-yl)methylene]-2-[(1,3,3trimethylindolin-2-ylidene)methyl]cyclobut-1-enolate, inner salt. Chem Pap 2018, 72, 1549–1552.
- [107] Mondal D, Chaudhary JP, Sharma M, Prasad K. Simultaneous dehydration of biomass-derived sugars to 5-hydroxymethyl furfural (HMF) and reduction of graphene oxide in ethyl lactate: one pot dual chemistry. RSC adv 2014, 4, 29834–29839.
- [108] Bhat P, Shridhar G, Ladage S, Ravishankar L. An eco-friendly synthesis of 2-pyrazoline derivatives catalysed by CeCl₃·7H₂O. J Chem Sci 2017, 129, 1441–1448.
- [109] Choudhary G, Peddinti RK. An efficient solvent-tuning approach for the rapid synthesis of thiazolidinone derivatives and the selective synthesis of 2-amino-4H-1,3-thiazin-4-one and dimethyl 3,3'-thiodiacrylates. Tetrahedron Lett 2014, 55, 5597–5600.
- [110] Yu ZY, Fang QS, Zhou J, Song Z. Bin. Reusable proline-based ionic liquid catalyst for the simple synthesis of 2-arylbenzothiazoles in a biomass medium. Res Chem Intermed 2016, 42, 2035–2045.
- [111] Lin Y, Wan JP, Liu Y. Synthesis of 3-halochromones with simple KX halogen sources enabled by: In situ halide oxidation. New J Chem 2020, 44, 8120–8124.
- [112] Paul S, Pradhan K, R. Das A. Ethyl lactate as a green solvent: A promising bio-compatible media for organic synthesis. Curr Green Chem 2015, 3, 111–118.
- [113] Cao S, Zhong S, Xin L, Wan JP, Wen C. Visible-light-induced C=C bond cleavage of enaminones for the synthesis of 1,2-diketones and quinoxalines in sustainable medium. Chem Cat Chem 2015, 7, 1478–1482.
- [114] Wan JP, Cao S, Hu C, Wen C. Iodine-catalyzed, ethyl-lactate-mediated synthesis of 1,4-Benzothiazines via metal-free cascade enaminone transamination and C–H Sulfenylation. Asian J Org Chem 2018, 7, 328–331.
- [115] Procopio A, Costanzo P, Curini M, Nardi M, Oliverio M, Sindona G. Erbium(III) chloride in ethyl lactate as a smart ecofriendly system for efficient and rapid stereoselective synthesis of trans-4,5diaminocyclopent-2-enones. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2013, 1, 541–544.
- [116] Gao G, Chen MN, Mo LP, Zhang ZH. Catalyst free one-pot synthesis of α-aminophosphonates in aqueous ethyl lactate. Phosphorus Sulfur 2019, 194, 528–532.
- [117] Rego YF, da Silva CM, da Silva DL, da Silva JG, Ruiz ALTG, de Carvalho JE. Phthalazine-triones: Calix[4] arene-assisted synthesis using green solvents and their anticancer activities against human cancer cells. Arab J Chem 2019, 12, 4065–4073.

- [118] Vaidya S, Shridhar G, Ladage S, Ravishankar L. A facile synthesis of isoxazolone derivatives catalyzed by cerium chloride heptahydrate in ethyl lactate as a solvent: a green methodology. Curr Green Chem 2016, 3, 160–167.
- [119] Ghosh PP, Paul S, Das AR. Light induced synthesis of symmetrical and unsymmetrical dihydropyridines in ethyl lactate-water under tunable conditions. Tetrahedron Lett 2013, 54, 138–142.
- [120] Yang L, Wan JP. Ethyl lactate-involved three-component dehydrogenative reactions: Biomass feedstock in diversity-oriented quinoline synthesis. Green Chem 2020, 22, 3074–3078.
- [121] Chen MN, Di JQ, Li JM, Mo LP, Zhang ZH. Eosin Y-catalyzed one-pot synthesis of spiro[4H-pyranoxindole] under visible light irradiation. Tetrahedron 2020, 76, 131059.
- [122] Zhang M, Fu QY, Gao G, He HY, Zhang Y, Wu YS. Catalyst-free, visible-light promoted one-pot synthesis of spirooxindole-pyran derivatives in aqueous ethyl lactate. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2017, 5, 6175–6182.
- [123] Paul S, Das AR. An efficient green protocol for the synthesis of coumarin fused highly decorated indenodihydropyridyl and dihydropyridyl derivatives. Tetrahedron Lett 2012, 53, 2206–2210.
- [124] Zhang M, Chen MN, Zhang ZH. Visible light-initiated catalyst-free one-pot, multicomponent construction of 5-substituted indole chromeno[2,3-b]pyridines. Adv Syn Cat 2019, 361, 5182–5190.
- [125] Dandia A, Jain AK, Laxkar AK. Ethyl lactate as a promising bio based green solvent for the synthesis of spiro-oxindole derivatives via 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction. Tetrahedron Lett 2013, 54, 3929–3932.
- [126] Xu Z, Jiang Y, Zou S, Liu Y. Bio-based solvent mediated synthesis of dihydropyrimidinthiones via Biginelli reaction. Phosphorus Sulfur 2014, 189, 791–795.
- [127] Dias B, Pereira LA, Ligiero CB, da S, Santos J, Junior JJ, da Silva FM. Eco-friendly and enantiospecific Biginelli synthesis using (+)-myrtenal as the substrate – an impeccable and unequivocal analysis of the product. Curr Org Syn 2020, 17, 389–395.

Animesh Mondal and Chhanda Mukhopadhyay*

Chapter 5 Solid-phase platform: a nonconventional synthetic route for the current organic synthesis of diversified heterocyclic and carbocyclic framework

5.1 Introduction

Over the past decade, all researchers of synthetic chemistry are just passionate as their predecessors for making of valuable small organic molecules with advanced properties and enthralling chemical assemblies. In spite of their great success, there are some major issues concerning chemical synthesis with handling of waste materials and exploration for the eco-friendly reaction procedures. Therefore, implementation of cleaner production technique by eliminating serious pollution issues for the synthesis of bioactive molecules is very necessary [1–3]. From the past few decades, chemists are engaged to fulfill these necessities and develop various types of innovative arrays for the bioactive organic framework using eco-friendly conditions [4–8]. Nowadays, solid-phase synthesis (SPS) is one of them that receives great interest to prepare the heterocyclic and carbocyclic libraries of molecules with low molecular mass for drug discovery [9-14]. Small organic pharmacophores are very beneficial for the synthesis of rigid and highly functionalized molecular scaffolds with broad biological relevance in medicinal chemistry as well as in the pharmaceutical industry. In addition, recent reports display that most of the traditional solution-phase reactions have shifted effectively to the solid phase employing solid-supported reagents by the pharmaceutical companies [15, 16]. As a matter of fact, this strategy has delivered large numbers of heterocycles, carbocycles and linear oligomers, such as peptides and oligonucleotides in a short time frame.

SPS is a chemical process where the reactant molecules are chemically bounded to an insoluble support material and react with the reagents in the solution phase to yield the targeted product. At the onset of the evolution of SPS, the concept was first conceived by professor Robert Bruce Merrifield in the 1950s and 1960s in order to construct

^{*}Corresponding author: Chhanda Mukhopadhyay, Department of Chemistry, University of Calcutta, 92 APC Road, Kolkata 700009, West Bengal, India

Animesh Mondal, Department of Chemistry, Government General Degree College at Salboni, Vidyasagar University, Koyma, Bhimpur, Paschim Medinipur 721516, West Bengal, India

peptide chains on an insoluble polymer support [17]. In 1984, he received the Nobel Prize in Chemistry for his pioneering work. During the last four decades, tremendous interest has been shown in the medicinal field for the synthesis of polyfunctionalized molecules using SPS [18–20]. The advantages of SPS have promoted the development of new resins for scaling up linkers, synthesizers and procedures to monitor reactions. Clean technology with time-consuming step in SPS is one of the most important features for new drug discovery programs [21]. Thus, the most important aspect of this protocol is the use of eco-friendly and sustainable myriad of materials that can be easily recovered and recycled in the reaction medium with an increase in purity and yield of final products.

5.2 Solid-phase synthesis (SPS)

In the current organic chemistry, SPS is a technique in which reagents are either covalently or ionically bound to support materials in the solid state and progressed stepwise in a single reaction vessel applying selective protecting groups (Figure 5.1). Building blocks are used in this SPS technique which has two functional groups where one of them is generally protected by a protective group. Here, the bead of starting materials binds to the building block. Initially, this bead is stirring in the solution of the protected building block. After completion of the reaction of bead with a protected building block, the bead is removed from the solution phase by simple filtration and washing. Finally, the protecting group is separated and performed the abovementioned steps again. After completion of all steps, the desired compound is purified by chemical cleavage from the bead.



Figure 5.1: Schematic representation of a solid-phase organic synthesis (SPOS).

5.2.1 Advantages of SPS

Over the last decade, development of the SPS route has become a very striking tool in high-throughput synthetic organic chemistry and an integral part of the research methodology and drug discovery. Currently, the SPS of small organic molecules adapted mostly from solution-phase reactions to solid-state reactions. Chemists paid attention to this methodology because of its several benefits upon the synthesis carried out in the solution phase as follows:

- The SPS often allows the use of excess reagents, and simultaneously solid-supported substrates are elaborated synthetically to force reactions to completion.
- Impurities, excess reagents and support materials can be easily removed from the desired compounds by simple filtration method and washing away of the unreacted reagents and by-products.
- In SPS, the substrate is bound to a chemically inert insoluble support material (resin or lantern) by a simple covalent bond.
- This bond remains stable during the whole synthetic process but at the end of the pathway permits the cleavage of the target product from the support material by hydrolysis or nucleophilic attack.
- The facilities in the purification process are another advantage of the SPS as it can allow the automation of the whole synthesis.
- Additionally, the SPS offered numerous possibilities of products employing excess of reagents to assure the completion of reactions and also by the pseudo-dilution effect.
- Using this mix and split technique, huge numbers of compounds can be created.
- Synthetically it is a very useful procedure for cross-linking or cyclization reactions.

Moreover, SPS can be used as an alternative synthetic route avoiding the use of noxious organic solvents and reduce multistep protocol with high-energy efficiency and atom economy that are common features of green chemistry. In addition, high efficiency with operational simplicity and selectivity of the active reagent sites are the most attractive features for solid-state methodology.

5.2.2 Limitations of SPS

Till date, copious nonconventional SPSs have been achieved successfully and are applied both in biological and environmental aspects for the development of diversified heterocyclic and carbocyclic compounds. Despite these advantages, solid-phase chemistry also suffers from significant limitations as follows:

- The presence of difficulties in adapting some conventional SPS to a solid-phase format.
- It can be tough to monitor the progress of solid-supported reactions in real time.
- Additional labor is also needed to develop a solid-phase route (to link the starting material with the solid support and cleave to the desired molecules from the solid support).

- Sometimes, the presence of a resin vestige along with final compound is observed due to the attachment of the molecule to the solid support.
- A potential scale limitation imposed by the loading level of the solid support.
- A wide range of commercially available support reagents, linkers and cleanup agents (scavengers) are introduced to the substrates to facilitate the reactions in solution.

The aim of this chapter is to discuss the basic concepts and to cover the practices over SPS of the current organic chemist. In this context, we illustrate the choice of support reagents, linkers and development of nonconventional synthetic routes using solid-phase platform for the formation of diversified heterocyclic and carbocyclic organic frameworks from the literature.

5.2.3 Definitions of some expressions associated with SPS

To discuss the application of this solid-phase organic synthesis, different types of phrases, terms and buzzwords have been included in the vocabulary. Hence, it is relevant to define the commonly used expressions during the presentation of this chapter, which will be very helpful or informative to the synthetic chemist.

- Supported reagents: The reactive substances that convert a substrate into a new chemical product associating with a support material are called supported reagents. After completion of the reaction, excess or spent reagents can be removed by simple filtration.
- Supported catalysts: The reactive substances that are allied with a support material and required in substoichiometric amounts to convert a substrate (or substrates) to a new chemical product (or products) are known as supported catalysts. At the end of the reaction, they could be removed by filtration and reused for the next cycle via simple washing.
- Supported scavengers: The reactive substances which are associated with a support material and selectively quench the by-products in the reaction medium or eliminate extra or unreacted starting materials from the desired molecule are called supported scavengers. Finally, they may be removed by using a simple filtration technique. In addition, they are also very familiar as "sequestering agents" or "quenching agents" and variants thereof.
- Catch and release: The technique that is used in a solution-phase reaction to selectively trap the desired product onto a functionalized support material is referred to as catch and release. The compound can be isolated from the solution-phase contaminants using filtration followed by the washing method, and the desired products may then be easily released from the support material. Alternatively, the method is also known as "capture and release."

5.3 Solid-phase platform

5.3.1 Polymer-supported solid phase

The first polymeric-supported peptide synthesis based on 2% divinylbenzene (DVB) cross-linked polystyrene (PS) on solid phase was established by Merrifield. PS is a very important polymeric material for various organic transformations since it is readily available, inexpensive, mechanically robust, smoothly functionalizable and chemically inert [22–27]. In addition, cross-linking shows mechanical stability with improved diffusion and having swelling properties to the resin. Based upon these properties, a variety of cross-linking agents with various percentages have been introduced into the PS resins to give different solvation properties, for example, DVB, tetraethylene glycol diacrylate and ethylene glycol dimethylacrylate [28–30].

5.3.2 Clay and clay-supported reagents

In recent times, in various organic transformations, the use of clay minerals constitutes as heterogeneous media offering several opportunities rather than the currently used homogeneous system because of its effective solid surface. Through decades, easily available clay minerals show immense catalytic applications due to their high surface area, ion exchange and sorptive properties [31, 32]. The solid clay-supported catalyst has several advantages; for instance, it can be used as (i) a catalytically active agent (generally as solid acids); (ii) fillers to yield solid catalysts with exciting physical properties such as density, attrition resistance and specific heat capacity; and (iii) also a bifunctional or "inert" support material in academia, industry and organic and medicinal chemistry [33].

5.3.3 Silica gel as solid-state platform

In solid-state synthesis, silica gel is one of the most familiar solid-phase platforms to the synthetic chemist. It is nontoxic, nonflammable, nonreactive and very stable in nature and is a highly used material in chromatographic separation as a stationary phase [34]. Due to its high surface area (5–800 m² g⁻¹) and porosity, it is widely used as a support catalyst in numerous chemical reactions and as an absorbent in case of dehydration of fluids and gases. The silica gel promoted operationally simple solid-phase methodology proceeds under mild reaction conditions to afford the desired compound with significant chemoselectivity, regioselectivity and stereoselectivity. In exploration of solid-surface-mediated reaction protocol, here we have illustrated few reactions on the potential surface of silica gel.

5.3.4 Alumina as solid-phase platform

Nowadays, one of the most superior desiccants is alumina which is remarkably used with a wide range of applications in industry such as filler, adsorbent and also solid-supported catalyst along with the reagent [35, 36]. It opens up a world of possibilities for technicians such as in pharmacy and in industry and can be used for biohazard, bioterrorism, research, toxic waste, environmental cleanup and gas and liquid dehydration applications [37, 38]. It is an effective adsorbent and is used in the reaction medium for the moisture-adsorptive purpose because of its higher stability toward cracking and resistant to expand after adsorbing the water molecule [39–41]. Hence, in this context, we report few examples of simple, solvent-free and expeditious technique using reusable alumina as a solid-phase platform.

5.3.4.1 Activated neutral alumina (Al₂O₃)

Neutral alumina is counted in the list of metal oxide which possesses highly porous arrangement of aluminum oxide and tremendous surface area. Alumina displays amphoteric properties and is stable throughout the pH range of 2–13. It has amphoteric properties with both cation- and anion-exchange phenomenon over a broad pH range. The most important feature is that it possesses superior amphoteric properties. It has no special physical feature as it is a completely odorless and tasteless white powder, but this ingredient possesses high stability at high temperature. Moreover, it is insoluble in nature and could be made to dissolve only with either acid or base. No other life science material has provided such stability and versatility, remembering the ease of use and the low cost of alumina. It possesses powerful crushing strength with high resistance to the thermal shock and abrasion. The neutral Al_2O_3 does not shrink, swell, disintegrate or soften when engrossed in the reaction medium. Therefore, it will be very promising to use neutral alumina activating different calcined temperatures as a solid support reagent in the reaction medium.

5.3.4.2 Activated alumina ball

Activated alumina ball is reckoned in the list of effective desiccant and adsorbent. It has no special physical feature as it is a completely odorless and tasteless white sphere along with nontoxic nature, insoluble in water as well as organic solvent and soluble in strong acidic and alkaline solutions (Figure 5.2). These characters make these balls an ideal selection for the study of reaction processes. These balls are used in several applications for the moisture-adsorptive purpose in the reaction medium, and they do not expand and crack after adsorbing the water molecule.



Figure 5.2: Image of activated alumina balls.

These highly porous Al_2O_3 balls are produced by heating at a higher temperature. It works effectively in a range of conditions, which is highly appreciated with its powerful crushing strength and tremendous absorbing quality. Such type of desiccant has the characters of any kind of abrasion and highly resistant to the thermal stock. It can never be disintegrated and, at the same time, will not shrink, swell and soften when engrossed in the reaction. Considering all these advantages, these activated balls could be used as a dehydrating agent in the separation and purification processes by removing the uncontaminated compounds. The characteristic features such as surface area, pore size along with its mechanical strength and adsorption, play the major part in making this activated alumina ball an ideal choice for the solid-state synthesis of heterocyclic and carbocyclic skeleton.

5.3.4.3 KF/alumina

Ando et al. introduced completely different solid-phase strategy [42–45] using alumina doped with potassium fluoride (KF/alumina) for the vast range of organic transformations. Here, solid basic surface of KF/alumina has been extensively used as a reaction platform and can ionize C-acids up to $pK_a \sim 35$ [46]. Depending on the temperature, the actual basic site is generated on the surface of the alumina. On the other hand, infrared (IR) spectroscopic and ¹⁹F magic angle NMR study indicated that in KF/alumina, the fluoride anion species is more electron rich compared to fluoride anion in pure solid. It displays variable functions and properties under different conditions of KF loading.

5.4 Construction of carbocyclic framework on solid support

The establishment of effective and reliable methods for the construction of carbocyclic skeleton remains a significant goal in SPS to the synthetic chemist. It is not possible to give a complete account of carbocyclic framework-based SPS as it is an ever-growing

field of the medicinal and synthetic organic chemistry. Only few developments of this field have been included in this section.

5.4.1 Diels-Alder reaction

In recent times, one of the most synthetically advantageous methods for the development of six-membered ring systems is Diels–Alder reaction [47], and its use affords many possibilities in the construction of templates for combinatorial libraries. Particularly, the [4+2] cycloaddition reaction is a widely used technique for the formation of rigid three-dimensional carbocyclic framework where various types of substituents are attached by directionally constrained carbon–carbon bond linkages. To date, the development and implementation of large libraries with reduced flexibility remains a challenge to explore features of selectivity and specificity for the screening of therapeutic targets and there are few reports of Diels–Alder reactions on the solid surface [48–50]. It is not possible to give a complete account of solid-phase-mediated Diels–Alder reactions as it is an ever-growing field of the medicinal and synthetic chemistry. Only few developments of this field have been covered in this chapter.

5.4.1.1 Synthesis of 3,4,5-trisubstituted cyclohexanones

In 1997, Crawshaw and coworkers developed a solid-supported [4+2] cycloaddition reaction of activated maleimides (2) and nitrostyrenes with a resin-bound 4substituted-2-aminobutadienes (1) that result in bicyclic adducts (3) (Figure 5.3) [51]. Hydrolysis of the bicyclic adducts helps to cleave from the solid support and release several 3,4,5-trisubstituted cyclohexanones (4) into solution in moderate to good yields with high purities. The working methodology has been automated on the ACT 496 synthesizer and provides a library of diversely functionalized rigid templates under mild reaction conditions.



Figure 5.3: Solid-phase synthesis of 3,4,5-trisubstituted cyclohexanones.

5.4.2 Electrocyclic reaction

Electrocyclic reaction is a very familiar class of organic reaction among various synthetic approaches toward structurally complex and biologically active natural products. The reactions exhibit excellent and predictable regio- and stereo-control based upon Woodward–Hoffmann rules in the construction of polycyclic scaffolds [52–54]. Basically, an electrocyclic reaction is a kind of pericyclic rearrangement, where the net outcome is the intramolecular conversion of one π -bond being converted into one σ -bond or vice versa with the highest atom economy. From documentation, it seems that the nature also prefers developing its compounds in such a synthetic manner, for example, electrocyclic biosynthesis of endiandric acids and vitamin D cascades [55]. Over the last few decades, a dramatic increase in its application for the synthesis of complex natural products with heterocyclic and carbocyclic frameworks has been achieved. Herein, we have disclosed few summaries of electrocyclic reaction to construct bioactive heterocyclic and carbocyclic compounds on solid phase.

5.4.2.1 Synthesis of multiple core structure libraries

Armstrong and Tempest [56] have presented a potential method for the construction of libraries of multiple core structure (**11**) via the thermal electrocyclic ring-opening sequence followed by ring-closure sequence of cyclobutenone derivatives (**6**) on the solid support (Figure 5.4). Halogen–metal exchange on aryl iodide yields a resin-bound organolithium reagent (**5**) which reacts with diisopropyl squarate in a 1,2-fashion delivers tertiary alcohol (**6**). Acid-catalyzed rearrangement of this alcohol followed by conjugate addition–elimination of primary amine furnished the diones (**7**). Next, 1,2-addition of a lithiated alkene with reactive carbonyl group (**8**) delivered the corresponding cyclobutene (**9**), which provided compound (**10**) by the electrocyclic ring opening followed by ring closure under refluxing in toluene. At the end, acid-catalyzed cleavage from the Wang resin gave directly the target oxidized 1,4-quinones (**11**).

5.4.3 Oligomerization reaction

Kato et al. [57] investigated a facile oligomerization reaction of styrene derivatives (12) under acid-treated montmorillonite resulting in the formation of carbocyclic polymerized compounds (13) (Figure 5.5). It is one of the first reports of clay-catalyzed dimerization reaction via protonation and deprotonation steps to give oligomers.



Figure 5.4: Solid-supported protocol toward multiple core structure libraries.



Figure 5.5: Clay-catalyzed solid-state synthesis of polymerized compounds.

5.5 Formation of heterocyclic framework on solid phase

Heterocyclic compounds are the types of cyclic organic compounds which contain at least one heteroatom like nitrogen, oxygen and sulfur (i.e., atom other than carbon in the cyclic ring system). The heterocyclic rings containing other heteroatoms instead of most communal heteroatoms are N, O and S but are also widely known. Heterocyclic rings are one of the most important constituents of almost one half of the biological molecules such as hormones, DNA and RNA, essential amino acids, chlorophyll, hemoglobin, antibiotic, vitamins, alkaloids, dyestuffs and pigments and are frequently abundant in plants and animal goods [58, 59]. Heterocyclic compounds are widely used in the fields of pharmaceuticals, agrochemicals and veterinary and possess several biological activities such as antifungal, antibacterial, anticonvulsant, antioxidants, anti-inflammatory,

antiallergic, herbicidal and anticancer [60–62]. In this section, we have covered most of the SPS procedures for the formation of biologically active heterocyclic compounds.

5.5.1 Nitrogen-containing heterocycle

5.5.1.1 Synthesis of hydroxyaziridines

Giuliana Cardillo and his groups have reported an efficient, polymer-supported strategy for the synthesis of hydroxyaziridines (15) (Figure 5.6) [63] via reactions of salt (14) ($X^- = CI^-:CCI_3CO_2^-$ in a 1:1 mixture) with Amberlyst A 26 in the CO_3^{2-} form in methanol at room temperature and give the desired product up to 96% yield. This protocol offered a new synthetic step for the synthesis of variety of natural compounds and amino sugars because it allows different types of functional group pattern incorporation into a chiral target molecule.



Figure 5.6: Synthesis of hydroxyaziridines on a polymeric support.

5.5.1.2 Synthesis of 2,4-pyrrolidinedionescombinatorial library

In 1997, Kulkarni and Ganesan presented an ion-exchange resin-based reaction to generate combinatorial library of 2,4-pyrrolidinediones (22) [64] via the Dieckmann condensation (Figure 5.7). These heterocycles are very useful scaffolds for the development of novel biologically active compounds because they are assembled from three easily available building blocks (amino acids, aldehydes and carboxylic acids) with a high degree of diversity.

5.5.1.3 Synthesis of 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridones derivatives

In this context, solid-supported preparation of 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridones employing Danishefsky's diene (**28**) and polymer-bound aldimines (**27**) via tandem Mannich–Michael reaction is illustrated by Wang and Wilson [65] (Figure 5.8). This novel and efficient method provides 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridone derivatives (**30**) with construction of new C–N bond via a [4+2] cycloaddition reaction using catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ Lewis acid



Figure 5.7: Ion-exchange resin-based combinatorial synthesis of 2,4-pyrrolidinediones.

in moderate to good yields (60–90%). The polymer-bound 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridone analog is a very useful scaffold for synthetic transformations and can be used to prepare a library of various types of alkaloids by the application of solid-phase methodology.



Figure 5.8: Solid-phase preparation of 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridones.

5.5.1.4 Synthesis of structurally diverse pyrazolones

In 1997, Tietze et al. [66] demonstrated a general and straightforward route to structurally diverse pyrazolones (**36**) utilizing cyclization reaction of different polymerbound β -ketoesters (**33**) with phenylhydrazine (**34**) or hydrazine, and subsequently cleavage from the resin provides good yield in high purity (Figure 5.9). The diversified polymer-bound β -ketoesters (**33**) have been developed from readily available starting acid chlorides and Meldrum's acid followed by α -alkylation using haloalkanes (**32**). The SPS with mild reaction conditions make it amenable for automation and give a way toward the construction of new podium for combinatorial libraries using a wide range of structurally different β -ketoesters as the polymeric starting unit.



Figure 5.9: Solid-state synthesis of structurally diverse pyrazolones.

5.5.1.5 Synthesis of 2-[[4-chloro-1-methyl-5-(trifluoromethyl)-1H-pyrazol-3-yl]oxy]-1-phenylethanone

John J. Parlow in 1995 developed a polymeric reagent-supported three-step synthetic procedure in which soluble sec-phenethyl alcohol (**3**7) was stirred in a solution containing three different polymeric reagents at once in a single reaction vessel to afford 2-[{4-chloro-l-methyl-5-(trifluoromethyl)-lH-pyrazol-3-yl}oxy]-l-phenylethanone (**41**) in cyclohexane medium at 65 °C (Figure 5.10) [67]. The easily available polymeric reagents (**40**) and substrate alcohol (**37**) successfully provided highly functionalized and synthetically valuable structure (**41**) in 48% yield of the desired product.



Figure 5.10: Solid-phase preparation of 2-[[4-chloro-l-methyl-5-(trifluoromethyl)-lH-pyrazol-3-yl]oxy]-l-phenylethanone using polymeric reagents.

5.5.1.6 Synthesis of 4,5-dihydro-1H-pyrazoles

A Nafion-TMS-mediated Mukaiyama aldol-type reaction strategy was applied by Ramirez and Gonzalez–Gomez in the reaction of silyl enol ethers (**46**) with aldehydes (**44**) (Figure 5.11) [68]. Polymer-supported perruthenate (PSP) (**43**) yielded corresponding aldehydes (**44**) via mild oxidation of alcohols (**42**) and produces α,β -unsaturated ketones (**47**) in the presence of polymeric reagent (**45**), which upon treatment with hydrazines (**48**) furnishes the desired 4,5-dihydro-1H-pyrazole (**49**). This new clean multistep procedure is suitable for robotic synthesis.



Figure 5.11: Polymer-supported synthesis of 4,5-dihydro-1H-pyrazoles.

5.5.1.7 Synthesis of aromatic 1,2-diazines

A reverse electron demand Diels–Alder reaction has also been studied by the laboratory of Panek on the solid phase (Figure 5.12) [69]. The functionalized aromatic 1,2-diazines substituted at the C₆ position by a sulfur-based leaving group (**53**, **56**) were constructed by employing unsymmetrically substituted 1,2,4,5-tetrazines (**50**) with diversified electron-rich dienophiles (**51**, **54**) via thermally promoted cycloadditions. This technique is very helpful for the preparation of a diverse set of desired product as it permits the inclusion of four different types of elements on an aromatic scaffold via nucleophilic aromatic substitution (S_NAr) at C₆ position of the methyl sulfide/sulfone and acylation/alkylation of the C₃ amine.



Figure 5.12: Polymer-supported synthesis of aromatic 1,2-diazines.

5.5.1.8 Synthesis of 4-amino-3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinones

The lab of Pei [70] reported the construction of 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinones (65) by means of the rearrangement of β -lactam intermediates (63) on the solid surface (Figure 5.13). The β -lactam intermediates were derived from ketene-imine (61) [2 + 2] cycloaddition reaction.

This transformation is used to globally produce highly valuable bioactive library of 4,140 members of dihydroquinolinone derivatives (65) in good to excellent yield (68–100%). This split and mix method allows three diverse types of building blocks to synthesize the structurally different dihydroquinolinone including stereoisomers with a set of substituents at various positions.



Figure 5.13: Construction of 4-amino-3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinones on the solid phase.

5.5.1.9 Synthesis of 2-aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4-quinolones

In 1997, Varma and Saini [71] proposed a clay-supported C–N bond formation method utilizing microwave-assisted isomerization of 2'-aminochalcones (**66**) to 2-aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4-quinolones (**68**) (Figure 5.14). This simple, solvent-free and environmentally benign strategy yields the desired compound in pure form under mild and dry reaction conditions on the surface of montmorillonite K-10 clay (**67**). Moreover, the methods have broad interest to the field of SPS of heterocyclic framework using abundant precursors and operationally easy and efficient reaction conditions.

5.5.1.10 Synthesis of tetrahydroquinolines

Very recently, 80-membered library of tetrahydroquinolines (**76**) were synthesized using a three-component condensation of solid-support aromatic amines (**72**), aldehydes (**73**), alkenes (**74**) and in the presence of trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) as a catalyst by Kiselyov and Armstrong (Figure 5.15) [**72**]. A number of electron-rich alkenes were established as new olefins and inputs with a variety of aldehydes for the tetrahydroquinoline library on the solid phase. Although a number of styrenes afforded the target compounds in good yields (**53**–92%), the best results were observed by the use of cyclopentadiene as the dienophile.



Figure 5.14: Clay support preparation of 2-aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4-quinolones under microwave irradiation.



Figure 5.15: Solid-supported synthesis of tetrahydroquinolines.

5.5.1.11 Electrophilic aromatic substitution

The functionalization of PS via electrophilic aromatic substitution toward the formation of PS-based resins is well recognized and a challenge in organic synthesis. Thus, electrophilic aromatic substitution of substrates is integrally complicated on the surface of PS resins by the reactivity of the solid support material itself. Many instances of electrophilic aromatic substitutions are achieved successfully using resin-bound substrates bearing activated aromatic ring or via intramolecular fashion. Here, only few interesting methods including intermolecular electrophilic aromatic substitution have been illustrated.

5.5.1.11.1 Synthesis of 1,2,6-trisubstituted 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline

Rölfing et al. [73] demonstrated an eight-step synthetic route for simultaneous synthesis of 1,2,6-trisubstituted 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives (82) involving intramolecular electrophilic aromatic substitution of 79 (Figure 5.16) in 1996. Key to the success was the use of 2-hydroxyethyl polystyrene (77) as solid support to generate the bicyclic core. Further, the iminium ion is produced via the Bischler–Napieralski-type ring closure and subsequently reduced by sodium borohydride prior to trimethylaluminum-induced nucleophilic cleavage from the resin.



Figure 5.16: Construction of 1,2,6-trisubstituted tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives on solid surface.

5.5.1.12 Nucleophilic aromatic substitution

From the past few years, heterocyclic skeleton gained from the solid-phase reactions are very attractive synthetic protocols for biological evaluation. Moreover, reports of the analogous synthesis through S_NAr of the resin-bound substrates are very effective to functionalization of electron lacking aromatic rings since this strategy produced the desired heterocycle with the introduction of an inclusive range of readily accessible heteroatomic nucleophiles. In this context, we reported few examples of such environmentally benign methodology.

5.5.1.12.1 Synthesis of 3,4-disubstituted-7-carbamoyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-2-ones

Lee et al. [74] produced 3,4-disubstituted-7-carbamoyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-2one (90) derivatives by the reaction of *R*-amino esters (86) with alkyl halides (85) on a solid support (Figure 5.17). Initially, 4-fluoro-3-nitrobenzoic acid reacts (84) with solid support (83) to give resin-bound 4-fluoro-3-nitrobenzoic acid derivatives (85). Then compound 85 undergoes a sequential S_NAr reaction with amino acid esters (86) followed by



Figure 5.17: Construction of 3,4-disubstituted-7-carbamoyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-2-ones on solid phase.

intramolecular reductive cyclization catalyzed by $SnCl_2H_2O$ which result in the formation of tetrahydroquinoxalin-2-one derivatives (88) in DMF. Selective N-4 alkylation of the quinoxalinone derivatives in the presence of K_2CO_3 prevents oxidation of the heterocyclic products and obtained the desired products (90) after cleavage from solid supports under acidic conditions in 32–93% isolated yields.

5.5.1.13 Synthesis of quinoxalines

In 2011, Paul and Basu [75] presented facile and expeditious solid-state tandem oxidation–condensation or condensation of a variety of simple α -hydroxy ketones (92), α -bromoketones (94), or α -dicarbonyl compounds (96) with aromatic 1,2-diamines (91) prompted by the basic surface of heterogeneous KF alumina (Figure 5.18). In addition, this solvent-free C–N bond-forming reactions offered a direct, rapid and operationally simple synthetic tools for bioactive libraries of quinoxalines (93, 95, 97), which make the synthetic methodology bio-friendly and economically workable.

5.5.1.14 Synthesis of 2-substituted indole

In 1996, lan Hughes [76] reported the solid-phase organic synthesis of 2-substituted indole (**104**) using polymer-supported phosphonium salts (**98**) as a traceless linker (Figure 5.19). Easily available phosphonium salts afforded cleaved alkyl, alkenyl and heteroaryl products with up to 82% yield under basic conditions and can be elaborated with reagents of both acids/bases including reducing agents.



Figure 5.18: Synthesis of quinoxaline libraries on the basic surface of KF alumina.



Figure 5.19: Solid-supported synthesis of 2-substituted indole using polymer-bound phosphonium salts.

5.5.1.15 Synthesis of indole analogs

Weiya Yun and Raju Mohan [77] published solid-supported intramolecular Heck reaction to afford indole-based library (**110**) using polymer-bound arylhalides such as **105** in high yields of up to 94% in 1996 (Figure 5.20).

They were successful to develop varied libraries of indole analogs (**110**) from the readily assembled precursor which is constructed by the reaction of commercially available acid chlorides (**106**) with alkylating agent allylic bromides (**108**) under mild reaction conditions.



Figure 5.20: Solid-state synthesis of indoleanalogs.

5.5.1.16 Synthesis of trisubstituted indoles

From the past few years, a number of palladium-catalyzed approaches to the solidsupported preparation of bioactive heterocycles have been disclosed. Zhang et al. [78] have proposed a palladium-mediated coupling reaction between alkynes (**113**) and resin-bound aryl iodides (**112**) to synthesize trisubstituted indoles (**115**) (Figure 5.21). This synthetic approach furnished diversified trisubstituted indole derivatives (**115**) in good to excellent yields. The resin-bound heteroannulation of trimethylsilyl alkynes also afforded other 2-substituted indole derivatives with high product purity. In addition, synthesis of this indole-based combinatorial library from the easily obtainable starting internal alkynes makes this technique more attractive and valuable to the current synthetic researcher.

5.5.1.17 Synthesis of 1,2-disubstituted benzimidazoles

In the next year, Paul and Basu [79] introduced an innovative, eco-friendly synthetic platform for C–N bond-forming reaction on the solid surface of ferric sulfate soaked with silica [iron(III)sulfate-silica] at room temperature (Figure 5.22). The study consists of one-pot condensation and subsequently aromatization reaction of *o*-phenylenediamine (**116**) with readily available electronically different aldehydes (**117**) to generate function-alized 1,2-benzimidazole products (**118**) with moderate to good yield under mild conditions. This solvent-free technique needs only inexpensive environmentally friendly



Figure 5.21: Palladium-mediated solid-phase synthesis of trisubstituted indoles.

NH ₂	R ₂ -CHO (117)	
	Iron(III)sulfate-silica	
(116)	30 °C.	(118) [_] R ₁

Entry	R	R ₁	Yield (%)	Entry	R	R ₁	Yield (%)
1	H	C ₆ H ₅	89	10	Н	1-Naphthyl	84
2	Н	p-CH ₃ OC ₆ H ₄	85	11	н	Furan-2-yl	79
3	н	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	87	12	н	5-Bromo-thiophene-2-y	rl 75
4	Н	$p-NO_2C_6H_4$	83	13	Н	o-OHC ₆ H ₄	78
5	н	p-Me ₂ NC ₆ H ₄	86	14	3-CH ₃	5-Br-thiophene-2-yl	77
6	н	<i>p</i> -Isopopyl C ₆ H ₄	84	15	3-CH ₃	o-ClC ₆ H ₄	75
7	н	$m-NO_2C_6H_4$	84	16	3-COC	₆ H ₅ C ₆ H ₅	88
8	н	m-OHC ₆ H ₄	86	17	н	Cyclohexyl	84
9	н	m-OPhC ₆ H ₄	84	18	Η	2-Methylpropyl	78

Figure 5.22: Synthesis of 1,2-disubstituted benzimidazoles on silica gel-soaked ferric sulfate.

starting materials and recyclable catalytic system to deliver appreciable yield with high product selectivity.

5.5.1.18 Synthesis of 1H-indazoles

A solid-supported multistep procedure for the preparation of 1H-indazoles (**124**) was investigated by Yan et al. using single-bead Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) microspectroscopy (Figure 5.23) [80]. Synthesis of the target compound involved an intramolecular electrophilic aromatic substitution reaction. Moreover, oxidation and final cyclization of **122** promoted by Lewis's acid were studied under FTIR to afford the desired heterocycle (**124**) in good yield with high product purity after acid-induced cleavage from the resin. Advantage of this technique is the use of single-bead IR for a

quick and convenient analysis of product formation with remaining starting materials in each synthetic step. This time-consuming solid-phase reaction is also very useful to generate combinatorial chemistry.



Figure 5.23: Synthesis of indazole on solid support.

5.5.1.19 Synthesis of spiroindoline

Cheng and Chapman [81] invented a completely different strategy to the solid-state synthesis of heterocyclic spiroindoline derivatives (**127**) via a modified Fischer indole reaction (Figure 5.24). A wide range of electron-rich aryl hydrazines (**126**) were employed



Figure 5.24: Solid-phase formation of spiroindoline.

in TFA/CH₂Cl₂ medium and reacted smoothly with polymer-bound piperidine-4carboxaldehyde (**125**). However, the electron-deficient hydrazine derivatives tolerated the reaction relatively at higher concentration of TFA (10–25%). The protocol is feasible for a large variety of arylhydrazines and amenable for construction of combinatorial libraries of spiroindoline in good to excellent yields with high product purity.

5.5.1.20 Synthesis of five- and six-membered ring lactams

A resin-based solid-phase reaction strategy has been applied to the formation of novel functionalized five- and six-membered ring lactams (131) via the condensation of resin-bounded isocyanides (128) with ω -ketoacids (129) and amines (26) by Short and Mjalli [82] (Figure 5.25). At the beginning, the starting isocyanide moiety is attached on the surface of the Wang resin through an ester linkage and provided comparatively pure compounds without applying monotonous chromatographic separation method. A wide range of commercially accessible amines, ω -ketoacids and isocyanide components immobilized on the surface of the Wang resin worked effectively for the construction of a stage for combinatorial library of small-ring lactams. At the end, the desired product (131) was isolated from the support material under the treatment of 10% TFA/CH₂CI₂ in moderate to excellent yields.



Figure 5.25: Solid-phase method for the synthesis of five- and six-membered ring lactams.

5.5.1.21 Synthesis of cyclic ureas and thioureas

The laboratory of Nefzi has illustrated a new method to the preparation of cyclic ureas and thioureas (**138**) from linear peptides (**136**) on solid phase (Figure 5.26) [83].

The reaction that proceeded through N-alkylation of methylbenzhydrylamine resin-supported amino acid (133) followed by stepwise homologation of this precursor gave triamide derivatives (136) via the amide bond formation. Primarily, the acylated



R= Amino acid side chain; R_1 = Me, BzI; R_2 = Amino acid; R_3 = Carboxylic acid

Figure 5.26: Preparation of cyclic ureas and thioureas on solid phase.

dipeptides were reduced by diborane and delivered the corresponding highly pure cyclic compound (**138**) in good yield in the presence of carbonyl diimidazole or thiocarbonyl diimidazole. This solid-phase methodology could be utilized for the synthesis of individual heterocycle and a range of combinatorial libraries.

5.5.1.22 Synthesis of xanthines

Heizmann and Eberle [84] adapted xanthine derivatives (147) as a novel, versatile scaffold for combinatorial chemistry on solid support. They described a five-step synthetic approach, which includes *N*-alkylations of the uracil system (141), a nucleophilic substitution by amine substrate at the heterocycle (142) and cyclization via the condensation reaction between activated methylene and nitrosofunctional group (Figure 5.27). The synthetic strategy generates a small xanthine library (147) with eight individual entities in 10–32% isolated yields after HPLC purification and allows high molecular diversity. The technique is also expandable to create a library of large number of compounds and is already applied in the library synthesis containing 90 individual compounds and is being tested in several biological assays at present.

5.5.1.23 Multicomponent reactions (MCRs)

The convergent chemical reaction in which more than two reactants combined with each other via well-defined condensation generates a product that possesses significant portions of all atoms of the reactants is called multicomponent reactions (MCRs).

In this one-pot synthesis, three or more reactants react together and furnishes a new compound in a single reaction container (Figure 5.28). Products of this protocol comprises almost all portions of substrates along with no by-products, which is the



Figure 5.27: Solid support synthesis of xanthines.



Figure 5.28: Schematic presentation of multicomponent reactions (MCRs).

key characteristics of MCR strategy. This eco-friendly, ideal synthesis offered target compounds in a single synthetic step and paid much attention in the field of biomedicinal, industrial and combinatorial chemistry.

Three-component reactions are very common. Four- and five-component reactions are also familiar nowadays. Six or more than six-component reactions are rare. A + B + C type of reaction is a true three-component reaction where all the three components are different. A + B + B type of reaction is also taken into consideration of MCR where one component is taken twice. This type of reaction should be truly called as pseudo-three-component reaction.

5.5.1.23.1 Features of multicomponent reactions

In the current organic chemistry, one of the most efficient synthetic tools is MCR technique because it possesses all characteristics that contribute to a model synthesis. Usually, productivity is encoded in terms of reaction yield, product selectivity and number of steps in the mind of synthetic chemists mostly. However, the perspective of MCRs is considerably wider and consists of waste generation, use of hazardous chemicals, reagents and solvents with general safety and energy intensity. All of these characteristics are included in Figure 5.29.



Figure 5.29: Features of multicomponent synthesis.

Hence, the development of a novel MCR strategy toward the biomedicinal and industrial frameworks applying SPS platform is inevitable at the present time.

The advantages of MCRs have endorsed their application in interrelated fields including synthetic podium for natural products, functional molecular libraries and the development of new drug molecules [85, 86]. Thus, the aim is to point out the prospects of the employment of MCRs bringing for the SPS of heterocyclic framework, and the process design is a great challenge to modern synthetic chemists. Few such representative examples of solid-phase MCRs are shown here.

5.5.1.23.2 Synthesis of quinoline derivatives

Nagayama's [87] laboratory constructed a library of high-quality and -quantity quinoline derivatives (**151**) (Figure 5.30) using polymer-supported scandium catalyst. The PA-Sc-TAD (polyallylscandium trifylamide ditriflate) catalysis synthetic procedure provides the desired products from the reaction mixture of different types of aldehyde (**148**), aromatic amine (**149**) and alkene (**150**) in dichloromethane–MeCN (2:1) at ambient temperature for 15 h. This method is also very workable for development of new research projects as well as other compound libraries.

5.5.1.23.3 Synthesis of 2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acid

Gopalsamy and Pallai [88] investigated an efficient multicomponent condensation approach by adopting the Doebner quinoline synthetic method for the synthesis of 2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acid derivatives (**153**) on the solid surface of the Rink resin



Figure 5.30: Polymer-supported scandium-catalyzed synthesis of quinoline derivatives.



Figure 5.31: Solid-phase synthesis of 2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acid.

(Figure 5.31). Here, the Rink PS resin-bounded amino acid furnishes corresponding the immobilized amide derivatives (**152**) by acylation with pyruvyl chloride. Further treatment of immobilized pyruvic amide with a mixture of Schiff's base or aldehyde (**149**) and aniline (**117**) offered resin-bound cyclized product under reflux in benzene. The method provides 2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acids (**153**) of up to 88% after cleavage from the resin using TFA.

5.5.1.23.4 Synthesis of hydantoin 4-imides

Short et al. [89] presented a new solid-supported platform for hydantoin 4-imides (155) by applying the "Ugi" four-component condensation of amines (26), aliphatic aldehydes (117), Wang resin-supported isocyanides (154) and in-situ-generated hydrazoic acid (Figure 5.32). The commercially available starting materials were successfully employed with immobilization of the isocyanide constituent in a combinatorial fashion on the Wang resin. At the end of the synthetic strategy, target molecules were separated upon treatment with 20% TFA from the solid support material in CH_2Cl_2 medium. This solid-phase MCR methodology delivered structurally diverse hydantoin 4-imide derivatives (155) in moderate to good yields (36–81%).



 $\begin{array}{l} R = n - C_4 H_9, n - C_8 H_{17}, sec - C_4 H_9, i - C_3 H_7, i - C_5 H_{11}, CH(CH_3) CH_2 CH(CH_3)_{2}, p - BrC_6 H_4 CH_2, p - ClC_6 H_4 CH_2, \\ m - F - o - CH_3 C_6 H_3; R_1 = n - C_3 H_7, n - C_7 H_{15}, sec - C_4 H_9, trans - (CH_2)_2 CH = CH(CH_2)_4 CH_3, \\ CH_2 CH(CH_3) CH_2 C(CH_3)_3, CH(C_2 H_5) (CH_2)_3 CH_3, c - C_6 H_{11} \end{array}$

Figure 5.32: Construction of hydantoin 4-imides on solid support.

5.5.1.23.5 Synthesis of imidazo[1,2-a]-annulated pyridines, pyrazines and pyrimidines

In 1999, Varma and Kumar [90] reported a rapid, one-pot and solventless method for imidazo[1,2-a]-annulated pyridines, pyrazines and pyrimidines (**158**) under microwave irradiation using solid surface of reusable montmorillonite K-10 clay (Figure 5.33). Moreover, an economical and eco-friendly condensation of aldehydes (**148**; aliphatic, aromatic and vinylic), amines (**157**; 2-aminopyridine, 2-aminopyrazine and 2-aminopyrimidine) and isocyanides (**156**; aliphatic, aromatic and cyclic) give the desired multisubstituted dimidazo [1,2-a]-annulated pyridine, pyrazine and pyrimidine derivatives (**158**) in moderate to excellent yields. Additionally, this new, inexpensive and recyclable clay-supported one-step method is highly complementing for the parallel assembly of the library synthesis.

5.5.1.23.6 Synthesis of spiro[pyrrolo-4,10′-indeno[1,2-b]quinoline] and spiro [indololo-3,4′-indeno[1,2-b]pyridine]

Our laboratory has developed a new efficient and environmentally benevolent MCR approach for the formation of regioselective spiro-heterocyclic scaffolds (**162** and **163**) in moderate to excellent yields (Figure 5.34) [91]. The mixture of amine (**149**), β -keto ester (**159**) and indane-1,3-dione (**160**) treated with isatin moiety (**161**) (either N-substituted or unsubstituted) under neat condition on the solid surface of activated



Figure 5.33: Clay-supported solvent-free synthesis of imidazo[1,2-a]-annulated pyridines, pyrazines and pyrimidines.



Figure 5.34: Solvent-free solid-phase preparation of spiro[pyrrolo-4,10'-indeno[1,2-b]quinolin] and spiro [indololo-3,4'-indeno[1,2-b]pyridine] derivatives.

alumina balls over a steam bath. Here, the cheap, easily available and environmentally benign activated alumina balls absorb water molecule from the reaction medium which is the main driving force to accelerate the reaction in the forward direction. It was observed that the yield of the reaction increases with increasing pore size of the catalyst but not directly correlated with the surface area or pore volume.

5.5.2 Oxygen-bearing heterocycle

5.5.2.1 Synthesis of epoxide scaffolds

From the very beginning, various types of sulfur ylides were synthesized from soluble sulfonium salts utilizing phase transfer catalyst in the reaction medium. The most important features of the polymeric sulfonium salts are thermally stable and their sulfide by-products are nonvolatile and have no smell. Jean Farrall et al. [92] developed a highly efficient and facile method for the preparation of epoxide scaffolds (**171**) by reaction of regenerable sulfonium ylides (**169**) with carbonyl compounds (**170**) to delivere the desired product in good to excellent yields (94–97%) (Figure 5.35).



Figure 5.35: Polymeric reagent-based synthesis of epoxides.

5.5.2.2 Synthesis of substituted 3,4-dihydro-2H-pyrans

In 1996, Tietze et al. [93] introduced a hetero-Diels–Alder reaction of compound **173**, generated via Knoevenagel condensation and with enol ether (**174**) to afford the diastereoisomeric-3,4-dihydropyrans (**177**) and (**178**) in high purity (Figure 5.36).

The solid-supported three-component domino reactions via transesterification released the corresponding methyl esters from the supported resin utilizing THF as solvent under reflux condition and provided overall yields in between 12% and 37%. The method is very effective for generating combinatorial libraries of substituted 3,4dihydropyrans from the commercially available aldehyde and enol ethers.



Figure 5.36: Solid-phase three-component approach to substituted 3,4-dihydro-2H-pyrans.

5.5.2.3 Synthesis of 2-substituted benzofurans

Synthetically very important, copper/palladium-promoted heteroannulation of terminal acetylenic compounds have been achieved by Fancelli et al. [94] for construction of C–O and C–C bonds in the presence of resin-bound *ortho*-hydroxy aryl iodides (**181**) (Figure 5.37). The solid-phase process considering mild reaction conditions and commercially available large variety of acetylenic compounds (**182**) produces 2-substituted 5-carboxybenzofuran (**184**) derivatives in good yield and high purity. 4-Acetoxy-3iodobenzoic acid (**179**) was successfully coupled with TentaGelTM S–OH resin (**180**) using the well-established Mitsunobu reaction and subsequent unmasking of the phenol then offered the stage for the palladium-catalyzed heteroannulation. The method provides an efficient new route to increasing diversity in the design of combinatorial chemistry libraries of small organic molecules.

5.5.2.4 Radical reactions

Recently, researchers of science and technology have focused their practices on the scope and limitations of solid-supported radical chemistry. Various studies on solid support radical reactions offered many advantages over the harsh reaction conditions such as mild protocol, rapid synthesis and easy to perform at room temperature. Herein, we wish to report few interesting examples of solid-state construction of heterocyclic nucleus via radical reaction.


Figure 5.37: Palladium-catalyzed synthesis of 2-substituted benzofurans on solid phase.

5.5.2.4.1 Synthesis of dihydrobenzofuran derivatives

A samarium diiodide-mediated mild and efficient synthetic route for the benzofuran derivatives (**190** and **191**) via intramolecular radical reaction of aryl iodides (**189**) and then the TFA-induced cleavage of the target molecule from the polyethylene glycol (PEG)-grafted resin were proposed by Du and Armstrong [95] in 1997 (Figure 5.38).



Figure 5.38: Solid-supported synthesis of benzofuran derivatives.

Depending on the substitution in the starting alkene (**188**), the unsaturated by-products were observed in some cases as minor components with the desired compound. On the other hand, Sm³⁺ by-products can be easily removed by the employed PS or PEG-grafted

resins. This coupling method worked well on solid support and provided diverse heterocycles (**190** and **191**) in respectable yields.

5.5.2.4.2 Synthesis of 3-substituted dihydrobenzofuran

Routledge et al. [96] introduced a completely different approach for the formation of dihydrobenzofuran (**195**) using classical radical-generating conditions by the cyclization of bromoalkene derivatives (**194**) on solid supports (Figure 5.39). The reaction only proceeded on TentaGel resin beads (**193**) in the presence of tributyltin hydride with catalytic amounts of α, α' -azobis(isobutyronitrile) and released the desired products in reasonable yields. The analogous reaction has several advantages such as no by-products are detected at high concentrations of Bu₃SnH and it can be easily washed away before cleavage of the target compound from the PEG-grafted resin.



Figure 5.39: Synthesis of furan rings on TentaGel resin beads.

5.5.2.5 Synthesis of functionalized y- and δ-lactones

In the past few years, application of epoxides in organic synthesis to generate new carbon–carbon or carbon–heteroatom bonds via nucleophilic ring opening has been extensively studied. Knowing the importance, Hetet et al. [97] developed polymer-supported epoxides (**197**) from alkenoic acid derivatives (**196**) and effectively applied as suitable precursors for functionalized γ - and δ -lactones (**199**) (Figure 5.40). Solid-phase epoxidation of resin-bound olefins (**196**), synthesized from alkenoic acids and subsequent ring-opening reactions using sodium azide or thiophenols, afforded secondary alcohols (**198**) which underwent acid-catalyzed lactonization followed by the release from polymeric support reagents gives highly pure functionalized γ - and δ -lactones (**199**) in good yields. The easily accessible chemicals are compatible with this reaction sequence and display their potential in combinatorial synthesis.



Figure 5.40: Polymer-supported synthesis of functionalized γ- and δ-lactones.

5.5.2.6 Synthesis of 2-amino-substituted isoflav-3-enes

Varma and Dahiya [98] developed a clay-supported one-pot, expeditious and solventfree protocol under microwave irradiation via in-situ-generated enamines (**202**) from the mixture of phenyl acetaldehyde (**200**) and morpholine (**201**) and simultaneously their reactions with salicylaldehydes (**203**) to produce pure 2-morpholinoisoflav-3enes (**205**) in 80% yield (Figure 5.41). The advantage of this methodology is that this environmentally friendly approach offered enamines without necessity of the large excess of organic solvents for the azeotropic removal of water molecule and also does not require any activation of the catalyst.



Figure 5.41: Clay-supported synthesis of 2-amino-substituted isoflav-3-enes under microwave irradiation.

5.5.2.7 Synthesis of flavones

In the same year, a manipulatively simple and mild solid-state method for the formation of flavones (**207**) via dehydrative cyclization of *o*-hydroxydibenzoyl methanes (**206**) on a clay surface under microwaves has been shown by Varma's group (Figure 5.42) [99]. They developed a microwave-irradiated procedure for flavone derivatives (**207**) using montmorillonite K-10 clay as an adsorbent and delivered exclusively cyclized flavones which are easily extractable in good yields of up to 80% from the support catalyst.



Figure 5.42: Formation of flavones on montmorillonite K-10 clay under microwaves.

5.5.3 Sulfur-containing heterocycles

5.5.3.1 Synthesis of substituted thiophenes

In 1997, Stephensen and Zaragoza [100] disclosed a new, robust synthetic procedure for the solid-phase preparation of thiophene molecule (**211**) (Figure 5.43). They applied resin-bounded amine (**208**) appended to isothiocyanates (**209**) or their synthetic equivalents along with base (DBU or amines) to afford the desired product via the subsequent cleavage from the support reagents. These bioactive and pharmaceutically useful thiophene derivatives (**211**) were achieved with very satisfactory results with



Figure 5.43: Solid-state synthesis of substituted thiophenes from resin-bound intermediates.

no major by-products from the easily available starting materials at ambient temperature. This reaction sequence permits the quick accelerating numerous bioactive compounds and is also very useful for standard peptide synthesizers.

5.5.4 Solid-phase syntheses of miscellaneous heterocycle

5.5.4.1 Synthesis of isoquinoline- and isoxazoline-containing heterocycles

In 1996, Lorsbach et al. [101] prepared novel isoquinoline–isoxazoline heterocycles (**21**7) using traceless solid-phase approach by the way of 1,3-dipolar [3 + 2] cycloaddition reactions (Figure 5.44). This solid-supported synthesis is a well-suited application for the discovery of combinatorial programs.



Figure 5.44: Synthesis of isoquinoline and isoxazoline-containing heterocycles on solid surface.

5.5.4.2 Synthesis of benzoxazoles

A mild and high productive dehydrative cyclization of solid-supported 2-amidophenol derivatives (**219**) afforded the desired benzoxazole (**220**) in THF at room temperature by treatment of triphenylphosphine and diethyl azodicarboxylate (Figure 5.45) [102]. Very convenient methodology offered the corresponding product after release from the resin via the Mitsunobu reaction conditions. This synthetic procedure has been successfully applied for the formation of combinatorial library with satisfactory results.



Figure 5.45: Solid-phase synthesis of benzoxazoles by applying the Mitsunobu reaction.

5.5.4.3 Syntheses of cyclic peptides with endocyclic biaryl ether bonds

Over the years, a wide range of easily available heteroatomic nucleophiles were employed for the functionalization of electron-deficient aromatic rings based on S_NAr approach. The laboratory of Burgess [103] reported a rapid and efficient solid-phase protocol for the formation of cyclic peptides, linked by the endocyclic biaryl ether bonds (222) via the protection/deprotection of tyrosine side chains (221) and afterward S_NAr macrocyclization reactions on a support material (Figure 5.46). This working methodology is very useful to cyclize the starting materials with complex skeleton and generate corresponding compounds in relatively shorter times with reasonable yields (59% for 10 steps).



Figure 5.46: Syntheses of cyclic peptides with endocyclic biarylether bonds on solid phase.

5.5.4.4 Synthesis of isoxazolidines

Hinzen and Ley [104] constructed isoxazolidine scaffold (227), where one-pot selective oxidations of secondary hydroxylamines (223) formed nitrone derivatives (225) by PSP (224) in 1998 (Figure 5.47). This nitrone combined with electron-deficient dipolar-ophiles, for instance, acrylonitrile, methyl vinyl ketone and methyl acrylate (226) afforded the corresponding isoxazolidine derivatives (227) in good to excellent (55–91%)



Figure 5.47: Preparation of isoxazolidines using polymer-supported perruthenate.

yields. Here, the process is very useful for automated synthesis and offered various opportunities for the development of chemical libraries.

5.5.4.5 Synthesis of benzoxazinone

A solution-phase five-step synthetic procedure for benzoxazinone derivatives (**234**) is achieved with combinations of molecular reactivity and recognition (CMR/R) purification technique to construct new C–O bond (**10**) by Parlow and Flynn [105] (Figure 5.48). The multistep synthesis produces the target molecule in excellent purities and yields. In addition, the final compounds along with all intermediates were purified in robotic laboratory block apparatus through the postreaction process by introducing reactant as well as sequestering resins and in situ labeling by the reaction-quenching resins and sequestration-enabling reagents.

5.5.4.6 Synthesis of peptidosulfonamides

SPS of peptidosulfonamides (**239**) was presented by de Bont et al. [106] by employing a TentaGel[®] resin (**235**) (Figure 5.49) in 1996.

The sulfonamide derivatives (**237**) oxidized by $OsO_4/NMMO$ give better results than that of tetra-butylammonium oxone[®] (**238**) because in the latter condition partial deprotection of Boc-protected dipeptides took place. Further, the acid-catalyzed cyclization of compound (**238**) and concurrent cleavage from resin by Et₃N delivered cyclic peptidosulfonamides which increased the potential molecular diversity of reaction methodology.



Figure 5.48: Construction of benzoxazinone library on solid phase.



Figure 5.49: Solid-phase formation of peptidosulfonamides.

5.5.4.7 Synthesis of piperidino-thiomorpholine

The earlier literature survey indicated that a polymer-supported material or other solid sequestering reagents might be used to construct a library of piperidino-thiomorpholine (241). In 1998, Habermann et al. [107] demonstrated a new clean multistep procedure to prepare a library of piperidino-thiomorpholine derivatives (241) and their corresponding sulfones starting from 4-piperidone (240) (Figure 5.50). The present catalytic strategy afforded a novel high-yielding approach applying polymer-supported material and solid sequestering reagents in synthetic sequences with no need of chromatographic separation.



Figure 5.50: Preparation of a piperidino-thiomorpholine library using polymeric reagents.

5.5.4.8 Synthesis of di[benzo(d)thiazol-3(2H)-yl]methane

Very recently, our group demonstrated a novel one-pot MCR strategy on solid phase. Here, we executed a reaction strategy employing difunctionalized 2-aminothiophenol which contains both thiol and amine groups (**242**) in the same moiety (2 mmol) with 37–41% aqueous solution of formaldehyde (**243**) (3.5 mmol) (Figure 5.51) [108] to afford di[benzo(*d*)thiazol-3(2H)-yl]methane derivatives (**244**) on the solid surface of neutral Al₂O₃ in 84% yield.



Figure 5.51: Synthesis of di[benzo(d)thiazol-3(2H)-yl]methane derivatives on the solid surface of activated neutral Al₂O₃.

5.5.4.9 Synthesis of benzirnidazoles and 1,3-benzothiazole

Villemin et al. [109] reported KSF clay-catalyzed completely different two synthetic routes, that is, under reflux in toluene or solvent-free conditions under microwave irradiation for the condensation of orthoesters (246) with *o*-substituted aminoaromatics (245) into heterocycles (Figure 5.52). In addition, structurally different *o*-substituted aminoaromatics gave the product (247) under nitrogen atmosphere in good yields of up to 92%. Moreover, starting from *o*-diaminobenzene derivatives provided very useful benzirnidazole heterocycles. Similarly, the reaction of 2-arninophenol or 2-aminothiophenol generated the corresponding 1,3-benzoxazole or 1,3-benzothiazole derivatives under the same reaction condition.



Reaction under microwave irradiation (6OW. resonance cavity)

Figure 5.52: Clay-supported synthesis of benzirnidazoles, 1,3-benzoxazole and 1,3-benzothiazole.

5.5.4.10 Synthesis of 2-aroylbenzo[b]furans, 1,3-thiazoles and 3-aryl-5,6-dihydroimidazo[2,1-b][1,3]thiazoles

In 1998, Varma et al. [110] developed an expeditious solvent-free synthesis of 2aroylbenzo[b]furans, thiazoles and 3-aryl-5,6-dihydroimidazo[2,1-*b*][1, 3]thiazoles (**250**, **252** and **254**) from readily obtainable α -tosyloxyketones (**248**) catalyzed by mineral



Figure 5.53: Solid-supported synthesis of 2-aroylbenzo[b]furans, 1,3-thiazoles and 3-aryl-5,6dihydroimidazo[2,1-b][1,3]thiazoles.

oxides under clean energy source of microwave irradiation (Figure 5.53). Specifically, 2-aroylbenzo[*b*]furans (**250**) are delightedly achieved from the reaction mixture of salicylaldehydes (**249**) and α -tosyloxyketones (**248**) in the presence of solid potassium fluoride-doped alumina (KF-Al₂O₃) catalyst. Whereas montmorillonite K-10 clay affords 1,3-thiazoles (**252**) from the reaction of thioamides (**253**) with α -tosyloxyketones (**248**). In the same way, mixture of ethylene thiourea (**251**) and α -tosyloxyketones (**248**) deliver bridgehead nitrogen heterocycles (**254**) in excellent yields.

5.6 Conclusions

Solid-phase platforms have been in use for the construction of heterocyclic and carbocyclic bioactive core structures for decades and have successfully established to be advantageous for a diverse range of transformations to synthetic organic chemists. In this chapter, we summarized a variety of solid-state protocols for the generation of carbocycles and N/O/S-containing three- to seven-membered heterocycles and also their fused analogues from the respective starting materials on the surface of the solid materials. The reasons behind adopting solid-phase organic reactions are environmental friendliness, mild reaction conditions, use of sustainable and traceless solid materials, easy workup procedure, recyclability of the support material or catalyst and selective synthesis of the target compound. Moreover, this platform offered a desired molecule in faster rates, preserving the product purity and with higher yields in comparison to a conventional technique. The examples listed in this chapter are more helpful for the development of newer SPS of bioactive complex molecules to synthetic chemists in future.

References

- [1] Tanaka K, Toda F. Solvent-free organic synthesis. Chem Rev 2000, 100, 1025–1074.
- [2] Mondal A, Rana S, Mukhopadhyay C. One-pot, expeditious and chromatography-free synthesis of new chromeno[4,3-e][1,3]oxazine derivatives catalyzed by reusable TiO₂nanopowder at room temperature. Tetrahedron Lett 2014, 55, 3498–3502.
- [3] Mondal A, Mukhopadhyay C. A rapid, facile and chromatography-free microwave assisted protocol for the synthesis of highly functionalised dihydrospiro[indeno[1,2-b] quinoline-10,3'-indole]-2',4',11trione derivatives. CurrMicrow Chem 2017, 4, 173–185.
- [4] Anastas PT, Williamson T. Green Chemistry: Frontiers in Benign Chemical Synthesis and Procedures, New York, NY, USA: Oxford Science Publications, 1998.
- [5] Clark JH. Green chemistry: Challenges and opportunities. Green Chem 1999, 1, 1–8.
- [6] Lancaster M. Green Chemistry: An Introductory Text, Cambridge, Mass, USA: Royal Society of Chemistry, 2002.

- [7] Mondal A, Brown M, Mukhopadhyay C. Multicomponent, one-pot and expeditious synthesis of highly substituted new spiro[indolo-3,10'-indeno[1,2-b]quinolin]-2,4,11'-triones under micellar catalytic effect of CTAB in water. RSC Adv 2014, 4, 36890–36895.
- [8] Mondal A Mukhopadhyay C. ZnTiO₃nanopowder as an effective and dual catalyst for the water mediated expeditious synthesis of [1,3]-oxazine scaffolds at room temperature. Curr Green Chem 2016, 3, 214–226.
- [9] McKillop A, Young KW. Organic synthesis using supported reagents-part I & part II. Synthesis 1979, 401–422, 481–500.
- [10] Laszlo P. Preparative Chemistry Using Supported Reagents, San Diego, Calif, USA: Academic Press, 1987.
- [11] Smith EK. Solid Supports and Catalyst in Organic Synthesis, Chichester, UK: Ellis Horwood, 1992.
- [12] Clark, JH. Catalysis of Organic Reactions by Supported Inorganic Reagents, New York, NY, USA: VCH, 1994.
- [13] Letsinger RL, Mahadevan V. Oligonucleotide synthesis on a polymer support. J Am Chem Soc 1965, 87, 3526–3527.
- [14] Mondal A, Naskar B, Goswami S, Prodhan C, Chaudhuri K, Mukhopadhyay C. A quick accelerating microwave-assisted sustainable technique: permutated spiro-casing for imaging experiment. Mol Divers 2020, 24, 93–106.
- [15] Parlow JJ. Simultaneous multistep synthesis using polymeric reagents. Tetrahedron Lett 1995, 36(9): 1395–1396.
- [16] Brown RCD. Recent developments in solid-phase organic synthesis. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998, 1, 3293–3320.
- [17] Merrifield RB. Solid phase peptide synthesis. I. the synthesis of a tetrapeptide. J Am Chem Soc 1963, 85, 2149–2154.
- [18] Gallop MA, Barrett RW, Dower WJ, Fodor SP, Gordon EM. Applications of combinatorial technologies to drug discovery. 1. Background and peptide combinatorial libraries. J Med Chem 1994, 37, 1233–1251.
- [19] Fruchtel JS, Jung G. Organic chemistry on solid supports. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1996, 35, 17–42.
- [20] Terrett NK, Gardner M, Gordon DW, Kobylecki RJ, Steele J. Combinatorial synthesis: The design of compound libraries and their application to drug discovery. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 8135–8173.
- [21] David HD, Diane MC, Poon S. Solid-supported reagents in organic synthesis. Inc Med Res Rev 1999, 19, 97–148.
- [22] Letsinger RL, Kornet MJ. Popcorn polymer as a support in multistep syntheses. J Am Chem Soc 1963, 85, 3045–3046.
- [23] Chiu SHL, Anderson L. Oligosaccharide synthesis by the thioglycoside scheme on soluble and insoluble polystyrene supports. Carbohydr Res 1976, 50, 227–238.
- [24] Guyot A. Polymer supports with high accessibility. Pure Appl Chem 1988, 60, 365–376.
- [25] Svec F, Frchet JMJ. New designs of macroporous polymers and supports: From separation to biocatalysis. Science 1996, 273, 205–211.
- [26] Chert S, Janda KD. Synthesis of prostaglandin E2 methyl ester on a soluble-polymer support for the construction of prostanoid libraries. J Am Chem Soc 1997, 119, 8724–8725.
- [27] Malenfant ERL, Frchet JMJ. The first solid-phase synthesis of oligothiophenes. Chem Comm 1998, 23, 2657–2658.
- [28] Balakrishnan T, Ford WT. Particle size control in suspension copolymerization of styrene, chloromethylstyrene, and divinylbenzene. J Appl Polym Sci 1982, 27, 133–138.
- [29] Pickup S, Blum FD, Ford WT, Periyasamy M. Transport of small molecules in swollen polymer beads. J Am Chem Soc 1986, 108, 3987–3990.
- [30] Andrew RV, Kim DJ. Solid-phase organic synthesis: A critical understanding of the resin. J Comb Chem 2000, 2, 579–596.

- [31] Pinnavia TJ. Intercalated clay catalysts. Science 1983, 220, 365–371.
- [32] Izumi Y, Urabe K, Onaka M. Zeolite, Clay and Heteropoly Acids in Organic Reactions, New York: VCH, 1992.
- [33] Varma RS. Clay and clay-supported reagents in organic synthesis. Tetrahedron Lett 2002, 58, 1235–1255.
- [34] Vogel AI, Tatchell AR, Furnis BS, Hannaford AJ, Smith PWG. Vogel's Textbook of Practical Organic Chemistry, London, UK: Longman Group, 1989.
- [35] Misra C. Industrial Alumina Chemicals, Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society, 1986, 151–155.
- [36] Ballini R, Clemente RR, Palmieri A, Petrini M. Conjugate addition of indoles to nitroalkenes promoted by basic alumina in solventless conditions. Adv Synth Catal 2006, 348, 191–196.
- [37] Ballini R, Bosica G, Fiorini D, Palmieri A. Neutral alumina catalyzed synthesis of 3-nitro-1,2dihydroquinolines and 3-nitrochromenes, under solvent-free conditions, via tandem process. Green Chem 2005, 7, 825–827.
- [38] Adak A, Bandyopadhyay M, Pal A. Removal of anionic surfactant from wastewater by alumina: A case study. Colloids Surf A 2005, 254, 165–171.
- [39] Ghosh S, Bhaumik A, Mondal J, Mallik A, Sengupta S, Mukhopadhyay C. Direct amide bond formation from carboxylic acids and amines using activated alumina balls as a new, convenient, clean, reusable and low-cost heterogeneous catalyst. Green Chem 2012, 14, 3220–3229.
- [40] Bhar S, Chaudhuri SK, Sahu SG, Panja C. Solvent-free synthesis of 4,4-bis-functionalized-1,6-dienes and 1,6-diynes on the surface of neutral alumina. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 9011–9016.
- [41] Cheng S, Comer DD. An alumina-catalyzed Michael addition of mercaptans to N-anilinomaleimides and its application to the solution-phase parallel synthesis of libraries. Tetrahedron Lett 2002, 43, 1179–1181.
- [42] Clark JH. Fluoride ion as a base in organic synthesis. Chem Rev 1980, 80, 429–452.
- [43] Ando T, Brown SJ, Clark JH. Alumina-supported fluoride reagents for organic synthesis: Optimisation of reagent preparation and elucidation of the active species. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans II 1986, 8, 1133–1139.
- [44] Ando T, Clark JH, Cork DG, Kimura T. Surface analysis of MF-aluminas and related supported reagents by scanning electron microscopy. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 1986, 59, 3281–3282.
- [45] Ando T, Clark JH, Cork DG, Hanafusa T, Ichihara J, Kimura T. Fluoride-alumina reagents: The active basic species. Tetrahedron Lett 1987, 28, 1421–1424.
- [46] Loupy A, Petit A, Hamelin J, Texier-Boullet F, Jacquault P, Mathe D. New solvent-free organic synthesis using focused microwaves. Synth 1998, 9, 1213–1234.
- [47] Fringuelli F, Taficchi A. Dienes in the Diels-Alder Reaction, New York: Wiley, 1990.
- [48] Yedida V, Leznoff C. Regioselectivity in cycloaddition reactions on solid phases. Can J Chem 1980, 58, 1144–1150.
- [49] Henke S. IBC, Combinatorial Chemistry and Automation, Conference, Geneva, 1996.
- [50] Schlessinger RH, Bergstrom CP. Diastereoselective Diels-Alder reactions of nonracemic 3- and 4-amino furans bound to polystyrene. A comparison of these reactions to their solution state analogues. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 2133.
- [51] Crawshaw M, Hird NW. Synthesis of 3,4,5-trisubstituted cyclohexanones by cycloaddition to solid phase 2-aminobutadienes. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 7115–7118.
- [52] Woodward RB, Hoffmann R. Stereochemistry of electrocyclic reactions. J Am Chem Soc 1965, 87, 395–397.
- [53] Woodward RB, Hoffmann R. The Conservation of Orbital Symmetry. Weinheim: Verlag Chemie, 1970.
- [54] Hoffmann R. Building bridges between inorganic and organic chemistry (Nobel Lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 1982, 21, 711–724.

- [55] Bian M, Lib L, Ding H. Recent advances on the application of electrocyclic reactions in complex natural product synthesis. Synth 2017, 49, 4383–4413.
- [56] Tempest PA, Armstrong RW. Cyclobutenedione derivatives on solid support: Toward multiple core structure libraries. J Am Chem Soc 1997, 119, 7607–7608.
- [57] Kato C, Kuroda K, Takahara H. Preparation and electrical properties of quaternary ammonium montmorillonite-polystyrene complexes. Clays Clay Miner 1981, 29, 294–298.
- [58] Mondal A, Mukhopadhyay C. FeCl₃-catalyzed combinatorial synthesis of functionalized spiro[Indolo-3,10'-indeno[1,2-b]quinolin]-trione derivatives. ACS Comb Sci 2015, 17, 404–408.
- [59] Al-Mulla A. A review: Biological importance of heterocyclic compounds. Der Pharma Chemica 2017, 9, 141–147.
- [60] Mondal A, Naskar B, Goswami S, Prodhan C, Chaudhuri K, Mukhopadhyay C. I2catalyzed access of spiro[indoline-3,4'-pyridine] appended amine dyad: New ON-OFF chemo-sensors for Cu²⁺ and imaging in living cells. Org Bio Chem 2018, 16, 302–315.
- [61] Chaudhuri T, Mondal A, Mukhopadhyay C. Benzimidazole: A solid state colorimetric chemosensor for fluorideand acetate. J Mol Liq 2018, 251, 35–39.
- [62] Mahajan ND, Jain N. Heterocyclic compounds and their applications in the field of biology: A detailed study. Nat Volatiles Essent Oils 2021, 8, 13223–13229.
- [63] Cardillo G, Orena M, Porzi G, Sandri S. A new synthesis of aminodiols and hydroxyaziridines using acetate and carbonate ions on a polymeric support. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1982, 1309–1311.
- [64] Kulkarni BA, Ganesan A. Ion-exchange resins for combinatorial synthesis: 2,4-pyrrolidinediones by Dieckmann condensation. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 1997, 36, 2454–2455.
- [65] Wang Y, Wilson SR. Solid Phase Synthesis of 2,3-Dihydro-4-pyridones: Reaction of Danishefsky's Diene with Polymer-Bound Imines. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 4021–4024.
- [66] Tietze LF, Steinmetz A, Balkenhohl F. Solid-Phase synthesis of polymer bound β-ketoesters and their application in the synthesis of structurally diverse pyrazolones. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 1997, 7, 1303–1306.
- [67] Parlow JJ. Simultaneous multistep synthesis using polymeric reagents. Tetrahedron Lett 1995, 36, 1395–1396.
- [68] Haunert F, Bolli MH, Hinzen B, Ley SV. Clean three-step synthesis of 4,5-dihydro-1H-pyrazoles starting from alcohols using polymer supported reagents. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998, 1, 2235–2237.
- [69] Panek JS, Zhu B. Synthesis of aromatic 1,2-diazines by inverse electron demand diels-alder reaction of polymer-supported 1,2,4,5-tetrazines. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 8151–8154.
- [70] Pei Y, Houghten RA, Kiely JS. Synthesis of 4-Amino-3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-Quinolinones via 13-Lactam Intermediates on the solid-phase. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 3349–3352.
- [71] Varma RS, Saini RK. Microwave-Assisted isomerization of 2'-aminochalcones on clay: An easy route to 2- aryl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-4-quinolones. Synlett 1997, 857–858.
- [72] Kiselyov AS, Armstrong RW. Solid support synthesis of tetrahydroquinolines via the grieco three component condensation. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 6163–6166.
- [73] Rölfing K, Thiel M, Künzer H. 1,2,6-Trisubstituted tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives by Solid-phase synthesis. Synlett 1996, 1036–1038.
- [74] Lee J, Murray WV, Rivero RA. Solid phase synthesis of 3,4-Disubstituted-7-carbamoyl-1,2,3,4tetrahydroquinoxalin-2-ones. J Org Chem 1997, 62, 3874–3879.
- [75] Paul S, Basu B. Synthesis of libraries of quinoxalines through eco-friendly tandem oxidationcondensation or condensation reactions. Tetrahedron Lett 2011, 52, 6597–6602.
- [76] Hughes I. Application of Polymer-Bound Phosphonium Salts as Traceless Supports for Solid Phase Synthesis. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 7595–7598.
- [77] Yun W, Mohan R. Heck Reaction on Solid Support: Synthesis of Indole Analogs. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 7189–7192.

- [78] Zhang HC, Brumfield KK, Maryanoff BE. Synthesis of trisubstituted indoles on the solid phase via Palladium-mediated heteroannulation of internal alkynes. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 2439–2442.
- [79] Paul S, Basu B. Highly selective synthesis of libraries of 1,2-disubstituted benzimidazoles using silica gel soaked with ferric sulfate. Tetrahedron Lett 2012, 53, 4130–4133.
- [80] Yan B, Gstach H. An indazole synthesis on solid support monitored by single bead FTIR Microspectroscopy. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 8325–8328.
- [81] Cheng Y, Chapman KT. Solid phase synthesis of spiroindoline. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 1497–1500.
- [82] Short KM, Mjalli AMM. A solid-phase combinatorial method for the synthesis of novel 5- and 6-membered ring lactams. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 359–362.
- [83] Nefzi A, Ostresh JM, Meyer JP, Houghten RA. Solid phase synthesis of heterocyclic compounds from linear peptides: Cyclic ureas and thioureas. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 931–934.
- [84] Heizmann G, Eberle AN. Xanthines as a scaffold for molecular diversity. Mol Div 1996, 2, 171–174.
- [85] Mondal A, Mukhopadhyay C. Silver-inducedC_α(sp³)-H activation of benzylamines followed by [1,5]- versus [1,3]-Rearrangement: A strategy towards the regioselective synthesis of spirodihydropyrroles. Eur J Org Chem 2017, 6299–6313.
- [86] Sengupta A, Maity S, Mondal A, Ghosh P, Rudra S, Mukhopadhyay C. Pseudo five component reaction towards densely functionalized spiro[indole-3,2'-pyrrole] by picric acid, an efficient syndiastereoselective catalyst: Insight into the diastereoselection on C(sp³)-C(sp³) axial conformation. Org Biomol Chem 2019, 17, 1254–1265.
- [87] Kobayashi S, Nagayama S. A new methodology for combinatorial synthesis. Preparation of diverse quinoline derivatives using a novel polymer-supported scandium catalyst. J Am Chem Soc 1996, 118, 8977–8981.
- [88] Gopalsamy A, Pallai PV. Combinatorial synthesis of heterocycles: Solid phase synthesis of 2arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acid derivatives. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 907–910.
- [89] Short KM, Ching BW, Mjalli AMM. The synthesis of hydantoin 4-imides on solid support. Tetrahedron Lett 1996, 37, 7489–7492.
- [90] Varma RS, Kumar D. Microwave-accelerated three-component condensation reaction on clay: Solvent-free synthesis of imidazo[1,2-a] annulated pyridines, pyrazines and pyrimidines. Tetrahedron Lett 1999, 40, 7665–7669.
- [91] Mondal A, Banerjee B, Bhaumik A, Mukhopadhyay C. Activated alumina balls under neat conditions: A green catalyst for the synthesis of spiro-heterocyclic scaffolds by ring-opening versus annulation of the isatin moiety. ChemCatChem 2016, 8, 1185–1198.
- [92] Farrall MJ, Durst T, Fréchet JMJ. Polymeric reagents. IV. Generation of sulfonium ylides on insoluble resins by phase transfer catalysis. Tetrahedron Lett 1979, 3, 203–206.
- [93] Tietze LF, Hippe T, Steinmetz A. Solid-phase three-component domino reactions: Combinatorial approach to substituted 3,4-dihydro-2H-pyrans. Synlett 1996, 1043–1044.
- [94] Fancelli D, Fagnola MC, Severino D, Bedeschi A. Solid phase synthesis of 2-substituted benzofurans via the Palladium-catalyzed heteroannulation of acetylenes. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 2311–2314.
- [95] Du X, Armstrong RW. Synthesis of benzofuran derivatives on solid support via SmI₂-mediated radical cyclization. J Org Chem 1997, 62, 5678–5679.
- [96] Routledge A, Abell C, Balasubramanian S. An investigation into solid-phase radical chemistrysynthesis of Furan rings. Synlett 1997, 61–62.
- [97] Hetet CL, David M, Carreaux F, Carboni B, Sauleau A. Synthesis of functionalized γ-and δ-lactones via polymer-bound epoxides. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 5153–5156.
- [98] Varma RS, Dahiya R. An expeditious and solvent-free synthesis of 2-Amino substituted isoflav-3-enes using microwaves irradiation. J Org Chem 1998, 63, 8038–8041.
- [99] Varma RS, Saini RK, Kumar D. An expeditious synthesis of flavones on montmorillonite K-10 Clay with microwaves. J Chem Research (S) 1998, 348–349.

- [100] Stephensen H, Zaragoza F. Resin-bound isothiocyanates and their synthetic equivalents as intermediates for the solid-phase synthesis of substituted thiophenes. J Org Chem 1997, 62, 6096–6097.
- [101] Lorsbach BA, Miller RB, Kurth MJ. Reissert-based "Traceless" solid-phase synthesis: Isoquinoline, and isoxazoline-containing heterocycles. J Org Chem 1996, 61, 8716–8717.
- [102] Wang F, Heuske JR. Solid-phase synthesis of benzoxazoles via Mitsunobu reaction. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38, 6529–6532.
- [103] Burgess K, Lim D, Bois-Choussy M, Zhu J. Rapid and efficient solid phase syntheses of cyclic peptides with endocyclic biaryl ether bonds. Tetrahedron Lett 1997, 38(19): 3345–3348.
- [104] Hinzen B, Ley SV. Synthesis of isoxazolidines using polymer supported perruthenate (PSP). J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998, 1, 1–2.
- [105] Parlow JJ, Flynn DL. Solution-phase parallel of a benzoxazinone library using complementary molecular reactivity and molecular recognition (CMR/R) purification technology. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4013–4031.
- [106] de Bont DBA, Moree WJ, Liskamp RMJ. Molecular diversity of peptidomimetics: Approaches to the solid-phase synthesis of peptidosulfonamides. Bioorg Med Chem 1996, 4, 667–672.
- [107] Habermann J, Ley SV, Scott JS. Clean six-step synthesis of a piperidino-thiomorpholine library using polymer-supported reagents. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998, 1, 3127–3130.
- [108] Mondal A, Mukhopadhyay C. Activated neutral alumina as a simple and reusable catalyst for the synthesis of N,N-Bis[(alkyl/arylthio)methyl]amines: A solid-supported protocol under solvent-free conditions. Asian J Org Chem 2017, 6, 1783–1793.
- [109] Villemin D, Hammadi M, Martin B. Clay catalysis: Condensation of orthoesters with o-substituted aminoaromatics into heterocycles. Synth Commun 1996, 26, 2895–2899.
- [110] Varma RS, Kumar D, Liesen PJ. Solid state synthesis of 2-aroylbenzo[b]furans, 1,3-thiazoles and 3aryl-5,6-dihydroimidazo[2,1-b][1,3]thiazoles from á-tosyloxyketones using microwave irradiation. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1998, 1, 4093–4096.

Sudipta Saha, Asish Kumar Dey, Shyamal K. Jash and Sasadhar Majhi* Chapter 6 Nonconventional solvents for the isolation of natural products

6.1 Introduction

Daily life is connected to natural products (NPs), including food, clothes, beverages, fibers and fuel along with fine chemicals, such as pharmaceuticals and cosmetics [1]. These products need comprehensive processing from very large to small scale including cellulose, paper production to medicines and fragrances. Interestingly, all types of regulations for these processes as well as solvents are required [2]. Currently, much attention has been provided to the substitution of conventional organic solvents by using nonconventional solvents to reduce toxic waste and enhance selectivity and/or extraction efficiency. The design of green along with sustainable extraction methods of secondary metabolites is presently a hot research topic in the multidisciplinary field of applied chemistry, technology and biological sciences [3]. The isolation of high-value bioactive NPs including polyphenols, pigments, proteins and dietary fibers involving nonconventional solvents is now broadly investigated to protect Mother Nature [4–12]. Green solvents are eco-friendly solvents that have a profound role in extracting active chemical components from raw materials (plants). NPs and their structural analogues comprise historically a key role in pharmacotherapy, particularly for cancer and infectious diseases [13]. Hence, this chapter concentrates on a brief introduction, features and applications of nonconventional solvents for the isolation of NPs as an alternative media. This chapter provides an extensive application of nonconventional solvents such as subcritical water (SW), ionic liquids (ILs), bio-based solvents and liquefied dimethyl ether and structures of isolated NPs using nonconventional solvents in a brilliant manner.

Acknowledgment: S. Majhi is thankful to his father Tarani Majhi and mother Sadeswari Majhi for their kind support and inspiration.

^{*}Corresponding author: Sasadhar Majhi, Department of Chemistry (UG and PG), Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University, Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India, e-mail: sasadharmajhi@gmail.com Sudipta Saha, Department of Chemistry (UG and PG), Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University, Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India

Asish Kumar Dey, Triveni Devi Bhalotia College, Kazi Nazrul University, Raniganj 713347, West Bengal, India

Shyamal K. Jash, Department of Chemistry, Krishna Chandra College, Hetampur, Birbhum 731124, West Bengal, India

6.2 Subcritical water

Subcritical water extraction (SWE) has become an accessible green extraction and separation technique for several types of compounds which are found in diverse types of samples and matrices, including food, environmental and botanical sources [14]. It is a green method based on the application of water as an extractant (extraction solvent) in which temperatures exist between 100 and 374 °C with high pressure to maintain the liquid state [15, 16]. Currently, SWE is an efficient method to extract chemicals selectively having various functional groups in secondary metabolites such as flavonoids, terpenoids, carbohydrates, essential oils, vitamins, organic acids and polyphenolic compounds [14–17]. SWE is a promising alternative compared to the traditional method because it is a nontoxic, inexpensive, easily available, nonflammable and eco-friendly technique [14, 15]. Moreover, this rapid extraction technique avoids the loss along with the degradation of volatile compounds which are found in many herbal materials [18, 19].

6.2.1 Features of subcritical water

Under ambient conditions, water is very polar along with a weak solvent for many organic molecules [20]. Its polarity comprises a dramatic effect with increasing temperature; pressure is employed to retain water in a liquid state. The polarity of SW can be greatly reduced by an increase in temperature which is an unparalleled feature of it. Notably, water becomes less polar with increasing temperature. The polarity of SW is determined by the value of the dielectric constant. Interestingly, when water is heated above 100 °C, its dielectric constant reduces and SW can behave similarly to organic solvents [21]. For example, at 214 °C, the dielectric constant of water (H₂O) obeyed the identical value as methanol (CH₃OH) at room temperature, and H₂O at 295 °C can act similarly to simplest ketone acetone (CH₃COCH₃). It provides SW with an eco-friendly and sustainable extraction fluid employed for a diversity of organic compounds. It is interesting to be noted that optimum conditions for SWE of a supplied substance rely on temperature, pressure, flow rate, pH, water characteristics and extraction kinetics, along with the analyte's chemical structure [22–24].

6.2.2 Applications of subcritical water for the isolation of natural products as a green solvent

6.2.2.1 Alkaloids

In 2020, the nutritional and bioactive content of banana (Musaceae) together with red beetroot (*Beta vulgaris*) peels was assessed by Komes and coworkers [25]. Standard

method of Association of Official Analytical Chemists was applied for the determination of basic macrocomponent composition along with innovative extraction techniques. It includes microwave- and ultrasound-promoted extraction, and SWE was used for the extraction of bioactive compounds including alkaloids. It has been observed that the extract comprises a maximum total reddish to violet betacyanin content (9.81 mg betanin g⁻¹ dmb), and the U30 extract contains the maximum betaxanthin content (8.61 mg vulgaxanthin I g⁻¹ dmb), as well as extracts of banana peel include highest dopamine content (12.63 mg g⁻¹ dmb).

Food industries create huge amounts of residues. Jokíc et al. [26] isolated important compounds from the cocoa shell (normally regarded as "waste") involving SWE as a sustainable green separation process in 2018. Different concentrations of theobromine, theophylline, caffeine and epicatechin were ascertained in the extracts derived from SW, depending on the applied extraction conditions.

Liu and coworkers [27] described an effective and eco-friendly extraction and analysis strategy for the ascertainment of alkaloids such as cytisine, sophocarpine, matrine (1), sophoridine, together with oxymatrine in *Sophora flavescens* by applying SWE along with capillary electrophoresis. SWE displayed the maximum extraction efficiency for the yield of the total alkaloid. SWE includes some merits over traditional extraction methods including a short extraction time, no requirement for organic volatile solvent consumption as well as improved extraction efficiency.

6.2.2.2 Flavonoids

Chuna et al. [28] reported SWE of isoflavones (chemoprotective) from soybean byproducts with minimal degradation by applying response surface methodology (RSM) for the standardization of pressure, temperature, along with solid extractant volume in 2019. RSM of the extraction variables with SW (extraction time 5 min) suggested that the optimized conditions would be P = 3.98 MPa, T = 146.23 °C and a = 20 mg (solid) mL (extractant)⁻¹. It has also been evident from detailed kinetics modeling that the optimum extraction time was 213.5 ± 8.7 min.

The multitalented technology is the SW hydrolysis with different merits in the processing of important products from biomass [29]. Chun and coworkers [30] demonstrated that this hydrolysis with controlled prolonged reaction time displayed a prominent effect on the composition of bioactive molecules in the hydrolysates. The experimental result indicated that after 215 min, there was a 55% improvement in total phenolic contents from the initial reaction time, reflecting the maximum recovery. Besides, isoflavones, genistein and daidzein were improved by up to 6.5- and 9-folds, from 5 to 245 min, respectively.

In 2018, SW was applied by Wang et al. [31] for the extraction of isoflavones namely puerarin, 3'-methoxypuerarin, daidzein and daidzin from *Pueraria lobata* firstly; the total isoflavones were investigated by employing SW as a green solvent.

The extraction yields of puerarin, 3'-methoxypuerarin and daidzin gained the highest at extraction temperatures of 120, 140 and 200 °C, respectively, having an extraction time of 45 min together with a liquid/solid ratio of 1:20. RSM (extraction time of 45 min, solid/liquid ratio of 1:15 along with extraction temperature of 120 °C) provided the highest extraction yields of the total secondary metabolite isoflavones.

The extraction condition of the SW solvent together with the structure of the flavonoid affected greatly the extraction of a flavonoid, the polyphenolic compound that is frequently appended to nutraceuticals as antioxidants due to bioavailability [32]. An excellent solvent is SW (about 10 MPa) for extracting nonpolar flavonoids by altering the temperature-dependent dielectric constant. Chung and coworkers [33] ascertained the optimum conditions for SWE, including time and temperature, for extracting flavonoids from eight plants, along with their dependence on the chemical structure of flavonoids such as the polarity of side chains and the existence of sugar and double bonds. At lower temperatures, flavonoids containing an OH side chain such as quercetin (2) at 170 °C/ 10 min were optimally extracted compared to O-CH₃, namely, isorhamnetin at 190 °C/ 15 min and H such as kaempferol (3) at 190 °C/15 min side chains. The glycoside forms comprising sugar, namely, quercitrin (110 °C/5 min), isoquercitrin (150 °C/15 min) and spiraeoside (150 °C/15 min) included lower optimal temperatures compared to the less polar aglycones (170 °C/10 min and 190 °C/15 min). In SWE, apigenin (4) bearing double bonds was extracted well at a higher temperature (190 °C/15 min) compared to naringenin (5) (170 °C/15 min). It has also been also observed that the optimum temperature was greater for a tetrahydroxyflavone luteolin (6) from carrots (190 °C/15 min) compared to the plant flavonol quercetin (2) (170 °C/15 min).

6.2.2.3 Lignans

A perennial herb *Sinopodophyllum hexandrum* was found efficient in rheumatism treatment and blood activation, along with dehumidification as a valuable traditional Tibetan medicine [34]. Secondary metabolite lignans occur in the roots of this herb in large amounts. Chen and coworkers [35] reported a green extraction of an aryltetralin-type lignan podophyllotoxin (7) from this plant using optimized SWE amalgamated with macroporous resin enrichment in 2018. RSM was performed to optimize the SWE conditions for a better extraction yield. An extraction temperature of 180 °C, extraction pressure of 4 MPa, SW flow rate of 2.5 mL min⁻¹ and extraction solvent to feed ratio of 18 mL g⁻¹ were the maximum extraction efficiencies in this study. The content of podophyllotoxin which is broadly employed in combination therapy of cancer in the final desired product reached 61.5% than that of 8.3% in the crude extract derived by SWE. Moreover, a betterment of 74.6% was established.

Sesame (*Sesamum indicum* L.) seeds consist of a major array of lignans and phenolic molecules with significant biological activities. An optimized methodology to derive these seed components was disclosed by Maestri and coworkers [36] involving water and ethanol at high temperature and pressure conditions. The highest concentrations of lignans and other phytochemicals were gained at 220 °C extraction temperature and 8 MPa pressure, employing 63.5% ethanol as a cosolvent.

6.2.2.4 Steroids

For thousands of years, ashwagandha (*Withania somnifera* L. Dunal) is an important medicinal herb that has been extensively employed in Ayurvedic along with Chinese medicine and belongs to the Solanaceae family, broadly called Indian ginseng that includes several medicinal properties [37]. Kai and coworkers [38] employed SWE of withanosides and withanolides (**8–20**, Figure 6.1) from this plant in 2019, and SWE was used to analyze the plant's bioactive compounds at varying temperatures (100–200 °C) and extraction time (10–30 min). The plant extract employing SWE displayed high concentrations of withanolide, withanoside and steroidal lactone molecules with potent biological properties. This suggested that the SWE at 160 °C for 20 min could be employed as a novel methodology for extraction of bioactive molecules from this medicinal plant, instead of traditional methods such as maceration, Soxhlet extraction and microwaveassisted extraction (MAE) since these are more time-consuming and needed hazardous solvents. The SWE together with a steroidal lactone withaferin A displayed a potent reduction in cell viability of cervical cancer (HeLa) cells, having half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) values of 10 mg mL⁻¹ and 8.5 μ M mL⁻¹, respectively.

The main steroid hormone in insects is ecdysone, which is the main steroid hormone in insects that comprises important roles in coordinating developmental transitions including larval molting along with metamorphosis via its active metabolite 20-hydroxyecdysone [39]. Meireles and coworkers [40] reported the extraction of beta-ecdysone using SWE in 2017. Brazilian ginseng roots (BGRs) and aerial parts produced beta-ecdysone using SWE aiming to apply the whole plant in a biorefinery approach. BGRs displayed a beta-ecdysone content of up to 0.7 g/100 g of extract as well as aerial parts provided 0.3 g/100 g of extract.

6.2.2.5 Terpenoids

Inula racemosa has long been employed for the treatment of bacterial infections, inflammation and chronic gastritis [41]. Phytochemical investigation of *I. racemosa* disclosed the existence of higher amounts of sesquiterpene lactones [42]. Recently, Chen and coworkers [43] applied the green technique of SWE for the effective extraction of sesquiterpene lactones from *I. racemosa*. The investigators examined several parameters including temperature (190 °C), extraction time (45 min) and SW flow rate (3.0 mL min⁻¹) for the recovery of desired compounds under optimal conditions. Four sesquiterpene lactone isomers

such as igalan, alantolactone, isoalantolactone *etc* were separated by *prep*-HPLC (high-performance liquid chromatography) from the SWE extract.

The multiflorane triterpene ester group of compounds includes 3.29-dibenzoylkarounidiol. It is difficult to dissolve in water but dissolves simply in lipophilic organic solvents [44]. Hence, organic solvents such as methanol, ether, dichloromethane and trichloromethane are employed to extract and separate 3,29-dibenzoylkarounidiol from Semen richonsanthis (the seeds of Trichosanthes kirilowii) frequently [45]. However, most of these organic solvents are poisonous and volatile as well as they require a long extraction time, and the yields are usually low. Besides, saponification is needed generally. So, more efficient and greener routes are essential for the extraction of 3.29-dibenzovlkarounidiol. Xue and coworkers [46] applied green SW technology for the extraction of 3,29dibenzoylkarounidiol from Semen richonsanthis in 2019 [46]. In this green technique, the optimum conditions of 3.29-dibenzovlkarounidiol (0.102 ± 0.004%) were achieved at 130 °C, 10 min and 4.0 mL water loading. Compared with heating reflux and ultrasonic extraction, the three extracts were evaluated by antioxidant property against DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) as well as cytotoxicity toward HeLa cells. The experimental results disclosed that the activities of SW extracts are more encouraging compared to the other extracts and can be safely employed in nutraceuticals along with pharmaceutical products.

Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni leaves have attracted great attention as a noncaloric sweetener called steviol glycosides over the last two decades, and its leaf extracts are valuable sources of bioactive compounds including diterpenic glycosides, carotenoids, chlorophylls, ascorbic acid and polyphenols with antioxidant and antimicrobial activities [47, 48]. Putnik and coworkers [49] developed an effective and multitalented approach for the green recovery of diterpene steviol glycosides from *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni leaves through pressurized hot water extraction in 2018. Herein, the main parameter for the extraction is temperature; the most recoveries of all bioactive molecules (excluding carotenoids) were at 160 °C. The experimental results revealed that higher temperatures and cycles, along with static extraction time extracted better levels of stevioside and rebaudioside A, a steviol glycoside that is 240 times sweeter compared to sugar.

Hedyotis diffusa Willd. is a type of herb employed in traditional Chinese medicine and it was also used to treat several types of cancer in combination with other herbal medicines [50]. Phytochemical investigations of this plant revealed a variety of active components such as flavonoids, steroids and triterpene acids namely ursolic acid [51]. A pentacyclic ursolic acid displays various biological activities including antitumor, anti-HIV, anti-inflammatory and antidiabetic [52, 53]. Lei and coworkers [54] developed an efficient and environmentally sound extraction method to isolate triterpenoid ursolic acid from *Hedyotis diffusa* using SWE in 2017. RSM was successfully implemented for the optimization of ursolic acid yield, and the maximum yield of this pentacyclic triterpenoid was 6.45 mg g⁻¹ material. SWE was superior than that of ultrasonic extraction, reflux extraction and MAE since it was eco-friendly, cost-saving and time-saving.



Figure 6.1: The structures of various natural products isolated using subcritical water.

6.3 Ionic liquid

Choi and Verpoorte [55] revealed a statement like "What you see is what you extract" in pointing out that solvent extraction is a vital step in the preparation of phytochemical samples. However, we can generalize it to food, cosmetic, perfumery and pharmaceutical production by extracting aromatics, colors, antioxidants, fats and oils, and fine chemicals. Volatile organic compounds used in extraction are usually derived from nonrenewable resources, primarily petroleum, and are suspected to be toxic to humans and the environment. As a replacement for organic solvents (high volatility, flammability and toxicity), ILs have gained significant interest and growing demand due to the aversion toward green solvents [56]. When organic cations and organic or inorganic anions are combined, a class of nonmolecular solvents known as ILs is created that melts below 100 °C [57].

The green role of ILs has been widely contested due to their low biocompatibility and biodegradability during the past few years [58–60]. Deep eutectic solvents (DESs), a green substitute for ILs, have been gradually appearing since 2004 to address this issue [59]. In addition, they differ from ILs in a few ways, most notably in how simple and inexpensive it is to store and synthesize them [61].

ILs made of bioderived components offer the added benefit in this regard and are excellent options for solvents that are sustainable and environmentally friendly. In order to extract along with promising components of purification from herbal medicines, numerous studies had used IL-based methods.

6.3.1 Features of ionic liquid

In general, several comparison of investigations clearly showed that ILs were superior extractants than typical molecular solvents (such as water, methanol, ethanol, dichloromethane, chloroform and toluene). Since it is well known that the type of anion has a significant impact on properties like polarity, viscosity, density and surface tension for a group of ILs based on the same cation, many studies began by performing a comparison of the extraction abilities of various anions, primarily with [C₄C₁im]C as the cation [62]. There has been an assessment of a wide variety of anions that differ in their complexity and the possibilities for noncovalent interactions. According to these experiments, Br[–] anion is preferred over the other anion compounds, except in some instances. Anions like Cl⁻, [BF₄]⁻, [PF₆]⁻, [OTs]⁻ and [C₁CO₂]⁻ were nevertheless successful as well. However, Cl⁻ and Br⁻ were chosen because of their superior overall extraction efficiency, in situations where similar compounds need to be extracted, or for more practical or cost-effective reasons. In some cases, [C₁CO₂] and [OTs] anions demonstrated comparable or better extraction ability than Cl⁻ and Br⁻. Among the anions used, saccharinate [Sac][–] and acesulfamate [Ace][–] showed improved performance over Cl⁻ and Br⁻. As a result of the characteristics of anions selected, it can be concluded that hydrogen bonding [63] is the most important factor influencing extraction, but there is also a possibility of synergistic effects due to $\pi - \pi$ and $n - \pi$ interactions offered by some aromatic rings containing anions. It is important to take care of the results obtained with ILs containing $[BF_4]^-$ and $[PF_6]^-$ anions; they are prone to hydrolyzing, particularly at high temperatures, and generating hydrogen fluoride, which for sure decreases the system's initial pH value [64]. In addition, the IL concentration plays a very important role from an application point of view. It is also possible to obtain an incomplete extraction by using ILs in a low concentration, while the use of extra amounts of ILs will essentially increase the overall cost of the process. Many studies report high IL concentrations that result in higher extraction yields; however, the yields reduce after reaching a maximum as the IL concentration increases. There was also an increase in viscosity, which may have resulted from either the IL itself or from the dissolution of additional compounds from the plant matrix, such as carbohydrates. Since the concentration of IL significantly affects its physicochemical properties [65], fine-tuning the extractive systems could be achieved by increasing or decreasing IL concentrations [62].

6.3.1.1 Sugar containing ionic liquids

In view of the possibility of using ILs to depolymerize carbohydrate polymers which are hard to dissolve, it would be beneficial to develop sugar-based ILs for an application that would require a "closed-loop" method of depolymerizing carbohydrate polymers [66]. ILs based on sugars with potential for use in this area have already been synthesized, although they have been used in other applications. As shown in Figure 2A-C, 1,2,3-triazolium ILs containing glucose linkage were synthesized by copper(I)-catalyzed cycloaddition of glucose azides with glucose alkynes, followed by guaternization with methyl iodide [67]. The ILs were utilized in copper(I)-catalyzed amination of aryl halides with aqueous ammonia as reusable chiral solvents and ligands. The chemicals can be employed as a solvent because the triazolium salt keeps it liquid at room temperature. The free hydroxyl groups in the glucose moiety also help to stabilize copper(I) species during the reaction. A promising IL with solvent potential has also been created using methyl-D-glucopyranoside [68]. The hydroxyl at the main position is shielded throughout the synthesis process using thexyldimethylsilyl chloride. After lowering the anomeric position and further deprotecting the main hydroxyl, the other secondary hydroxyl groups were transformed into methyl ethers. The primary hydroxyl group was first deprotected, and after that, it was changed into a triflate to create an intermediate. Using diethyl sulfide, this triflate intermediate underwent a nucleophilic substitution reaction to produce an IL containing a triflate anion and a sulfonium cation that was liquid at normal temperature (Figure 6.2A–C).

Fructose was employed by Handy et al. [69] to create ILs at room temperature. Copper carbonate, ammonia and formaldehyde were employed in their synthetic procedure to ring close fructose and create hydroxymethylene imidazole. To create an imidazolium cation, this imidazole underwent a series of alkylation processes (with 1-bromobutane and iodomethane). A variety of room-temperature ILs were produced by anion metathesis (Figure 6.2D) and employed as reusable solvents for the Mizoroki–Heck cross-coupling of aryl iodides with alkenes.

In 2018, 2,3,5-tri-*O*-benzyl-D-arabinofuranose [70] was used to begin the synthesis of an arabinose-based imidazolium IL (Figure 6.2E). All of the hydroxyl groups in Darabinose, with the exception of the one on the carbon next to the ring oxygen atom, were benzylated to create the pentofuranoside starting material. The reaction between



Figure 6.2: (A and B) Glucose-tagged triazolium ILs; (C) glucopyranoside-based IL; (D) fructose-based ILs; and (E) arabinose-based ILs.

the free hydroxyl group and propane-1,3-diyldioxyphosphoryl chloride was then carried out in the presence of 1-methylimidazole to produce a mixture of anomeric phosphates. This was then combined in a catalytic amount with 1-methylimidazolium chloride and trimethylsilyl triflate to create a pure anomeric IL that contains a chloride anion. Two more ILs were produced by anion metathesis processes and employed as cosolvents in the synthesis of alcohols from aromatic aldehydes (Figure 6.2E) [70].

6.3.1.2 Alkaloid containing ionic liquids

Using different organic cation hydroxides to neutralize basic ammonia solutions of ampicillin, Ferraz et al. [71] developed ILs containing ampicillin as active pharmaceutical ingredients. The development of bioactive materials may make use of these ampicillin-based ILs [71]. In a study published in 2002, Wasserscheid and Bolm [72] synthesized chiral ILs by alkylation of ephedrine with dimethyl sulfate followed by ion exchange to form ILs with melting points of 54 °C. ILs have been synthesized from nicotine by quaternizing the pyridine ring with ethyl bromide and methyl iodide as reported by Heckel et al. [73]. The nicotine-based chiral ILs were tested as chiral solvating agents (Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3: Alkaloid-based ILs [(A) ampicillin-based ILs; (B) ephedrine-based IL; and (C) nicotine-based ILs].

6.3.1.3 Lipid-containing ionic liquids

In the synthesis of four ILs with melting points below 21 °C, oleate and linoleate were utilized (Figure 6.4A–D). Initial neutralizing processes with NaOH were used to extract unsaturated fatty acids, and then either tetraoctylammonium chloride or methyltrioc-tylammonium chloride was used for ion exchange. The extraction of metal ions from aqueous solutions using ILs as solvents was then accomplished satisfactorily [74]. Additionally, Kwan et al. [75] produced ILs from lipids by alkylating a tertiary amine (Figure 6.4E–G). In this case, methyl oleate and methyl stearate were the lipids utilized. In the third case, the tertiary amine was alkylated using diethylzinc and cyclo-propanated oleic acid methyl ester to create the reaction between the oleate's double bond and diiodomethane. Alkyl iodide was produced by reacting it with imidazoles, and anion exchange of the iodide with bistriflimide produced imidazolium bistriflimide intermediates (ILs).

6.3.2 Applications of ionic liquid for the isolation of natural products as a green solvent

Traditional methods for purifying single compounds from plants began with extraction, followed by repeated chromatography using macroporous resins, silica gel, Sephadex LH-20 column chromatography and HPLC. There was a waste of time and money involved in these purification processes. Due to their unique chemical functional groups, ILs had been proposed to catch NPs [76, 77].

6.3.2.1 Flavonoids

Flavonoids are different types such as flavones, flavonols, isoflavones, chalcones and anthocyanidins comprising a $C_6-C_3-C_6$ skeleton [78–80]. Furthermore, the architectures



Figure 6.4: Anions and cations used in the syntheses of lipid-based ILs (A–D); lipid-based imidazolyl ILs (E–G).

of flavonoid molecules frequently contained hydroxyl, methoxyl and glycosyl groups. Table 6.1 and Figure 6.5 describe all flavonoids (**21–63**) that were obtained from natural sources by using ILs.

There have been many studies showing rutin (quercetin-3-*O*-rutinoside, **21**) component to be an active component in herbs, such as *Tamarix chinensis* [81], *Sophora japonica* L. and *Abutilon theophrasti* [26]. Depending on its polarity and acidity, it could be extracted using a variety of solvent extraction techniques. As rutin has a polarity, it is usually extracted by refluxing ethanol with water [82]. Moreover, Ca(OH)₂ solution could be used to enrich acidic rutin as well [83]. Due to their disadvantages, the traditional methods were unable to be applied further due to their low yield of 8% [82] and long-time requirements. Thus, Zhao et al. [84] developed a new method for extracting rutin from *A. theophrasti* leaves using ultrasonic and microwave-assisted extraction (UMAE) with IL [C₄mim]Br. In contrast to heating reflux extraction with methanol, ILs-UMAE produced 5.49 mg g⁻¹ of rutin, an increase of 2.01 times. To further demonstrate the superiority of [Bmim]Br extraction over ultrasonic extraction with methanol, Wang et al. [81] extracted rutin (0.0756%.) from *T. chinensis* using [Bmim]Br, which was 15.1% greater than that of traditional methods.

Type of ionic liquids	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
[Bmim]Br, [Hmim]BF, SilprBIMCl, [Bmim] BF4[Hmim]Br, [C4mim]Br	MAE, SPE, UMAE	Rutin (21)	Saururus chinensis, Artemisia capillaris, Tamarix chinensis, Xanthium sibiricum	[80–82, 86, 87]
SilprBImCl, SilprIm NH ₂ , SilprPy, SiImBr, [Hmim] Br, SilmPS, [C ₄ mim]Br, [HO ₃ S (CH ₂) ₄ mim]-HSO ₄ , [Bmim] Br, [BPy]Br	UMAE, MDSPE, MAE	Quercetin (2)	Toona sinensis, Artemisia capillaris, Ginkgo biloba, Xanthium sibiricum	[80, 88, 89]
[HO ₃ S(CH ₂) ₄ mim]HSO ₄ , Mim, [Bmim]Br, [BPy]Br, [Hmim] Br	MAE	Kaempferol-3- <i>Ο</i> -β-D- glucoside (22)	Hippophae rhamnoides, Toona sinensis, Ginkgo biloba	[88, 89]
[C ₆ MIM]Br, [C₄MIM]Br, [C ₈ mim]Br	CAE, MAE	Orientin (23), vitexin (24), genistin (25), isovitexin (26), luteolin-6- C - β -D- glucopyranosyl-8- C - α -L- arabinopyranoside (27), luteolin-6- O - β -L- arabinopyranosyl-8- O - β -D- glucopyranoside (28), apigenin-8- O - α -L- arabinoside (29), apigenin- 6 ,8-di- O - α -L- arabinopyranoside (30)	Cajanus cajan, Glycine max	[90, 91]
[Omim][PF ₆], BMImBF ₄ , [Hmim][PF ₆], [Bmim][PF ₆], [C ₈ mim]Br, [Bmim][NTf ₂], [C ₆ min]Br, 1-butyl-3- methylimidazolium bromide	Liquid–liquid extraction, MAE, CAE, UAE	Ononin (31), daidzin (32), biochanin A (33), formononetin (34), puerarin (35), genistein (36), daidzein (37)	Pueraria lobata, Glycine max, Cajanus cajan	[90–92]
[HO ₃ S(CH ₂) ₄ mim]HSO ₄	MAE	Isorhamnetin (38)	Ginkgo biloba	[89]
1-Butyl-3-methyl- imidazolium bromide, [C ₆ mim][PF ₆], C ₄ mim][PF ₆], [C ₈ mim][PF ₆]	MAE, TPME	Fisetin (39), kaempferide (40)	Pueraria lobata, Rheum officinale, Coptis chinensis	[92, 93]
[C ₄ mim][PF ₆]	Aqueous two-phase system	Baicalein-7- <i>O</i> -diglucoside (41), baicalein-7- <i>O</i> - glucoside (42)	Veratrum stenophyllum	[85]

Table 6.1: Ionic liquids used to extract flavonoids from natural sources.

Table 6.1 (continued)

Type of ionic liquids	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
[C ₂ mim]OAc	Aqueous two-phase systems	Pelargonin (43), cyanidin (44), peonidin (45), petunidin (46), malvidin (47)	Vitis vinifera	[92]
[C ₁₂ mim]Br, [Bmim][MS], [C ₈ mim]Br	CAE, UAE	Luteolin (6), apigenin (4)	Apium graveolens, Chrysanthemum morifolium, Cajanus cajan	[84, 91, 94]
1-Vinylimidazole, [Dmim] Br, 1-oxyl-3- methylimidazolium bromide, [Hmim][Cl, 1-bromodecane, [Emim] [Cl], [Omim][Cl], [Bmim] [Cl]	SPE, MPDE, UAE	Myricetin (48)	<i>Chamaecyparis obtusa</i> (hinoki cypress)	[95]
EMIMB, [BMIM]Cl	UAE, ATPS	Rhodiosin (49), rhodionin (50)	Rhodiola rosea	[96, 97]
[Emim][Cl, 1-vinylimidazole, [Bmim] [Cl, 1-bromodecane, [Hmim][Cl], [DMIM]Br, [Omim][Cl]	SPE, MPDE	Quercitrin (51)	Chamaecyparis obtusa	[95, 98]
1-Ethyl-3-methyl- imidazoliumbromide	SPE	Herbacetin-8- <i>O</i> -β-D- glucopyranoside (52), herbacetin-3- <i>O</i> -β-D- glucopyranosyl-7- <i>O</i> -α-L- rhamnopyranoside (53), kaempferol 3- <i>O</i> -β-D- glucopyranoside (54), kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -β-D- glucopyranosyl-7- <i>O</i> -α-L- rhamnopyranoside (55)	Rhodiola rosea	[99]
[C ₁₂ mim]Br	UAE	Acacetin (56)	Chrysanthemum morifolium	[94]
[C ₈ mim]Br	UAE	Baicalein (57), wogonin (58)	Scutellaria baicalensis	[100]

Type of ionic liquids	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
[sC ₄ mim][HSO ₄], [C ₄ mim][Br], [mim][HSO ₄], [C ₂ mim][Br]	Liquid–liquid extraction	Anthocyanin-3-(6- <i>O-p</i> - coumaroyl) monoglucosides (59), anthocyanin-3- <i>O</i> - acetylmonoglucosides (60)	Vitis vinifera	[101]
[C ₄ mim]BF ₄	MAE	Hyperin (61)	Populus euphratica	[102]
[Emim][Cl], [Prmim][Cl], [B mim][Cl], [C₅mim][BF₄], [C₅mim][Cl], [EMIM][BF₄], [Emim][Br], [Prmim][Br], [Prmim][BF₄], [Bmim][Br], [C₅mim][BF₄], [Bmim][BF₄]	ATPS	Kaempferol-3,4'-di- <i>O</i> -β-D- glucoside (62), kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -β-D-(2- <i>O</i> -β- D-glucosyl)- glucopyranoside (63)	Brassica napus	[103]

Table 6.1 (continued)

MAE, microwave-assisted extraction; SPE solid-phase extraction; UMAE, ultrasonic and microwave-assisted extraction; MDSPE, magnetic-dispersive SPE; CAE, collagenase-assisted extraction; UAE, ultrasound-assisted extraction; TPME, three-phase microextraction; ATPS, aqueous two-phase systems.

6.3.2.2 Alkaloids

Alkaloids comprise basic nitrogen atoms and one or more carbon rings (Figure 6.6) [104]. Alkaloids are classified as tryptophan-derived, phenylalanine-derived and terpenoid alkaloids, among others, based on their chemical component and biosynthesis process. Figure 6.6 and Table 6.2 provide descriptions of alkaloids (**64–89**) that were obtained from natural sources by using ILs [105–107].

A magnetic IL (MIL) was developed by Li et al. [108] based on ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE) for the extraction of sinomenine (64) from *S. acutum*. The yield of this bioactive alkaloid (64) was enhanced by 2.4 and 2.8 times with MILs than that of reflux extraction using 70% ethanol–water (v:v) and pure water, respectively. Notably, the extraction time course was also decreased by ILs by 4 h.

Dong et al. [109] extracted five alkaloids (**65–69**) from *Physochlaina infundibularis* by a similar approach. The investigators observed that the amount of IL and the solid–liquid ratio affect the yield of alkaloids; IL aqueous solution required lower time (55 min compared to 80 min) than that of water [110].



21. R1=Rut, R2=R3=R5=R6=H, R4=OH 2. R1=R3=R4=R5=R6=H, R2=OH 22. R1=Glc, R2=R3=R4=R5=R6=H 38. R1=R3=R4=R5=R6=H, R2=OMe **39**. R1=R3=R4=R5=R6=H. R2=OH **40**. R1=R2=R4=R5=R6=H. R3=Me **48**. R1=R3=R4=R5=R6=H. R2=OH 49. R1=R2=R3=R4=H. R5=OH. R6=Rha(3-1)Glc 50. R1=R2=R3=R4=H, R5=OH, R6=Rha 51. R1=Rha, R2=OH, R3= R4=R5=R6=H 52. R1=R2=R3=R4=R6=H, R5=OGlc 53. R1=Glc, R2=R3=R4=H, R5=OH, R6=Rha 54. R1= Glc(2-1)Xyl, R2=R3=R4=R5=R6=H 55. R1=Glc, R2=R3=R4=R5=H, R6=Rha 61. R1=Glc, R2=OH, R3= R4=R5=R6=H 62. R1=R3=Glc, R2=R4=R5=R6=H 63. R1= Glc(2-1)Glc, R2=R3=R4=R5=R6=H



R1=R4=H, R2=R5=R6=OH, R3=OGlc
 R1=R4=R6=H, R2=R5=OH, R3=OGlc
 R1=Glc, R2=R5=OH, R3=R4=R6=H
 R1=Glc, R2=R5=R6=OH, R3=Ara, R4=H
 R1=Ara, R2=R5=R6=OH, R3=Glc, R4=H
 R1=R3=Ara, R2=R5=OH, R4=R6=H
 R1=R3=Ara, R2=R5=OH, R4=R6=H
 R1=R3=R6=H, R2=R4=R5=R6=H
 R1=R3=R6=H, R2=R4=R5=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=CH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=CH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=CH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R3=R4=R6=H, R2=OH
 R1=R2=OH, R3=R4=R5=R6=H
 R1=R2=OH, R3=R4=R5=R6=H
 R1=R4=R5=R6=H, R2=OH, R3=OMe



R1=R3=R4=H, R2=Glc
 R1=R3=H, R2=Glc, R4=Me
 R1=OH, R3=R4=H, R2=Glc
 R1=OH, R2=R3=H, R4=Me
 R1=R2=R3=H, R4=Me
 R1=R2=R4=H, R3=Glc
 R1=CH, R2=R3=R4=H
 R1=R2=R3=R4=H



- 43. R1=R3=R4=H, R2=OH
 44. R1=R2=R3=OH, R4=H
 45. R1=OMe, R2=OH, R3=R4=H
 46. R1=OMe, R2=R3=OH, R4=H
 47. R1=R3=OMe, R2= OH, R4=Me
 59. R1=R2=R3=H, R4=GlcAc
 60. R1=R2=R3=H, R4=GlcAc
- Figure 6.5: The structures of different flavonoids (21-63) extracted using ionic liquid.

6.3.2.3 Terpenoids

Secondary metabolite terpenoids are different types such as monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, diterpenes, sesterpenes and triterpenes [118]. ILs were used to extract all terpenoids from natural sources. Terpenoids (**90–119**) are listed in Table 6.3 and Figure 6.7. A diterpenoid called paclitaxel (**90**) existed in several *Taxus* species [119, 120]. This compound was used as an antitumor drug in clinical trials. Paclitaxel is usually extracted

Type of ionic liquids	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
[C ₂ OHmim]FeCl ₄	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	Sinomenine (64)	Adenia chevalieri	[108]
[C ₃ tr][PF ₆]	Maceration	Anisodamine (65), atropine (66), scopolamine (67), aposcopolamine (68), scopoline (69)	Physochlaina infundibularis	[109]
1-Ethyl-3- methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	Aconitine (70), mesaconitine (71), hypaconitine (72)	Aconitum carmichaelii	[112]
1-Butyl-3- methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate, 1-butyl -3-methylimidazolium, bromide1-butyl-3- methylimidazole tetrafluoroborate	Infrared- assisted extraction, ultrasound- assisted extraction	Coptisine (73), palmatine (74), berberine (75), boldine (76)	Coptis chinensis, Dicranostigma leptopodum, Phellodendron amurense	[108, 113]
[C₄mim][BF₄]	Aqueous two- phase system	<i>N</i> -Nornuciferine (77), nuciferine (78), roemerine (79)	Nelumbo nucifera	[114]
[C ₄ C ₁ im][Ace, 1-butyl-2,3- dimethyl-imidazolium tetrafluoroborate	Infrared- assisted extraction, maceration	Glaucine (80)	Glaucium flavum	[111, 115]
[C₄mim][PF ₆]	Aqueous two- phase systems	Liensinine (81), isoliensinine (82), romerine (83), neferine (84)	Nelumbo nucifera	[116]
[C ₆ mim]Br	Aqueous two- phase system	Benzoylmesaconine (85), benzoylaconine (86), mesaconitine (87), hypaconitine (88), aconitine (89)	Aconitum carmichaelii	[117]

Table 6.2: Ionic liquids used to extract alkaloids from natural sources.



Figure 6.6: The structures of various alkaloids (64–89) extracted using ionic liquids.

from the original plant by two different methods [121, 122]. Tian et al. [123] dissolved paclitaxel in methanol alongside MIL [C_4 mim]FeCl_3Br during the extraction process of *Taxus* species to provide improved yield with significant time savings (16 h vs 30 min).

Type of ILs	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
MIL [C₄mim]FeCl₃Br	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	Paclitaxel (90)	Taxus chinensis	[123]
Tetramethyl guanidium lactate	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	Forskolin (91)	Coleus forskohlii	[124]
Didecyldimethyl lactate, Tris (2-hydroxyethyl) methylammonium methylsulfate, benzalconium nitrate, didecyldimethyl nitrate, benzalconium lactate	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	α-Pinene (92), cadina-1,4- diene (93), 1,8-cineole (94), calamenene (95), linalool (96), humulene (97), terpinen-4-ol (98), β-caryophyllene (99), borneol (100), bergamotene (101), α-terpineol (102), bornyl acetate (103), α-copaene (104), cubebene (105)	Cinnamomum cassia	[125]
[BMIM][BF4]	Ultrasound- assisted extraction	Scroside B (106), picroside II (107), hemiphroside A (108), picroside (109), scroside A (110), scroside I (111), scroside C (112), scroside D (113), picroside III (114), picroside I (115), specioside (116), 6- <i>O-E</i> -feruloyl catalpol (117)	Picrorhiza scrophulariiflora	[126]
$\label{eq:c4C1im} \begin{split} & [C_4C_1im][N(CN)_2], [C_4C1pyr] \\ & CI, [C_4C_1im][TOS], [C_4C_1im] \\ & [SCN], [C_4C_1py][N(CN)_2], \\ & [C_4C_1im][C_2H_5SO_4] \end{split}$	Liquid–liquid extraction	Ursolic (118), betulinic acids (119)	Malus pumila	[127]

 Table 6.3: Ionic liquids used to extract terpenoids from natural sources.



Figure 6.7: The structures of various terpenoids (90-119) extracted by employing ionic liquids.
6.3.2.4 Phenylpropanoids

NPs like coumarins and lignans are composed of C_6-C_3 units, which are the general skeleton of phenylpropanoids [128]. Figure 6.8 and Table 6.4 show phenylpropanoids (**120–138**) obtained from natural sources using ILs.

Compound psoralen (**124**) is the main active component of *Ficus carica* L. and *Psoralea corylifolia* L. [129], which are usually purified using multiple chromatographic steps after being extracted from the plant materials [130, 131]. Based on pH-dependent ILs, Wang et al. [129] turned *F. carica* L. leaves into psoralen using [Bmin]Br. By using this procedure, 30.21 mg g⁻¹ of psoralen was obtained, which is 2.44-fold higher than that of using ethanol–citric acid in the absence of ILs in conventional methods. Additionally, the proposed method is more environmentally friendly than previous ones since no organic solvents, such as methanol or ethanol, were used in the extraction process.

Furthermore, aesculin (**131**) is another compound obtained from *Cortex fraxini* by applying IL extraction [C₄mim]Br, described by Liu and Yang [132]. As a result of optimal conditions, extracting aesculin (**131**) with 75% ethanol and water furnished 18.70 mg g⁻¹. Interestingly, it is 6-fold higher compared to conventional refluxing [133].

Type of ionic liquids	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
Bmim-BF ₄	Aqueous two-phase system	Schisandrin (120), schisantherin (121), deoxyschisandrin (122), γ-schisandrin (123)	Schisandra chinensis	[129]
[Bmim]Br	Liquid–liquid extraction	Psoralen (124)	Ficus carica	[131]
[C ₄ mim] [BF ₄]	Ultrasound-assisted extraction	Schisanhenol (125), deoxyshisandrin (126), schisandrin C (127)	Schisandra chinensis	[134]
[C ₄ mim] Ac	Maceration	Schizandrin (128), schisantherin A (129), γ-schizandrin (130)	Schisandra chinensis	[135]
[C ₄ mim] Br	Ultrasound- microwave synergistic extraction	Aesculin (131), aesculetin (132)	Fraxinus chinensis	[132, 136]
[C ₆ mim] [PF ₆]	Liquid–liquid microextraction	Bergapten (133), isobergapten (134), oxypeucedanin (135), imperatorin (136), osthole (137), isoimperatorin (138)	Angelica dahurica	[137]

Table 6.4: Ionic liquids used to extract phenylpropanoids from natural sources.



Figure 6.8: The structures of different phenylpropanoids (120–138) extracted using ionic liquids.

6.3.2.5 Quinones

There are several types of quinones, all of which consist of a fully conjugated cyclic dione structure such as benzoquinone, phenanthraquinone, naphthoquinone and an-thraquinone. Figure 6.9 and Table 6.5 represent (**139–153**) quinones obtained from natural sources.

The purpose of Tian et al. [138] was to use mild and effective techniques for isolating and purifying quinone aloe-emodin (144) from *Aloe vera* L. In the extraction of aloe-emodin (144), the effects of IL anions (Br^- , BF_4^- and $N[CN]_2^-$) and side chain lengths of alkyl cations in the $[CnC_1im]^+$ series were examined. As compared to heating reflux extraction with toluene, aloe-emodin extraction efficiency (92.34%) enhanced 3-fold under optimal conditions [139, 140].

Danshen (*Salvia miltiorrhiza*) is composed of tanshinone IIA (**153**) [140]. Usually, tanshinone IIA was extracted using ethanol under reflux. The high temperature may, however, break down the structure [141]. Liu et al. [142] obtained tanshinone IIA from Danshen by utilizing ultra-high-pressure extraction through the selection of 0.5 MIL (1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate) in solvent ethanol. It produced

Type of ILs	Methods of extraction	Compounds	Sources	References
[Bmim]Br, [Bmim]Cl, [Bmim]BF ₄	Ultrasound-assisted extraction, microwave-assisted extraction	Rhein (139), danthron (140), emodin (141), chrysophanol (142)	Rheum officinale	[137]
[C ₄ mim]BF ₄	Liquid–liquid extraction	Emodin (143), aloe- emodin (144), rhein (145), aloin (146)	Aloe vera	[138, 143]
1-Hexyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate	Liquid–liquid microextraction	Chrysophanol (147), physcion (148)	Rheum officinale	[144]
1-Octyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate	Ultra-high-pressure extraction	Dihydrotanshinone (149), miltirone (150)	Salvia miltiorrhiza	[142]
(3-Aminopropyl) trimethoxysilane	Imprinted functionalized ionic liquid-improved silica	Cryptotanshinone (151), tanshinone I (152)	Salvia miltiorrhiza	[145]
1-Octyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluoro-phosphate, (3-aminopropyl)- trimethoxysilane	Imprinted functionalized ionic liquid-improved silica	Tanshinone IIA (153)	Salvia miltiorrhiza	[142, 145]

Table 6.5: Ionic liquids used to extract quinones from natural sources.

37.4 mg g⁻¹ more tanshinone IIA when ILs were included in the extraction process than when it was not. As a result, this approach significantly reduced the duration of the experiment from 120 min (with methanol) to 2 min (with ILs).

6.3.2.6 Fats

Li and Li [146] published their groundbreaking research in 2008 on the use of ILs and silver salts to recover omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) (154) from fish oil, as shown in Figure 6.10A. Hexane served as the primary solvent in the initial tests' standard combinations of five FAMEs, with the silver salts and ILs serving as the extraction phases. The most effective ILs were those that were hydrophobic and had big anions with low lattice energies [146]. In comparison to $[C_6C_1im][BF_4]$ alone or with AgBF₄ in water or ethylene glycol, the $[C_6C_1im][BF_4] + AgBF_4$ system was found to be significantly more effective. Furthermore, IL and silver salt mixtures removed lipids more easily from higher unsaturation degrees.

An approach to selectively extract fat from chocolate was developed by Lateef et al. [147] to minimize food disposal in landfill. A total of four ILs were screened, and



Figure 6.9: The structures of different quinones (139-153) extracted using ionic liquid.

only $[C_3C_1im]Br$ and $[(NC)C_2C_1im]Br$ could separate sugars from cocoa butter fats. The cyano group at the cation is crucial to the increased capability of ILs to form hydrogen bonds with sugars. A Lewis acidic chloroaluminate IL catalyst was used as a catalyst in situ transesterification of soy flake lipids by Bollin and Viamajala [148]. In a solution of $[C_2C_1im]Cl$ •2AlCl₃, methanol and dichloromethane, triglycerides were reactively extracted as FAMEs. Liquid–liquid extraction (LLE) with hexane was then used to recover the solubilized FAMEs and glycerides. It was found that >90% of soy flour lipids were recovered as FAMEs under optimum conditions [148].

In recent years, algae biomass has been studied for its potential to produce biodiesel. ILs possess a remarkable capability of dissolving biomass and disrupting cellular processes as an excellent substituent for volatile organic solvents. The dissolution of algal biomass for lipid extraction has been discussed in the literature in several studies. Teixeira [149] reported that dissolution of algal biomass belongs to *Chlorella*, *Chlorococcum*, *Scenedesmus*, *Selenastrum* and *Neochloris* genera using ILs in addition to conceptualizing a process to recover sugars, proteins and lipids using ILs.

Cosolvent combinations of $[C_2C_1im][C_1SO_4]$ and methanol were employed by Cooney and coworkers [150] to extract lipids from several forms of biomass, including microalgae and oil seeds. Similar approaches were used in other papers from the same research group who addressed the co-extraction of substances, including (i) bio-oil from safflower and jatropha biomass was extracted simultaneously with fermentable sugars utilizing $[C_2C_1im][C_1CO_2]$ and methanol as cosolvents [151]; (ii) in this study, $[C_2C_1im][C_1SO_4]$ and methanol were used as cosolvents in the co-recovery of jatropha oils and phorbol esters [152]; (iii) in order to separate the lipid and fermentable sugar from *Rho-dosporidium toruloides*, the carbohydrates were recycled to be consumed by the yeast via $[C_2C_1im]-[C_1CO_2]$ -methanol mixtures [153]. Kim et al. [154] also accomplished ultrasound-promoted techniques for improved lipid extraction including the $[C_4C_1im][C_1SO_4]$ as a superior IL.

6.3.2.7 Essential oils

Figure 6.10B represents essential oils such as limonene (**155**) and linalool (**156**) which are isolated from natural matrices [155]. Zhai et al. [156] disclosed the IL-based MAE of essential oils from *Cuminum cyminum* and *Illicium verum*. Ma et al. [157] and Liu et al. [158] also successfully extracted essential oils, carnosic, rosmarinic acids and lignans.

Jiao et al. [159, 160] presented a novel method, which is the combination of hydrodistillation and microwave-assisted IL treatment utilizing $[C_2C_1im][C_1CO_2]$ as the best IL. The optimal conditions for essential oil extraction (0.91% over 14.2 min from *Dryopteris fragrans* and 9.58% over 29.3 min from *Fructus forsythiae*) were found to be comparable to other techniques (0.33% over 94 min from *Dryopteris fragrans* by solvent-free MAE, 4.08% over 100 min from *Fructus forsythiae* by hydrodistillation and 5.43% over 45 min from *Fructus forsythiae* by microwave) [159, 160].

The separation of terpenes applying ILs is a topic of interest since oxygenated terpene derivatives are more desirable due to their organoleptic characteristics. Arce et al. [161] were pioneers in this field; their work is related to the addition of $[C_2C_1im-C_1SO_3]$ to ethylene glycol and 2-butene-1,4-diol for deterpenation of citrus oil, which was replicated by means of a synthetic mixture of limonene and linalool.

6.3.2.8 Carotenoids

Carotenoids are fat-soluble pigments having several health benefits as well as wide industrial applications [162]. ILs have also been considered as efficient solvents for the sustainable recovery of carotenoids (**157–160**) from diverse sources (shown in Figure 10C). The work of Bi et al. [163] relates to the environmental concerns surrounding shrimp waste and the potential recovery of bioactive components from such a matrix, including astaxanthin, a very important carotenoid. UAE) was the technique studied, in a first attempt using molecular solvents (e.g., methanol, ethanol, *n*-hexane, ethyl acetate, acetone, dichloromethane and water) and then using the best molecular solvent (i.e., ethanol) in combination with ILs. The maximum astaxanthin recovery was achieved with $[(NH_2)C_3C_1im]$ Br out of the seven ILs examined.

Haematococcus pluvialis, a naturally occurring source of astaxanthin, has a tough cell wall, which inspired Desai et al. [164] to create a different method of astaxanthin extraction. The aqueous solution of $[C_2C_1\text{im}][(C_4)_2\text{PO}_4]$ displayed the best permeabilization ability under the ideal conditions (40 wt% in water and 40 °C), giving 77.04% of astaxanthin in micrograms per milligram of dry biomass, in the subsequent phase of extraction with ethyl acetate.

For the extraction of lycopene from tomato-based matrices, ILs were also used, either in pure form or as ethanol solutions [165]. The highest amount of recovered lycopene (5.56 g of lycopene per gram of tomato) was produced by pure $[C_4C_1im][PF_6]$, which compares favorably to the outcomes obtained with acetone (3.65 g of lycopene per gram of tomato), ethanol (0.34 g of lycopene per gram of tomato) or IL–ethanol solutions (1.23–2.37 g of lycopene carotenoids were also separated using ABS made from ILs) [166, 167]. In two publications published by Coutinho and colleagues [167], the separation of β -carotene in ABS (Aqueous Biphasic Systems) made of (i) phosphonium-based ILs + K₃PO₄ [77] and (ii) ILs + carbs, was assessed.

6.3.2.9 Saponins

A saponin is an interesting compound because of its versatility, both from the perspective of its chemical structure and from the standpoint of its biological activity. Marrucho and coworkers [168] reported that IL solutions were used to extract saponins and polyphenols from *Ilex paraguariensis* and *Camellia sinensis* followed by saponin recovery by ABS. According to the first study [168], the IL structure, solid–liquid ratio, temperature and contact time were studied in systematic detail. To extract saponins and polyphenols from the two matrices, $[N_{111}(20H)]Cl$ (at 30 wt%) was selected as the best solvent for pursuing saponin purification using ABS under optimal conditions. As shown in Figure 10D, the saponins (**161–164**) were recovered almost free of $[N_{111}(20H)]$ Cl by employing $[N_{111}(20H)]$ [NTf₂].

As part of their extraction approach, Wang et al. [169] combined ultrasound and microwave technology to achieve steroidal saponin extraction from *Dioscorea zingiberensis* using ILs as a solvent. Water was compared with six ILs for their aptitude to extract diosgenin, and six were found to be superior. There was a noticeable improvement in diosgenin yields from all ILs when compared with water. $[C_2C_1im][BF_4]$ was responsible for the higher performance [169].

6.3.2.10 Vitamins

Vitamin E is made up of tocopherols, which are fat-soluble antioxidants. Tocopherols are derived as a mixed mixture of four homologues when extracted from natural sources, namely α -, β -, γ - and δ -tocopherol. Figure 6.10E provided the structures of vitamin

obtained from natural sources. Although they share a similar structure, they differ in biological activity, highlighting the need to find fractionation approaches (α-tocopherol possesses the strongest biological activity). This purpose can be achieved using efficient techniques, but it is very difficult to scale them up. The authors developed new platforms based on ILs to separate tocopherol isomers selectively to overcome this limitation [170–172]. In several papers, (i) the use of hexane plus IL and methanol mixtures was reported [170], (ii) hexane plus IL cosolvent mixtures were used in selective LLE [171] and (iii) theoretical studies were conducted to uncover the optimum solvents by understanding the molecular mechanisms at work. In addition, the roles of IL anion in separation of these homologues were inspected, which varied in the order as follows: $[BF_4] - (6.7) < [CF_3SO_3] - (7.8) < Cl - (21.3)$, following the hydrogen bond basicity of ILs [170]. There is another paper of particular interest in this framework by Ren and collaborators [173], which attempted to selectively LLE vitamin D₃ and tachysterol₃ (having different double bond structures) in this framework. A higher distribution coefficient was induced by organic solvents while a higher selectivity was induced by ILs among the seven substances investigated. There is a preference for the use of ILs containing anions $[NTf_2]$ and $[CF_3SO_3]$, cations $[C_4C_1pyr]$ and $[C_4C_1pyrr]$, and functionalized alkyl chains with CN or OH groups.



Figure 6.10: The structures of (A) fats, (B) essential oils, (C) carotenoids, (D) saponins and (E) vitamins extracted from natural sources using ILs.

6.4 Bio-based solvents

The ongoing processing of feedstocks derived from fossil fuels to create chemical products like fuels and solvents has given rise to major concerns due to deteriorating air quality as well as environmental, health and safety (ESH) hazards. As a result, several attempts are being undertaken to limit waste formation in chemical processes as well as the usage of hazardous compounds, especially volatile organic solvents. A fundamental tactic to promote sustainability, as well as green and safer chemical processes in both academia and industry, is to switch from the presently employed fossil-based solvents to sustainable ones generated from renewable resources [174, 175].

Numerous organic solvents are combustible, poisonous and volatile; as a result, they are not suitable for the environment, including human beings. This method seeks to make it easier to choose and employ solvents with low ESH hazards and favorable green profiles [176–178]. The current situation demands novel and inventive solvents, namely, bio-based solvents in both academia and industry [179, 180].

6.4.1 Features of bio-based solvents

Generally, solvents based on agricultural biomass are known as bio-based solvents. There are several types of solvents that can be obtained from these categories, including alcohols, alkanes, aromatics, esters, ethers and terpenes, as well as solvents intended to replace petroleum-based solvents. Figure 6.11 presented bio-based ((A) aprotic and (B) protic) solvents (**155**, **168–189**). The typical characteristic solvents must possess a number of parameters and prerequisites to qualify as a green solvent [181, 182].

A bio-based solvent can be produced and synthesized in a number of ways without having any negative effects on the environment. Biochemical and thermochemical conversion are the two main processing methods [179]. The manufacture of bio-based solvents (such as alcohols [183], esters [184], ethers [185], alkanes, aromatics [186] and neoterics [187]) is possible using these techniques or a combination of them.

2-Metoxolane, also called 2-methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF), was developed in the late 2000s [188]. This solvent is composed of three steps: (1) the liberation of pentose and hexose sugar units on the acid treatment of lignocellulosic material; (2) the biorefining process for making furfural and levulinic acid from sugars; and (3) hydrogenation with excess hydrogen of levulinic acid. In a similar way, cyclopentyl methyl ether is synthesized by two different methods. A nucleophilic substitution is used for one where cyclopentanol is methylated by dimethyl sulfate. The second one involves adding methanol to cyclopentane in an addition reaction (Table 6.6) [189].



Figure 6.11: Bio-based ((A) aprotic and (B) protic) solvents.

Bio-based solvent	Method	Materials	Analyte	Reference
CPME	Hot reflux	Yarrowia lipolytica	Oil	[190]
D-Limonene	Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE)	Anabaena planctonica	Oil	[191]
DMC	Maceration	Jatropha curcas	Oil	[192]
	Three-phase partitioning	Momordica charantia	Peroxidase enzyme	[193]
Ethyl acetate	Reflux	Betula pendula	Triterpenoids	[194]
	Microwave	Hura crepitans	Oil	[195]
	Maceration	Curcuma longa	Curcuminoids	[196]
	Pressurized liquid extraction	Camellia sinensis	Caffeine	[197]
MeTHF	Soxhlet	Pistacia lentiscus	Oil	[198]
α-Pinene	Soxhlet	Arachis hypogaea	Fatty acids	[199]

Table 6.6: Extraction of various analytes using bio-based solvents.

CPME, cyclopentyl methyl ether; DMC, dimethyl carbonate; MeTHF, 2-methyl tetrahydrofuran.

6.4.2 Synthesis and applications of bio-based solvents

6.4.2.1 Alcohols

Bio-based ethanol, which is produced by biological transformation of sugars, is the most commonly produced of all biosolvents. Sugarcane and corn (edible feedstocks) or cellulose (nonedible feedstocks) are used in these processes [200, 201]. At this plant located in Milan, Italy, agricultural waste is pretreated with Proesa[™] technology for ethanol production at 60,000 tons per year from rice straw, giant cane and wheat straw [202]. The most widely used applications for ethanol are as a biofuel and solvent in consumer goods such as perfumes, food coloring and flavoring, alcoholic beverages and some types of mediation. Both natural and manufactured drugs may contain the latter. A highly effective method of extracting the active antimalarial drug, artemisinin, from *Artemisia annua* has been demonstrated [203].

It is currently possible to produce large amounts of methanol by hydrogenating carbon monoxide in the presence of catalysts such as ZnO/Cr₂O₃ and Cu/ZnO/Al₂O₃ [204]. Because methanol and ethanol have similar structural properties, the former is used in synthetic procedures in place of the latter. As a result of its toxicity, it is not widely used as a solvent in consumer products. Furthermore, methanol has many other applications other than a solvent, such as a reagent and fuel [205]. In addition to methyl levulinate synthesis from bioderived furfural alcohol (FA) and 2,5-hydroxymethylfurfurals, it is also utilized to produce methyl levulinate using acid catalyzation [206]. It is also known that glycerol's (**183**) raw materials can be used in the thermochemical synthesis of alcohols (**190–197**) such as methanol, ethanol and propanol (1-propanol and 2-propanol) (Figure 6.12). Catalysts are commonly used in hydrogenolysis reactions to promote this process [207].

The first commercial production of *n*-butanol took place in the early 1900s using the Weizmann method (ABE fermentation). Herein, *Clostridium acetobutylicum* is used to convert the starch feedstock into *n*-butanol, acetone and trace levels of ethanol [208]. Some ABE fermentation units exist today, but the majority of *n*-butanol is still primarily created from petroleum using either (1) the oxo synthesis, in which propene is hydroformylated and butyraldehyde is hydrogenated, while rhodium or cobalt homogeneous catalysts serve as homogeneous catalysts, (2) the Reppe synthesis (which involves oxidizing propene with CO and H₂O with iron as a catalyst or (3) a multistep, catalytic hydrogen borrowing, cascade process that involves hydrogenation of the resulting croton aldehyde after dehydration and self-aldol condensation of acetaldehyde [209]. *n*-Butanol is applied as a valuable solvent for paints as well as for coatings and it produces many solvents such as butyl propanoate, dibutyl ether, butyl acetate and plasticizers [210].

As the first step in the production of furfuryl alcohol, pentosan is hydrolyzed to produce pentoses, such as xylose; and then the pentoses are cyclohydrated into furfuryl alcohol by cyclohydration. Steam distillation and fractionation are used to recover furfuryl alcohol after the reaction is catalyzed by dilute sulfuric acid or phosphoric acid.



Figure 6.12: Bio-based solvents originated from glycerol.

Furfuryl alcohol can be used to modify high phenolic molding resins to increase corrosion resistance by crystallizing and modifying anthracene oils [211].

The worldwide production of biodiesel rose from 0.78 billion liters in 2000 to 32.6 billion liters in 2016 [212]. As a result, glycerol is widely available with biodiesel production producing 10,000 L of chemicals for every 100,000 L of fuel manufactured. In the past few decades, glycerol's oversupply and low toxicity have led to attempts to increase its use, both directly and indirectly (by accessing its value-added products). The use of glycerol in extractive distillation to purify bioethanol has been proposed in recent years as a viable replacement for fossil-derived polyethylene glycol.

The recovery of bioethanol is possible with as much as 99% purity using glycerol [213]. Glycerol has been used successfully in a number of *aza*-Michael addition, Suzuki–Miyaura and Mizoroki–Heck reactions, despite its high viscosity and boiling point complicating reaction workups [213]. The hydrophilic heads of glycerol oligomers

and polymers make them suitable for use in surfactant applications. Additionally, they have been designated as solvent replacements for glycol ethers made from fossil fuels in paints, inks and cleaning products [214].

Historically, diols have been used to dehumidify and treat antifreeze. They serve important functions as solvents in the cosmetic as well as coating industries as well as monomer production of polyester [215, 216].

6.4.2.2 Esters

A class of environmentally friendly, nontoxic solvents known as lactates is produced by reacting lactic acid with different alcohols including ethanol, propanol and butanol. Both biochemical and thermochemical methods can be used to obtain lactic acid feed-stock needed to produce these solvents. The biological process uses microbial fermentation technology and is more selective than the latter, which is more cost-effective but produces a racemic combination of lactic acid and poisonous hydrogen cyanide. Trigly-cerides from vegetable or animal fats are transesterified with methanol to create FAMEs, which are used in biodiesel production. Furthermore, FAMEs have also been found to possess high solvent power, making them suitable for use as bio-based solvents. During the dissolution or cleaning of industrial components, evaporation is aided by combining ethyl lactate with the formulation [217].

There are direct and indirect ways of synthesizing glycerol carbonate. With direct approaches, glycerol is used to process carbon monoxide and oxygen [218] or carbon dioxide [219] using metal catalysts like Pd or Sn, if appropriate. A polar protic solvent, electrolyte liquid carrier, detergent solvent, humectant and nail polish/gel stripper can be used with glycerol carbonate because of its high polarity, boiling (110–115 °C) and flash (109 °C) points, along with low vapor pressure [220].

In order to produce γ -valerolactone, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural and FA are dehydrated and hydrolyzed, respectively, into levulinic acid. After levulinic acid is obtained, hydrogen and a suitable catalyst should be added to produce γ -valerolactone [221, 222]. Lignocellulose and carbohydrates were dehydrated into furans using this solvent after being pretreated and hydrolyzed. A number of cross-coupling reactions have been conducted using it, including those conducted by Sonogashira [223], Hiyama [224] and Mizoroki–Heck [225].

Dihydrolevoglucosenone or 6,8-dioxabicyclo[3.2.1]octanone, also known as CyreneTM, is a solvent with ketone functionality that may be made from cellulose in two steps [226]. Levoglucosenone is commonly used as a starting material for its synthesis, which can be obtained from a variety of plant materials, including Bilberry press cake, corn cob, poplar wood or bagasse [227]. As a result of levoglucosenone production, CyreneTM was obtained by hydrogenating it. Figure 6.13 presented the synthetic steps of CyreneTM (**193**) from cellulose (**191**). CyreneTM is being investigated as a possible alternative due to worries about the industry's use of harmful solvents like *N*-methyl-2-pyrrolidone,



Figure 6.13: Synthetic steps of Cyrene™ from cellulose.

dimethylformamide (DMF) and dimethyl sulfoxide. CyreneTM solvent has been successfully used to synthesize metal–organic frameworks previously synthesized in DMF [228]. Additionally, CyreneTM has been utilized in amide bond-forming processes [229].

6.4.2.3 Alkanes and aromatics

Aldol-condensed products bearing longer carbon chains can be obtained by reacting furfural and hydroxymethylfuran in the presence of acetone (derived from fermentation). Following the condensation of aldols with acetic and/or Lewis acid cocatalysts, hydrodeoxygenation of the aldol condensation products produces alkane (**197**) as shown in Figure 6.14 [230, 231].

Due to their nonpolarity, alkanes are ideal for nonpolar reactions. Drugs, pesticides and other chemicals have been synthesized using them as reaction medium. Depending on the carbon chain length, they can be used as fuels. Liquefied petroleum gas made from C_3 and C_4 alkanes is used to cook and in cigarette lighters, while gasoline, diesel and aviation fuel are made from C_5 – C_{18} alkanes.

Wood waste and agricultural waste can be used to create benzene, toluene and xylene (BTX) [232]. Anellotech, a US-based business, has scaled up a method for turning biomass into BTX mixes using its Bio-TCatTM technology. The characteristics of BTX are the same as those of their fossil-derived equivalents [233]. The production of resins, rubber lubricants, synthetic textiles, detergents, insecticides, medicines and plastics all involve the use of benzene.

Natural solvents like terpenes are produced by plants through the action of essential oils. By steam distillation and alkali treatment, D-limonene can be extracted from citrus peels and pulp [234]. Various halogenated hydrocarbons can be replaced with limonene as a solvent in industry. It is estimated that the demand for D-limonene will reach 65 kton per year in 2023 [61]. Additionally, it dissolves cholesterol stones better than chloroform and diethyl ether (DEE) in the dissolution of wool and cotton wool while also being used as a solvent to clean wool and cotton wool. When *p*-cymene is catalytically isomerized and dehydrogenated from D-limonene, it becomes an aromatic hydrocarbon with similar solvent properties as D-limonene [235]. There are many sources of pinene, but it is mostly found in essential oils extracted from coniferous trees, and it can also be recovered from paper pulp byproducts, for example, crude sulfate turpentine [236]. Household cleaning solvents and insect repellents made from α -pinene are used in home and industrial cleaning as well as in perfume production.



Figure 6.14: Synthetic steps for straight-chain alkane (nonane) from bio-obtained furan derivative.

6.4.2.4 Ethers

DEE and dimethyl ether are produced from ethanol and methanol when they are dehydrated to form bioderived ethers. Fuel additives are usually made with these ethers in order to enhance the octane rating and diminish emissions (NO_x and ozone) along with wear on engines.

An excellent preliminary toxicity assessment has been provided for 2-MeTHF, a biodegradable, environmentally safe, and easily recyclable ether solvent [237]. Through catalytic procedures, it is made from either furfural or levulinic acid. Figure 6.15 illustrates how furfural (**198**) is hydrogenated successively over Cu–Zn, Ni–Cu, Fe–Cu or Cu–Cr to produce 2-MeTHF (**172**) [238]. Despite the poor solubility of water in 2-MeTHF, Pfizer (USA) reports that 2-MeTHF can be used to solve problems in two-phase reactions [239]. The low boiling point of this bioderived solvent makes it difficult to contain on a large scale, which makes it an alternative to dichloromethane. With 2-MeTHF (**172**), amidation, alkylation and nucleophilic aromatic substitution reactions were achieved with



Figure 6.15: Stepwise hydrogenation of furfural to 2-MeTHF.

high yields as well as the synthesis of the intermediate 5-phenylbicyclo[2.2.2]oct-5-en-2-one [240].

6.5 Liquefied dimethyl ether

The use of liquefied dimethyl ether in the extraction of natural resources is popular due to its sturdy extraction capacity of organic compounds and water. Besides, this liquefied dimethyl ether is economical, nature-friendly and requires small power along with little extraction temperature, security and good compressibility [241]. The implementation of liquefied dimethyl ether commences its journey since two decagons ago and is employed to isolate various types of NPs. Liquefied dimethyl ether isolates water, oil and specific ingredients (organics) from natural resources. The disadvantages of this solvent are firetraps and loss of solvent. The feedstock of liquefied DME extraction is being constantly extended, and the liquefied DME technology itself is projected to be explored in novel application areas. Extensive investigations on liquefied dimethyl ether isolation methods are still going on for the betterment and optimization in both laboratory and commercial purposes in connection with the separation of NPs [241, 242].

6.5.1 Features of liquefied dimethyl ether

At room temperature, dimethyl ether is a colorless gas and possesses a slight etherlike smell. The vapor pressure of DME is 0.59 MPa at 298 K which indicates its easy compressibility into the liquid phase at room temperature. Moreover, DME is noncarcinogenic, nonreactive, nontoxic and unable to change the pH in the water solution. The density of liquefied DME is 0.667 g cc⁻¹. The critical temperature, pressure and boiling point of DME are 401 K, 5.4 MPa and 248.8 K, respectively. DME has a dissolving capacity of 7–8% by weight of water at room temperature [243, 244]. The advantages of liquefied dimethyl ether as an excellent extractant are its high extraction rate, the strong extraction capacity of water and organic compounds, environmentfriendly, low extraction temperature, small energy requirement safety, better compressibility and the cheap price [245].

6.5.2 Applications of liquefied dimethyl ether for the isolation of natural products as a green solvent

Liquefied dimethyl ether started its journey as an extractant for NPs in the middle of 1970s. The US patents report that at first it is employed to isolate water and lipid

synchronously from the food staff and egg yolk. To date, this solvent is used to isolate various types of natural resources, mainly liquid or oil, water and specific ingredients as organics. Liquefied DME isolates two xanthin-type compounds such as fucoxanthin from macroalgae *Undaria pinnatifida* and astaxanthin from microalgae *Haematococcus pluvialis* [246, 247]. It also isolates the carotenoid lutein from macroalgae *Monostroma nitidum* [248]. Figure 6.16 presented the structures of xanthin- and carotenoid-type compounds (**201–203**) using liquefied DME.



Figure 6.16: Structures of xanthin- and carotenoid-type compounds using liquefied DME.

Low-temperature liquefied DME isolates chlorophylls a and b from the green peel and of Japanese squash, spinach leaves and carotenoids from the yellow cortex of carrot roots and all kinds of vegetable samples [249]. Liquefied DME separates a number of proteins from carrot roots and also from juicy or relatively dry vegetable tissues. DME as a solvent can be efficiently employed to extract water-soluble protein from crude protein samples [250]. Three types of nutraceuticals, namely, γ -oryzanol, phytosterol and policosanol are extracted and purified from by-products of rice bran oil by green technique with low pressure using subcritical DME [251]. Figure 6.17 presented the structures of γ -oryzanol (**204**) and phytosterol (**205**) from rice bran oil by-products.



Figure 6.17: Structures of γ-oryzanol and phytosterol from rice bran oil by-products.

6.6 Conclusions

Plants comprise various active compounds such as alkaloids, terpenoids, steroids, phenols, tannins, flavonoids, volatile oils, resins and fixed oils that are accumulated in different parts of plants. These promising molecules are responsible to exhibit biological as well as pharmacological activities. The key step is extraction which is related to the separation of active chemical components from raw materials (plants) using suitable solvents through selective and standard procedures. For solvent extraction, the selection of a solvent is vital because solubility, market price and selectivity together with safety should be examined in the selection of solvents. For this purpose, conventional solvents suffer from various demerits such as it needs for a large amount of solvents and prolonged extraction time with a low yield of product. Besides, volatile organic solvents are harmful to living organisms, and ozone-layer destruction is also catalyzed by vapors of the volatile solvents from short-wavelength ultraviolet solar radiation. Hence, we need alternative and green solvents for the isolation of NPs and include some advantages such as a lower amount of solvent consumption and lower extraction time with a safe and high-quality extract or targeted product. SW, ILs, bio-based solvents, liquefied dimethyl ether and DESs became the most actively explored as potential green solvents. Future research priorities in the field of green technology should concentrate on the application of nonconventional solvents as this has been proven to work on an industrial scale for the extraction/separation of promising NPs.

- 219

References

- [1] Bart H-J. Extraction of natural products from plants an introduction. In: Bart H-J, Pilz S, editors. Industrial Scale Natural Products Extraction. Wiley-VCH, 2011, 1–25.
- [2] Choi YH, Verpoorte R. Green solvents for the extraction of bioactive compounds from natural products using ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents. Curr Opin Food Sci 2019, 26, 87–93.
- [3] Farra'n A, Cai C, Sandoval M, Xu Y, Liu J, Herna'iz MJ, Linhardt RJ. Green solvents in carbohydrate chemistry: From raw materials to fine chemicals. Chem Rev 2015, 115, 6811–6853.
- [4] Majhi S. Discovery, development, and design of anthocyanins-inspired anticancer agents-a comprehensive review. Anticancer Agents Med Chem 2022, 22, 3219–3238.
- [5] Majhi, S. Applications of ultrasound in total synthesis of bioactive natural products: A promising green tool. Ultrason Sonochem 2021, 77, 105665.
- [6] Majhi S, Das D. Chemical derivatization of natural products: semisynthesis and pharmacological aspects-A decade update. Tetrahedron 2021, 78, 131801.
- [7] Mahji S. Synthesis of bioactive natural products and their analogs at room temperature–an update. Phys Sci Rev 2022, doi.org/10.1515/psr-2021-0094.
- [8] Majhi S. Applications of Yamaguchi method to esterification and macrolactonization in total synthesis of bioactive natural products. Chem Sel 2021, 6, 4178–4206.
- [9] Mahji S. Diterpenoids: Natural distribution, semisynthesis at room temperature and pharmacological aspects-a decade update. Chem Sel 2020, 5, 12450–12464.
- [10] Majhi S. Applications of Norrish type I and II reactions in the total synthesis of natural products: A review. Photochem Photobiol Sci 2021, 20, 1357–1378.
- [11] Majhi S. Recent developments in the synthesis and anti-cancer activity of acridine and xanthine-based molecules. Phys Sci Rev 2022, doi.org/10.1515/psr-2021-0216.
- [12] Majhi S. The art of total synthesis of bioactive natural products via microwaves. Curr Org Chem 2021, 25, 1047–1069.
- [13] Atanasov AG, Zotchev SB, Dirsch VM. The international natural product sciences taskforce, Supuran C.T. Natural products in drug discovery: Advances and opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2021, 20, 200–216.
- [14] Zhang J, Wen C, Zhang H, Duan Y, Ma H. Recent advances in the extraction of bioactive compounds with subcritical water: A review. Trends Food Sci Technol 2020, 95, 183–195.
- [15] Smith RM. Extractions with superheated water. J Chromatogr A 2002, 975(1): 31–46.
- [16] Ko M-J, Nam H-H, Chung M-S. Subcritical water extraction of bioactive compounds from Orostachys japonicus A. Berger (Crassulaceae). Sci Rep 2020, 10, 10890.
- [17] Cheng Y, Xue F, Yu S, Du S and Yang Y. Subcritical water extraction of natural products. Molecules 2021, 26, 4004.
- [18] Clifford AA. Extraction of natural products with superheated water. In: Clack JH, Macquarrie D, editors. Handbook of Green Chemistry and Technology, Oxford: Blackwell, 2002.
- [19] Ozel MZ, Gogus F, Lewis AC. Comparison of direct thermal desorption with water distillation and superheated water extraction for the analysis of volatile components of Rosa damascena Mill. using GCxGC-TOF/MS. Anal Chim Acta 2006, 566(2): 172–177.
- [20] Smith RM. Superheated water: the ultimate green solvent for separation science. Anal Bioanal Chem 2006, 385(3): 419–421.
- [21] Carr AG, Mammucari R, Foster NR. (A review of subcritical water as a solvent and its utilisation for the processing of hydrophobic organic compounds. Chem Eng J 2011, 172(1): 1–17.
- [22] Ozel MZ, Gogus F, Lewis AC. Subcritical water extraction of essential oils from Thymbra spicata. Food Chem 2003, 82(3): 381–386.
- [23] Teutenberg T, Lerch O, Gotze HJ, Zinn P. Separation of selected anticancer drugs using superheated water as the mobile phase. Anal Chem 2001, 73(16): 3896–3899.

- [24] Zakaria SM, Kamal SMM. Subcritical water extraction of bioactive compounds from plants and algae: Applications in pharmaceutical and food ingredients. Food Eng Rev 2016, 8, 23–34.
- [25] Šeremet D, Durgo K, Jokic S, Hudek A, Vojvodic Cebin A, Mandura A, Jurasovic J, Komes D. Valorization of banana and red beetroot peels: Determination of basic macrocomponent composition, application of novel extraction methodology and assessment of biological activity in vitro. Sustainability 2020, 12, 4539.
- [26] Jokíc S, Gagíc T, Knez Ž, Šubaríc D and Škerget M. Separation of active compounds from food by-product (Cocoa Shell) using subcritical water extraction. Molecules 2018, 23, 1408.
- [27] Wang H, Lua Y, Chen J, Li J, Liu S. Subcritical water extraction of alkaloids in Sophora flavescens Ait. And determination by capillary electrophoresis with field-amplified sample stacking. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2012, 58, 146–151.
- [28] Nkurunzizaa D, Pendleton P., Chuna, BS. Optimization and kinetics modeling of okara isoflavones extraction using subcritical water. Food Chem 2019, 295, 613–621.
- [29] Barba FJ, Zhub Z, Koubaa M, Sant'Ana AS, Orlien V. Green alternative methods for the extraction of antioxidant bioactive compounds from winery wastes and by-products: A review. Trends Food Sci Technol 2016, 49, 96–109.
- [30] Nkurunziza D, Pendleton P, Sivagnanam SP, Park JS, Chun BS. Subcritical water enhances hydrolytic conversions of isoflavones and recovery of phenolic antioxidants from soybean by products (okara). J Ind Eng Chem 2019, 80, 696–703.
- [31] Zhang H, Liu S, Li H, Xue F, Han S, Wang L, Cheng Y, Wang X. Extraction of isoflavones from Puerariae lobata using subcritical water. RSC Adv 2018, 8, 22652–22658.
- [32] Erlund I. Review of the flavonoids quercetin, hesperetin, and naringenin. Dietary sources, bioactivities, bioavailability, and epidemiology. Nutr Res 2004, 24, 851–874.
- [33] Ko M-J, Cheigh C-I, Chung M-S. Relationship analysis between flavonoids structure and subcritical water extraction (SWE). Food Chem 2014, 143, 147–155.
- [34] Sun YJ, Li ZL, Chen H, Liu XQ, Zhou W, Hua HM. Three new cytotoxic aryltetralin lignans from Sinopodophyllum emodi. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2011, 21, 3794–3797.
- [35] Wang Y, Zhang G, Chi X, Chen S. Green and efficient extraction of podophyllotoxin from Sinopodophyllum hexandrum by optimized subcritical water extraction combined with macroporous resin enrichment. Ind Crop Prod 2018, 121, 267–276.
- [36] Bodoira R, Alexis Velez, Alfonsina E. Andreatta, Marcela Martínez, Damián Maestri. Extraction of bioactive compounds from sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) defatted seeds using water and ethanol under sub-critical conditions. Food Chem 2017, 237, 114–120.
- [37] Kesarwani K, Gupta R. Bioavailability enhancers of herbal origin: an overview. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 2013, 3, 253–266.
- [38] Nile SH, Nile A, Gansukh E, Baskar V, Kai G. Subcritical water extraction of withanosides and withanolides from ashwagandha (Withania somnifera L) and their biological activities. Food Chem Toxicol 2019, 132, 110659.
- [39] Ishimoto H, Kitamoto T. The steroid molting hormone ecdysone regulates sleep in adult drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 2010, 185(1): 269–281.
- [40] Vardanega R, Carvalho PIN, Santos DT, Meireles MAA. Obtaining prebiotic carbohydrates and beta-ecdysone from Brazilian ginseng by subcritical water extraction. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 2017, 42, 73–82.
- [41] Chishti S, Kaloo ZA, Sultan P. Medicinal importance of genus Origanum: A review. J Pharmacogn Phytother 2013, 5, 170–177.
- [42] Ma YY, Zhao DG, Gao K. Structural investigation and biological activity of sesquiterpene lactones from the traditional Chinese herb Inula racemosa. J Nat Prod 2013, 76, 564–570.
- [43] Chi X, Zhang G, Chen S. Subcritical water extraction of sesquiterpene lactones from Inula racemosa. Chem Sel 2020, 5, 488–494.

- [44] Ma Y-P, Li N, Gao J, Fu K-L, Qin Y, Li G-Y, Wang J-H. A New peroxy-multiflorane triterpene ester from the processed seeds of Trichosanthes kirilowii. Helv Chim Acta 2011, 94, 1881–1887.
- [45] Zhang H, Liu P, Duan J, Dong L, Shang E, Qian D, Zhu Z, Li H, Li W. Comparative analysis of carbohydrates, nucleosides and amino acids in different parts of *Trichosanthes kirilowii* Maxim. by (Ultra) high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry and evaporative light scattering detector methods. Molecules 2019, 24, 1440.
- [46] Cheng Y, Liu W, Gao Q, Yu S, Xue F. Enhanced extraction of bioactive components of 3,29dibenzoylkarounidiol and polysaccharides from Semen richonsanthis using subcritical water technology. Chem Sel 2019, 4, 13689–13694.
- [47] Criado M, Barba F, Frigola A, Rodrigo D. Effect of Stevia rebaudiana on oxidative enzyme activity and its correlation with antioxidant capacity and bioactive compounds. Food Bioproc Tech 2014, 7(5): 1518–1525.
- [48] Yu H, Yang G, Sato M, Yamaguchi T, Nakano T, Xi Y. Antioxidant activities of aqueous extract from Stevia rebaudiana stem waste to inhibit fish oil oxidation and identification of its phenolic compounds. Food Chem 2017, 232, 379–386.
- [49] Kovacevic DB, Barba FJ, Granato D, Galanakis CM, Herceg Z, Dragovic-Uzelac V, Putnik P. Pressurized hot water extraction (PHWE) for the green recovery of bioactive compounds and steviol glycosides from Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni leaves. Food Chem 2018, 254, 150–157.
- [50] Dong Q, Ling B, Gao B, Maley J, Sammynaiken R, Yang J. Hedyotis diffusa water extract diminished the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy drugs against human breast cancer MCF7 cells. Nat Prod Commun 2014, 9, 699–700.
- [51] Xu GH, Kim, YH, Chi SW, Choo SJ, Ryoo IJ, Ahn JS, Yoo ID. Evaluation of human neutrophil elastase inhibitory effect of iridoid glycosides from Hedyotis diffusa. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2010, 20, 513–515.
- [52] Huang T, Wu P, Cheng A, Qin J, Zhang K, Zhao S. A hydrophilic conjugate approach toward the design and synthesis of ursolic acid derivatives as potential antidiabetic agent. RSC Adv 2015, 5, 44234–44246.
- [53] Bishayee A, Ahmed S, Brankov N, Perloff M. Triterpenoids as potential agents for the chemoprevention and therapy of breast cancer. Front Biosci 2011, 16, 980–996.
- [54] Xiao S, Xi X, Tang F, Dai J, Liu J, Lei J, Wang L. Subcritical water extraction of ursolic acid from Hedyotis diffusa. Appl Sci 2017, 7, 187.
- [55] Choi YH, Verpoorte R. Metabolomics: What you see is what you extract. Phytochem Anal 2014, 25, 289–290.
- [56] Pacheco-Fernández I, Pino V. Green solvents in analytical chemistry. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 2019, 18, 42–50.
- [57] Tang B, Bi W, Tian M, Row KH. Application of ionic liquid for extraction and separation of bioactive compounds from plants. J Chromatogr B 2012, 904, 1–21.
- [58] Paiva A, Craveiro R, Aroso I, Martins M, Reis RL, Duarte ARC. Natural deep eutectic solvents solvents for the 21st century. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2014, 2, 1063–1071.
- [59] Espino M, Fernández MÁ, Gomez FJV, Silva MF. Natural designer solvents for greening analytical chemistry. TRaC Trend Anal Chem 2016, 76, 126–136.
- [60] Florindo C, Lima F, Ribeiro BD, Marrucho IM. Deep eutectic solvents: Overcoming 21st century challenges. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 2019, 18, 31–36.
- [61] Mbous YP, Hayyana M, Hayyan A, Wong WF, Hashima MA, Looi CY. Applications of deep eutectic solvents in biotechnology and Bioengineering-Promises and challenges. Biotechnol Adv 2017, 35, 105–134.
- [62] Bogdanov MG, Bogdanov MG. Ionic liquids as alternative solvents for extraction of natural products. In: Chemat F, Abert Vian M, editors. Alternative Solvents for Natural Products Extraction, Green Chemistry and Sustainable Technology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2014.

- [63] Cláudio AFM, Swift L, Hallett JP, Welton T, Coutinho JAP, Freire MG. Extended scale for the hydrogen-bond basicity of ionic liquids. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2014, 16(14): 6593–6601.
- [64] Freire MG, Neves CMSS, Marrucho IM et al. Hydrolysis of tetrafluoroborate and hexafluorophosphate counter ions in imidazolium-based ionic liquids. J Phys Chem A 2010, 114, 3744–3749.
- [65] Jacquemin J, Husson P, Padua AAH et al. Density and viscosity of several pure and water-saturated ionic liquids. Green Chem 2006, 8, 172–180.
- [66] Hulsbosch J, De Vos DE, Binnemans K, Ameloot R. Biobased ionic liquids: Solvents for a green processing industry? ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 2917–2931.
- [67] Jha AK, Jain N. Synthesis of glucose-tagged triazolium ionic liquids and their application as solvent and ligand for copper (I) catalyzed amination. Tetrahedron Lett 2013, 54(35): 4738–4741.
- [68] Poletti L, Chiappe C, Lay L, Pieraccini D, Russo G. Glucose-derived ionic liquids: Exploring low-cost sources for novel chiral solvents. Green Chem 2007, 9, 337–341.
- [69] Handy ST, Okello M, Dickenson G. Solvents from biorenewable sources: Ionic liquids based on fructose. Org Lett 2003, 5(14): 2513–2515.
- [70] Chiappe C, Marra A, Mele A. Synthesis and applications of ionic liquids derived from natural sugars. In: Rauter AP, Vogel P, Queneau Y, editors. Carbohydrates and Sustainable Development II – A Mine for Functional Molecules and Materials, Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [71] Ferraz R, Branco C, Marrucho IM, Rebelo PN, Nunes M, Prud C. Development of novel ionic liquids based on ampicillin. Med Chem Comm 2012, 3, 494–497.
- [72] Wasserscheid P, Bolm C. Synthesis and properties of ionic liquids derived from the 'chiral pool'. Chem Comm 2002, 1(3): 200–201.
- [73] Heckel T, Winkel A, Wilhelm R. Chiral ionic liquids based on nicotine for the chiral recognition of carboxylic acids. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2013, 24(18): 1127–1133.
- [74] Parmentier D, Metz SJ, Kroon MC. Tetraalkylammonium oleate and linoleate based ionic liquids: Promising extractants for metal salts. Green Chem 2013, 15, 205–209.
- [75] Kwan ML, Mirjafari A, Mccabe JR, Brien RAO, Essi DF, Baum L et al. Synthesis and thermophysical properties of ionic liquids: Cyclopropyl moieties versus olefins as Tm-reducing elements in lipidinspired ionic liquids. Tetrahedron Lett 2013, 54(1): 12–14.
- [76] Xiao J, Chen G, Li N. Ionic liquid solutions as a green tool for the extraction and isolation of natural products. Molecules 2018, 23, 1765.
- [77] Ventura SPM, Silva FA, Quental MV, Mondal D, Freire MG, Coutinho JAP. Ionic-liquid-mediated extraction and separation processes for bioactive compounds: Past, present, and future trends. Chem Rev 2017, 117, 6984–7052.
- [78] Jash SK, Brahmachari G. Recent progress in the research of naturally occurring flavonoids: A look through. Signpost Open Access J Org Biomol Chem 2013, 1, 65–168.
- [79] Jash SK, Gorai D, Mandal LC, Roy R. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopic behaviour of some selective natural flavonoids: A look through. Mini-Rev Org Chem 2020, 17(2): 185–196.
- [80] Zhao CJ, Lu ZC, Li CY, He X, Li Z, Shi KM, Yang L, Zu YG. Optimization of ionic liquid based simultaneous ultrasonic- and microwave-assisted extraction of rutin and quercetin from leaves of velvetleaf (Abutilon theophrasti) by response surface methodology. Sci World J 2014, 2014, 1–11.
- [81] Wang YY, OuYang XK, Yang LY, Li QL. Microwave-assisted extraction of Rutin from Tamarix Chinensis with Ionic Liquid. J Chem Eng Chin 2011, 3, 411–415.
- [82] Lei YN, Cao X.B. Study on extraction of rutin in Sophora japonica L. by refluxing with ethanol. J Shaanxi Agric Sci 2017, 63, 46–47.
- [83] Li YP. Optimization of extraction technology of rutin by alkali solution and acid precipitation method from Sophora japonica. J Shaanxi Agric Sci 2015, 43, 751–753.

- [84] Zhao C, Lu Zhicheng Li C, He X, Li Z, Shi K, et al. Optimization of ionic liquid based simultaneous ultrasonic- and microwave-assisted extraction of rutin and quercetin from leaves of velvetleaf (Abutilon theophrasti) by response surface methodology. Sci World J 2014, 2014, 283024.
- [85] Liu RM, Xu LL, Li AF, Sun AL. Preparative isolation of flavonoid compounds from Oroxylum indicum by high-speed counter-current chromatography by using ionic liquids as the modifier of two phase solvent system. J Sep Sci 2010, 33, 1058–1063.
- [86] Ma WW, Row KH. Optimized extraction of bioactive compounds from Herba Artemisiae Scopariae with ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents. J Liq Chromatogr Relat Technol 2017, 40, 459–466.
- [87] Ma WW, Lee Y, Li GZ, Row KH. An effective separation and purification of rutin and scoparone from Herba Artemisiae Scopariae by solid-phase extraction cartridges packed with an ionic liquid-based silica. Sep Sci Technol 2017, 38, 1183–1189.
- [88] Liu XJ, Huang X, Wang YZ, Huang SY, Lin X. Design and performance evaluation of ionic liquid-based microwave-assisted simultaneous extraction of kaempferol and quercetin from Chinese medicinal plants. Anal Methods 2013, 5, 2591–2601.
- [89] Yao HH, Du XX, Yang L, Wang WJ, Yang FJ, Zhao CJ, Meng XD, Zhang L, Zu YG. Hydrolysis for determination of flavonol glycosides in Ginkgo Foliage using Brönsted acidic ionic-liquid [HO₃S (CH₂)₄mim]HSO₄ aqueous solutions. Int J Mol Sci 2012, 13, 8775–8788.
- [90] Magiera S, Sobik A. Ionic liquid-based ultrasound-assisted extraction coupled with liquid chromatography to determine isoflavones in soy foods. J Food Compos Anal 2017, 57, 94–101.
- [91] Duan MH, Luo M, Zhao CJ, Wang W, Zu YG, Zhang DY, Yao XH, Fu YJ. Ionic liquid-based negative pressure cavitation-assisted extraction of three main flavonoids from the pigeonpea roots and its pilot-scale application. Sep Purif Technol 2013, 107, 26–36.
- [92] Andrei M, Simone C, Marcello L, Daniela S, Stefania C, Andriano M, Simona R, Andrea A, Claudiu TS, Christian C et al. Bioactive isoflavones from Pueraria lobata root and starch: Different extraction techniques and carbonic anhydrase inhibition. Food Chem Toxicol 2018, 112, 441–447.
- [93] Zhang LS, Hu S, Chen X, Bai XH, Li QS. A new ionic liquid-water-organic solvent three phase microextraction for simultaneous preconcentration flavonoids and anthraquinones from traditional Chinese prescription. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2013, 86, 36–39.
- [94] Zhou Y, Wu, DT, Cai PF, Cheng GF, Huang CB, Pan YJ. Special effect of ionic liquids on the extraction of flavonoid glycosides from Chrysanthemum morifolium Ramat by microwave assistance. Molecules 2015, 20, 7683–7699.
- [95] Tian ML, Qiao, J.D., Row, KH. Facile preparation of an ionic liquid composite mesoporous polymer as a solid phase extraction adsorbent for the separation and purification of flavonoids from Chamaecyparis Obtusa. Anal Lett 2013, 9, 1331–1341.
- [96] Ma SF, Hu LM, Ma CY, Lv WP, Wang HX. Application and recovery of ionic liquids in the preparative separation of four flavonoids from Rhodiola rosea by on-line three-dimensional liquid chromatography. J Sep Sci 2014, 17, 2314–2321.
- [97] Zhu S, Ma CY, Fu QY, Hu LM, Lou ZX, Wang HX, Tao GJ. Application of ionic liquids in an online ultrasonic assisted extraction and solid-phase trapping of Rhodiosin and Rhodionin from Rhodiola rosea for UPLC. Chromatographia 2013, 76, 195–200.
- [98] Bi WC, Tian ML, Row KH. Evaluation of molecularly imprinted anion-functionalized poly(ionic liquid)s by multi-phase dispersive extraction of flavonoids from plant. J Chromatogr B 2013, 2, 61–68.
- [99] Ma CY, Hu LM, Fu QY, Gu XH, Tao GJ, Wang HX. Separation of four flavonoids from Rhodiola rosea by on-line combination of sample preparation and counter-current chromatography. J Chromatogr A 2013, 1306, 12–19.
- [100] Zhang Q, Zhao SH, Chen J, Zhang LW. Application of ionic liquid-based microwave-assisted extraction of flavonoids from Scutellaria baicalensis Georgi. J Chromatogr B 2015, 1002, 411–438.

- [101] Curko N, Tomašević M, Bubalo MC, Gracin L, Redovniković IR, Ganić KK. Extraction of proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins from grape skin by using ionic liquids. Food Tech Biotechnol 2017, 55, 429–437.
- [102] Chen FL, Mo KL, Liu ZZ, Yang FJ, Hou KX, Li SY, Zu, YG, Yang L. Followed by macroporous resin enrichment for the separation of the three glycosides salicin, hyperin and rutin from Populus bark. Molecules 2014, 19, 9689–9711.
- [103] Chen XF, Pei F, Huang XY, Feng ZF, Di DL. Effect of Ionic Liquids on Preparative separation of flavonoid compounds in the extract from Brassica Napus L. Pollen using high-performance counter-current chromatography. Sep Purif Technol 2013, 48, 2890–2899.
- [104] Raffauf RF. Alkaloids: A Guide to Their Discovery and Distribution. New York, NY, USA: Hawkworth Press, 1996.
- [105] Wu WN, Wu PF, Chen XL, Zhang Z, Gu J, Gu YJ, Xiong QJ, Ni L, Wang F, Chen JG. Sinomenine protects against ischaemic brain injury: Involvement of coinhibition of acid-sensing ion channel 1a and L-type calcium channels. Br J Pharmacol 2011, 164, 1445–1459.
- [106] Xu DP. Study on the optimum extraction process of sinomenine existed in Miao Medicine named Diploclisia affinis. Guide China Med 2013, 11, 30–31.
- [107] Yang MM, Zhang Y, Liu XY, Guo SY. Optimization of extracting technology of Qufeng Tongluo capsule by orthogonal test. Chin Exp Trad Med Formul 2011, 17, 45–46.
- [108] Li Q, Wu SG, Wang CY, Yi YJ, Zhou WL, Wang HY, Li FF, Tan ZJ. Ultrasonic-assisted extraction of sinomenine from Sinomenium acutum using magnetic ionic liquids coupled with further purification by reversed micellar extraction. Process Biochem 2017, 58, 282–288.
- [109] Dong B, Tang J, Yonannes A, Yao S. Hexafluorophosphate salts with tropine-type cations in the extraction of alkaloids with the same nucleus from Radix physochlainae. RSC Adv 2018, 8, 262–277.
- [110] Jia YF, Zhang ZZ. Technics optimization of total alkaloid extraction from Phellodendron amurense. J Jinggangshan Univ 2010, 31, 112–117.
- [111] Xu C, Zhu JJ, Long JK, Duan GL, Yu YJ. Ionic-liquid-based infrared-assisted extraction (IL-IRAE) coupled with HPLC–MS: A green and convenient tool for determination of TCMs. Chromatographia 2017, 80, 335–340.
- [112] Yi B, Yang F, Yang XR. CE-electrochemiluminescence with ionic liquid for the facile separation and determination of diester-diterpenoid aconitum alkaloids in traditional Chinese. Electrophoresis 2011, 32, 1515–1521.
- [113] Wang WC, Li QY, Liu YH, Chen BB. Ionic liquid-aqueous solution ultrasonic-assisted extraction of three kinds of alkaloids from Phellodendron amurense Rupr and optimize conditions use response surface. Ultrason Sonochem 2015, 24, 13–18.
- [114] Wu N, Xie HH, Fang YT, Liu YY, Xi XJ, Chu Q, Dong GL, Lun T, Wei Y. Isolation and purification of alkaloids from lotus leaves by ionic-liquid-modified high-speed countercurrent chromatography. J Sep Sci 2018, 41, 571–577.
- [115] Bogdanov M.G., Keremedchieva R., Svinyarov I. Ionic liquid-supported solid-liquid extraction of bioactive alkaloids. III. Ionic liquid regeneration and glaucine recovery from ionic liquid aqueous crude extract of Glaucium flavum Cr. (Papaveraceae). Sep Purif Technol 2015, 155, 13–19.
- [116] Fang YT, Li Q, Wang BH, Wei YA. General ionic liquid pH-zone-refining countercurrent chromatography method for separation of alkaloids from Nelumbo nucifera Gaertn. J Chromatogr A 2017, 1507, 63–71.
- [117] Wang XZ, Li XW, Li LJ, Li M, Wu Q, Liu Y, Yang J, Jin YR. Green determination of aconitum alkaloids in Aconitum carmichaeli (Fuzi) by an ionic liquid aqueous two-phase system and recovery of the ionic liquid coupled with in situ liquid–liquid microextraction. Anal Methods 2016, 8, 6566–6572.
- [118] Ryoiti M. Estrogenic terpenes and terpenoids: Pathways, functions and applications. Eur J Pharmacol 2017, 815, 405–415.

- [119] Zhang ZQ, Tian GL, Feng XL, Wei XG, Su ZG. Study on initial separation of paclitaxel from the Taxus Yunnanensis extract. Chin Biochem Pharm 1999, 20, 58–61.
- [120] Mohammad T, Alireza G, Zahra T, Ali R, Lila D. Optimization of the extraction of paclitaxel from Taxus baccata L by the use of microwave energy. J Sep Sci 2004, 27, 1130–1136.
- [121] Kopycki WJ, Elsohly HN, Mcchesney JD. HPLC Determination of taxol and related compounds in Taxus plant extracts. J Liq Chromatogr 1994, 17, 2569–2591.
- [122] Ketchum REB, Luong JV, Gibson DM. Efficient extraction of paclitaxel and related taxoids from leaf tissue of Taxus using a potable solvent system. J Lig Chromatogr Relat Technol 1999, 22, 1715–1732.
- [123] Tian ZJ, Li Q, Wang CY, Zhou WL, Yang YR, Wang HY, Yi YJ, Li FF. Ultrasonic assisted extraction of paclitaxel from Taxus media using ionic liquids as adjuvants: Optimization of the process by response surface methodology. Molecules 2017, 22, 1483–1494.
- [124] Harde SM, Lonkar SL, Degani MS, Singhal RS. Ionic liquid based ultrasonic-assisted extraction of forskolin from Coleus forskohlii roots. Ind Crops Prod 2014, 61, 258–264.
- [125] Michalczyk A, Cienieckarosłonkiewicz A, Cholewinska M. Application of ionic liquids in the ultrasound-assisted extraction of antimicrobial compounds from the bark of Cinnamomum Cassia. J Chil Chem Soc 2015, 60, 2698–2703.
- [126] Cao XJ, Qiao JF, Wang LP, Ye XM, Zheng LB, Jiang N, Mo WM. Screening of glycoside isomers in P. scrophulariiflora using ionic liquid-based ultrasonic-assisted extraction and ultra-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 2012, 26, 740–748.
- [127] Faria ELP, Shabudin SV, Claúdio FM, Válega M, Domingues FMJ, Freire CSR, Silvestre AJD, Freire MG. Aqueous solutions of surface-active ionic liquids: Remarkable alternative solvents to improve the solubility of triterpenic acids and their extraction from biomass. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2017, 5, 7344–7351.
- [128] Sá Rcs, Andrade LN, Oliveira RSRBJ, de Sousa DD. A review on anti-inflammatory activity of phenylpropanoids found in essential oils. Molecules 2014, 19, 1459–1480.
- [129] Wang T, Gu CB, Wang SX, Kou P, Jiao J, Fu YJ. Simultaneous extraction, transformation and purification of psoralen from fig leaves using pH-dependent ionic liquid solvent based aqueous two-phase system. J Clean Prod 2018, 172, 827–836.
- [130] Sha K, Zhang ZJ. Study on extraction of psoralen from Ficus carica leaves by microwave-assisted method. Food Sci Technol 2010, 35, 244–246.
- [131] Yan Y, Pan XM, Xiao GM. Optimization of ultrasonic of psoralen. J Southeast Univ 2012, 42, 516–520.
- [132] Liu ZZ, Gu HY, Yang L. An approach of ionic liquids/lithium salts based microwave irradiation pretreatment followed by ultrasound-microwave synergistic extraction for two coumarins preparation from Cortex fraxini. J Chromatogr A 2015, 1417, 8–20.
- [133] Xiang XS, Xiang DX. Extraction of aesculine form Cortex Fraxini. Center South Pharm 2013, 4, 271–275.
- [134] Dong W, Yu SJ, Deng YW, Pan T. Screening of lignan patterns in Schisandra species using ultrasonic assisted temperature switch ionic liquid micro-extraction followed by UPLC-MS/MS analysis. J Chromatogr B 2016, 1008, 45–49.
- [135] Ma CH, Zu YG, Yang L, Li J. Two solid-phase recycling method for basic ionic liquid [C4mim]Ac by macroporous resin and ion exchange resin from (Turcz.) Baill. fruits extract. J Chromatogr A 2015, 976, 1–5.
- [136] Yang L, Liu Y, Zu YG, Zhao CJ, Zhang L, Chen XQ, Zhang ZH. Optimize the process of ionicliquidbased ultrasonic-assisted extraction of aesculin and aesculetin from Cortex fraxini by response surface methodology. Chem Eng J 2011, 175, 539–547.
- [137] Li LH, Zhang HF, Hu S, Bai XH, Li S. Dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction coupled with high-performance liquid chromatography for determination of coumarin compounds in Radix angelicae Dahuricae. Chromatographia 2012, 75, 131–137.

- [138] Tian ZJ, Li FF, Xu XL. Isolation and purification of aloe anthraquinones based on an ionic liquid/salt aqueous two-phase system. Sep Purif Technol 2012, 98, 150–157.
- [139] Xiong HT. Optimization of extraction technology of Aloe-emodin from Aloe vera L. Modern Chem Res 2015, 5, 21.
- [140] Guan LY, Luo Q, Shi JY, Yu W. Application of ionic-liquid-magnetized stirring bar liquid-phase microextraction coupled with HPLC for the determination of naphthoquinones in Zicao. J Sep Sci 2017, 41, 868–876.
- [141] Liu CJ, Shi HM, Zhang QY. Study on optimization of extraction technology of tanshinone IIA from Salvia miltiorrhiza Bunge with ultrasonic extraction method based on HPLC. J Anhui Agric Sci 2010, 38, 4058–4059.
- [142] Liu F, Wang D, Liu W, Wang X, Bai AY, Huang LQ. Ionic liquid-based ultrahigh pressure extraction of five tanshinones from Salvia miltiorrhiza Bunge. Sep Purif Technol 2013, 110, 86–92.
- [143] Tian ZJ, Li FF, Xu XL. Separation and purification of aloe anthraquinones using PEG/Salt aqueous two-phase system. Sep Sci Technol 2011, 46(9): 1503–1510.
- [144] Zhang HF, Shi YP. Temperature-assisted ionic liquid dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction combined with high performance liquid chromatography for the determination of anthraquinones in Radix et Rhizoma Rhei samples. Talanta 2010, 82, 1010–1016.
- [145] Tian ML, Row KH. SPE of tanshinones from Salvia miltiorrhiza Bunge by using imprinted functionalized ionic liquid-modified silica. Chromatographia 2011, 73, 25–31.
- [146] Li M, Li T. Enrichment of omega-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid methyl esters by ionic liquids containing silver salts. Sep Sci Technol 2008, 43, 2072–2089.
- [147] Lateef H, Grimes S, Kewcharoenwong P, Bailey E. Ionic liquids in the selective recovery of fat from composite foodstuffs. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2009, 84, 1681–1687.
- [148] Bollin PM, Viamajala S. Reactive extraction of triglycerides as fatty acid methyl esters using Lewis acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids. Energy Fuels 2012, 26, 6411–6418.
- [149] Teixeira RE. Energy-efficient extraction of fuel and chemical feedstocks from algae. Green Chem 2012, 14, 419–427.
- [150] Young G, Nippgen F, Titterbrandt S, Cooney MJ. Lipid extraction from biomass using co-solvent mixtures of ionic liquids and polar covalent molecules. Sep Purif Technol 2010, 72, 118–121.
- [151] Severa G, Kumar G, Cooney MJ. Co-recovery of bio-oil and fermentable sugars from oil-bearing biomass. Int J Chem Eng 2013, 2013, 1–10.
- [152] Severa G, Kumar G, Troung M, Young G, Cooney MJ. Simultaneous extraction and separation of phorbol esters and bio-oil from jatropha biomass using ionic liquid–methanol co-solvents. Sep Purif Technol 2013, 116, 265–270.
- [153] Severa G, Kumar G, Cooney MJ. Corecovery of lipids and fermentable sugars from Rhodosporidium toruloides using ionic liquid cosolvents: Application of recycle to batch fermentation. Biotechnol Prog 2014, 30, 1239–1242.
- [154] Kim Y-H, Park S, Kim MH, Choi Y-K, Yang Y-H, Kim HJ, Kim H, Kim H-S., Song K-G, Lee SH. Ultrasoundassisted extraction of lipids from chlorella vulgaris using [Bmim][MeSO4]. Biomass Bioenergy 2013, 56, 99–103.
- [155] Essential Oil Market Size To Reach \$11.67 Billion By 2022: Grand View Research Inc. http://www. prnewswire.com/newsreleases/essential-oil-market-size-to-reach-1167-billion-by-2022-grandviewresearch-inc-531216151.html (accessed on March 24 2016).
- [156] Zhai Y, Sun S, Wang Z, Cheng J, Sun Y, Wang L, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Yu A. Microwave extraction of essential oils from dried fruits of illicium verum Hook. f. and Cuminum Cyminum L. using Ionic liquid as the microwave absorption medium. J Sep Sci 2009, 32, 3544–3549.
- [157] Ma C-H, Liu T-T, Yang L, Zu Y-G, Chen X, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Zhao C. Ionic liquid-based microwaveassisted extraction of essential oil and biphenyl cyclooctene lignans from Schisandra chinensis Baill fruits. J Chromatogr A 2011, 1218, 8573–8580.

- [158] Liu T, Sui X, Zhang R, Yang L, Zu Y, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Zhang Z. Application of ionic liquids based microwave-assisted simultaneous extraction of carnosic acid rosmarinic acid and essential oil from Rosmarinus officinalis. J Chromatogr A 2011, 1218, 8480–8489.
- [159] Jiao J, Gai Q-Y, Fu Y-J, Zu Y-G, Luo M, Wang W, Zhao C-J. Microwave-assisted ionic liquids pretreatment followed by hydro-distillation for the efficient extraction of essential oil from Dryopteris fragrans and evaluation of its antioxidant efficacy in sunflower oil storage. J Food Eng 2013, 117, 477–485.
- [160] Jiao J, Gai Q-Y, Fu Y-J, Zu Y-G, Luo M, Zhao C-J, Li C-Y. Microwave-assisted ionic liquids treatment followed by hydrodistillation for the efficient isolation of essential oil from Fructus forsythiae seed. Sep Purif Technol 2013, 107, 228–237.
- [161] Arce A, Marchiaro A, Rodríguez O, Soto A. Essential oil terpenless by extraction using organic solvents or ionic liquids. AIChE J 2006, 52, 2089–2097.
- [162] Carotenoids Market worth \$1428.12 Million by 2019 http://www.marketsandmarkets.com/ PressReleases/carotenoid.asp (accessed on March 24 2016).
- [163] Bi W, Tian M, Zhou J, Row KH. Task-specific ionic liquid-assisted extraction and separation of astaxanthin from shrimp waste. J Chromatogr B: Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 2010, 878, 2243–2248.
- [164] Desai RK, Streefland M, Wijffels RH, Eppink MHM. Novel astaxanthin extraction from Haematococcus pluvialis using cell permeabilising ionic liquids. Green Chem 2016, 18, 1261–1267.
- [165] Martins PL, de Rosso W. Carotenoids Achieving from Tomatoes Discarded using Ionic Liquids as Extracting for Application in Food Industry In: XIV Safety Health and Environment World Congress Cubatão São Paulo July 20–23, 2014
- [166] Montalvo-Hernández B, Rito-Palomares M, Benavides J. Recovery of crocins from saffron stigmas (Crocus sativus) in aqueous two-phase systems. J Chromatogr A 2012, 1236, 7–15.
- [167] Freire MG, Louros CLS, Rebelo LPN, Coutinho JAP. Aqueous biphasic systems composed of a waterstable ionic liquid + carbohydrates and their applications. Green Chem 2011, 13, 1536–1545.
- [168] Ribeiro BD, Coelho MAZ, Rebelo LPN, Marrucho IM. Ionic liquids as additives for extraction of saponins and polyphenols from mate (Ilex paraguariensis) and tea (Camellia sinensis). Ind Eng Chem Res 2013, 52, 12146–12153.
- [169] Wang P, Ma C, Chen S, Zhu S, Lou Z, Wang H. Ionic liquid-based ultrasonic/microwave-assisted extraction of steroidal saponins from Dioscorea zingiberensis CH wright. Trop J Pharm Res 2014, 13, 1339–1345.
- [170] Yang Q, Xing H, Cao Y, Su B, Yang Y, Ren Q. Selective separation of tocopherol homologues by liquid–liquid extraction using ionic liquids. Ind Eng Chem Res 2009, 48, 6417–6422.
- [171] Yang Q, Xing H, Su B, Yu K, Bao Z, Yang Y, Ren Q. Improved separation efficiency using ionic liquid–cosolvent mixtures as the extractant in liquid–liquid extraction: A multiple adjustment and synergistic effect. Chem Eng J 2012, 181–182, 334–342.
- [172] Yang Q, Xing H, Su B, Bao Z, Wang J, Yang Y, Ren Q. The essential role of hydrogen-bonding interaction in the extractive separation of phenolic compounds by ionic liquid. AIChE J 2013, 59, 1657–1667.
- [173] Liang R, Bao Z, Su B, Xing H, Yang Q, Yang Y, Ren Q. Feasibility of ionic liquids as extractants for selective separation of vitamin D3 and Tachysterol3 by solvent extraction. J Agric Food Chem 2013, 61, 3479–3487.
- [174] Kerton FM. Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry, 2009.
- [175] Anastas PT, Levy IJ, Parent KE. Green Chemistry Education. Washington: American Chemical Society, 2009.
- [176] Prat D, Wells A, Hayler J, Sneddon H, Mcelroy CR, Abou-shehada S et al. CHEM21 selection guide of classical and less classical-solvents. Green Chem 2016, 18, 288–296.

- [177] Diorazio LJ, Hose DRJ, Adlington NK. Toward a more holistic framework for solvent selection. Org Process Res Dev 2016, 20, 760–773.
- [178] Capello C, Fischer U, Hungerbu K. What is a green solvent? A comprehensive framework for the environmental assessment of solvents. Green Chem 2007, 9, 927–934.
- [179] Makhubela BCE, Darkwa J. The role of noble metal catalysts in conversion of biomass and bio-derived intermediates to fuels and chemicals. Johns Matthey Technol Rev 2018, 62(1): 4–31.
- [180] Clark JH, Hunt AJ, Topi C, Paggiola G, Sherwood J. Sustainable Solvents Perspectives from Research Business and International Policy. Croydon: Royal Society of Chemistry, 2017.
- [181] Calvo FG, María F, Monteagudo J. Green and Bio-Based Solvents. Top Curr Chem 2018, 376, 18.
- [182] Lomba L, Zuriaga E, Giner B. Solvents derived from biomass and their potential as green solvents. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 2019, 18, 51–56.
- [183] Nguyen NPT, Raynaud C, Meynialsalles I, Soucaille P. Reviving the Weizmann process for commercial n-butanol production. Nat Commun 2018, 9, 1–8.
- [184] Zhang Z, Rackemann DW, Doherty WOS, Hara IMO. Glycerol carbonate as green solvent for pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse. Biotechnol Biofuels 2013, 6(1): 1.
- [185] Al-shaal MG, Dzierbinski A, Palkovits R. Solvent-free γ-valerolactone hydrogenation to
 2-methyltetrahydrofuran catalyzed by Ru/C: A reaction network analysis. Green Chem 2014, 16, 1358–1364.
- [186] Huber GW, Cortright RD, Dumesic JA. Renewable alkanes by aqueous phase reforming of biomassderived oxygenates. Angew Chem Int Ed 2004, 43, 1549–1551.
- [187] Smith EL, Abbott AP, Ryder KS. Deep eutectic solvents (DESs) and their applications. Chem Rev 2014, 114, 11060–11082.
- [188] Pace V, Hoyos P, Castoldi L, Domínguez de María P, Alcántara AR. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran
 (2-MeTHF): A biomass-derived solvent with broad application in organic chemistry. Chem Sus Chem 2012, 5, 1369–1379.
- [189] Watanabe K, Yamagiwa N, Torisawa Y. Cyclopentyl methyl ether as a new and alternative process solvent. Org Process Res Dev 2007, 112, 251–258.
- [190] Breil C, Meullemiestre A, Vian M, Chemat F. Bio-based solvents for green extraction of lipids from oleaginous yeast biomass for sustainable aviation biofuel. Molecules 2016, 21, 196.
- [191] Mendiola JA, Rezaei K. Pressurized limonene as an alternative bio-solvent for the extraction of lipids from marine microorganisms. J Supercrit Fluids 2014, 92, 1–7.
- [192] Su E, You P, Wei D. In situ lipase-catalyzed reactive extraction of oilseeds with short-chained dialkyl carbonates for biodiesel production. Bioresour Technol 2009, 100, 5813–5817.
- [193] Panadare DC Rathod VK. Extraction of peroxidase from bitter gourd (Momordica charantia) by three-phase partitioning with dimethyl carbonate (DMC) as organic phase. Process Biochem 2017, 61, 195–201.
- [194] Popov SA, Sheremet OP, Kornaukhova LM, Grazhdannikov AE, Shults EE. An approach to effective green extraction of triterpenoids from outer birch bark using ethyl acetate with extractant recycle. Ind Crops Prod 2017, 102, 122–132.
- [195] Ibrahim AP, Omilakin RO, Betiku E. Optimization of microwave-assisted solvent extraction of nonedible sandbox (Hura crepitans) seed oil: A potential biodiesel feedstock. Renew Energy 2019, 141, 349–358.
- [196] Antonio A, Archivio D, Anna M, Ruggieri F. Extraction of curcuminoids by using ethyl lactate and its optimization by response surface methodology. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2018, 149, 89–95.
- [197] Bermejo DV, Mendiola JA, Ibá E, Reglero G, Fornari T. Pressurized liquid extraction of caffeine and catechins from green tea leaves using ethyl lactate water and ethyl lactate + water mixtures. Food Bioprod Process 2015, 6, 106–112.

- [198] Chaabani E, Abert Vian M, Dakhlaoui S, Bourgou S, Chemat F, Ksouri R. Pistacia lentiscus L. edible oil: Green extraction with bio-based solvents metabolite profiling and in vitro anti-inflammatory activity. OCL 2019, 26, 25.
- [199] Taylor P, Bertouche S, Tomao V, Hellal A, Boutekedjiret C, Chemat F. First approach on edible oil determination in oilseeds products using alpha-pinene. J Essent Oil Res 2013, 25, 439–443.
- [200] Abengoa Bioenergy Corporation. Europe's Largest Bioethanol Producer [Internet]. Available from: http://www.abengoa.com/export/sites/abengoa_corp/resources/pdf/en/gobierno_corporativo/ informes_anuales/2005/2005_Volume1_AnnualReport_Bioenergy.pdf.
- [201] Cellulosic Ethanol Technology. Ongoing Research and Novel Pathways' ETIP Bioenergy-SABS [Internet]. Available from: http://www.biofuelstp.eu/cellulosic-ethanol.html#ce6 [Accessed: March 30 2019].
- [202] Biochemtex Crescentino Biorefinery. A New Era Begins: World's First Advanced Biofuels Facility. ETIP Bioenergy-SABS [Internet]. 2013. Available from: http://www.etipbioenergy.eu/images/ crescentino-presentation.pdf [Accessed: March 25 2019].
- [203] A Novel Commercial Method for Extracting Artemisinin: Extracting Artemisia Annua with Ethanol and Purifying Ethanolic Extracts. Scott Process Technology Ltd [Internet]. Available from: https://www.mmv.org/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/artemisinin/06c_.
- [204] Hansen JB, Nielsen PEH. Methanol synthesis. In Handbook of Heterogeneous Catalysis 2nd ed. Vol. 1, Weinheim: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KgaA, 2008.
- [205] Morone P, Cottoni L. Biofuels: Technology economics and policy issues. In: Handbook of Biofuels Production, 2nd ed. Duxford, UK: Woodhead Publishing, 2016.
- [206] Hu X, Westerhof RJM, Wu L, Dong D, Li CZ. Upgrading biomass-derived furans via acidcatalysis/hydrogenation: The remarkable difference between water and methanol as the solvent. Green Chem 2014, 17, 219–224.
- [207] Speers AM, Young JM, Reguera G. Fermentation of glycerol into ethanol in a microbial electrolysis cell driven by a customized consortium. Environ Sci Technol 2014, 48(11): 6350–6358.
- [208] Ndaba B, Chiyanzu S, Marx I. n-Butanol derived from biochemical and chemical routes: A review. Biotechnol Rep 2015, 8, 1–9.
- [209] Uyttebroek M, Van Hecke W, Vanbroekhoven K. Sustainability metrics of 1-butanol. Catal 2015, 239, 7–10.
- [210] Mascal M. Chemicals from biobutanol: Technologies and markets. Biofuel Bioprod Biorefin 2012, 6(4): 483–493.
- [211] Available from: http://www.furan.com/furfural_applications_of_furfural.html [Accessed: March 11 2018] http://WwwFuranCom/Furfural_applications_of_furfuralHtml [Accessed: March 11 2018].
- [212] World Bioenergy Association. Global Bioenergy Statistics. 2018. Available from: https://worldbioenergy.org/uploads/181203%20WBA%20GBS%202018_hq.pdf [Accessed: April 1 2019].
- [213] Gu Y, Jerome F. Glycerol as a sustainable solvent for green chemistry. Green Chem 2010, 12, 1127–1138.
- [214] Sutter M, Da Silva E, Duguet N, Raoul Y, Metay E, Lemaire M. Glycerol ether synthesis: A bench test for green chemistry concepts and technologies. Chem Rev 2014, 115(16): 8609–8651.
- [215] Perosa A, Tundo P. Selective hydrogenolysis of glycerol with Raney nickel. Ind Eng Chem Res 2005, 44, 8535–8537.
- [216] Ji N, Zhang T, Zheng M, Wang A, Wang H, Wang X et al. Direct catalytic conversion of cellulose into ethylene glycol using nickel-promoted tungsten carbide catalysts. Angew Chem Int Ed 2008, 47, 8510–8513.
- [217] Gonnzalez YM, Thiebaud-roux YMG, De Caro P, Lacaze-Dufaure C. Fatty acid methyl esters as biosolvents of epoxy resins: A physicochemical study. J Solution Chem 2007, 36, 437–446.

- [218] Hu J, Gu Y, Guan Z, Li J, Mo W, Li T. et al. An efficient palladium catalyst system for the oxidative carbonylation of glycerol to glycerol carbonate. Chem Sus Chem 2011, 4, 1767–1772.
- [219] Aresta M, Dibenedetto A, Nocito F, Pastore C. A study on the carboxylation of glycerol to glycerol carbonate with carbon dioxide: The role of the catalyst solvent and reaction conditions. J Mol Catal A Chem 2006, 257, 149–153.
- [220] Sonnati MO, Amigoni S, De Givenchy EPT, Darmanin T, Choulet O, Guittard F. Glycerol carbonate as a versatile building block for tomorrow: Synthesis reactivity properties and applications. Green Chem 2013, 15(2005): 283–306.
- [221] Amenuvor G, Makhubela BCE, Darkwa J. Efficient solvent-free hydrogenation of levulinic acid to y-valerolactone by pyrazolyl phosphite and pyrazolyl phosphinite ruthenium(II) complexes. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 6010–6018.
- [222] Amenuvor G, Darkwa J, Makhubela BCE. Homogeneous polymetallic ruthenium(ii)²zinc(ii) complexes: Robust catalysts for the efficient hydrogenation of levulinic acid to γ-valerolactone. Catal Sci Technol 2018, 8(9): 2370–2380.
- [223] Dougan L, Tych KM, Hughes ML. Article type a single molecule approach to investigate the role of hydrogen bond strength on protein mechanical compliance and unfolding history. 2014, 8–10.
- [224] Ismalaj E, Strappaveccia G, Ballerini E, Elisei F, Piermatti O, Gelman D, et al. γ-Valerolactone as a Renewable Dipolar Aprotic Solvent Deriving from Biomass Degradation for the Hiyama Reaction; 2014.
- [225] Strappaveccia G, Ismalaj E, Petrucci C, Lanari D, Marrocchi A, Drees M et al. A biomass-derived safe medium to replace toxic dipolar solvents and access cleaner heck coupling reactions. Green Chem 2015, 17(1): 365–372.
- [226] Camp JE. Bio-available solvent cyrene: Synthesis derivatization and applications. Chem Sus Chem 2018, 11(18): 3048–3055.
- [227] Novisi K, Oklu Leah C, Matsinha and Banothile C.E. Makhubela Bio-Solvents: Synthesis Industrial Production and Applications. London, UK: IntechOpen, 2019.
- [228] Zhang J, White GB, Ryan MD, Hunt AJ, Katz MJ. Dihydrolevoglucosenone (Cyrene) as a green alternative to NN-dimethylformamide (DMF) in MOF synthesis. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4(12): 7186–7192.
- [229] Wilson KL, Murray J, Jamieson C, Watson AJB. Cyrene as a bio-based solvent for HATU mediated amide coupling. Org Biomol Chem 2018, 16(16): 2851–2854.
- [230] Sutton AD, Waldie FD, Wu R, Schlaf M, Pete'Silks LA, Gordon JC. The hydrodeoxygenation of bioderived furans into alkanes. Nat Chem 2013, 5(5): 428–432.
- [231] Simakova IL, Murzin DY. Transformation of bio-derived acids into fuel-like alkanes via ketonic decarboxylation and hydrodeoxygenation: Design of multifunctional catalyst kinetic and mechanistic aspects. J Energy Chem 2016, 25(2): 208–224.
- [232] Li Z, Lepore AW, Salazar MF, Foo GS, Davison BH, Wu Z et al. Selective conversion of bio-derived ethanol to renewable BTX over Ga-ZSM-5. Green Chem 2017, 19(18): 4344–4352.
- [233] Available from: http://www.anellotech.com/technology.BTX.pdf [Accessed: March 26 2019].
- [234] John I, Muthukumar K, Arunagiri A. A review on the potential of citrus waste for D-limonene pectin and bioethanol production. Int J Green Energy 2017, 14(7): 599–612.
- [235] Martin-Luengo MA, Yates M, Rojo ES, Huerta Arribas D, Aguilar D, Ruiz Hitzky E. Sustainable p-cymene and hydrogen from limonene. Appl Catal A: Gen 2010, 387(1–2): 141–146.
- [236] Deepthi Priya K, Petkar M, Chowdary GV. Bio-production of aroma compounds from alpha pinene by novel strains. Int J Biolog Sci App 2015, 2(2): 15–19.
- [237] Antonucci V, Coleman J, Ferry JB, Johnson N, Mathe M, Scott JP et al. Toxicological assessment of 2-methyltetrahydrofuran and cyclopentyl methyl ether in support of their use in pharmaceutical chemical process development. Org Process Res Dev 2011, 15(4): 939–941.

- [238] Teng BT, Zhu YL, Li Y, Xiang HW, Zheng HY, Zhao GW et al. Effects of calcination temperature on performance of Cu–Zn–Al catalyst for synthesizing γ-butyrolactone and 2-methylfuran through the coupling of dehydrogenation and hydrogenation. Catal Commun 2004, 5(9): 505–510.
- [239] Brown Ripin DH, Vetelino M. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran as an alternative to dichloromethane in 2-phase reactions. Synlett 2003, 34(15): 2353.
- [240] Funel JA, Schmidt G, Abele S. Design and Scale-Up of Diels À Alder Reactions for the Practical Synthesis of 5-Phenylbicyclo [2.2.2]oct-5-en-2-one. pp. 1420–1427, 2011.
- [241] Zheng Q, Watanabe M. Advances in low-temperature extraction of natural resources using liquefied dimethyl ether. Res Chem Mater 2022, 1, 16–26.
- [242] Li P, Makino H. Liquefied dimethyl ether: an energy-saving green extraction solvent. In Chemat F, Vian MA, editors. Alternative Solvents for Natural Products Extraction, Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin, 2014.
- [243] DME Handbook: Handbook Japan DME Forum; 2007.
- [244] Holldorff H, Knapp H. Binary vapor-liquid-liquid equilibrium of dimethyl ether-water and mutual solubilities of methyl chloride and water: Experimental results and data reduction. Fluid Phase Equilib 1988, 44, 195–209.
- [245] Bolognesi C, Castle L, Cravedi J-P, Engel K-H, Fowler P, Grob K, Gürtler R, Husøy T, Mennes W, Milana MR, Penninks A, Silano V, Smith A, Poças MdFT, Tlustos C, Toldrá F, Wölfle D, Zorn
 H. Scientific opinion on the safety of use of dimethyl ether as an extraction solvent under the intended conditions of use and the proposed maximum residual limits. EFSA J 2015, 13, 4174–4186.
- [246] Billakanti JM, Catchpole OJ, Fenton TA, Mitchell KA, MacKenzie AD. Enzyme-assisted extraction of fucoxanthin and lipids containing polyunsaturated fatty acids from Undaria pinnatifida using dimethyl ether and ethanol. Process Biochem 2013, 48, 1999–2008.
- [247] Boonnoun P, Kurita Y, Kamo Y, Machmudah Wahyudiono S, Okita Y, Ohashi E, Kanda H, Goto M. Wet extraction of lipids and astaxanthin from Haematococcus pluvialis by liquefied dimethyl ether. J Nutr Food Sci 2016, 4, 1000–1305.
- [248] Kanda H, Machmudah Wahyudiono S, Goto M. Direct extraction of lutein from wet macroalgae by liquefied dimethyl ether without any pretreatment. ACS Omega 2020, 5, 24005–24010.
- [249] Noriyasu A, Furukawa H, Kikuchi A, Takaichi H, Bouteau F, Li X, Nishihama S, Yoshizuka K, Kawano T. Use of liquefied cold temperature dimethyl ether for extraction of pigments from fresh vegetable tissues. Adv Horticult Sci 2015, 29, 48–52.
- [250] Furukawa H, Kikuchi A, Noriyasu A, Bouteau F, Nishihama S, Yoshizuka K, Li XT. Kawano Use of liquefied dimethyl ether for the extraction of proteins from vegetable tissues. Solv Extract Res Dev 2016, 23, 127–135.
- [251] Wongwaiwech D, Weerawatanakorn M, Boonnoun P. Subcritical dimethyl ether extraction as a simple method to extract nutraceuticals from byproducts from rice bran oil manufacture. Sci Rep 2020, 10, 21007.

Nahid Ahmadi and Ali Ramazani* Chapter 7 Role of nonconventional solvents in drug design

7.1 Introduction

There are two classes of solvents: conventional and nonconventional. Conventional solvents are organic solvents that include two classes: polar and nonpolar. Examples of polar solvents are methanol, hexane, cyclohexanol, dipropyl methyl, chloroform, chlorobenzene, xylene, *n*-heptane, cyclopentanol, 1-octanol, benzyl alcohol, dibenzyl ether, 1,2-dichloroethane, methyl isobutyl ketone and methylcyclohexanol [1–3].

Nonconventional solvents contain ionic liquids and deep eutectic solvents (DESs). Ionic liquids are a class of solvents that, as a salt, possess an ion structure and are also referred to as nonaqueous solvents. The solvents are liquids at temperature below 100 °C. Some of them even melt at room temperature. Ionic liquids often have high viscosity, low vapor pressure, poor conductivity, high chemical stability, high electrochemical stability and various solubilities and are colorless. Carbon monoxide is less soluble in ionic liquids less than other organic solvents, but carbon dioxide has good solubility in many ionic liquids. Since ionic liquids have many various types, they have varying miscibility with water and organic solvents. These solvents are found as salts of unsymmetrical cations and symmetrical anions [4]. The cations of ionic liquids at room temperature include 1-methylimidazole, 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium, 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium, 1-butyl-3-methyl-imidazolium, 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium [5], 1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium, 1-dodecyl-3-methyl-docecylimidazolium, 1-butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium, 1,3-di(N,Ndimethylaminoethyl)-2-methylimidazolium, methyl-N-butyl-pyridinium, N-octylpyridinium, tetraethylammonium and tetrabutylammonium. The anions of ionic liquids contain tetrafluoroborate (BF₄), hexafluorophosphate (PF₆), bis-trifluoromethanesulfonimide (NTf₂), trifluoromethanesulfonate, dicyanamide (N(CN)₂), hydrogen sulfate (HSO₄⁻), ethyl sulfate (EtOSO₃) and 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrachloroferrate (Table 7.1), and magnetic ionic liquids are synthesized as paramagnetic anions [6].

Brønsted and Lewis acids and bases produce a eutectic mixture, which is called DES. These solvents have wide applications in electrochemistry, separation and catalysis. Eutectic solvents have different generations which consist of a quaternary ammonium salt and a metal salt or hydrogen bond donor forming a complex together (Table 7.2).

Nahid Ahmadi, School of Mahdieh Shahed, Education of Zanjan, Zanjan 45186-17981, Iran

^{*}Corresponding author: Ali Ramazani, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Zanjan, Zanjan 45371-38791, Iran, e-mail: aliramazani@znu.ac.ir

Table 7.1: The molecular structure, name and abbreviation of some of the anionic and cationic ionic liquids.

Molecular structure	Name	Abbreviation
H ₃ C-V-CH ₃ Cl [©]	1-Ethyl-3-methylimidazoliumchloride	[EMIM]Cl
	1-Butyl-3-methylimidazoliumchloride	[BMIM]Cl
	1-Octyl-3-methylimidazoliumchloride	[OMIM]Cl
CH ₃ CH ₃ CI [−] CH ₂ (CH ₂) ₈ CH ₃	1-Decyl-3-methylimidazolium	[DecMIM]Cl
CH ₃ CI ⁻ CI ⁻ (CH ₂) ₃ CH ₃	Methyl- <i>N-</i> butyl-pyridinium	[MBPy]Cl
H ₃ C H ₃ C H ₃ C H ₃ C	Tetrabutylammonium	ТВА
O _{≈s} ~N [−] s ^{≠O} Li ⁺ F ₃ C [°] O O °CF ₃	Bis-trifluoromethanesulfonimide	[NTf ₂]
$F_3C \longrightarrow S O$	Trifluoromethane sulfonate	[OTf]
°,',','' °,'',''	Ethyl sulfate	[EtOSO ₃]

Туре	Complex	Complex compound	Metal
Type I Type II Type III Type IV	C [*] X [−] MCl _n C [*] X [−] MCl _n .H ₂ O C [*] X [−] RY MCl _n . RY	Quaternary ammonium salts + metal chloride Quaternary ammonium salts + metal chloride hydrate Quaternary ammonium salts + hydrogen bond donor Metal chloride hydrate + hydrogen bond donor	M = Zn, Fe, Ga, In, Al M = Co, Cu, Fe, Ni, Cr Y = -CONH ₂ , COOH, OH M = Al, Zn Y = -CONH ₂ , COOH, OH

Table 7.2: The classification of deep eutectic solvents.

The first generation of DES is prepared from quaternary ammonium salts and a metal halide where the majority of which is chloride, as well as imidazolium compounds, such as AlCl₃ and 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Type II of the eutectic mixture can be a combination of quaternary ammonium salts and choline chloride (Figure 7.1A), and hydrated metal halide. Choline chloride and hydrogen bond donors, such as urea, carboxylic acids, amides and ethylene glycol (Figure 7.1B), are from another class of eutectic mixture known as type III. This class of solvents is mainly used in metal extraction and electropolishing.



Figure 7.1: The structure of (A) choline chloride and (B) ethylene glycol.

Eutectic solvents of type IV are similar to type III, which employed metal chloride instead of quaternary ammonium salts. In general, phosphonium and sulfonium salts can be used instead of ammonium salts. DES has advantages over ionic liquids; for example, they are cheap, available, easy to prepare and less chemically inert.

Both of these solvent classes, ionic liquids and EDS, are employed in organic synthesis, industry and environment. Further, we discuss the role of these solvents in drug design, drug delivery and drug discovery.

7.2 Drug design

Drug design is a process that leads to the production of a novel drug. The aim of drug design is to influence a biological target. Synthesized drugs are usually small organic molecules, but there are biopharmaceuticals that contain peptides, proteins and antibodies [7]. When designing a drug, molecules are chosen based on the biomolecule



Figure 7.2: The drug discovery process is based on two strategies: ligands (indirect) and structures (direct).

target. These molecules are chosen based on their shape and charge in relation to the targeting molecules. Drug design often utilizes computer techniques and evaluated their selectivity, stability and affinity through computational methods, especially for large molecules [8]. In general, there are two methods for drug design: ligand-based (indirect) and structure-based (direct) approaches (Figure 7.2) [9].

Ligand-based drug design is often designed to join a biological target that has the minimum necessary structural features for deriving a pharmacophore model. Structure-based drug design is usually designed as a three-dimensional structure that is characterized via X-ray crystallography and NMR spectroscopy. Using the target structure, drugs are designed with high selectivity and affinity for binding to the target [4, 5]. Generally, drug design based on the structure includes three methods: identification of new ligands [10], designs of new ligands and the optimization of known ligands [11].

A synthesis is usually controlled by a solvent, so it can affect the rate and result of the reaction. However, some syntheses are performed as solvent-free. On the other hand, some of the drugs have low water solubility [12]. In this case, there are ways to improve water solubility constraints. One of them is the use of ionic liquids and DESs. Both of them have high potential in the pharmaceutical industry. The high versatility of ionic liquids allows for the design of their chemical structure to target specific applications. Ionic liquids possess unique properties, such as high chemical and thermal stability and strong solubility, which are suitable for the wide diversity of drug designs. The appropriate selection of cation and anion in ionic liquids can enable solid active pharmaceutical ingredients to be converted to liquid form. This function improved bioavailability and increased therapeutic properties. In addition, ionic liquids are also employed for drug delivery and development. In fact, ionic liquids are used as solvents, catalysts, reagents, cosolvents, crystallizers, additives [13] and emulsifiers for modifying drug solubility.

7.3 The ionic liquids' role in the pharmaceutical combination synthesis

In the pharmaceutical industry, most waste is produced in relation to solvents. To reduce and minimize this waste, replacing solvents is necessary for a sustainable process and development. According to the results, ionic liquids have been investigated to play multiple roles such as solvents, reagents, catalysts and enantioselective in the synthesis, as observed in Table 7.3. Using compounds containing diverse alcohols, amines and drugs based on chiral ionic liquids will lead to the design and development of new drugs [14]. Ionic liquids have been employed in preparing imidazoles [15], pyrazoles [16], esters [17], thiazolidines [18], thiazoles [19] and lactams [11, 15].

Ionic liquids can provide heating for microwave as quickly as they can be useful for organic reactions in the presence of ultrasound irradiation. The yield is usually over 80% when ionic liquids are present [20].

Reagent	Catalyst	Reaction media		Enzyme stability and enantioselective
Antifungal	Precursors	Antiviral	Anti-inflammatory	Anti-inflammatory
Clioquinol	2,3-Dihydroquina- zolin-4(1H)	Trifluridine	Pravadoline	Ibuprofen
OH C	HN H	FFN OH		ОН

Table 7.3: Role of ionic liquids in the synthesis of active pharmaceutical ingredients with a sample.

In some cases, when a synthesis is carried out, you have to use three-component solvents (dispersive solvent, extraction solvent and water) for separation. Therefore, dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction is the best method for extraction [21]. In such systems, there is no need to add a step, and the workup is performed by centrifuge and the used solvents are magnetic ionic liquids, $[C_4MIM^+]$ [FeCl₄⁻], [C4MIM⁺] [FeBrCl₃⁻] and so on [22]. Liquid–liquid equilibria from three-component biphasic systems [22–24] such as [BMIM]BF₄, fructose and water are employed to evaluate correlation coefficients [24]. Biphasic systems are also employed in chemical synthesis, recycling and recovery of catalysts. Since enzymes have lower solubility in organic solvents, biphasic water–organic solvents (DMF and dioxane) can be so useful in organic syntheses such as acylation [25, 26]. In biphasic systems, supercritical CO₂ [2, 4, 27, 28] can also be utilized with long ionic liquid or polymers as one of the phases [29].

7.3.1 Ionic liquids as catalyst

Ionic liquids are suitable media for chemocatalytic and biocatalytic reactions [30]. According to the literature, even the synthesis of magnetic amphiprotic catalysts is performed in such solvents [31]. These solvents are liquids at temperatures below 100 °C and are entirely composed of ions. They have special chemical–physical properties such as low vapor pressure, high ionic conductivity, nonflammability, good solubility, high thermal and chemical stability. Organic cations such as dialkylimidazolium and tetraalkyl ammonium, which are paired with anions, are usually used in biocatalyst processes, for example, $[PF_6]$ and bistriflimide. Ionic liquids are employed as the main media in reactions due to their unique properties. Ionic liquids have also been show to improve the catalytic activity of catalysts. One of their applications is affecting the esterification of carboxylic acids. The obtained ester had a high yield in the ionic liquid media, which can act as either a catalyst or a solvent (Figure 7.3). Recycling such catalysts is convenient, and their reuse produced products with high efficiency [17].



Figure 7.3: Esterification of carboxylic acids in the presence of ionic liquids as a catalyst as well as a solvent.

In the extraction of organic compounds (glucosinolates, their derivatives and isothiocyanates) from plants and vegetables (broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cabbage, kohlrabi, cauliflower, horseradish, collards, turnip, kale, mustard species and vegetable seeds), nonconventional solvents, hexane and supercritical carbon dioxide have also been utilized. On the other hand, the ionic liquids can support the extraction of different organic compounds which are used for various purposes. For example, the peptides are extracted from tobacco leaves and enriched by phosphorylation for analysis (Figure 7.4) [32]. The extraction technique plays a key role in separation and extraction, in actuality. The extraction techniques such as immersion, soxhlet, maceration, steam distillation, ultrasound-assisted extraction and microwave are used for the extraction of essential oils from plants [33].

The derivative of *S*-alkyl tetrahydrothiophene is synthesized in the presence of $[NTf_2^-]$ and tetraphenylborate salts (Figure 7.5), which determined the viscosity and density decrease of the prepared *S*-alkyl with changing temperatures [34]. Aldehydes,


Figure 7.4: Preparing phosphopeptides in the presence of ionic liquid.

Claisen–Schmidt and Knoevenagel condensation, Michael addition, Paal–Knorr and Hantzsch synthesis, cross-coupling reactions and three-component reactions are organic reactions that lead to generating dioxo derivatives under ultrasonic irradiation and an ionic liquid solvent. The solvent plays a pivotal role in this process [35]. In continuing organic synthesis, the Friedel–Crafts acylation reaction is subjected under ionic liquid and pyridine [36]. The presence of Lewis acids like FeCl₃ as a suitable catalyst with a long ionic liquid solvent is used for the synthesis of *S*-alkyl derivatives (Figure 7.6).



Figure 7.5: Synthesis of *S*-alkyltetrahydrophenium iodide with TNf₂⁻ and tetraphenylborate salts.



Figure 7.6: Friedel–Crafts acylation of anhydride acetic acid and benzene derivatives.

Ionic liquids are referred to as green chemical solvents due to their nonvolatile nature, which allows for full recycling and major reuse. When suitable cations and anions are selected, their polarity and miscibility with molecular solvents can be modified in biphasic systems, which have been used to develop useful approaches to product recovery. Ionic liquids, even those that are not miscible with water, are polar solvents that can absorb some of the water. The presence of water molecules in ionic liquids is essential for protecting existing protein complexes in biocatalysts [28, 37].

Biocatalytic methods are often utilized in nonconventional media [4, 28, 38, 39]. Such environments can be beneficial for the sustainable chemical industry, technological applications and enzymatic transformations. Recently, chemoenzymatic synthesis of phosphonic acid with a polar side chain has been reported [40]. However, enzymes are also used as industrial catalysts in the end syntheses. In the industry, enzymes have more applications in esterification and peptidization. Nonconventional solvents may impact the enzyme's properties, as enzymes lose their activity in high concentration, especially at concentrations over 25%. One of the ways in which such solvents are effective is through interaction with the hydration part of enzymes and hydrophobic sites of proteins [41]. However, enzymes can carry out reactions in both hydrophilic and hydrophobic solvents [42]. The various parameters investigated in enzymatic syntheses [26] in nonconventional media are pH, temperature, enzyme quantity and water, which influence the enzyme activity [43]. It is a fact the nonaqueous solvent determines the stability of the enzyme [44]. These cases have been studied for the majority of synthesis.

7.3.2 Ionic liquids as solvent, cosolvent and surfactant

The therapeutic properties of drugs are mainly described by their solubility and bioavailability, as the high solubility in water can facilitate the attainment of the desired drug concentration. Many drugs are poorly soluble in water, so solvents such as ethanol, dimethylsulfoxide, methanol and ionic liquids are used as cosolvents [45] or solvents in organic reactions to improve the solubility of drugs [12, 46]. To address this issue, using ionic liquids is a good idea [47]; the high solubility of ionic liquids increases the drug solubility in aqueous solutions through micellization and hydrotropic phenomena. If the anion and cation of ionic liquids are chosen correctly, it affects the solubility mechanism of drugs with low-water solubility significantly. Another method that can be used to increase the solubility of drugs in water is a surfactant. Modifying the hydrophilic–hydrophobic nature of ionic liquids are often known as surface-active liquids due to surfactant treatment [48].

7.3.3 Ionic liquids in crystallization of drugs

In drug development and production, it is necessary to design polymorphs because they influence the produced drug's shelf life and bioavailability. Moreover, the crystallization of drugs depends on the rate of solubility and structural stability. Crystallization is a key step in the separation and purification of pharmaceuticals [49]. In addition, the solvent, the saturation of the solution, the temperature of the reaction system and the increasable material can impact crystallization. Ionic liquids are not only used as an aid in the crystallization of new drug design but also to modify the crystal form and enhance the separation and purification properties of crystals that cannot be obtained through conventional solvent. It is important to use the correct techniques in crystallization such as solvents and cooling.

7.3.4 Ionic liquids in drug delivery

One more application of ionic liquids in the field of pharmaceuticals is acting as solvents or monomers for polymerization (emulation and suspension) in the preparation of drug delivery systems [50]. In these cases, ionic liquids are employed in the structure of nanocarriers, nanofibers, nanoparticles, membranes, polymerization [51, 52], vesicles, ionogels and permission enhancers. They are excellent solvents for biopolymers such as proteins, DNA [53, 54] and polysaccharides. On the other hand, ionic liquids have displayed special properties in the drug release. Ionic liquid-based forms can be used for intravenous, oral, transdermal [55] and topical [56] delivery. Tanner et al. [57] employed 16 types of ionic liquids to prepare a novel drug delivery system. When they used choline and geranic acid with a ratio of 1:2, they obtained the maximum yield in transdermal delivery. They found that when they had ionic liquids in the drug carrier with the fewest interionic interaction [58], transdermal drug delivery was performed with maximum success. In addition, adhesive patches based on ionic liquids were designed and synthesized for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases [59]. In the patches, donepezil and ionic liquids were linked via hydrogen bond or ionic bonds and developed for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease [60].

7.3.5 Ionic liquids and biological activity

Ionic liquids illustrate the biological activities as they have a variety of anions and cations [61]. Some of the biological activities of ionic liquids include anticancer [62, 63], antibacterial [64], antiviral [65], anti-inflammatory [66], antioxidant and antitumor [18]. Ionic liquids including imidazolium, pyridinium or the alkyl chain length of cation display antibacterial properties. However, the alkyl chain length of both the anion and cation in the structure of ionic liquids affects the designed drug such as fluorinated ionic liquids: $([C_2C_1Im]^+, [C_2C_1py]^+, [C_4C1pyr]^+, [N_{1112}(OH)]^+$ or $[N_{4444}]^+$) and $([C_4F_9SO_3]^-, [C_8F_{17}SO_3]^-$ or $[N(C_4F_9SO_3)_2]^-$ [67].

7.4 Deep eutectic as catalyst and solvent in the organic reactions

DES is used to synthesize novel combinations. In this case, many reactions can be performed using traditional and old methods or new and modern methods. Often, reactions require catalysts such as esterification [68], transesterification and acylation. A new C–C bond is formed by an acylation reaction (Figure 7.7A–B). The catalyst present in the reaction is Grubs II (Figure 7.7C). Using Grubbs II as a catalyst in the presence of DES led to a product with low yield. However, employing biocatalysts resulted in an increase in the yield of products [69].



Figure 7.7: Formation of a new C–C bond in the presence of DES. (A) The reaction catalyzed Grubbs II, (B) the reaction carried out in the presence of biocatalysts and (C) the structure of Grubbs II.

Stereoselective synthesis is applied for preparing nitrostyrene and hydrolysis of ketones [70] in the presence of organic catalysts and DES. At both 20 and 50 °C temperatures, Michael addition was enforced and a complete conversion was observed, as shown in Figure 7.8. The yield was more than 90% in all syntheses, and recycling of the chiral catalyst was easy and possible due to the type of solvent [71].

DES can be applied either as a catalyst or as a solvent. In preparing azoles and indoles, DES acts in both these cases via click chemistry (Figure 7.9). The yield of 1H-tetrazole is lower than other azoles and indoles at such reactions. That is why sodium azide has low stability [16].



Figure 7.8: Synthesis of stereoselective nitrostyrene in the presence of DES and organic catalyst.



Figure 7.9: Synthesis of azoles and indoles via click chemistry and DES as catalyst and solvent.

7.5 Conclusions

Nonconventional solvents are organic solvents that involved compounds with short and long chains, polar and nonpolar structures and cyclic and noncyclic. Two important classes of these solvents are DES and ionic liquids, which have unique properties. Both of them have many applications in experimental and industry due to their unique features. They have the most application in the pharmaceutical industry. Nonconventional solvents are employed as catalysts, reagents and carriers in drug delivery, additives and biological activities. They increased the drug solubility in aqueous solutions and can develop new drugs with different therapeutic properties. Modifying the surface of nonconventional solvents will produce a number of new drugs that can influence and control diseases.

References

- Leonardi M, Estévez V, Villacampa M, Menéndez JC. The Hantzsch Pyrrole Synthesis: Non-Conventional Variations and Applications of a Neglected Classical Reaction, Synthesis (Germany), 2019, 816–828.
- [2] Cantone S, Hanefeld U, Basso A. Biocatalysis in non-conventional media ionic liquids, supercritical fluids and the gas phase. Green Chem 2007, 9, 954–997.
- [3] Barba FJ, Grimi N, Vorobiev E. New approaches for the use of non-conventional cell disruption technologies to extract potential food additives and nutraceuticals from microalgae. In: Food Engineering Reviews, Springer Science and Business Media, LLC; 2015, 45–62.
- [4] Garcia S, Lourenço NMT, Lousa D, Sequeira AF, Mimoso P, Cabral JMS, Afonso CAM, Barreiros S, Comparative A. Study of biocatalysis in non-conventional solvents: Ionic liquids, supercritical fluids and organic media. Green Chem 2004, 6, 466–470.
- [5] Bezold F, Goll J, Minceva M. Study of the applicability of non-conventional aqueous two-phase systems in counter-current and centrifugal partition chromatography. J Chromatogr A 2015, 1388, 126–132.
- [6] Tschierske C. Non-conventional soft matter. Annu Reports Sect 2001, 97, 191–267.
- Broglia RA. From Nuclear Structure Concepts to Protein Folding and Non-Conventional Drug Design. J Phys Conf Ser 2006, 41, 1.
- [8] Kuntz ID. Structure-based strategies for drug design and discovery. Science 1992, 257, 1078–1082.
- [9] Blundell TL. Structure-based drug design. Nature 1996, 384, 23–26.
- [10] Mandal S, Moudgil M, Mandal SK. Rational drug design. Eur J Pharmacol 2009, 625, 90–100.
- [11] Anderson AC. The process of structure-based drug design. Chem Biol 2003, 10, 787–797.
- [12] Fernández-Stefanuto V, Esteiro P, Santiago R, Moreno D, Palomar J, Tojo, E. Design and synthesis of alverine-based ionic liquids to improve drug water solubility. New J Chem 2020, 44, 20428–20433.
- [13] Nagy DI, Grun A, Pavela O, Garadnay S, Greiner I, Keglevich G. Efficient synthesis of ibandronate in the presence of an ionic liquid. Lett Drug Des Discov 2017, 15, 713–720.
- [14] Singh A, Kaur N, Kumar Chopra H. Chiral recognition methods in analytical chemistry: Role of the chiral ionic liquids. 2019, 49, 553–569.
- [15] Cole MR, Li M, El-Zahab B, Janes ME, Hayes D, Warner IM. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of β-Lactam antibiotic-based imidazolium- and pyridinium-type ionic liquids. Chem Biol Drug Des 2011, 78, 33–41.
- [16] Sanam, Bux K, Al-rashida M, Alharthy RD, Moin ST, Hameed A. Morpholinium and piperidinium based deep eutectic solvents for synthesis of pyrazole-5-carbonitriles, indoles and tetrazoles: Bulk properties via molecular dynamics simulations. 2018, 3, 12907–12917.
- [17] Liu Y, Mao G, Zhao H, Song J, Han H, Li Z, Chu W, Sun Z. DBU-Based dicationic ionic liquids promoted esterification reaction of carboxylic acid with primary chloroalkane under mild conditions. Catal Letters 2017, 147, 2764–2771.
- [18] Güzel Ö, Medicinal AS. Synthesis and biological evaluation of new 4-thiazolidinone derivatives. Taylor Francis 2009, 24, 1015–1023.
- [19] Chaudhari BR. Microwave assisted Knoevenagel condensation: A. Chaudhari. World J Pharm Res 2016, 5.
- [20] Pedro SN, Freire CSR, Silvestre AJD, Freire MG. The role of ionic liquids in the pharmaceutical field: An overview of relevant applications. Int J Mol Sci 2020, 1–50.
- [21] De Boeck M, Dehaen W, Tytgat J, Cuypers E. Microextractions in forensic toxicology: The potential role of ionic liquids. TRAC-Trends Anal Chem 2019, 111, 73–84.
- [22] An J, Trujillo-Rodríguez MJ, Pino V, Anderson JL. Non-conventional solvents in liquid phase microextraction and aqueous biphasic systems. Chromatogr A 2017, 1500, 1–23.

- [23] González-Martín R, Pacheco-Fernández AM, Afonsoa H, Ayala J, Pacheco-Fernándeza I, Verónica P. Ionic liquid-based miniaturized aqueous biphasic system to develop an environmental-friendly analytical preconcentration method. Talanta 2013, 203, 305–313.
- [24] Zhang Y, Zhang S, Chen Y, Equilibria JZ. Aqueous biphasic systems composed of ionic liquid and fructose. Fluid Phase Equilib 2007, 257, 173–176.
- [25] Kosáry J, Sisak CS, Szajani B, Boross L. Acylation of amino acids by aminoacylase in non-conventional media. Biocatal Biotransform 1994, 11, 329–337.
- [26] Zeuner B, Kontogeorgis GM, Riisager A, Meyer AS. Thermodynamically based solvent design for enzymatic saccharide acylation with hydroxycinnamic acids in non-conventional media. New Biotechnology 2012, 255–270.
- [27] Hrnčič M, Škerget M, Hygienic ŽK. Non-conventional supercritical fluids as potential solvents in extraction processes. Hyg Eng Des 2014, 153–157.
- [28] Cantone S, Hanefeld U, Basso A. Biocatalysis in non-conventional media ionic liquids, supercritical fluids and the gas phase. Green Chem 2007, 9, 954–997.
- [29] Sheldon RA. Reactions in non-conventional media for sustainable organic synthesis. In: Springer, 2008, 1–28.
- [30] Soni SK, Sarkar S, Selvakannan PR, Sarkar D, Bhargava SK. Intrinsic therapeutic and biocatalytic roles of ionic liquid mediated self-assembled platinum-phytase nanospheres. RSC Adv 2015, 5, 62871–62881.
- [31] Kaang B, Han N, Jang W, Koo H, Lee YB. Crossover magnetic amphiprotic catalysts for oil/water separation, the purification of aqueous and non-aqueous pollutants, and organic synthesis. Chem Eng J 2018, 331, 290–299.
- [32] Li Y, Fang F, Sun M, Zhao Q, Hu Y, Sui Z, Liang Z, Zhang L, Zhang Y. Ionic liquid-assisted protein extraction method for plant phosphoproteome analysis. Talanta 2020, 213, 120848.
- [33] Sasidharan S, Shanmugapriya, Jothy SL, Vijayarathna S, Kavitha N, Oon CE, Chen Y, Dharmaraj S, Lai NS, Kanwar JR. Conventional and non-conventional approach towards the extraction of bioorganic phase. Bioorg Phase Nat Food An Overv 2018, 41–57.
- [34] Schmitz A, Bülow M, Schmidt D, Zaitsau DH, Junglas F, Knedel TO, Verevkin SP, Held C, Janiak
 C. Tetrahydrothiophene-based ionic liquids: synthesis and thermodynamic characterizations. 2021, 10, 153–163.
- [35] Lupacchini M, Mascitti A, Giachi G, Tonucci L, D'Alessandro N, Martinez J, Colacino E. Sonochemistry in non-conventional, green solvents or solvent-free reactions. Tetrahedron. 2017, 609–653.
- [36] Xiao Y, Malhotra SV. Friedel-crafts acylation reactions in pyridinium based ionic liquids. J Organomet Chem 2005, 690, 3609–3613.
- [37] Fernandez-Alvaro E, Domínguez de Maria P. Ionic liquids in biocatalytic oxidations: From nonconventional media to non-solvent applications. Curr Org Chem 2012, 16, 2492–2507.
- [38] Castro G, Knubovets T. Homogeneous biocatalysis in organic solvents and water-organic mixtures. Crit Rev Biotechnol 2010, 23, 195–231.
- [39] Yu H-L, Ou L, Xu J-H. New trends in non-aqueous biocatalysis. Curr Org Chem 2010, 14, 1424–1432.
- [40] Hammerschmidt, F, Lindner, W, Wuggenig, F, Zarbl, E. Enzymes in organic chemistry. Part 10:1. Chemo-enzymatic synthesis of L-phosphaserine and L-phosphaisoserine and enantioseparation of amino-hydroxyethylphosphonic acids by non-aqueous capillary electrophoresis with quinine carbamate as chiral ion pair agent. 2000, 11, 2955–2964.
- [41] Boross L, Kosáry J, Stefanovits-Bányai E, Sisak C, Szajáni B. Studies on the stability of aminoacylase in some organic solvents. Progress Biotechnol 1998, 15, 477–482.
- [42] Yoo YJ, Feng Y, Kim YH, Yagonia CFJ. Fundamentals of enzyme engineering. Fundam Enzym Eng 2017, 1–209.
- [43] Caussette M, Marty A. Enzymatic synthesis of thioesters in non-conventional solvents. Wiley Online Libr 1997, 68, 257–262.

- [44] Arnold F. Engineering enzymes for non-aqueous solvents. Trends Biotechnol 1990, 8, 244–249.
- [45] Safdar R, Gnanasundaram N, Iyyasami R, Appusamy A, Papadimitriou S, Thanabalan M. Preparation, characterization and stability evaluation of ionic liquid blended chitosan tripolyphosphate microparticles. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 2019, 50, 217–225.
- [46] Adawiyah N, Moniruzzaman M, Hawatulaila S, Goto M. Ionic liquids as a potential tool for drug delivery systems. MedChemComm 1897, 2016(7), 1881–.
- [47] Vrikkis RM, Fraser KJ, Fujita K, MacFarlane DR, Elliott GD. Biocompatible ionic liquids: a new approach for stabilizing proteins in liquid formulation. J Biomech Eng 2009, 131.
- [48] Ali MK, Moshikur RM, Wakabayashi R, Moniruzzaman M, Kamiya N, Goto M. Biocompatible ionic liquid surfactant-based microemulsion as a potential carrier for sparingly soluble drugs. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2020, 8, 6263–6272.
- [49] Balk A, Holzgrabe U, Meinel L. 'Pro et Contra' ionic liquid drugs challenges and opportunities for pharmaceutical translation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2015, 94, 291–304.
- [50] Claus J, Sommer FO, Kragl U. Ionic liquids in biotechnology and beyond. 2018, 314, 119–128.
- [51] Faisal, M, Shahid, S, Ghumro, SA, Saeed, A, Larik, FA, Shaheen, Z, Channar, PA, Fattah, TA, Rasheed, S, Mahesar, PA. DABCO–PEG ionic liquid-based synthesis of acridine analogous and its inhibitory activity on alkaline phosphatase. 2018, 48, 462–472.
- [52] Pereira JFB, Magri A, Quental MV, Gonzalez-Miquel M, Freire MG, Coutinho JAP. Alkaloids as alternative probes to characterize the relative hydrophobicity of aqueous biphasic systems. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2016, 4, 1512–1520.
- [53] Shukla SK, Mikkola JP. Use of ionic liquids in protein and DNA chemistry. Front Chem 2020, 1219.
- [54] Titi A, Almutairi SM, Alrefaei AF, Manoharadas S, Alqurashy BA, Sahu PK, Hammouti B, Touzani R, Messali M, Ali I. Novel phenethylimidazolium based ionic liquids: Design, microwave synthesis, insilico, modeling and biological evaluation studies. J Mol Liq 2020, 315, 113778.
- [55] Moniruzzaman M, Tahara Y, Tamura M, Kamiya N, Goto M. Ionic liquid-assisted transdermal delivery of sparingly soluble drugs. Chem Commun 2010, 46, 1452–1454.
- [56] Agatemor C, Ibsen KN, Tanner EEL, Mitragotri S. Ionic liquids for addressing unmet needs in healthcare. Bioeng Transl Med 2018, 3, 7–25.
- [57] Tanner EEL, Curreri AM, Balkaran JPR, Selig-Wober NC, Yang AB, Kendig C, Fluhr MP, Kim N, Mitragotri S. Design principles of ionic liquids for transdermal drug delivery. Adv Mater 2019, 31, 1901103.
- [58] Egorova KS, Ananikov VP. Fundamental importance of ionic interactions in the liquid phase: a review of recent studies of ionic liquids in biomedical and pharmaceutical applications. J Mol Liq 2018, 271–300.
- [59] Yang D, Liu C, Piao H, Quan P, Fang L. Enhanced drug loading in the drug-in-adhesive transdermal patch utilizing a drug-ionic liquid strategy: Insight into the role of ionic hydrogen bonding. Mol Pharm 2021, 18, 1157–1166.
- [60] Wu H, Fang F, Zheng L, Ji W, Qi M, Hong M, Ren G. Ionic liquid form of donepezil: Preparation, characterization and formulation development. J Mol Liq 2020, 300, 112308.
- [61] Egorova KS, Gordeev EG, Ananikov VP. Biological activity of ionic liquids and their application in pharmaceutics and medicine. Chem Rev 2017, 117, 7132–7189.
- [62] Dias AR, Costa-Rodrigues J, Fernandes MH, Ferraz R, Prudêncio C. The anticancer potential of ionic liquids. Chem Med Chem 2017, 12, 11–18.
- [63] Kumar A, Kumari K, Singh S, Bahdur I, Singh P. Noscapine anticancer drug designed with ionic liquids to enhance solubility: DFT and ADME approach. J Mol Liq 2021, 325, 115159.
- [64] Flieger J, Flieger M. Ionic liquids toxicity benefits and threats. Int J Mol Sci 2020, 1–41.
- [65] Marrucho I, Branco L. Ionic Liquids in Pharmaceutical Applications, 2014.
- [66] Shamshina JL, Berton P, Wang H, Zhou X, Gurau G, Rogers RD. Ionic liquids in pharmaceutical industry. Green Tech Org Synth Med Chem 2018, 539–577.

- [67] Vieira NSM, Bastos JC, Rebelo LPN, Matias A, Araújo JMM, Pereiro AB. Human cytotoxicity and octanol/water partition coefficients of fluorinated ionic liquids. Chemosphere 2019, 216, 576–586.
- [68] Faisal M, Saeed A. The role of ionic liquid in medicinal chemistry. Green Approaches Med Chem Sustain Drug Des 2020, 143–180.
- [69] Ríos-Lombardía N, Rodríguez-Álvarez MJ, Morís F, Kourist R, Comino N, López-Gallego F, González-Sabín J, García-Álvarez J. Design of sustainable one-pot chemoenzymatic organic transformations in deep eutectic solvents for the synthesis of 1,2-disubstituted aromatic olefins. Front Chem 2020, 8, 1–11.
- [70] Ballesteros A, Bornscheuer U, Capewell A, Combes D, Condoret JS, Koenig K, Kolisis FN, Marty A, Menge U, Scheper T, Stamatis H, Xenakis A. Review article enzymes in non-conventional phases. Biocatal Biotransform 1995, 13, 1–42.
- [71] Massolo E, Palmieri S, Benaglia M, Capriati V, Perna FM. Stereoselective organocatalysed reactions in deep eutectic solvents: Highly tunable and biorenewable reaction media for sustainable organic synthesis. Green Chem 2016, 18, 792–797.

Monika Jangid, Avinash K. Rai, Khushbu Sharma, Shubang Vyas, Rakshit Ameta and Suresh C. Ameta*

Chapter 8 Industrial applications of nonconventional solvents

8.1 Introduction

Solvents are crucial platforms in the synthesis of organic compounds. The choice of a solvent is therefore critical in order to develop eco-friendly and sustainable synthetic methodologies of these solvents. Various organic solvents are used for carrying out different organic transformations on lab scale and industrial level also, but these are associated with demerits like toxicity, generation of hazardous fuels and low boiling. Therefore, a search is necessary for nonconventional solvents or green solvents for developing eco-friendly routes in organic synthesis. Here, many solvents have been tried to replace traditional solvents like ionic liquids and supercritical solvents (water and carbon dioxide), but the list is not complete. Here, polyethylene glycol (PEG), glycerol, cyclopentylmethyl ether, 2-methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF), ethyl lactate, and so on have been used successfully as solvents in various processes, and all these are discussed in this chapter. Nowadays, different eco-friendly solvents are used, which can find eco-friendly applications in fine chemical syntheses, particularly from large-scale industrial manufacture point of view.

8.2 Polyethylene glycol (PEG)

PEG is a polyether, which was derived from petroleum. It is used in many industrial applications (pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, lubricants, ink, surfactants, cleansing agents, emulsifiers, skin conditioners and humectants). PEG is also called polyoxyethylene (POE). PEG is produced by the reaction of ethylene oxide with water, ethylene glycol or ethylene glycol oligomers. It is a hydrophilic polymer of ethylene oxide.

^{*}Corresponding author: Suresh C. Ameta, Department of Chemistry, PAHER University, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India, e-mail: ameta_sc@yahoo.com

Monika Jangid, Avinash K. Rai, Shubang Vyas, Department of Chemistry, PAHER University, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

Khushbu Sharma, Department of Chemistry, Bhupal Nobles' University, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India **Rakshit Ameta**, Department of Chemistry, J. R. N. Rajasthan Vidhyapeeth (Deemed to be University), Udaipur, Rajasthan, India

PEG has proved its worth in different biological and chemical studies. It has found a variety of applications such as phase transfer catalysis, peptide synthesis, cell and protein purifications, pharmaceutical modification, binding assays and polymerbound reagents. The preparation of various PEG derivatives was excellently reviewed by Harris [1]. PEG and its esters and ethers are normally used as starting materials of these compounds. PEGs are POEs having hydroxyl end groups with molecular weight in the range of 20,000 Da or less.

Some low-molecular-weight PEG-plasticizing polylactides (PLAs) were prepared by Hassouna et al. [2] to improve the ductility of PLA, but retaining the content plasticizer at maximum 20 wt% of PLA. A reactive blending of anhydride-grafted PLA (MAG-PLA) copolymer was done with PEG, having chains terminated with hydroxyl groups. It was reported that the anhydride-functionalized PLA chains were grafted onto a fraction of PEG during the melt-processing, which will improve the compatibility between PLA and PEG. The presence of MAG-PLA does not influence the behavior of plasticized PLA much with reference to viscoelastic and viscoplastic properties. It was observed that elastic modulus and yield stress decrease with or without MAG-PLA, but the ultimate strain was found to be increased on adding PEG into PLA.

A method has been reported by Li et al. [3] for immobilization of lipase through polylactic acid (PLA) modified with PEG. It was found that lipase from *Candida rugosa* (type VII) can be easily immobilized on the PLA/PEG film (biocompatible) in the presence of glutaraldehyde and 1,6-hexamethylene diamine. It was revealed that the presence of 1,6-hexylenediamine maintains the enzymatic activity (maximum) with 8% w/w, while on immobilization, the optimum temperature of lipase shifted from 45 to 50 °C. The immobilized lipase was found to retain its original activity of up to 63% on treatment at 50 °C in buffer for 2 h, which was significantly higher when compared to control (33%). The optimum pH value of as-prepared lipase was also shifted from 6.5 to 7.5 on immobilization. It was interesting to note that the immobilized lipase maintained up to 70% of its original activity even on storage for 30 days while free lipase can maintain only 23%. It was also found that the lipase (immobilized) exhibited excellent reusability (82%) even after six cycles.

Su et al. [4] prepared TiO₂/Ag nano-antibacterial material at low temperature. They used PEG-600 as reducing as well as stabilizing agent. It was reported that the average particle size of TiO₂ among these nanomaterials was found to be 50–150 nm, while it was around 20 nm in case of silver. It was revealed that the growth inhibition rates against *E. coli* was 99.99%, when concentration of nanoparticle dispersion solution was kept at 10 ppm, and the minimum UV-protective effect could be achieved at the concentration of 290 ppm.

A composite phase change material was obtained by Qian et al. [5], which was PEG/SiO_2 shape-stabilized using oil shale ash (hazardous waste). Here, PEG served for thermal energy storage as a phase change material, while SiO_2 acts as the carrier matrix which provided structural strength, and as a consequence, the leakage of PEG (melted) was prevented. It was revealed that the extraction efficiency of silica could

reach 60.36%, with the following optimal conditions: reaction time (4 h); sodium hydroxide concentration (20 wt%); calcination temperature (900 °C); time 60 min; and liquid/solid ratio (4 mL g^{-1}). It was indicated that the composite had encapsulation ratio and efficiency, high phase change enthalpy and thermal storage capability. It was reported that the melting time, the solidifying time and the supercooling extent of the composite were 26.5, 22.6 and less than 22.3% than pristine PEG, respectively.

Khan and Jiabi [6] prepared solid dispersions of ibuprofen (IBF) by solvent evaporation method. They used PEG 10000, talc and PEG-talc as dispersion carriers. No important and well-defined chemical interaction was observed between the ingredients. An increase in the dissolution rate of IBF from solid dispersions with the carriers may be due to factors like local solubilization, improved wettability and drug particle size reduction.

Morita et al. [7] prepared biodegradable microspheres loaded with protein via solid-in-oil-in-water emulsion process using PEG. PEG lyophilized a protein solution resulting in spherical protein microparticles with diameter <5 μ m, which are dispersed in a continuous PEG phase. They used a conventional in-water drying method in the second step. It was observed that horseradish peroxidase was effectively entrapped into microspheres (monolithic type) of poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), without any significant loss in its activity. It was also revealed that another model protein, bovine superoxide dismutase, could be encapsulated by the "polymer–alloy method" into reservoir-type microspheres using both poly(DL-lactic acid) (PLA) and PLGA.

Firouzabadi et al. [8] carried out thioarylation of structurally different alkyl bromides such as *n*-octyl benzyl, cyclohexyl, cyclopentyl, cinnamyl, *tert*-butyl bromides and benzyl with aryl bromides, iodides and an activated chloride using thiourea in wet PEG 200 (eco-friendly medium) catalyzed by copper(I) iodide in the presence of potassium carbonate under an inert atmosphere at 80 and 100 °C. It was reported that this process has no foul-smelling thiols.

Idris et al. [9] prepared asymmetric polyethersulfone (PES) ultrafiltration flat sheet membranes by the phase inversion process from a casting solution containing *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide as solvent, PES as polymer and PEG of different molecular weights as additives (PEG 200, PEG 400 and PEG 600). As-prepared membranes were characterized in terms of molecular weight cutoff (MWCO), flux, pure water permeation (PWP), solute separation and membrane morphology. It was revealed that membranes with PEG have higher molecular weights with larger pores and higher PWP. It was revealed that MWCO of membranes increased from 26 to 45 kDa with the increase in molecular weight of PEG from 200 to 600. It was also revealed that significant changes were also there in solute separation, PWP and flux, when the concentration of additives was increased from 5 to 25 wt% in casting solution.

Wolcott et al. [10] reported the synthesis of ultrathin WO_3 nanodisks via wet chemical route using PEG as a surface modulator. It was revealed that as-prepared structures have dimensions on the order of 350–1,000, 200–750 and 7–18 nm in length,

width and thickness, respectively. It was suggested that large flat surface area and high aspect ratio of as-prepared WO_3 nanodisks have a potential for use in Photoelec-trochemical (PEC) cells for production of hydrogen through water splitting of water.

8.3 Glycerol

It is a colorless, odorless and viscous liquid, which is sweet and nontoxic in nature. It is quite commonly used as a sweetener in the food industry and as a humectant in pharmaceutical formulations. It has three hydroxyl groups, and is therefore miscible with water and is also hygroscopic in nature. Glycerol is used in different medical, pharmaceutical and personal care products.

Transportation and electricity generation require fossil fuels (hydrocarbons) at present but their reserves are regularly declining. It has been predicted that the present global dependency on fossil fuels will not be economically or environmentally sustainable for a long term in future. As a result, an interest in biodiesel has increased in recent times. The use of crude glycerol as a by-product for production of biodiesel is still an existing challenge from an environmental and economic point of view. But crude glycerol can be used as an organic carbon substrate for the production of some high-value chemicals such as 1,3-propanediol, polyols or organic acids using some microorganisms [11].

Glycerol carbonate (GC) can be prepared from glycerol through transesterification of glycerol using dimethyl carbonate (DMC) in the presence of coal fly ash, which was K-zeolite derived via hydrothermal treatment [12]. The effect of different operational parameters such as catalyst loading, reaction temperature and time and molar ratio of DMC to glycerol on the transesterification reaction was observed. It was reported that when DMC–glycerol molar ratio (3:1), catalyst loading (4 wt.%) and reaction temperature (75 °C) were maintained, then 100% and 96% could be achieved for glycerol conversion and GC by this process, respectively. It has been suggested that the as-prepared GC can be used as a green electrolyte solvent, in lithium batteries and as bio-based fuel additive.

Pradhan and Sharma [13] suggested a clean approach for preparation of CaO/TiO₂ nanoparticles using waste chicken eggshells and TiO₂ as inorganic support. Then it was used for the synthesis of GC. It was reported that at the optimal conditions (temp = 90 °C; time = 180 min; catalyst loading = 3 wt% of glycerol–DMC:glymolar ratio = 4:1; and CaO/TiO₂ (3:1) mixed oxide) the reaction exhibited 99.3% glycerol conversion and 93.7% yield of GC. It was revealed that green metrics like environmental factor (E-factor) was 0.082, which indicated the transesterification reaction with 100% atom utilization. It was claimed that this designed catalyst possesses green chemistry metrics to be used in the manufacturing process of GC in both industrial and lab scales. The use of



Figure 8.1: Synthesis of glycerol carbonate from biowaste glycerol (adapted from [13] with permission).

eggshell (waste) is low cost and green. This reduced the waste generation and the cost of its treatment, which makes it relatively economic and eco-friendly.

Mantzouridou et al. [14] investigated the use of glycerol as a carbon source (supplementary) to glucose for β -carotene production by *Blakeslea trispora*. It was reported that the highest β -carotene production (15.0 mg g⁻¹ of dry biomass) could be obtained at a glycerol concentration of 60.0 g L⁻¹. It was observed that glycerol (industrial)-stimulated β -carotene synthesis was more than 10 and 8 times of soap by-product and biodiesel by-product when compared to the control medium. It was also revealed that the maximum β -carotene contents were 10 and 8 mg g⁻¹ of dry biomass, respectively, and its content (relative) in the carotenoid fraction was good (86–88%).

Existing biodiesel manufacturing processes produced crude glycerol as a side fraction. Biodiesel will generate a large quantity of glycerol, suggesting that this type of conversion to a fuel is not a viable route. Sabourin-Provost and Hallenbeck [15] reported that the photosynthetic bacterium *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* is capable of converting glycerol via photofermentation, as both pure and crude glycerol fraction to hydrogen, a fuel of future. They could obtain relatively high yields, up to 6 mol of $H_2 \text{ mol}^{-1}$ glycerol (75% of theoretical, 8 mol of $H_2 \text{ mol}^{-1}$ glycerol). Even the crude glycerol fraction. It was also revealed that the concentration of added nitrogen can be used to modify both rates of hydrogen production and its yields. It was suggested that some factors may be identified, which can be examined in future to increase rates and/or yields.

González-Pajuelo et al. [16] evaluated growth inhibition of *Clostridium butyricum* VPI 3266 by raw glycerol obtained from the biodiesel production process. It was reported that *C. butyricum* presents the same tolerance to raw and commercial glycerol of similar grade, 87% (w/v). It was observed that a 39% increase of growth inhibition was there in the presence of 100 g L^{-1} of a lower grade raw glycerol (65% w/v). They also found that 1,3-propanediol production from two raw glycerol types (65% w/v and 92% w/v; without any prior purification) was there in batch and continuous cultures. It was revealed that there was no significant difference in *C. butyricum* fermentation patterns on raw and commercial glycerol as the sole carbon source, and the yield of 1,3-propanediol was about 0.60 mol mol⁻¹ glycerol consumed in both these cases.

Bhatti et al. [17] used waste tallow as a low-cost sustainable and potential feedstock for the production of biodiesel. The effect of different reaction parameters on biodiesel production such as temperature, time and amount of catalyst was investigated. The optimal conditions obtained for processing of 5 g tallow were: temperature = 50 and 60 °C; oil/methanol molar ratio = 1:30 and 1:30, amount of H_2SO_4 = 1.25 and 2.5 g for chicken and mutton tallow, respectively. They could obtain the formation of chicken and mutton fat esters under optimal conditions as 99.01 ± 0.71 and 93.21 ± 5.07% in 24 h in the presence of acid. It was revealed that a total of 98.29% and 97.25% fatty acids were found in chicken and mutton fats, respectively. It was also suggested that both these fats were found suitable for producing biodiesel with deserved fuel properties.

8.4 Cyclopentylmethyl ether (CPME)

Cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME) is also called methoxycyclopentane. It is a hydrophobic ether solvent. CPME is not used as a reaction solvent only but as an extraction as well as a crystallization solvent because it has higher hydrophobicity, lower peroxide formation and relatively higher boiling point. Cyclopentylmethyl ether is used in organic synthesis mainly as a solvent. Easy separation and recovery from water are added advantages of CPME. The CPME is a green and sustainable solvent of choice for many chemical transformations.

Normally, diethyl ether (Et₂O) and tetrahydrofuran (THF) are organic solvents used for Grignard reactions, but these solvents have certain issues, when applied for the synthesis on a large scale in manufacturing chemicals. The disadvantage of Et₂O is that it is highly flammable and has properties such as anesthetics, while THF is slowly converted into explosive peroxides and its recovery becomes very difficult due to its miscibility in water.

Kobayashi et al. [18] use CPME (green solvent) in Grignard reactions. They indicated that its recycling is possible, which makes these more eco-friendly, particularly, tramadol and tamoxifen. It was reported that diisobutylaluminum hydride is a proper activator of magnesium, and as a result, some Grignard reagents may be prepared in heterogeneous or homogeneous media using CPME. It was revealed that CPME can be easily recycled after use in the Grignard reaction without any adverse effect of the reaction yield in consecutive experiments. The CPME was found to be stable under the conditions of Grignard reaction as it can be recovered. It was also reported that some Grignard reagents were found to be stable in CPME for a number of months, and as a result, these solutions can be used as a substitute of existing reagents. It was observed that tramadol hydrochloride (analgesic) and tamoxifen (an antiestrogenic drug used for treatment of breast cancer) can be successfully prepared by Grignard reactions using CPME as a solvent.

They also evaluated the potential of CPME as a solvent in a number of radical reactions such as hydrosilylation, hydrostannation, hydrothiolation and tributyltin hydridemediated reductions [19] (Figure 8.2). It was indicated that CPME degraded into cyclopentanone, methyl pentanoate, cyclopentanol and 2-cyclopenten-1-ol under thermal radical conditions, but only slightly. They could achieve radical-containing one-pot reactions in CPME for its applicability to multistep reactions.



Figure 8.2: Cyclopentyl methyl ether as solvent for radical reaction (adapted from [19] with permission).

It is known that darifenacin is a potent and competitive M_3 -selective receptor antagonist. Its hydrobromide salt is also an active ingredient of pharmaceutical formulations for oral treatment of urinary incontinence. Pramanik et al. [20] carried out an efficient, commercial manufacturing process for the synthesis of darifenacin hydrobromide using CPME–water as a solvent in the presence of K_2CO_3 followed by a reaction with aq. HBr (Figure 8.3).

Probst et al. [21] evaluated CPME for extracting triacylglycerol (TAG) or oil from wet cells of the oleaginous yeast *Lipomyces starkeyi*. CPME is considered a greener alternative of chloroform, which is a promising solvent for oil recovery at present. It was reported that a monophasic system of CPME or biphasic system of CPME:water (1:0.7) has poor extraction efficiency of TAG and its selectivity. Multiphasic systems of CPME:water:alcohol with different alcohols (methanol/ethanol/1-propanol) were evaluated, and it was found that methanol could achieve the best oil extraction efficiency



Figure 8.3: Cyclopentyl methyl ether for the synthesis of darifenacine hydrobromide (adapted from [20] with permission).

as compared to other two alcohols: ethanol and 1-propanol. It was revealed that highest extraction efficiency and TAG selectivity of 9.9 mg mL⁻¹ and 64.6%, respectively, could be achieved using a starting ratio of 1:1.7:0.6 and a final ratio of 1:1:0.8 (CPME: methanol:water).

The separation of some monocarboxylic acids (formic acid (FA), acetic acid (AA) and propionic acid (PA)) from aqueous solutions is still a problematic issue. Türk et al. [22] reported the recovery of FA, AA and PA from aqueous solutions using tributyl phosphate as an extractant and green solvents such as CPME and 2-MeTHF. It was revealed that the distribution coefficient (*D*), extraction efficiency (*E*%) and loading factor (*Z*) were found to be in the range of 0.289–4.003, 22.41–78.41% and 0.198–2.218, respectively. It was observed that when the extractant concentration was increased, it was formed to be effective on using CPME as the diluent, but not on using 2-MeTHF. It was indicated that the extraction efficiency in both these diluents followed the same order: PA > AA ≥ FA.

Direct arylation polymerization (DArP) is a developing method for conjugated polymer synthesis. Pankow et al. [23] reported the application of green and sustainable solvents like 2-MeTHF, CPME, diethylcarbonate and γ -valerolactone for DArP toward the preparation of poly(3-hexylthiophene) (P3HT) and poly[(2,5-bis(2-hexyldecyloxy)phenyl-ene)-*alt*-(4,7-di(thiophen-2-yl)benzo[*c*][1,2,5]thiadiazole) (PPDTBT). It was observed that CPME provided the higher polymerization products with M_n up to 41 kDa for PPDTBT with significant yields (98%). It was interesting to note that the application of CPME to P3HT resulted in M_n values of 12 kDa with 93% regioregularity (RR) and that too with no detectable β -defects.

Oshima et al. [24] used CPME as an extractant for Au(III) in acidic chloride media. They compared the extraction behavior of Au(III) using CPME with other extractants such as dibutyl carbitol (DBC) and methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK). It was reported that the order of extractability for Au(III) followed the order:

MIBK > DBC > CPME

It was revealed that the extraction selectivity of these extractants was similar for metal ions, but MIBK exhibited relatively a lower metal selectivity.

8.5 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF)

2-MeTHF is a highly flammable and mobile liquid. It is mostly used as a substitute for THF for better performance, such as higher reaction temperatures and easier separations, and it is not miscible with water. 2-MeTHF is considered a good solvent for low-temperature lithiation reactions because of low m.p. and less viscosity at lower temperatures. It has been promoted as an eco-friendly alternative to conventional solvent THF, although 2-MeTHF is little expensive, but it can be compensated with greater overall process economy. 2-MeTHF is a biomass-derived chemical that can find use as a green solvent for organic reactions in industries. It has applications in organocatalysis, organometallics, biotransformations as well as biomass processing. 2-MeTHF is a readily available, neoteric, less expensive and bio-based solvent.

The benefits of 2-MeTHF as green solvents are:

- Benign and sustainable
- Broad tolerance
- Mild conditions
- Large scale
- Fe-NHC catalysis
- HetAr arylation
- Application to API

Lei et al. [25] reported Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling of esters and amides catalyzed by palladium–NHC through chemoselective O–C(O) and N–C(O) cleavage with aryl boronic acids using an eco-friendly, green and sustainable solvent, 2-MeTHF. They could couple a variety of aryl esters and amides with aryl boronic acids with higher yields. It was claimed that the use of 2-MeTHF gave highest turnover number (TON) in amide N–C(O) bond cross-coupling. This simple protocol can be utilized in synthesizing a bioactive ketone intermediate with 2-MeTHF as a green solvent.

Englezou et al. [26] combined a series of metal-free and enzymatic ring-opening polymerizations (ROPs) with free radical and controlled reversible addition fragmentation chain transfer (RAFT) polymerizations (separately or tandem) in 2-MeTHF so as to tune the chemistry as well as the architecture of final polymers. The amphiphilic polymers were therefore formulated into nanoparticles and evaluated for their cytocompatibility in three different model cell lines so as to assess their application as possible polymeric excipients for nanomedicines. The suitability of 2-MeTHF as a green solvent was tested for different organo- and enzymatically catalyzed ROP of simple diblocks and also in the production of A–B–C block copolymers with a singleor double-catalyst system. Two labile ester ROP initiators (hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA)) and (polyethylene glycol methacrylate (PEGMA)) were utilized to initiate lactic acid (LA) macromonomers. To test the versatility of 2-MeTHF as "multipolymerization" green solvent, the macromonomers formed were tested in FRP and RAFT tandem polymerization.

Bisz and Szostak [27] reported that iron-catalyzed cross-coupling of tosylates and aryl chlorides with organometallic reagents having β -hydrogen gave good to excellent yields by using 2-MeTHF as a green, eco-friendly and sustainable solvent. It was observed that this reaction has excellent functional group tolerance under mild conditions also. Such cross-coupling reactions (iron-catalyzed) permit the formation of C–C bonds in the syntheses of fine chemicals, pharmaceuticals and natural products catalyzed by the earth-abundant base metal. Apart from it, large-scale cross-coupling, cross-coupling of challenging aryl tosylates and heteroaromatic substrates, and carbamates mediated with Fe–N-heterocyclic carbene catalysts are also possible:

$$(\text{Het})\text{Ar} - \text{X} + \text{R} - \text{MgX} \xrightarrow{\text{Fe catalysis}} (\text{Het})\text{Ar} - \text{R}$$

Bannock et al. [28] reported the synthesis of P3HT by Grignard metathesis (GRIM) polymerization. They used a bio-derived "green" solvent, 2-MeTHF. It was observed that the product yield, molecular weight distribution and RR were similar to as obtained with THF. They used a catalyst derived from nickel(II) bromide ethylene glycol dimethyl ether complex (Ni(dme)Br₂) and 1,3-bis(diphenylphosphino)propane at 65 °C with almost fourfold increase in the reaction rate and that too with complete conversion within 1 min as compared to THF-based synthesis at 55 °C. It was reported that polymer had an Mw of 46 kg mol⁻¹, with a low PDI (1.4) and an RR of 93%, which indicates that flow-based GRIM polymerization in 2-MeTHF is suitable for high-throughput synthesis of P3HT (high quality).

Smoleń et al. [29] examined the application of 2-MeTHF as a solvent for olefin metathesis using a series of second-generation ruthenium Hoveyda-type catalysts (Figure 8.4). They studied the effect of temperature, and the results were compared with conventional solvents (dichloromethane and toluene) for metathesis. Olefin metathesis is important from industrial manufacturing point of view. Therefore, there is a pressing demand to search for eco-friendly solvents applicable on large scale. This solvent has wide range of applications in synthetic organic chemistry as well as pharmaceutical chemistry.



Figure 8.4: 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran as a solvent in olefin metathesis catalyzed by ruthenium (adapted from [29] with permission).

8.6 Ethyl lactate

Ethyl lactate is an ethyl ester of lactic acid with formula $CH_3CH(OH)CO_2CH_2CH_3$. It is a colorless liquid, which is a chiral ester. It is available as a single enantiomer and can be used as a water-rinsible degreaser. It is also biodegradable. Ethyl lactate is present naturally in inmate quantities in a wide range of foods, including chicken, wine and different fruits. It is an eco-friendly solvent and is effective when comparable to petroleum-based solvents.

The advantages of using ethyl lactate as green solvents are:

- Visible-light irradiation
- One-pot procedure high yields
- Broad scope of substrate
- Easy scalability for room-temperature reaction
- Eco-friendly solvents
- No any additional promoter
- Avoiding thermal energy

Zhang et al. [30] developed an efficient and eco-friendly method for the synthesis of spirooxindole–pyran derivatives using the three-component reaction of malononitrile, isatins and enolizable C–H-activated compounds such as dimedone, 2-hydroxynaphthalene-1,4-dione and 4-hydroxycoumarin (Figure 8.5). They carried out this reaction in water–ethyl lactate at room temperature in the presence of visible light. This solvent has certain advantages such as high yield, clean and mild reaction conditions, absence of catalyst, visible light as a source of energy and ethyl lactate/water as a green solvent, apart from one-pot multicomponent reaction at ambient temperature, which needs no chromatographic separation, and it is also applicable on large scale.



Figure 8.5: One-pot synthesis of spirooxindole–pyran derivatives in aqueous ethyl lactate (adapted from [30] with permission).

The effect of various green cosolvents such as ethanol, ethyl acetate and ethyl lactate extraction of caffeine from green tea leaves was observed by Bermejo et al. [31] using supercritical carbon dioxide. They reported highest caffeine yield with ethyl lactate in both the approaches: static and dynamic extractions as 13.0 and 14.2 mg g⁻¹ of tea, respectively. It was followed by ethanol (10.8 and 8.8 mg g⁻¹), while the yield with ethyl acetate was lower than 7 mg g⁻¹.

Golmakani et al. [32] used two extraction techniques and two green solvents for the extraction of γ -linolenic acid (GLnA)-enriched fractions using *Arthrospira platensis* (spirulina). The two approaches used were expanded ethanol with CO₂ (gasexpanded liquid extraction, GXL) and pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) with a mixture of ethanol:ethyl lactate. It was reported that total yields up to 20.7% (w/w) could be obtained under optimal conditions in case of PLE as follows: pressure = 20.7 MPa, temperature = 180 °C, extraction time = 15 min and ethanol:ethyl lactate (50:50, v/v), where 68.3% recovery of GLnA was achieved. The GXL method provided total yields of 7.4% (w/w) with a GLnA recovery of 35.3%, and both these values are lower than the PLE method.

Karthika et al. [33] observed crystallization of IBF using ethyl lactate as a green solvent (Figure 8.6). They investigated crystallization of IBF grown in 50% aqueous ethyl lactate. It was reported that IBF can be crystallized from aqueous ethyl lactate, where the system does not pass through two-phase separation.



Figure 8.6: Crystallization of ibuprofen using ethyl lactate as green solvent (adapted from [33] with permission).

8.7 Conclusions

The traditional solvents used in laboratories and industries generate harmful vapors on use; therefore, there is a pressing demand all over the globe to replace such toxic solvents by some green solvents. There are many alternate solvents suggested in the last few decades for use at industrial level, but search is still on for some more effective eco-friendly solvents. Such solvents in common use are PEG, glycerol, cyclopentylmethyl ether, 2-MeTHF, ethyl lactate and so on. This list is not complete as other possibilities are also there such as supercritical solvents (water and carbon dioxide), ionic liquids, p-cymene, limonene and gamma-valerolactone. Many more eco-friendly solvents will replace the existing harmful solvents in years to come.

References

- [1] Harris JM. Laboratory synthesis of polyethylene glycol derivatives. Macromol Sci-Rev Macromol Chem Phys 1985, 25(3), 325-373.
- [2] Hassouna F, Raquez JM, Addiego F, Dubois P, Toniazzo V, Ruch D. New approach on the development of plasticized polylactide (PLA): Grafting of poly (ethylene glycol)(PEG) via reactive extrusion. Europ Polym 2011, 47(11), 2134-2144.
- [3] Li S, Zhao S, Hou Y, Chen G, Chen Y, Zhang Z. Polylactic acid (PLA) modified by polyethylene glycol (PEG) for the immobilization of lipase. App Biochem Biotechnol 2020, 190(3), 982-996.
- [4] Su W, Wei SS, Hu SQ, Tang JX. Preparation of TiO₂/Ag colloids with ultraviolet resistance and antibacterial property using short chain polyethylene glycol. J Hazard Mater 2009, 172(2-3), 716-720.

- [5] Qian T, Li J, Ma H, Yang J. The preparation of a green shape-stabilized composite phase change material of polyethylene glycol/SiO₂ with enhanced thermal performance based on oil shale ash via temperature-assisted sol–gel method. Sol Energy Mater Solar Cells 2015, 132, 29–39.
- [6] Khan GM, Jiabi Z. Preparation, characterization, and dissolution studies of ibuprofen solid dispersions using polyethylene glycol (PEG), talc, and PEG-talc as dispersion carriers. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 1998, 24(5), 455–462.
- [7] Morita T, Sakamura Y, Horikiri Y, Suzuki T, Yoshino H. Protein encapsulation into biodegradable microspheres by a novel S/O/W emulsion method using poly (ethylene glycol) as a protein micronization adjuvant. J Control Release 2000, 69(3), 435–444.
- [8] Firouzabadi H, Iranpoor N, Gholinejad M. One-pot thioetherification of aryl halides using thiourea and alkyl bromides catalyzed by copper (I) iodide Free from foul-smelling thiols in wet polyethylene glycol (PEG 200). Adv Synth Catal 2010, 352(1), 119–124.
- [9] Idris A, Zain NM, Noordin MY. Synthesis, characterization and performance of asymmetric polyethersulfone (PES) ultrafiltration membranes with polyethylene glycol of different molecular weights as additives. Desalination 2007, 207(1–3), 324–339.
- [10] Wolcott A, Kuykendall TR, Chen W, Chen S, Zhang JZ. Synthesis and characterization of ultrathin WO₃nanodisks utilizing long-chain poly (ethylene glycol). J Phys Chem B 2006, 110(50), 25288–25296.
- [11] Dobson R, Gray V, Rumbold K. Microbial utilization of crude glycerol for the production of value-added products. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2012, 39(2), 217–226.
- [12] Algoufi YT, Hameed BH. Synthesis of glycerol carbonate by transesterification of glycerol with dimethyl carbonate over K-zeolite derived from coal fly ash. Fuel Process Technol 2014, 126, 5–11.
- [13] Pradhan G, Sharma YC. A greener and cheaper approach towards synthesis of glycerol carbonate from bio waste glycerol using CaO–TiO₂Nanocatalysts. J Clean Prod 2021, 315, doi. 10.1016/j. jclepro.2021.127860.
- [14] Mantzouridou F, Naziri E, Tsimidou MZ. Industrial glycerol as a supplementary carbon source in the production of β-carotene by Blakeslea trispora. J Agric Food Chem 2008, 56(8), 2668–2675.
- [15] Sabourin-Provost G, Hallenbeck PC. High yield conversion of a crude glycerol fraction from biodiesel production to hydrogen by photofermentation. Bioresour Technol 2009, 100(14), 3513–3517.
- [16] González-Pajuelo M, Andrade JC, Vasconcelos I. Production of 1, 3-propanediol by Clostridium butyricum VPI 3266 using a synthetic medium and raw glycerol. J Ind Microbiol Biot 2004, 31(9), 442–446.
- [17] Bhatti HN, Hanif MA, Qasim M. Biodiesel production from waste tallow. Fuel 2008, 87(13-14), 2961–2966.
- [18] Kobayashi S, Shibukawa K, Miyaguchi Y, Masuyama A. Grignard reactions in cyclopentyl methyl ether. Asian J Org Chem 2016, 5(5), 636–645.
- [19] Kobayashi S, Kuroda H, Ohtsuka Y, Kashihara T, Masuyama A, Watanabe K. Evaluation of cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME) as a solvent for radical reactions. Tetrahedron 2013, 69(10), 2251–2259.
- [20] Pramanik C, Bapat K, Chaudhari A, Tripathy NK, Gurjar MK. A new solvent system (cyclopentyl methyl ether–water) in process development of darifenacin HBr. Org Process Res Dev 2012, 16(10), 1591–1597.
- [21] Probst KV, Wales MD, Rezac ME, Vadlani PV. Evaluation of green solvents: Oil extraction from oleaginous yeast Lipomyces starkeyi using cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME). Biotechnol Prog 2017, 33(4), 1096–1103.
- [22] Türk FN, Çehreli S, Baylan N. Reactive extraction of monocarboxylic acids (formic, acetic, and propionic) using tributyl phosphate in green solvents (cyclopentyl methyl ether and 2methyltetrahydrofuran). J Chem Eng Data 2020, 66(1), 130–137.
- [23] Pankow RM, Ye L, Gobalasingham NS, Salami N, Samal S, Thompson BC. Investigation of green and sustainable solvents for direct arylation polymerization (DArP). Polym Chem 2018, 9(28), 3885–3892.

- [24] Oshima T, Koyama T, Otsuki AN. A comparative study on the extraction of au (iii) using cyclopentyl methyl ether, dibutyl carbitol, and methyl isobutyl ketone in acidic chloride media. Solvent Extr Ion Exch 2021, 39(5–6), 477–490.
- [25] Lei P, Ling Y, An J, Nolan SP, Szostak M. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF): A green solvent for Pd -NHC-catalyzed amide and ester Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling by N–C/O–C cleavage. Adv Synth Catal 2019, 361(24), 5654–5660.
- [26] Englezou G, Kortsen K, Pacheco AA, Cavanagh R, Lentz JC, Krumins E, et al. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF) as a versatile green solvent for the synthesis of amphiphilic copolymers via ROP, FRP, and RAFT tandem polymerizations. J Polym Sci 2020, 58(11), 1571–1581.
- [27] Bisz E, Szostak M. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran: A green solvent for iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. ChemSusChem 2018, 11(8), 1290–1294.
- [28] Bannock JH, Xu W, Baïssas T, Heeney M, de Mello JC. Rapid flow-based synthesis of poly(3hexylthiophene) using 2-methyltetrahydrofuran as a bio-derived reaction solvent. Eur Polym J 2016, 80, 240–246.
- [29] Smoleń M, Kędziorek M, Grela K. 2-Methyltetrahydrofuran: Sustainable solvent for rutheniumcatalyzed olefin metathesis. Catal Commun 2014, 44, 80–84.
- [30] Zhang M, Fu QY, Gao G, He HY, Zhang Y, Wu YS, Zhang ZH. Catalyst-free, visible-light promoted onepot synthesis of spirooxindole-pyran derivatives in aqueous ethyl lactate. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2017, 5(7), 6175–6182.
- [31] Bermejo DV, Ibáñez E, Reglero G, Fornari T. Effect of cosolvents (ethyl lactate, ethyl acetate and ethanol) on the supercritical CO₂ extraction of caffeine from green tea. J Supercrit Fluids 2016, 107, 507–512.
- [32] Golmakani MT, Mendiola JA, Rezaei K, Ibáñez E. Expanded ethanol with CO₂ and pressurized ethyl lactate to obtain fractions enriched in γ-linolenic acid from Arthrospira platensis (Spirulina). J Supercrit Fluids 2012, 62, 109–115.
- [33] Karthika S, Radhakrishnan TK, Kalaichelvi P. Crystallization and kinetic studies of an active pharmaceutical compound using ethyl lactate as a green solvent. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2019, 8(3), 1527–1537.

Tarun Virmani, Vaishnavi Chhabra, Girish Kumar, Ashwani Sharma and Kamla Pathak *

Chapter 9 Impact of nonconventional solvents on environment

9.1 Introduction

The chemical industry has a major role in increased pollution and is thus degrading the quality of air, water and soil. Under such conditions, green chemistry has been the guide to eradicate toxic substances [1]. Chemical reactions are manifold and occur at different conditions of temperature and pressure having three components, namely, solvent, reagent and energy input. Every component has its own role and affects the outcome of reaction [2]. Solvent is the main concern as its improper selection can be a hurdle in the manufacturing of pure products and may cause health and environmental toxicity. Solvents are ubiquitous and have a significant share in everyday life from making a cup of tea to synthesize a compound in the laboratory. These are crucial synthetic products, with a multimillion ton yearly market. They are consolidated by their job of being inert liquids having the role of dissolving the solute. Before the existence of petrochemical industry, water, naturally derived oil and substances were used as solvents. The numbers of solvents presently available are stupendous in an effort to fulfill the purpose of various processes and formulations. Solvents have different chemical functionalities because water, alcohol, amines, acids and other solvents having these as chemical groups come under protic solvents, whereas aprotic solvents are more diverse which include aliphatic, olefinic, ethers, ester, ketones, nitriles and amides [3]. Certain factors influence the action of the solvent, which includes how smoothly a solvent evaporates at encompassing temperature conditions, chemical nature of solvent, water miscible or immiscible and concentration of solvents [4]. The fate of solvent in the environment depends on the physicochemical properties such as volatility, chemical structure, water and lipid solubility, flammability and explosiveness.

^{*}Corresponding author: Kamla Pathak, Uttar Pradesh University of Medical Sciences, Etawah 206001, Uttar Pradesh, India, e-mail: kamlapathak5@gmail.com

Tarun Virmani, Vaishnavi Chhabra, Girish Kumar, Ashwani Sharma, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, MVN University, Aurangabad 121102, Haryana, India

9.1.1 Volatility

It is an important parameter for considering the health and environmental impact. Higher the volatility of a solvent, higher is its concentration of vapor in the air. The vapor pressure and rate of evaporation are two measurements of volatility. Both are temperature sensitive and rise as the temperature rises [5].

9.1.2 Chemical properties

The functional group attached to solvents decides the toxicological properties. The number of carbon atoms and the presence or absence of saturation determines the toxicity of solvent and how atoms are arranged (straight chain or branched).

9.1.3 Flammability and explosiveness

These are two important determinants of hazards. For instance, some solvents can be explosive and there is a risk of fire or explosion due to exothermic reaction. Some solvents have the tendency to evaporate at atmospheric temperature and enter the human body and cause birth defects as they are carcinogenic. Since water is such an excellent solvent, much of the harmful pollution produced by humans eventually ends up in the ocean. Many chemical compounds accumulate in the sediment and the sea surface microlayer solvents after entering the marine environment, polluting water and posing a serious threat to aquatic creatures [5].

Solvents have a negative impact on our environment because their paths infiltrate the air, water and soil. Long-term exposure to products that involve hazardous environments can cause a slew of issues for humans, animals and the environment. Solvents are frequently utilized in the industry and they can be found in consumer products that people come into contact with on a regular basis [6]. Organic solvents generated from oil are hazardous and have negative health, environmental and safety consequences. The chemicals can cause different types of hazards which include physical hazards (flammability and explosive properties), toxicity and environmental hazards (decrease in ozone layer, climate change and overheating) [7]. It can also be harmful to the animals' liver and kidneys when released into the drinking water by industries. Meanwhile, despite their toxicity, researchers are hesitant to utilize green solvents instead of conventional solvents, and the industries and laboratories continue to use hazardous solvents, regardless of whether they produce high yields or not.

Green chemistry, on the other hand, provides methods for synthesis that reduce pollution and avoid the use of derivatives in reactions. Green chemistry also aims to employ ecologically friendly solvents that produce good results. Because of the emissions that harm the environment, it is necessary to remove volatile organic compounds (VOCs) [8]. For example, tetrachloroethylene (PERC) is used as a solvent in dry cleaning and metal degreasing [8]. It is emitted from the industry which results in increased quantity of PERC in air, soil and water, and in particular, when it is mixed into the soil. It is not evaporated and thus migrates into groundwater. It also contributes in the formation of photochemical smog through its breakdown into phosgene (toxic chemical) and chloroacetylchlorides in air [9]. Most of the commonly used solvents such as chloroform, carbon tetrachloride and benzene pose threats to the environment. Therefore, the use of solvent should be reduced to wherever required and it should be nontoxic, nonflammable and compatible to the environment [2]. Solvent revelation occurs through different routes: inhalation, transdermal or ingestion. Individuals working in industries such as metal degreasing and painting, involved in mixing solvents, are at higher risk to exposure to harmful solvents. Some categories of population which include children and elderly are more prone to exposure to solvent's deleterious effects causing dysfunctioning of gastrointestinal and respiratory functions. The toxicokinetics of the given solvent depend on the lipophilicity and volatility of chemicals. The rate of uptake depends on the partition coefficient of blood and air for each solvent. The mechanism of toxicity varies with the specific solvent. There are two toxicity types: acute and chronic. In short-term and acute toxicity, the solvent follows a conventional approach of increase in effect with an increase in dose. On the other hand, chronic exposure to high doses can lead to cancer [10].

Incessant agglomeration of these solvents in the environment as well as inappropriate waste handling is the fundamental cause of pollution and is accountable for severe toxicity to land, air and marine life. Depletion of ozone layer, contamination of groundwater, increased biological oxygen demand and chemical oxygen demand are consequences of consumption of conventional solvents [11]. Some of the risks associated with conventional solvents are summarized in Table 9.1.

Solvent	Risk to health	Risk to environment	References
Benzene	Causes acute myeloid leukemia, acute nonlymphocytic leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes	Photochemical smog	[11, 12]
Toluene	On exposure causes eye and nose irritation, tiredness, dizziness, anxiety, insomnia, liver and kidney damage	Membrane damage to leaves and chronic toxicity to marine life	[11, 13]
Zinc	Causes lethargy, neuronal deficits, immune dysfunction, copper deficiency	Contamination and pose risk to aquatic life	[14, 15]

Table 9.1: Common solvents and their impact on environment.

Table 9.1 (continued)

Solvent	Risk to health	Risk to environment	References
Lead	Affects the central nervous system and kidney	Negative impact on the plant vegetative growth	[16, 17]
Ammonia gas	Vapor irritates the skin, eye and respiratory tract	Impacts species composition and damage to leaves	[5, 18]
Acetic acid	Exposure causes eye irritation, chest tightness, fever, confusion and headache	Harmful to animals and aquatic life	[19, 20]
Acetonitrile	Irritation of mucous membrane and chronic exposure causes headache, numbness and tremors	Toxicity to microorganisms (bacteria, protozoans, cyanobacteria and green algae)	[21, 22]
Dimethyl formamide (DMF)	Cardiac injury, liver and kidney disorder	Enter into the marine system and converted into the precursor, which is the main source of greenhouse gases	
Hexane	Dizziness, polyneuropathy, numbness in the extremities and blurred vision	Affects aquatic organisms	[25, 26]

9.2 Solvent selection methods

Despite being widely used, solvent is neither the active component of a formulation nor it is directly responsible for the composition of a reaction result. As a result, the utilization of toxic, combustible or environmentally hazardous solvents would appear to be superfluous, as these properties have no bearing on the system function. These unfavorable outcomes of solvent use are frequently linked to the solvent's good properties. Solvent volatility allows for solvent recovery and purification by distillation, but it also produces undesirable air pollutants and poses a danger of worker's exposure [27]. For instance, hydrocarbon solvents have audacity to dissolve oils in extractions and conduct separations [28, 29] but they are also very flammable, and their low water solubility (high log P) is associated with bioaccumulation and aquatic toxicity [30, 31]. In order to eliminate the disagreeable solvents, different organizations introduce restriction on such solvents and propose alternative solvents, which are structurally related. The Montreal Protocol has prohibited the use of carbon tetrachloride due to its ozone-depleting nature and suggested halogenated solvents such as chloroform and dichloromethane (DCM) [32]. It is critical to note that these efforts have proven to be short-sighted in the face of more stringent chemical restrictions around the world. Furthermore, even as a short-lived halogenated chemical, DCM has now been demonstrated to deplete ozone [33].

Solvents with similar structural similarities can be easily supplied as drop-in replacements, but they are likely to cause many of the same environmental, health and safety (EHS) issues as previous solvent substitutions. Environmental agencies have their own techniques to regulating hazardous substances, with solvents being particularly affected due to their VOC status and hence the increased risk of exposure [34]. Solvent selection tools have been developed to turn down the economic and environmental influence. Solvent performance on reaction along with EHS aspects has been taken into account by these tools. The performance of a solvent is largely determined by its physicochemical and thermodynamic properties, which can be predicted using a variety of methodologies [35].

Different guides have been developed by pharmaceutical industries for ranking the solvent on the basis of greenness which can be referred from Table 9.2. They have developed their own hierarchy to rank solvent, which leads to minimization of use of solvent or use of more greener alternatives [36]. The first guide was developed by SmithKline Beecham. Thirty-five solvents were ranked based on the environmental impact, waste, health and safety parameters [37]. Later, it was updated by GSK by adding two more parameters, namely, life cycle assessment (LCA) and regulatory concerns [36]. Pfizer developed a solvent selection guide which was inspired from traffic light consisting of three categories: preferred, usable and undesirable. Its criteria was based on the safety of workers such as toxicity, carcinogenicity, mutagenicity; safety of processes such as flammability, vapor pressure and peroxide formation; and environmental and regulatory concerns such as ecotoxicity, groundwater contamination and ozone depletion [38]. The guide developed by Sanofi evaluates solvents from various chemical types (alcohols, ketones, esters, ethers, hydrocarbons, halogenated, polar aprotic, bifunctional and miscellaneous) and ranks them as forbidden, substitution requested, indicated and recommended. This ranking was based on safety, occupational health, the environment, quality and industrial restrictions [39].

Class	Solvent	Pfizer (conclusion)	GSK (conclusion)	Sanofi (conclusion)
Alcohols	Methanol Ethanol Ethylene glycol	Preferred Preferred Usable	Some issues Some issues	Recommended Recommended Substitution advisable
Hydrocarbons	Hexane(s) Cyclohexane Benzene Toluene	Undesirable Usable Undesirable Usable	Major issues Some issues Major issues Some issues	Substitution requested Substitution advisable Banned Substitution advisable

Table 9.2: List of solvent selection guide as provided by different pharmaceutical companies [40].

Tabl	e 9.2	(continue	d)
------	-------	-----------	----

Class	Solvent	Pfizer (conclusion)	GSK (conclusion)	Sanofi (conclusion)
Dipolar aprotic	DMSO	Usable	Some issues	Substitution advisable
	Acetonitrile	Usable	Major issues	Recommended
	DMF	Undesirable	Major issues	Substitution requested
	NMP	Undesirable	Major issues	Substitution requested
Esters	Ethyl acetate	Preferred	Some issues	Recommended
	Methyl acetate	Preferred	Some issues	Substitution advisable
	<i>n</i> -Propyl acetate		Few issues	Recommended
	i-Propyl acetate		Few issues	Recommended
Ethers	THF	Usable	Major issues	Substitution advisable
	TBME	Usable	Some issues	Substitution advisable
	Diethylether	Undesirable	Major issues	Banned
	Di-i-propyl ether	Undesirable	Major issues	Substitution advisable
Ketones	Acetone	Preferred	Some issues	Recommended
	Methylethyl ketone	Preferred	Major issues	Recommended
Halogenated	Dichloromethane	Undesirable	Major issues	Substitution advisable
	Chloroform	Undesirable	Major issues	Banned
	CCl ₄	Undesirable	Major issues	Banned
Miscellaneous	Water	Preferred	Few issues	Recommended
	Acetic acid	Usable		Substitution advisable
	Pyridine	Undesirable		Substitution advisable

The CHEM21 consortium reviewed the findings obtained from different selection guides and developed their own guide, which was a three-tiered system of assessment of safety, health and environmental (SHE) impact [40]. Nowadays, to select the solvent, in silico approaches have been utilized, which is based on computational similarity clustering of solvents. This approach involves grouping of solvents on the basis of physicochemical attributes such as melting point, surface tension and boiling point [32]. The triumph of solvent selection depends upon definitive prediction of thermodynamic attributes, compartmentalized into three groups [41]: molecular scale (interaction between atoms at the molecular level, namely, density functional theory and molecular dynamics), macroscale (bulk solvent attributes which include viscosity and density) [42] and large data-based methods (involves semiempirical methods and quantitative structure–property relationship models) [43]. Following the estimation of molecular descriptors, these are used to determine the different parameters such as global warming potential and cumulative energy demand. This leads to more accurate and reliable environmental impact prediction, easing the selection and designing of solvent when experimental data is meager [44].

Durand et al. [45] have developed a computational method to classify 153 solvents into 10 categories, in which descriptors are generated through a modeling tool COSMO-RS (conductor-like screening model for real solvents), which allows to make comparison

between concerned and alternative solvents. Artificial intelligence has also been employed to cluster 500 solvents based on the physical attributes, which allows to explore alternative solvents from solvent space and ranked using SHE criteria [46].

9.3 Methods to evaluate greenness of solvents

To determine how green a solvent is, two methods are available: EHS method [47] and LCA method [48]. The former one takes into account the EHS concerns while the latter deals with emissions during the life cycle of solvents at different stages from production, utilization to disposal. Solvents are evaluated in nine effective areas by implementing the EHS method: release potential, fire/explosion, reaction/decomposition (representing safety threats), acute toxicity, inflammation, chronic toxicity, persistency, air hazard and water hazard are all examples of risks (representing environmental hazards). An index is created for each effective category and the score between zero and one is calculated, yielding an overall score. The scale range is from zero to nine [49]. LCA of solvents is like different pieces of jigsaw puzzle considering the whole life cycle of solvent from cradle to grave, that is, from manufacturing, distribution use to disposal [50]. A systematic tool helps in making decision regarding the impact of solvent on environment by tracing the discharge and resource use. The flowchart for LCA can be referred from Figure 9.1.



Figure 9.1: Flowchart of LCA of solvent.

More intricacy in how solvents are selected on the basis of a sustainable supply chain will unavoidably be required in the future of solvent selection, and there is scope for more studies in the field of LCA [40].

9.4 Restorative actions to reduce hazards due to conventional solvents

Conventional solvents contribute toward a considerable amount of environmental and health concerns. Consequently, to reduce hazards, the search for better alternatives has always been an area of engrossment. Three directives have been developed to decrease the use of conventional solvents which includes: (a) replacement with the solvent showing comparatively better EHS profile, (b) usage of biosolvents (produced from renewable resources) [49] and (c) swapping of solvents with supercritical fluids (SCFs) [51] or ionic liquids (ILs) [52]. Around 20 years ago, the concept of green chemistry came into existence and was defined as "designing of chemicals and solvents so as to reduce or eliminate the use and generation of hazardous chemicals." The reduction of use of solvent or replacing them with alternate solvent with less toxicity is the major aim of green chemistry [11].

Paul Anastas and John Warner presented the 12 standards of green science in 1998. They are the directing systems for the plan of new chemical compounds and processes, applying to all parts of the interaction of life cycle from the unrefined components utilized to the productivity and impregnability of the change, the toxicity and biodegradability of products and reagents utilized [53]. The principles of green chemistry are depicted in Figure 9.2.



Figure 9.2: Principles of green chemistry.

On similar lines, there is a criterion which needs to be followed in order to be a green solvent, which was proposed by Gu and Jerome. It includes:

1. Attainability: A green solvent must be widely accessible, and productivity should not fluctuate much in order to ensure that the solvent is always available commercially.

- 2. Cost: Green solvents must nevertheless be aggressive in terms of cost but also stable over time in order to assure the sustainability of chemical processes.
- 3. Recyclability: A green solvent must be entirely recycled throughout all chemical processes, utilizing eco-friendly practices.
- 4. Grade: Technical-grade solvents are put forward to prevent the energy-intensive purification operations necessary for extremely unadulterated solvents.
- 5. Synthesis: It must be produced in an energy-efficient manner and chemical reactions ought to have a high atom economy.
- 6. Toxicity: To eliminate any hazards when handled by human or emitted into the environment, green solvents must have insignificant toxicity.
- 7. Biodegradability: It should be biodegradable and not emit hazardous by-products.
- 8. Performance: A green solvent must function similarly, if not better, than currently utilized conventional solvents in terms of viscosity, polarity, density and so on.
- 9. Stability: A green solvent must be thermally and electrochemically robust in order to be used in a chemical reaction.
- 10. Combustibility: A green solvent should not be combustible for safety concerns during operation.
- 11. Storage: It should be undemanding to store and comply with all regulations in order to carry securely by any mode of transportation.
- 12. Renewability: The utilization of sustainable unprocessed materials for the development of green solvents ought to be advocated [54].

Catastrophically, no solvent exists that comply with all the twelve criteria. Various green solvents have been proposed over the decade, which include water, SCFs, biobased solvents, surfactant-based solutions, deep eutectic solvent (DES) and ILs [11, 54]. These solvents along with their applications and limitations have been discussed further.

9.4.1 Water

Water is a universal solvent. All biochemical reactions in the body occur in water and are nontoxic. It can be used in a variety of chemical reactions, separations and organic synthesis as it has polar groups such as alcohols and carboxylic acids. Paint industry has switched from VOCs to water as vapors are released when vehicles are spray-painted [55]. Water can also be used by modifying the temperature and pressure conditions, which is known as subcritical water (liquid water at temperature and pressure below its critical point, i.e., $T_c = 374.15$ °C, $P_c = 217.75$ atm) [54]. Physicochemical characteristics of subcritical water vary dramatically as the temperature rises. The viscosity, dielectric constant and surface tension drop consistently with temperature, but its diffusion coefficient increases [56]. Thus, by modifying the extraction temperature and pressure and pressure conditions, less polar substances can be recovered by subcritical

water at high temperatures. Water, for example, has a dielectric constant comparable to that of acetonitrile, methanol or ethanol around 200–300 °C, allowing it to dissolve high hydrophobic substances such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and polychlorinated biphenyls around its critical conditions [57].

Todd et al. [58] carried out a study comparing the economic, technical and environmental aspects by using extraction of subcritical water as a technique to extract medicinally important food-derived compounds. As per studies, subcritical water extraction does not perform well as compared to conventional solvents for extracting components, having persistently huge demand of energy combined with emissions, huge expenditures and overall low economics. Even though subcritical water produced the highest quality compound, it resulted in an energy-exhaustive process, which negated most of the ecological benefits of employing water as a solvent. SWE had higher potential environmental impacts than solvent extraction and higher greenhouse emissions due to its high energy consumption [58]. Further restriction of subcritical water technology is the requirement of specialized technology and reactors, as well as large energy requirements in order to manage the required high pressure as well as high temperature.

9.4.2 Supercritical fluids (SCFs)

SCFs exist as either liquid or gas, and these two phases coexist above critical temperature and pressure [59]. They have unusual qualities that are not observed in either gases or liquids under normal conditions, such as a liquid-like density and gas-like transport capabilities [60]. The advantages of SCFs include that they can be tweaked as per the standard operating temperature and pressure due to their thermophysical properties [61]. Numerous studies on various implementations of SCF extraction have been published. The frequently employed compound for SCF is CO₂. CO₂ has a low polarity, which enables it to dissolve/extract out nonpolar chemicals, while it is not much successful at extracting polar compounds. In such circumstances, small fraction of organic alterant can be added to prevent the issue [62]. The most commonly employed cosolvent is ethanol; it has been widely employed in most of the SCF extraction investigations. Alterants such as ethyl acetate, water and methanol have been employed to improve chemical miscibility. A lot of interest has been received recently by water used as cosolvent, since it is more successful than ethanol at extracting phenolic chemicals [63].

The major drawback of SCF technology is the high energy demand and the necessity for complex equipment. SCF extraction necessitates a significant amount of power to pressurize as well as to heat up the SCF, which is worsened by the overall increasing trajectory in energy prices. Furthermore, the sixth green chemistry principle is violated by SCF extraction: "Energy demands should be acknowledged for their environmental and economic implications and should be avoided. Artificial procedures should be carried out at room pressure and temperature." This drawback has
been manifested in a study conducted by Rodríguez-Meizoso et al., in which antioxidants have been extracted from rosemary leaves with respect to LCA, and a comparison study has been carried out between two extraction processes, such as subcritical water and SCF. The findings of the study suggested that energy consumption is undoubtedly the most detrimental component of both investigated approaches in terms of environmental impact and associated expenses [64]. Subsequently, instead of introducing a cosolvent to supercritical CO_2 , liquid CO_2 was added to an organic solvent, yielding a solvent known as CO_2 expanded liquid with a lowered relative permittivity, ability to form a hydrogen bond, density closer to pure organic solvents and lower viscosity [65]. The equipment was found to be easier to handle and less expensive in comparison to the extraction of SCF, owing to the substantially lower pressures required. However, no commercial equipment is available for extraction of CO_2 expanded liquid, and in few circumstances, it has been extracted using a commercial SCF extraction technology. Furthermore, the usage of CO_2 expanded liquids can result in a decrease in solvent use of about 80% [54].

9.4.3 Bio-based solvent

Bio-based solvents are those derived from renewable resources [66]. The most prevalent feedstock for bio-based solvents is agriculture, although they can be produced from industrial wastes and marine biofuel as well. The most common biosolvent is bio-based ethanol, which is manufactured through the biotransformation of sugars using either consumable or nonconsumable feedstock. Although issues about consumable feedstock show a rise in the cost of food, the industry has made a shift toward refining cellulosic ethanol production techniques [67]. Another notable bio-based solvent is ethyl lactate, which is manufactured by fermenting corn and soybean feedstock and coupling two fermentation products such as ethanol and lactic acid. Ethyl lactate is utilized to extract phytochemicals since it is biodegradable and nontoxic and has a low volatility [66]. Some of the applications of bio-based solvents including D-limonene (monoterpene hydrocarbon) have been utilized in lieu of *n*-hexane for the estimation of fats and oils in olive seeds [68], carotenoids from tomato [69], extraction of lovastatin, simvastatin and their metabolites from plasma [70]. The major drawback of D-limonene is that it is categorized as problematic according to CHEM21 selection guide due to high toxicity for marine species [71].

There are two types of bio-based solvents: polar and nonpolar. Polar includes methanol, ethanol and acetonitrile, in which the latter one has some environmental concerns. Methanol and ethanol confer acceptable results in majority of extractions. Nevertheless, it is difficult to find appropriate nonpolar bio-based solvent for extraction. Terpenes, which are related to some environmental difficulties such as toxicity for fish, are the key possibilities in this field. The key problem here is their great potential for facilitating photochemical smog creation, which prompts us that a solvent generated from a biological source is not always green. The synthesis of bio-based solvents frequently surges the agricultural environmental consequences such as depletion of abiotic resources, acidification of soil and water eutrophication [72]. Another downside involves purity. Purification of bio-based solvents would increase the separation steps such as deoxygenation, dehydration or distillation which consequently decrease the bio-based solvent's green character [73].

9.4.4 Surfactant-based solutions

When surfactants are added to aqueous solutions, structures such as micelles, microemulsions and vesicle forms provide interesting nonpolar areas. As a result, the use of surfactants in lieu of conventional solvents has been regarded as a positive component. However, during this substitution procedure, the toxicity to aquatic organisms of particular surfactants should be considered. It has previously been observed except the compounds generated from aromatic, the cationic surfactants have higher toxicity than that of anionic surfactants, which is higher than that of nonionic surfactants [74]. Some of the examples of nonionic surfactants include Triton X-45, Triton X-100, Triton X-114, Tween 80 and Tween 20 [54]. These include supramolecular solvents (SUPRAS) and hydrotropes. SUPRAS are nanostructured liquids formed by the uncontrolled, simultaneous mechanisms of self-assembly and coacervation in colloidal solutions of amphiphilic chemicals [75]. These are noncombustible and nonvolatile solvents with tweakable qualities based on the surfactant's hydrophobic or polar groups that can be used as an alternative to organic solvents in liquid-phase microextraction. These were used to measure the level of benzodiazepines and zolpidem in blood and urine [76] and antifungal establishment from plasma and urine [77]. These comply with some of the green criteria such as less energy consumption, less volatility and flammability. The surfactants available currently are petroleum-based and partly biodegradable which offset the advantages. Furthermore, organic solvents (methanol and tetrahydrofuran) are used in their synthesis process. However, few ongoing researches created SUPRAS having low toxicity utilizing synthetic alkyl-carboxylic acids and fatty alcohols in ethanol and water mixtures to lessen the detrimental impact of SUPRAS. The evolution of bio-SUPRASs through coacervation of bio-surfactants has boosted the greenness of these solvents [78]. Another type includes hydrotropes, which are composed of short-chain alkyl (less than or equal to four carbons) and/or aromatic rings and ionic groups [79]. These are often solids; however, some are liquids, such as the short-chain ethers of mono-/di-/tripropylene glycols. Glycol ethers, on the other hand, have documented or probable toxicity, notably reproductive toxicity [80].

9.4.5 Deep eutectic solvent (DES)

DES is a eutectic mixture of Lewis or Bronsted acids and bases and is widely used in the identification of analyte including lithium and sodium ions [81] and as an adsorbent for VOCs [11]. It has characteristics such as low vapor pressure, increased tweakable properties and nonflammability, and are thermally and chemically stable and highly biodegradable. However, even after having such precedence, there is still the requirement of further studies before recognizing DES as "green solvent" as cholinium- and phosphonium-based DES found to be toxic to different biological species [82]. An in silico model was recently utilized to speculate the toxicity of various DESs. According to this research, sugar alcohols and alcohols with a straight chain are the most innocuous hydrogen bond givers. Furthermore, because of their low toxicity, amides such as acetamide and urea can be used as hydrogen bond givers in DES. Sugars might have moderate level of toxicity, and all acids contribute the most positively to DES toxicity [83].

DES can also be obtained from biological sources, namely, organic acids, amino acids and choline derivatives. A recent study used LCA to evaluate the sustainability level of phenolic compound extraction utilizing DES and ethanol. According to the LCA analysis, the typical extraction solvent, ethanol, had the least environmental impact, particularly concerning power utilization. Nevertheless, the authors conclude that several areas remain unclear, indicating the need for additional research [84].

9.4.6 Ionic liquids (ILs)

ILs are salts which are liquids at room temperature and are composed of cations (mostly *N*-alkylpyridinium, PR^{4+} and NR^{4+}), anions (tosylate, alkyl sulfate, NO^{3-} and Cl⁻) and alkyl chains (ethyl, butyl, hexyl and octyl) [7]. These are also known as "designer solvents" as by varying the length as well as branching of the alkyl chain of cationic and anionic nucleus. They can be made fit for different applications [85]. As numerous cation and anion combinations are possible, IL has a variety of physicochemical properties, and few of which are dangerous while others are perfectly safe. Hydrophobic ILs are heavily adsorbed on debris and constitute incessant pollutants in the surroundings, whereas hydrophilic ILs are more expected to reach the marine habitat. Furthermore, abiotic resources change mechanisms of BF₄ and PF₆ anions from some of the produced ILs, such as photolysis, hydrolysis and oxidation, which result in the emission of toxic hydrogen fluoride [86]. It has been observed that as per the model framework employed for acute toxicity tests and the chemical structure of ILs, they exhibit moderate to severe toxicity, which can be two to four significant degrees greater than the standard organic solvents [87]. Harmfulness of ILs appears to be significantly influenced by the composition of the cation than the anion and alkyl chain length being the key factor controlling toxicity [88]. Scientists suggest utilizing LCA method to evaluate the greenness of ILs.

Tobiszewski and coworkers utilized a multicriteria decision tree in their study to assess the sustainability level of ILs. The findings suggested that while it is difficult to make conclusive judgments, ILs containing fluorinated anions should be avoided, and the bald assumption that ILs are green solvents is completely unsuitable and ought to be stayed away from [89]. One reason to be skeptical about the greenness of ILs is that their amalgamation includes the utilization of organic solvents. The implementations of ILs include natural product extraction in replacement for *n*-hexane and *n*-butane [11] and extraction of cortisol and cortisone from the saliva sample [90].

9.4.7 Magnetic ionic liquids (MILs)

Magnetic ILs (MILs) are a subclass of ILs, which possess paramagnetic properties in the presence of external magnetic particles. These are metal-containing ILs having strong response to magnetic field combined with the properties of room-temperature ILs (RTILs). RTILs are salts consisting of cation and anion, and exhibit slight vapor pressure, high thermal and chemical stability and high conductivity, and these properties can be tweaked by changing the cation and anion [91] and usually consist of iron, manganese, cobalt, gadolinium and lanthanide in the anion structure. Due to their magnetic properties, these can be easily extracted from the reaction media with the help of magnet. The revelation of MILs exhibiting magnetic characteristics opened up a new field of study. These have applications in various reactions such as preparation of heterocycles, oxidation-reduction reactions, polymerization and coupling reactions [92]. The increased usage of MILs necessitates the consideration of human health and environmental consequences of their discharge. Because of their low vapor pressure and nonflammability, they diminish or eliminate the danger of air emissions. However, some of them are soluble in water and may cause risks to the aquatic ecosystem. Many groups have conducted a study regarding how the structure of different substituents on MILs affect the toxicity. It was concluded that iron-containing RTILs increase the toxicity. Similarly Alvarez-Guerra and Irabien estimated the ecotoxicity using partial least squares discriminant analysis method. It was found that [FeCl₄] anion has been more toxic than the volatile solvent reference (toluene). In vitro studies conducted for different anions suggested that [CoCl₄] and [MnCl₄] cause more toxicity as compared to [FeCl₄] and [GdCl₆] [93]. The properties of nonconventional solvents are summarized in Table 9.3.

Solvent	Properties	
Subcritical water	- - -	Less contaminated High-cost equipment High temperature and pressure
Supercritical fluids (SCFs)	- - -	Nontoxic Easily volatilized Low polarity
Bio-based solvents	- - -	Biodegradable Toxic to aquatic life Low volatility
Surfactant-based solutions	- - -	Nonvolatile Nonflammable Partially biodegradable
Ionic liquids	- - -	Complex synthesis Expensive Inferior biodegradable
Deep eutectic solvent	- - -	Nontoxic Easy to prepare Low price Biodegradable

Table 9.3: Properties of nonconventional solvents.

9.4.8 No solvent approach

This is also an approach and it may appear alien that a reaction can be carried out without a solvent. There are many examples from human history where reactions were done without solvent such as formation of mercury by grinding the cinnabar with acetic acid in a copper vessel. The terms "no solvent" and "solvent free" delineate when solvent is not added intentionally or small fraction of solvent is employed to ease the mechanical (grinding) process. This method has been utilized in the production of tetrahydridoborates and tetrahydridoaluminates. The restriction which diminishes the utilization of this method include scalability, design of equipment and energy consumption [94].

9.5 Conclusions

Considering the abovementioned discussion, it is evident that no solvent or extraction technique is holistically green or environment-friendly regardless of the intensive research. The alternatives or nonconventional solvents, which are available, may be better as compared to conventional in complying with the criteria proposed by Gu and Jerome; however, each of them has their own limitations. LCA is the best way to evaluate the greenness of solvent. There is a horizon of augmentation to develop better sustainable solvents in lieu of presently available solvents, which can be ephemeral or switchable. Further, there is not only a requirement of green solvent but also a green cosolvent as a hydrotrope which does not comply with the criteria of greenness.

Abbreviations

VOC	Volatile organic compound
EHS	Environment, health and safety
COSMO-RS	Conductor-like screening model for real solvents
LCA	Life cycle assessment
SCF	Supercritical fluids
DES	Deep eutectic solvents
SUPRA	Supramolecular solvents
IL	Ionic liquids

References

- [1] Sahoo T, Panda J, Sahu J, Sarangi D, Sahoo SK, Nanda B, Sahu R. Green solvent: green shadow on chemical synthesis. Curr Org Synth 2020, 17(6), 426–439.
- [2] Doble M, Kruthiventi AK. Alternate solvents. In: Doble, M, Kruthiventi, AK, editors. Green Chemistry and Engineering, Burlington: Academic Press; 2007, 93–104.
- [3] Winterton N. The green solvent: a critical perspective. Clean Technol Environ policy 2021, 23(9), 2499–2522.
- [4] Solvents [Available from: https://www.ilo.org/legacy/english/protection/safework/cis/products/safe tytm/solvents.htm.
- [5] Sanni BN, Mutta RS. Impact of solvents leading to environmental pollution. J Chem Pharm Sci 2014, 3, 50–52.
- [6] Lancaster M. Green chemistry, an introductory text. R. Soc. Chem, 2020.
- [7] Kharissova OV, Kharisov BI, Oliva González CM, Méndez YP, López I. Greener synthesis of chemical compounds and materials. Royal Soc Open Sci 2019, 6(11), 191378.
- [8] Alshammari S. The Impact of Solvents on Environment and Their Alternatives. Munich, GRIN Verlag, 2017.
- [9] Tetrachloroethylene [Available from: http://www.npi.gov.au/resource/tetrachloroethylene#:~:text= Tetrachloroethylene%20and%20its%20products%20of,if%20released%20to%20surface%20water
- [10] Bonventre JA. Solvents. In: Wexler, P, editor. Encyclopedia of Toxicology, Oxford: Academic Press; 2014, 356–357.
- [11] Dwivedi S, Fatima U, Gupta A, Khan T, Lawrence A. Green Solvents for Sustainable Chemistry, A Futuristic Approach, 2022.
- [12] Smith MT. Advances in understanding benzene health effects and susceptibility. Annu Rev Public Health 2010, 31, 133.

- [13] Toluene [Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/toluene/default.html#:~:text=Exposure% 20to%20toluene%20can%20cause,harmed%20from%20exposure%20to%20toluene.
- [14] Zinc is harmful to the environment, draft Canadian assessment concludes [Available from: https://chemicalwatch.com/79438/zinc-is-harmful-to-the-environment-draft-canadian-assessmentconcludes.
- [15] Plum LM, Rink L, Haase H. The essential toxin: impact of zinc on human health. Int J Environ. Res Public Health 2010, 7(4), 1342–1365.
- [16] Pourrut B, Shahid M, Dumat C, Winterton P, Pinelli E. Lead uptake, toxicity, and detoxification in plants. Rev Environ Contam T 2011, 213, 113–136.
- [17] Council NR. Measuring lead exposure in infants, children, and other sensitive populations, 1993.
- [18] Guthrie S, Giles S, Dunkerley F, Tabaqchali H, Harshfield A, Ioppolo B, Manville C. The impact of ammonia emissions from agriculture on biodiversity. Cambridge, UK: RAND Corporation and The Royal Society, 2018.
- [19] Acetic acid: general overview [Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/aceticacid-properties-uses-and-incident-management/acetic-acid-general-information.
- [20] Acetic acid (ethanoic acid): National Pollutant Inventory; [Available from: http://www.npi.gov.au/re source/acetic-acid-ethanoic-acid.
- [21] Health and Environmental Effects Profile for Acetonitrile. Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Office of Research and Development, Cincinnati, OH.: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency; 1985 [Available from: https://www.epa.gov/ sites/default/files/2016-09/documents/acetonitrile.pdf.
- [22] Environmental Health Criteria 154 Acetonitrile: World Health Organisation [Available from: https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/29461/EHC154Anitrile.pdf?sequence=1&isAl lowed=y.
- [23] Hu ZY, Chang J, Guo FF, Deng HY, Pan GT, Li BY, Zhang ZL. The effects of dimethylformamide exposure on liver and kidney function in the elderly population: A cross-sectional study. Medicine 2020, 99, 27.
- [24] Lu X, Wang W, Zhang L, Hu H, Xu P, Wei T, Tang H. Molecular mechanism of N, Ndimethylformamide degradation in Methylobacterium sp. strain DM1 Appl Environ Microbiol 2019, 85(12), e00275–19.
- [25] Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) on n-Hexane Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency; 1999.
- [26] Screening Assessment for the Challenge Hexane: Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number 110-54-3; [Available from ec.gc.ca/ese-ees/default.asp?lang=En&n=BCBE839D-1#sec7].
- [27] Ashcroft CP, Dunn PJ, Hayler JD, Wells AS. Survey of solvent usage in papers published in organic process research & development 1997–2012. Org Process Res Dev 2015, 19(7), 740–747.
- [28] Sicaire AG, Vian M, Fine F, Joffre F, Carré P, Tostain S, Chemat F. Alternative bio-based solvents for extraction of fat and oils: solubility prediction, global yield, extraction kinetics, chemical composition and cost of manufacturing. Int J Mol Sci 2015, 16(4), 8430–8453.
- [29] Virot M, Tomao V, Ginies C, Chemat F. Total lipid extraction of food using d-limonene as an alternative to n-hexane. Chromatographia 2008, 68(3), 311–313.
- [30] Gissi A, Lombardo A, Roncaglioni A, Gadaleta D, Mangiatordi GF, Nicolotti O, Benfenati E. Evaluation and comparison of benchmark QSAR models to predict a relevant REACH endpoint: the bioconcentration factor (BCF). Environ Res 2015, 137, 398–409.
- [31] Tebby C, Mombelli E, Pandard P, Péry AR. Exploring an ecotoxicity database with the OECD (Q) SAR Toolbox and DRAGON descriptors in order to prioritise testing on algae, daphnids, and fish. Sci. Total Environ 2011, 409(18), 3334–3343.

- [32] Byrne FP, Jin S, Paggiola G, Petchey THM, Clark JH, Farmer TJ, Andrew JH, McElroy C, Sherwood J. Tools and techniques for solvent selection: green solvent selection guides. Sustain Chem Process 2016, 4(1), 7.
- [33] Hossaini R, Chipperfield M, Montzka S, Rap A, Dhomse S, Feng W. Efficiency of short-lived halogens at influencing climate through depletion of stratospheric ozone. Nat Geosci 2015, 8(3), 186–190.
- [34] Kerton FM, Marriott R. Alternative solvents for green chemistry, R. Soc. Chem, 2013.
- [35] Clarke CJ, Tu WC, Levers O, Brohl A, Hallett JP. Green and sustainable solvents in chemical processes. Chem Rev 2018, 118(2), 747–800.
- [36] Jimenez-Gonzalez C, Curzons AD, Constable DJ, Cunningham VL. Expanding GSK's solvent selection guide – application of life cycle assessment to enhance solvent selections. Clean Technol Environ Policy 2004, 7(1), 42–50.
- [37] Curzons A, Constable D, Cunningham V. Solvent selection guide: a guide to the integration of environmental, health and safety criteria into the selection of solvents. Clean Prod Processes 1999, 1(2), 82–90.
- [38] Alfonsi K, Colberg J, Dunn PJ, Fevig T, Jennings S, Johnson TA, Kleine HP, Knight C, Nagy MA, Perry DA, Stefaniak M. Green chemistry tools to influence a medicinal chemistry and research chemistry based organisation. Green Chem 2008, 10(1), 31–36.
- [39] Prat D, Pardigon O, Flemming HW, Letestu S, Ducandas V, Isnard P, Guntrum E, Senac T, Ruisseau S, Cruciani P, Hosek P. Sanofi's solvent selection guide: A step toward more sustainable processes. Org Process Res Dev 2013, 17(12), 1517–1525.
- [40] Byrne FP, Jin S, Paggiola G, Petchey TH, Clark JH, Farmer TJ, Andrew JH, McElroy C, Sherwood J. Tools and techniques for solvent selection: Green solvent selection guides. Sustainable Chem Processes 2016, 4(1), 1–24.
- [41] Kovács A, Neyts EC, Cornet I, Wijnants M, Billen P. Modeling the physicochemical properties of natural deep eutectic solvents. ChemSusChem 2020, 13(15), 3789–3804.
- [42] González-Miquel M, Díaz I. Green solvent screening using modeling and simulation. Curr Opin Green Sustain Chem 2021, 29, 100469.
- [43] Haghighatlari M, Hachmann J. Advances of machine learning in molecular modeling and simulation. Curr Opin Chem Eng 2019, 23, 51–57.
- [44] Calvo-Serrano R, Gonzalez-Miquel M, Guillén-Gosálbez G. Integrating COSMO-based σ-profiles with molecular and thermodynamic attributes to predict the life cycle environmental impact of chemicals. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2018, 7(3), 3575–3583.
- [45] Durand M, Molinier V, Kunz W, Aubry JM. Classification of organic solvents revisited by using the COSMO-RS approach. Chem Eur J 2011, 17(18), 5155–5164.
- [46] Sels H, De Smet H, Geuens J. SUSSOL using artificial intelligence for greener solvent selection and substitution. Molecules 2020, 25(13), 3037.
- [47] Koller G, Fischer U, Hungerbühler K. Assessing safety, health, and environmental impact early during process development. Ind Eng Chem Res 2000, 39(4), 960–972.
- [48] Standardization of Environmental management: life cycle assessment; Principles and Framework: ISO, 2006.
- [49] Capello C, Fischer U, Hungerbühler K. What is a green solvent? A comprehensive framework for the environmental assessment of solvents. Green Chem 2007, 9(9), 927–934.
- [50] Clark JH, Tavener SJ. Alternative solvents: Shades of green. Org Process Res Dev 2007, 11(1), 149–155.
- [51] Noyori R. Supercritical fluids: introduction. Chem Rev 1999, 99(2), 353–354.
- [52] Scammells PJ, Scott JL, Singer RD. Ionic liquids: the neglected issues. Aust J Chem 2005, 58(3), 155–169.
- [53] Anastas P, Eghbali N. Green chemistry: Principles and practice. Chem Soc Rev 2010, 39(1), 301–312.
- [54] Armenta S, Esteve-Turrillas FA, Garrigues S, de la Guardia M. Alternative green solvents in sample preparation. Green Anal Chem 2022, 1, 100007.

- [55] Breslow R The principles of and reasons for using water as a solvent for green chemistry. Handbook of Green Chemistry: Online. 2010,1–29.
- [56] Yang Y. Subcritical water chromatography: A green approach to high-temperature liquid chromatography. J Sep Sci 2007, 30(8), 1131–1140.
- [57] Yang Y, Bowadt S, Hawthorne SB, Miller DJ. Subcritical water extraction of poly-chlorinated biphenyls from soil and sediment. Anal Chem 1995, 67(24), 4571–4576.
- [58] Todd R, Baroutian S. A techno-economic comparison of subcritical water, supercritical CO2 and organic solvent extraction of bioactives from grape marc. J Clean Prod 2017, 158, 349–358.
- [59] Fortunati E, Luzi F, Puglia D, Torre L. Extraction of lignocellulosic materials from waste products. In: Puglia, D, Fortunati, E, Kenny, JM, editors. Multifunctional Polymeric Nanocomposites Based on Cellulosic Reinforcements, William Andrew Publishing; 2016, 1–38.
- [60] King JW, Srinivas K. Multiple unit processing using sub- and supercritical fluids. J Supercrit Fluids 2009, 47(3), 598–610.
- [61] Knez Ž, Pantić M, Cor D, Novak Z, Knez Marevci M. Are supercritical fluids solvents for the future? Chem. Eng Process 2019, 141, 107532.
- [62] Solana M, Boschiero I, Dall'Acqua S, Bertucco A. Extraction of bioactive enriched fractions from Eruca sativa leaves by supercritical CO2 technology using different co-solvents. J Supercrit Fluids 2014, 94, 245–251.
- [63] Martinez-Correa HA, Cabral FA, Magalhaes PM, Queiroga CL, Godoy AT, Sanchez-Camargo AP, Paviani LC. Extracts from the leaves of Baccharis dracunculifolia obtained by a combination of extraction processes with supercritical CO2, ethanol and water. J Supercrit Fluids 2012, 63, 31–39.
- [64] Rodríguez-Meizoso I, Castro-Puyana M, Börjesson P, Mendiola JA, Turner C, Ibáñez E. Life cycle assessment of green pilot-scale extraction processes to obtain potent antioxidants from rosemary leaves. J Supercrit Fluids 2012, 72, 205–212.
- [65] Vásquez-Villanueva R, Plaza M, García MC, Turner C, Marina ML. A sustainable approach for the extraction of cholesterol-lowering compounds from an olive by-product based on CO2-expanded ethyl acetate. Anal Bioanal Chem 2019, 411(22), 5885–5896.
- [66] Tobiszewski M. Analytical chemistry with biosolvents. Anal Bioanal Chem 2019, 411(19), 4359–4364.
- [67] Cherubini F. The biorefinery concept: using biomass instead of oil for producing energy and chemicals. Energy Convers Manag 2010, 51(7), 1412–1421.
- [68] Virot M, Tomao V, Ginies C, Visinoni F, Chemat F. Green procedure with a green solvent for fats and oils' determination: microwave-integrated Soxhlet using limonene followed by microwave Clevenger distillation. J Chromatogr A 2008, 1196, 147–152.
- [69] Chemat-Djenni Z, Ferhat MA, Tomao V, Chemat F. Carotenoid extraction from tomato using a green solvent resulting from orange processing waste. J Essent Oil Bear Pl 2010, 13(2), 139–147.
- [70] Medvedovici A, Udrescu S, David V. Use of a green (bio) solvent–limonene–as extractant and immiscible diluent for large volume injection in the RPLC-tandem MS assay of statins and related metabolites in human plasma. Biomed Chromatogr 2013, 27(1), 48–57.
- [71] Prat D, Wells A, Hayler J, Sneddon H, McElroy CR, Abou-Shehada S, Dunn PJ. CHEM21 selection guide of classical-and less classical-solvents. Green Chem 2016, 18(1), 288–296.
- [72] Brentrup F, Küsters J, Kuhlmann H, Lammel J. Environmental impact assessment of agricultural production systems using the life cycle assessment methodology: I. Theoretical concept of a LCA method tailored to crop production. Eur J Agron 2004, 20(3), 247–264.
- [73] Pangborn AB, Giardello MA, Grubbs RH, Rosen RK, Timmers FJ. Safe and convenient procedure for solvent purification. Organometallics 1996, 15(5), 1518–1520.
- [74] Lewis MA, Wee VT. Aquatic safety assessment for cationic surfactants. Environ Toxicol Chem 1983, 2 (1), 105–118.
- [75] Caballo C, Sicilia MD, Rubio S. Supramolecular solvents for green chemistry. The application of green solvents in separation processes: Elsevier. 2017, 111–137.

- [76] Jinlei L, Wurita A, Xuejun W, Hongkun Y, Jie G, Liqin C. Supramolecular solvent (SUPRASs) extraction method for detecting benzodiazepines and zolpidem in human urine and blood using gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Leg Med 2021, 48, 101822.
- [77] Ezoddin M, Abdi K. Monitoring of antifungal drugs in biological samples using ultrasonic-assisted supramolecular dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction based on solidification of a floating organic droplet. J Chromatogr B 2016, 1027, 74–80.
- [78] Torres-Valenzuela LS, Ballesteros-Gomez A, Sanin A, Rubio S. Valorization of spent coffee grounds by supramolecular solvent extraction. Sep Purif Technol 2019, 228, 115759.
- [79] Hopkins Hatzopoulos M, Eastoe J, Dowding PJ, Rogers SE, Heenan R, Dyer R. Are hydrotropes distinct from surfactants?. Langmuir 2011, 27(20), 12346–12353.
- [80] Molinier V, Aubry JM. Sugar-based hydrotropes: preparation, properties and applications. Spr Carb Ch 2014, 40, 51–72.
- [81] Smith EL, Abbott AP, Ryder KS. Deep eutectic solvents (DESs) and their applications. Chem Rev 2014, 114(21), 11060–11082.
- [82] Hayyan M, Hashim MA, Al-Saadi MA, Hayyan A, AlNashef IM, Mirghani ME. Assessment of cytotoxicity and toxicity for phosphonium-based deep eutectic solvents. Chemosphere 2013, 93(2), 455–459.
- [83] Halder AK, Cordeiro MND. Probing the environmental toxicity of deep eutectic solvents and their components: An in silico modeling approach. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 2019, 7(12), 10649–10660.
- [84] Murugan M, Tee L, Oh K, editors. Evaluation of the environment impact of extraction of bioactive compounds from Darcyodes rostrata using Deep Eutectic Solvent (DES) using Life Cycle Assessment (LCA). J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 2021: IOP Publishing.
- [85] Marsh KN, Deev A, Wu AC, Tran E, Klamt A. Room temperature ionic liquids as replacements for conventional solvents – a review, Springer, 2002.
- [86] Bubalo MC, Radošević K, Redovniković IR, Halambek J, Srček VG. A brief overview of the potential environmental hazards of ionic liquids. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2014, 99, 1–12.
- [87] Bernot RJ, Brueseke MA, Evans-White MA, Lamberti GA. Acute and chronic toxicity of imidazoliumbased ionic liquids on Daphnia magna. Environ Toxicol Chem 2005, 24(1), 87–92.
- [88] Matzke M, Stolte S, Thiele K, Juffernholz T, Arning J, Ranke J, Welz-Biermann U, Jastorff B. The influence of anion species on the toxicity of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ionic liquids observed in an (eco) toxicological test battery. Green Chem 2007, 9(11), 1198–1207.
- [89] Bystrzanowska M, Pena-Pereira F, Marcinkowski Ł, Tobiszewski M. How green are ionic liquids?–A multicriteria decision analysis approach. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2019, 174, 455–458.
- [90] Abujaber F, Ricardo AIC, Ríos Á, Bernardo FJG, Martín-Doimeadios RCR. Ionic liquid dispersive liquidliquid microextraction combined with LC-UV-Vis for the fast and simultaneous determination of cortisone and cortisol in human saliva samples. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2019, 165, 141–146.
- [91] Earle MJ, Esperança JM, Gilea MA, Canongia Lopes JN, Rebelo LP, Magee JW, Seddon KR, Widegren JA. The distillation and volatility of ionic liquids. Nature 2006, 439(7078), 831–834.
- [92] Sadjadi S. Magnetic (poly) ionic liquids: A promising platform for green chemistry. J Mol Liq 2021, 323, 114994.
- [93] Santos E, Albo J, Irabien A. Magnetic ionic liquids: Synthesis, properties and applications. RSC Adv 2014, 4(75), 40008–40018.
- [94] Kerton FM. Solvent systems for sustainable chemistry. Sust Inorg Chem 2016, 5, 193–197.

Index

1,2,3-triazole 2 1,4-disubstituted-1,2,3-triazoles 2 1H-indazoles 156

[2+2] cycloaddition 149 2,3-dihydro-4-pyridones 145–146 2,4-pyrrolidinediones 145–146 2-aroylbenzo[b]furans 176 2-arylquinoline-4-carboxylic acid 161–162 2H-azirine 77 2-methyltetrahydrofuran 249, 256–258, 261 2-morpholinoisoflav-3-enes 169 3,4-dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinones 149–150 3-aryl-5,6-dihydroimidazo[2,1-b][1,3]thiazoles 176 3-propargyl indoles 30 [3 + 2] cycloaddition 2 [3 + 3] cycloaddition 22 4,5-dihydro-1H-pyrazole 148 4-hydroxydithiocoumarin 74

activated alumina ball 140 aflogualone 68 alkyl/aryl H-phosphonates 71 Aloe vera 204 alumina 140-141, 153-154, 164, 177 amination 73 ampicillin 192 analgesic and anti-inflammatory 57 annulated pyridines 163-164 anticonvulsant agents 57 antidiabetic 57 antihistaminic 57 antihypertensive 57 anti-leishmanial 72 antitumor 57-58 antiviral 57, 72 aquatic toxicity 268 aromatic 1,2-diazines 149 aryl nitromethanes 48 atom economy 55, 79 aza-Michael addition 213

ball milling 63 Baylis–Hillman 100 benzimidazoles 155–156 benzirnidazoles 175–176 benzofuran 167 benzofurans 167 benzothiazole 175–176 benzoxazinones 173 benzoxazole 171, 175–176 benzoyl peroxide 40 betacyanin 185 biaryls 70 Biginelli product 123 bio-based solvents 88 biocatalyst 238, 240, 242 biocatalytic 238 biodiesel 252 biomass 206 biomolecule 235 biopharmaceutical 235 biopolymer 241 biotransformation 275 Bischler-Napieralski-type ring closure 152 BOD 267 Cacchi-type annulation reaction 100 caffeine 185 cancer 183 carbocyclic framework 135, 141 carbohydrate 191 carboxylic acid 235, 238 carotenoids 208 catalysts 238 catch and release 138 chemoselectivity 56 chiral 237, 242 clay and clay-supported reagents 139 clay-supported catalyst 139 clorogualone 68 COD 267 computational 236 conventional 203 cyclopentanol 210 cyclopentyl methyl ether 254 cyclopentylmethyl ether 249, 261 Cyrene 89-91, 93, 95-102, 104, 125-126, 215 Cyrene[™] 90, 98 C-H sulfonylation process 58

Danishefsky's diene 145 dialkyl phosphites 21 di[benzo(*d*)thiazol-3(2H)-yl]methane 175

Dieckmann condensation 145 dielectric constant 184, 274 Diels-Alder reaction 142, 149, 165 diethyl ether 254 dihydrobenzofuran 168 dihydropyrans 165 diisobutylaluminum hydride 254 dimethyl carbonate 252 distillation 212 distribution coefficient 256 D-limonene 215 eco-friendly 87, 251 EL 91, 105-123, 125-126 electrochemical 233 electrocyclic reaction 143 electrophilic aromatic substitution 151–152, 156 emulsifier 236 environment 87 environmental 184 environmental agencies 269 environmental factor 252 enzymatic 240 enzyme 240 epoxide 165 epoxides 165, 168 ether 210 ethyl lactate 89, 91-92, 125-126, 249, 259-261 evodiamine 68 extraction 235, 237–238 extraction efficiency 256

febrifugine 68 fiproqualone 68 flavones 170 Friedel–Crafts alkylation 31 furfuryl 213

glycerol 212, 249, 252–254, 261 glycerol carbonate 252 green chemistry 88, 266 Grignard reagents 254 Grubbs II 242

Hantzsch 1,4-dihydropyridines 118 Hantzsch ester 4 hazard 210 Henry reaction 27 heterocyclic 135, 137–138, 141, 143–144, 150, 152–153, 157, 161, 163, 166, 177 heterocyclic compounds 144 hetero-Diels–Alder reaction 165 H-phosphine oxide 71 hydantoin 4-imides 163 hydrodistillation 207 hydrogenation 212 hydrophobic ionic liquids 277 hydrotrope 280 hydroxyaziridines 145 hygroscopic 252 hypervalent iodine reagents 71 hypoiodite pathway 61–62

I₂/TBHP 73 I₂/TBHP-mediated 74 indole 153–155, 157 indolodihydropyrazine 22 industries 266 insect 216 intramolecular Friedel–Crafts allenylation 44 iridium photocatalyst 4 isoquinoline–isoxazoline 171 isoxazolidines 172–173

Kamlet–Abboud–Taft (KAT) polarity scale 90 keto-diazocarboxylates 6 KF/alumina 141 Knoevenagel condensation 120, 165 Knoevenagel pyridine adduct 104

lactams 158 Lewis acid 215 life cycle assessment 271 ligand 236 lignan 186 linalool 207 loading factor 256

malononitrile 120 Mannich–Michael reaction 145 matrine 185 MCRs 112 mechanochemical synthesis 63 metal-free radical-radical cross-coupling reaction 58 Michael addition 47 Michael addition reaction 27 microextraction 237 microwave 105, 111–112, 117, 126, 237–238 microwave-assisted 194 Mitsunobu reaction 166, 171–172 Mizoroki–Heck 191 montmorillonite 29 Mother Nature 183 multicomponent reactions 159 multicomponent reactions (MCRs) 159 multiphasic systems 255

naringenin 186 Nef reaction 27 *N*-heterocyclic carbene 10 nitromethane 27 nonaqueous 233, 240 nonpolar 233, 243 nucleophilic aromatic substitution 149, 152, 172

oleic acid 193 oligomerization reaction 143 organic solvents 87, 233, 237, 243 organocatalyst 1

paclitaxel 198 P-chirogenic diaminophosphine oxide 44 peptide 235, 238 peptidosulfonamides 173-174 photochemical smog creation 275 photoinduced $C(sp^3)$ -O cross-coupling 57 piperidino-thiomorpholine 174-175 polar 233, 240, 243 polyethersulfone ultrafiltration 251 polyethylene glycol 249 polylactic acid 250 polymerization 241 polymer-supported perruthenate 172 polymer-supported solid phase 139 polyoxyethylene 249 principles of green chemistry 272 protein 218, 235, 240 puerarin 186 pure water permeation 251 pyrazines 163-164 pyrazolones 147 pyridinium 233-234, 241 pyrimidines 163-164

quercitrin 186

guinoline 161-162 quinoxalines 153–154 radical reactions 166 radical scavengers 61 regioselectivity 56-57 response surface methodology 185 reversible addition fragmentation chain transfer 257 rutin 194 SCF technology 274 selectivity 183 silica gel 139, 156 solid-phase synthesis (SPS) 135-136 solvents 265 Sonogashira reaction 99 spiroindoline 157 steroid 187 substitution 216 supercritical carbon dioxide 260 supercritical solvents 249 supported catalysts 138 supported reagents 138 supported scavengers 138 supramolecular solvents 276 surfactant 240 sustainable 183 Suzuki-Miyaura 97, 106, 213

Suzuki–Miyaura 97, 106, 213 Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling 99, 257 Suzuki–Miyaura reaction 91 symmetrical 233

tanshinone 205 TBAI catalysis 61 tert-butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP) 56 tertiary butyl alcohol 21 tertiary octyl acrylamide 21 tetrahydrofuran 254, 257-258 tetrahydroisoquinoline 152 tetrahydroguinolines 150-151 tetrahydroguinoxalin-2-ones 152-153 tetramethyl mellotojaponin C 46 theobromine 185 thiazoles 176 thiophenes 170 thioureas 158–159 tocopherol 209 toxicity 190

transesterification 252 transition metal free 56 trichlorinated reactant 9 triflate 191 trisubstituted cyclohexanones 142 triterpene 188 tryptophan 197 Tsuji–Trost coupling reaction 31

ultrasonic extraction 188 ultrasound 105, 111, 117, 126 universal solvent 273 unsymmetrical 233 ureas 158–159 ursolic acid 188

valerolactone 214 visible light 57 visible light photoredox catalysis 6 volatile 219 volatile organic compounds 266 volatility 266

withanolide 187 withanoside 187

xanthin 218 xanthine 159

zolpidem 7 zwitterionic cyclization 74